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This CONSTRUCTION AND GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT, dated as of June 30, 
2023 (this “Lease”), is made by and between the BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY, a public 
body politic and corporate organized and existing under Chapter 121B of the General Laws of 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and Chapter 88 of the Acts of 1989, with its principal 
office at 52 Chauncy Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, as Landlord (“Landlord”), and 
BUILDING M OWNER LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, having its principal place 
of business c/o Leggat McCall Properties LLC, 10 Post Office Square, 13th Floor, Boston, 
Massachusetts 02109, as Tenant (“Tenant”).  Landlord and Tenant are sometimes individually 
referred to as a “Party” and, collectively, as the “Parties”. 
 

RECITALS: 
 

All capitalized terms used in this Lease, unless otherwise expressly defined herein, shall 
have the meanings set forth in Article I hereof. 
 

WHEREAS, Landlord is the owner of certain Premises as more particularly described in 
Exhibit A attached hereto and on the Plan attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Premises”). 
 

WHEREAS, Developer (as defined below) and Landlord entered into that certain 
Development Agreement for the Redevelopment of the Charlestown/Bunker Hill Public Housing 
Site, dated as of April 28, 2021 (as amended, restated, replaced, modified, extended and/or 
supplemented from time to time, the “Development Agreement”), with respect to the 
development, construction, rehabilitation, leasing, operation, maintenance and management of up 
to 2,699 affordable and market-rate residential rental apartment units on the site owned by 
Landlord known as the Charlestown/Bunker Hill Public Housing Site containing approximately 
25.7971 acres (the “Site”) and, as of the date of the Development Agreement, 1,100 public 
housing units.  The Premises constitute a portion of the Site.  Developer has requested Landlord 
to enter into this Lease with Tenant pursuant to the Development Agreement.  Landlord has 
approved Tenant as the tenant of the Premises.  Tenant has agreed, pursuant to this Lease, to 
construct, operate, and manage on the Premises 102 Units (as defined below), all of which will 
be Affordable Units. 
 

WHEREAS, Landlord wishes to lease to Tenant, and Tenant wishes to lease from 
Landlord, the Premises; and 
 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Lease has been duly authorized by 
Landlord; and 
 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Lease has been duly authorized by 
Tenant; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the rent and the mutual covenants and 
agreements and conditions herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as 
follows: 
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ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS 
 

In this Lease, the following words shall have the following meanings, respectively:  
 

1.1. “Act” shall mean the United States Housing Act of 1937 (42 U.S.C. §1437, et 
seq), as amended from time to time, any successor legislation, and all implementing regulations 
issued thereunder or in furtherance thereof. 
 

1.2. “Additional Rent” shall mean all amounts due and payable by Tenant under this 
Lease other than Rent. 

 
1.3. “Affiliate” shall mean any Person which is a partner with or in, or a shareholder, 

or a member, or a beneficiary, of Tenant, or which owns or Controls Tenant, or a partner, or 
member, or shareholder, or beneficiary of any Person which owns or Controls Tenant; or any 
Person owned or Controlled, directly or indirectly, by Tenant or by any of the partners, or 
shareholders, or members, or beneficiaries of Tenant or which is under common ownership of 
any type with Tenant.  CREA Bunker Hill Building M, LLC and CREA SLP, LLC shall not be 
deemed to be an Affiliate unless it or its affiliate is then acting as the Managing Member of 
Tenant. 
 

1.4. “Affordable Unit” shall mean any of the 102 Units that are restricted to 
occupancy by Assisted Residents whose Total Tenant Payment is regulated by applicable Legal 
Requirements (currently 30% of the household's adjusted gross income). 

 
1.5. “Approvals” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.6. 

 
1.6. “Approved Development Plan” shall mean the Master Development Plan (as 

defined in the Development Agreement) for the Project, as approved by Landlord, and as the 
same may be amended from time to time, subject to Section 5.14 hereof.  The Approved 
Development Plan, together with any approved amendments from time to time thereof, shall be 
kept on file by Landlord.   
 

1.7. “Architect” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.12. 
 

1.8. “Assisted Residents” shall mean BHA Residents and Income-Qualified Residents. 
 

1.9. “AUL” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(a). 
 

1.10. “Award” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.2. 
 

1.11. “Bankruptcy Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.1. 
 

1.12. “BHA Residents” shall mean residents who were in lawful occupancy at the Site 
as of or since September 12, 2019 (the date of the Letter of Assurance), including those who 
have temporarily relocated with the right to return to the Site and remain eligible to be rehoused 
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pursuant to the Letter of Assurance and Relocation Plan (as defined in the Local Tenant 
Organization Agreement). 

 
1.13. “Books and Records” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.6. 

 
1.14. “BPDA” shall mean the Boston Redevelopment Authority, a public body politic 

and corporate, organized and existing pursuant to Chapter 121B of the Massachusetts General 
Laws, as amended, d/b/a Boston Planning & Development Agency, its successor and assigns. 
 

1.15. “BPDA Regulatory Agreement” shall mean that certain Development Regulatory 
Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2021 by and between the BPDA and Landlord.   
 

1.16. “Certificate of Compliance” shall mean the certificate to be executed and 
delivered to Tenant by Landlord, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, which 
Landlord shall issue pursuant to Section 7.5 hereof. 
 

1.17. “Certificate of Occupancy” shall mean the certificate issued by the City official 
having jurisdiction over the construction of the Improvements which provides that a particular 
affected portion of the Improvements may be legally occupied. 

 
1.18. “Change in Control” shall mean the sale, transfer, conveyance, or assignment of 

beneficial interests in Tenant to a third party transferee, whether directly or by sale, transfer, 
conveyance or assignment of underlying beneficial interests, which also results in a change in 
Control of Tenant. 
 

1.19. “City” shall mean the City of Boston, Massachusetts. 
 

1.20. “Commenced”, when used in the context of construction of the Improvements, 
shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2. 
 

1.21. “Commencement Date” shall mean the date of this Lease.  
 

1.22. “Common Areas” shall mean the portions of the Site now or hereafter ground 
leased by the Owners’ Association from Landlord which may or will contain publicly accessible 
open spaces, the Community Center (as defined in the Owners’ Association Agreement), certain 
parking areas and small retail pavilions, over which areas the Owners' Association holds the 
rights for common use and enjoyment by Tenant and the other ground tenants of the Site and 
their permittees, together with any other areas or services for which the Owners' Association has 
responsibility under the Owners' Association Agreement. 

 
1.23. “Common Expense Assessments” shall have the meaning set forth in the Owners’ 

Association Agreement. 
 

1.24. “Commonwealth” shall mean The Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 
 

1.25. “Compliance Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(a). 
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1.26. “Construction Management Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.6. 
 

1.27. “Construction Schedule” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.4. 
 

1.28. “Contractor” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.13. 
 

1.29. “Control”, when used in connection with any Person shall mean the possession, 
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or polices 
of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, general partnership, or 
managing member interests, by contract, or otherwise, which power may be subject to the 
granting of major decision consent rights to a third party having a direct or indirect ownership 
interest in such Person.  “Controlling” and “Controlled” shall have correlative meanings. 
 

1.30. “Corrective Action Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(f). 
 

1.31. “CRA” shall mean the Charlestown Resident Alliance, Inc., a Massachusetts non-
profit corporation, as of the date hereof, the Local Tenant Organization at the Site. 
 

1.32. “CRA Permanent Funding Assessments” shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Owners’ Association Agreement. 
 

1.33. “Curable Nonmonetary Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.4. 
 

1.34. “Curing Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15.1. 
 

1.35. “Default Rate” shall mean an interest rate equal to the Prime Interest Rate plus 
five (5) percent. 
 

1.36. “Deposit” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(d). 

1.37. “Design Development Submittal” shall mean the drawings and other documents 
which fix and describe the size and character of the proposed Improvements or Major Alterations 
as to architectural, structural, mechanical and electrical systems, materials, and such other 
elements as may be appropriate, submitted by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with Section 
7.9. 
 

1.38. “Developer” shall mean Bunker Hill LandCo LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, or its permitted successor or assign. 
 

1.39. “Development Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 
 

1.40. “Disqualified Person” shall mean: 
 

(i) Any Person, or any Person whose operations are Controlled by a Person, 
who has been convicted of or has pleaded guilty in a criminal proceeding to a felony concerning 
organized crime; or 
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(ii) Any Person organized in or Controlled from a country, the effects of the 
activities with respect to which are regulated pursuant to the following United States laws and the 
regulations or executive orders promulgated thereunder: (x) the Trading with the Enemy Act of 
1917, 50 U.S.C. App. §1, et seq., as amended; (y) the International Emergency Economic Powers 
Act of 1976, 50 U.S.C. §1701, et seq., as amended; and (z) the Anti-Terrorism and Arms Export 
Amendments Act of 1989, codified at Section 6(j) of the Export Administration Act of 1979, 50 
U.S.C.  App. §2405, as amended; or 
 

(iii) Any Person with whom Landlord is restricted from doing business under 
the regulations of the Office of Foreign Asset Control of The Department of the Treasury of the 
United States of America (“OFAC”) (including, those Persons named on OFAC’s Specially 
Designated and Blocked Persons list) or under any other applicable statute, regulation (including, 
without limitation, 31 CFR Part 595, 31 CFR Part 596 and 31 CFR Part 597), or executive order 
(including, without limitation, the September 24, 2001 Executive Order Blocking Property and 
Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism), 
or other governmental action promulgated by the United States of America prohibiting or 
restricting the Transfer of an interest in property to any person or entity; or 
 

(iv) Any Person (other than any direct or indirect owner of Investor Member or 
Special Member) who has ever owned property upon which Landlord, its affiliates, or the City 
foreclosed due to failure to pay (a) real estate taxes, (b) a loan secured by a mortgage to Landlord, 
its affiliates, or the City, or (c) other moneys owed to Landlord, its affiliates, or the City; 
 

(v) Any Person (other than any direct or indirect owner of Investor Member or 
Special Member) who is delinquent by more than twelve (12) months in the payment of real estate 
taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, water and sewer charges, rents or other indebtedness to the City 
or Landlord and is not contesting such payments in accordance with Section 4.11 or applicable 
Legal Requirements; 
 

(vi) Any Person who has been convicted of violating any Legal Requirement 
regarding conditions of human habitation, fair housing, housing discrimination or tenant 
harassment; 
 

(vii) Any Person who has been debarred in accordance with Legal Requirements 
from transacting business with HUD, the Commonwealth or the City; or 
 

(viii) Any Controlled or Controlling affiliate of any of the Persons described in 
paragraphs (i)-(vii) above. 
 

1.41. “Easement” shall mean that certain Drainage Easement Agreement between 
Landlord in favor of Tenant benefitting the Premises to be recorded with the Suffolk County 
Registry of Deeds contemporaneously with the recording of the Notice of Lease in the form of 
Exhibit P hereto. 

 
1.42. “Environmental Laws” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3. 
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1.43. “Event of Default” shall mean those events defined in Article XII hereof. 
 

1.44. “Excluded Environmental Liability” shall have the meaning set forth in  
Section 8.3. 
 

1.45. “Extended Completion Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2. 
 

1.46. “Extrapolated” or “Extrapolation”” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 
13.5(c). 

1.47. “Final Plans and Specifications” shall mean a complete set of construction 
drawings and specifications setting forth in detail the requirements for the construction of the 
Improvements or Major Alterations submitted by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with Section 
7.9, as the same may be amended from time to time by a Limited Change Order or a Major 
Change Order. 
 

1.48. “Fixed Rent” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1. 
 

1.49. “force majeure event” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.11. 
 

1.50. “Foreclosure Event” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.4(e). 

1.51. “GAAP” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.6(a).  
 

1.52. “HAP Contract” shall mean a housing assistance payment contract between 
Landlord and Tenant entered into in accordance with Section 8 of the Act (as implemented by 24 
CFR part 983). 
 

1.53. “Hazardous Materials” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3. 
 

1.54. “Holders” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.13. 
 

1.55. “HUD” shall mean the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development 
 

1.56. “Improvements” shall mean the buildings, parking lots, driveways, sidewalks, 
landscaping and all other permanent structures, facilities, features, and infrastructure to be 
constructed on the Premises by Tenant in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications. 
 

1.57. “IM/SM Interests” shall mean the Investor Member’s and Special Member’s 
membership interests in Tenant, collectively. 
 

1.58. “Income-Qualified Residents” shall mean Residents, other than BHA Residents, 
whose annual household income meets applicable Legal Requirements for occupancy of the 
Affordable Units, i.e., not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of the SMSA Income, on the Initial 
Occupancy Date, or whose annual household income may exceed that limit but who are 
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otherwise deemed eligible for Project-Based Vouchers pursuant to Legal Requirements or the 
Management Plan. 
 

1.59. “Index” shall mean the Consumer Price Index All Items for All Urban Consumers 
(Unadjusted), for U.S. City Average (1982 – 1984 = 100), published by the Bureau of Labor 
Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor.  If the Bureau of Labor Statistics should cease to publish 
the Index in its present form and calculated on the present basis, a comparable index or an index 
reflecting changes in prices determined in a similar manner shall be reasonably designated by 
Landlord in substitution.  The Index for any month relevant to the application of this definition 
shall be that published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics for such month if computed for such 
month, or otherwise for the most recent month immediately preceding the month to which the 
application is to be made.  Since an Index relevant to the application of this definition may not be 
available as of the date on which a determination of the applicability is to be made, necessary 
adjustments between Landlord and Tenant shall be made retroactively, within a reasonable time 
after required computations can readily be completed. 
 

1.60. “Initial Occupancy Date” shall mean, with respect to any Resident, the date on 
which such Resident first occupies a Unit within the Improvements located on the Premises. 
 

1.61. “Insurable Property” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2. 
 

1.62. “Insurance Proceeds” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.2. 
 

1.63. “Invested Capital” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4. 
 

1.64. “Investor Member” shall mean CREA Bunker Hill Building M, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, and its successors and permitted assigns under the Operating 
Agreement (other than any assignee that is the Managing Member or an affiliate or designee 
thereof). 

 
1.65. “IRR” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4. 

 
1.66. “Junior Loans” shall mean any unsecured loans made to Tenant by its members, 

partners or beneficial owners or by third parties for the purpose of funding operating deficits, 
capital expenditures, required repairs and replacements, construction cost overruns, or other cash 
shortfalls in order for Tenant to fulfill its obligations under this Lease and the Operating 
Agreement, or any principal reduction on outstanding indebtedness owed to any Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee, provided that any such loans shall be permitted to bear interest at a then 
market rate, and solely for purposes of the calculation of Participating Rent, Transaction Rent, 
and Leveraged Operating Cash Flow, (i) the amount and purpose of, and interest rate applicable 
to, such loans shall be subject to the approval of Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed and (ii) such loans will be listed, and included in the applicable 
computations described, on Exhibit J.  In the event of a disagreement between the parties as to 
the characterization, terms or approval of a loan as a Junior Loan hereunder solely for purposes 
of the calculation of Participating Rent, Transaction Rent, and Leveraged Operating Cash Flow, 
the disagreement will be submitted to arbitration in accordance with Section 18.6.  For the 
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avoidance of doubt, Landlord shall not have any right to object to or otherwise prohibit the 
funding of any Junior Loan required or permitted to be funded pursuant to the terms of the 
Operating Agreement and such funding shall not result in an Event of Default hereunder, but no 
Junior Loan shall be included in the calculation of Participating Rent, Transaction Rent or 
Leveraged Operating Cash Flow unless it has been approved by Landlord as provided in clause 
(i) above. 
 

1.67. “Landlord” shall have the meaning set forth in the first sentence of this Lease. 
 

1.68. “Landlord Management Fee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.12. 
 
1.69. “Landlord Management Services” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 

4.12. 
 
1.70. “Landlord ROFO” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(a). 
 
1.71. “Landlord’s Acceptance Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 

13.5(d). 

1.72. “Lease” shall mean this Construction and Ground Lease Agreement, as the same 
may be amended, restated, replaced, modified, extended and/or supplemented from time to time. 
 

1.73. “Legal Requirements” shall mean all present and future laws, statutes, ordinances, 
orders, codes, rules and regulations of all federal, state, and local governmental entities, 
subdivisions, agencies, authorities, or instrumentalities, and the applicable departments, boards 
and commissions thereof, applicable to the Premises, the Improvements, the Units or to the use 
or manner of use of the same, or to Tenant. 
 

1.74. “Letter of Assurance” shall mean the Relocation and Rehousing Rights Letter of 
Assurance dated September 12, 2019 by and among Landlord, the predecessor-in-interest to the 
Developer, and the CRA. 
 

1.75. “Leveraged Operating Cash Flow” shall be calculated as follows using the 
Statement of Cash Flows from the audited GAAP financing statements of Tenant:  net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities excluding the payment of Participating Rent plus net cash 
provided (used) in investing activities minus principal payments made on a Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgage note (or other Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee debt) and any Junior Loans funded 
from net cash provided by operating activities versus net cash provided by financing activities 
(i.e., a Refinancing, proceeds from Junior Loans or capital contributions).  See Exhibit J for a 
sample calculation of Leveraged Operating Cash Flow. 

1.76. “Limited Change Order” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.7. 
 

1.77. “LMP Transfer Event” shall mean the date on which Leggat McCall LLC, a 
Massachusetts limited liability company, no longer Controls, directly or indirectly, Tenant, 
whether on account of a Sale Transfer or some other transfer of ownership interests. 
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1.78. “Local Tenant Organization” shall mean the organization representing the 
Assisted Residents meeting the requirements set forth in the Local Tenant Organization 
Agreement. 
 

1.79. “Local Tenant Organization Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in 
Section 5.4. 
 

1.80. “Lockout Period” shall mean the period commencing on the date hereof and 
expiring on the date that the IM/SM Interests are extinguished or are no longer owned by the 
Investor Member, Special Member and/or any of their affiliates as a result of having been 
purchased or acquired by the Managing Member, its affiliate or designee in accordance with the 
Operating Agreement by a Sale Transfer or some other transfer of ownership interests.  
 

1.81. “LTO” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4. 
 

1.82. “LTO Standards” shall have the meaning set forth in the Local Tenant 
Organization Agreement. 
 

1.83. “Major Alterations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.8. 
 

1.84. “Major Change Order” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.7. 
 

1.85. “Management Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(d). 
 

1.86. “Management Plan” shall mean the Management Plan for the Project dated as of 
March 29, 2023, as the same may be amended, restated, replaced, modified, extended and/or 
supplemented from time to time in accordance with the Local Tenant Organization Agreement.  
The Management Plan shall be a commercially reasonable plan for the operations and management 
of the Improvements and other new buildings on the Site, including the Premises, in compliance 
with the Local Tenant Organization Agreement and all Legal Requirements applicable to the 
Affordable Units, which Management Plan shall cover issues such as the coordination of property 
operations and management, with uniform guidelines for managing the affordable units in 
residential buildings on the Site (including the Affordable Units) and Common Areas, and services 
for residents at the Site, and which may have attached as riders thereto: (a) the grievance procedure; 
(b) Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing Plan and Tenant Selection Plan; (c) the BHA form of rider 
to the Management Agreement, (d) a form of Occupancy Agreement for Affordable Units; and (e) 
a Resident Orientation Package for Assisted Residents in accessible, plain language, covering 
lease, rules and regulations, maintenance and repair policies and procedures, rent collection and 
enforcement policies, housekeeping and pet policies, parking policies, resident handbook and 
operation of equipment and appliances within their Affordable Unit.   

1.87. “Managing Member” shall mean the manager, managing member, managing 
partner, general partner or equivalent of Tenant.  As of the date hereof, the managing member of 
Tenant is BH Building M GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. 

 
1.88. “MBE” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.3. 
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1.89. “MCP” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3. 
 

1.90. “MWPP” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.3. 
 

1.91. “New Lease” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 15.1. 
 

1.92. “Noncurable Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.4. 
 

1.93. "Occupant" shall mean a Resident, or lessee, sublessee, licensee, occupant or 
other user of a portion of the Premises or Improvements (or any parking rights relating thereto), 
whether under a lease, sublease, license, concession, or similar agreement (“Occupancy 
Agreement”), whether with Tenant or any other Person. 
 

1.94. “Offer Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(c). 
 
1.95. “Operating Agreement” means, initially, that certain Amended and Restated 

Operating Agreement of Tenant dated on or about the date hereof, as the same may be amended, 
restated, replaced, modified, extended and/or supplemented from time to time, or at such time as 
there is any new or successor Tenant, by assignment of this Lease, succession or otherwise, the 
then applicable operating agreement, certificate of incorporation, certificate of formation, 
partnership agreement, by-laws, or other applicable governing organizational documents of 
Tenant, as the same may be amended, restated, replaced, modified, extended and/or 
supplemented from time to time. 

1.96. “Operating Budget” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.6. 
 

1.97. “Outside Completion Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.2. 
 

1.98. “Owners’ Association” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.3. 
 

1.99. “Owners’ Association Agreement” shall mean that certain Owners’ Association 
Agreement dated as of June 30, 2023 by and among Landlord, as special member, Developer, 
and the Owners’ Association, and joined in by Tenant and other ground tenants of the Site, 
relating to the construction, operation and maintenance of the Common Areas within the Site, 
and other matters pertaining to the entire Site, as the same may be amended, restated, replaced, 
modified, extended and/or supplemented from time to time. 
 

1.100. “Partial Taking” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.4. 
 

1.101. “Participating Rent” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3. 
 

1.102. “Party” and “Parties” shall have the meaning set forth in the second sentence of 
this Lease. 
 

1.103. “Permitted Leasehold Mortgage” shall mean a mortgage on Tenant's leasehold 
interest in the Premises to a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee. 
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1.104. “Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee” shall mean (A) any mortgage lender approved 
by Landlord or (B) any one or combination of the following Persons: 
 

(i) a savings bank, commercial bank, savings and loan associations, trust 
company, a commercial credit corporation, credit union, industrial loan association, or national 
banking association, acting for its own account or in a fiduciary, agent, or trustee capacity, 
including a lender acting as an originator with respect to a conduit type securitized loan 
(including a real estate mortgage investment conduit or a financial asset securitization investment 
trust); 
 

(ii) an endowment of an educational institution, hospital, or other nonprofit 
institution, or charitable foundation; 
 

(iii) an insurance company; 
 

(iv) a pension or retirement trust or fund for a corporation or other legal 
business entities, or of a religious or educational institution or for any trade union; 
 

(v) a government or public employees' pension or retirement system, or any 
other governmental agency supervising the investment of public funds; 
 

(vi) an investment company, as defined in the Investment Company Act of 
1940, as amended; 
 

(vii) a "real estate investment trust," as defined in Section 856 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or like future provisions of the Internal Revenue Code); 
 

(viii) a real estate debt or investment fund, whether domestic or offshore; 
 

(ix) a sovereign wealth fund; 
 

(x) a family office;  
 

(xi) an issuer of taxable or tax-exempt bonds and/or the trustees, fiduciary or 
similar party or parties for the bondholders under the applicable bond indenture or similar 
documents; or 
 

(xii) any government or quasi-governmental agency, entity or body politic and 
corporate incorporated or established under the laws of the Commonwealth or federal law or 
other applicable Legal Requirements.  
 
provided that in each case (i)-(xi) above 
 

(a) such Person is not an Affiliate; 
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(b) such Person has, or manages, or is managed by an entity with, assets (or a 
combined capital and surplus account or equivalent) or net worth of not less than 
$750,000,000.00; 
 

(c) such Person has, in the reasonable opinion of Landlord, the qualifications, 
experience and financial responsibility required to employ and administer the personnel and/or 
independent contractors necessary to fulfill the obligations contained herein for the continued 
management and operation of the Improvements in accordance with this Lease, were such Person 
to succeed to the interest of Tenant under this Lease; 

 
(d) such Person is not a Disqualified Person; and 

 
(e) the information concerning such Person required pursuant to the provisions of 

Section 6.1 has been submitted to Landlord in conformity with such provisions. 
 

To be entitled to the rights set forth in Article VI and elsewhere in this Lease, any 
transferee of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or other holder of a mortgage granted to a 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee must also be a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee. 
 

1.105. “Permitted Manager” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(d). 
 

1.106. “Permitted Uses” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.1. 
 

1.107. “Person” shall mean an individual, corporation, joint venture, partnership, limited 
liability company, limited liability partnership, association, joint stock company, trust, 
unincorporated association, or other organization, whether or not a legal entity, and any 
governmental authority. 
 

1.108. “Personal Data” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.13. 
 
1.109. “Per Unit Supplemental Rent” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 

1.110. “Plan” shall mean the plan made by Nitsch Engineering attached hereto as 
Exhibit B showing the Premises. 
 

1.111. “Premises” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 
 

1.112. “Prime Interest Rate” shall mean the fluctuating rate of interest designated as such 
and published in the Wall Street Journal or successor newspaper during the respective periods of 
calculation of such interest hereunder. 
 

1.113. “Project” shall mean the development, construction, rehabilitation, leasing, 
ownership, operation, maintenance and management of revenue-producing improvements 
constituting a mixed-income residential development on the Site in accordance with the 
Approved Development Plan containing up to a total of 2,699 Units, of which at least 1,010 will 
be Affordable Units, Common Areas, ancillary retail space, parking and open space, including, 
specifically, the construction and operation of the Improvements on the Premises. 
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1.114. “Project-Based Vouchers” shall mean rental subsidies awarded to Tenant or Units 

pursuant to a HAP Contract. 
 

1.115. “Put Option” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(a). 
 

1.116. “Refinancing” shall mean any direct or indirect financing or refinancing of 
Tenant’s interest in the Premises or any portion thereof, including without limitation any 
mortgage financing or refinancing, sale-leaseback, mezzanine financing, or other transaction of a 
similar nature, other than (A) the construction loan obtained by Tenant in connection with the 
initial development and construction of the Improvements and the Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgage which repays such construction loan, and (B) the first direct or indirect financing of 
Tenant’s interest in the Premises if the initial development and construction of the Improvements 
is financed entirely with equity. 
 

1.117. “Registry” shall mean the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds and/or Suffolk 
County Registry District of the Land Court, as applicable. 
 

1.118. “Remedial Work” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3. 
 

1.119. “Rent” shall mean, at any given time, Fixed Rent, Supplemental Rent, 
Participating Rent and Transaction Rent, as more particularly set forth in Article IV. 
 

1.120. “REP” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.4. 
 

1.121. “Resident(s)” shall mean individuals or families occupying a Unit in the 
Improvements under an Occupancy Agreement for such Unit between such resident and Tenant. 
 

1.122. “Resident Employment Requirements” shall have the meaning set forth in  
Section 16.4. 
 

1.123. “Restoration Criteria” shall mean the criteria to be used to evaluate the Premises 
or the Improvements in the event of a Partial Taking as more particularly set forth in Section 
11.4(i). 

 
1.124. “Retail Strategic Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 14.1.  
 
1.125. “Review Process” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.9. 

 
1.126. “Sale Transfer” shall mean (i) a Transfer of all or substantially all of Tenant’s 

interest in this Lease, the Premises and the Improvements to a third party transferee, or (ii) any 
sale, transfer, or assignment of more than an eighty percent (80%) direct or indirect equity 
interest in Tenant to a third party transferee in a single transaction or series of transactions in any 
twelve (12) month period; provided, however, neither the transactions set forth in Section 6.5(b) 
nor the last grammatical paragraph of Section 6.5 shall be subject to any Transaction Rent even 
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though they constitute a Sale Transfer and provided further that “Sale Transfer” shall exclude 
those Transfers permitted under Section 13.3 (other than Sections 13.3(iii), (viii) and (xi)).  
 

1.127. “Schematic Design Submittal” shall mean drawings and other documents 
submitted by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with Section 7.9 illustrating the scale and 
relationship of the components of the Improvements or Major Alterations to the Project. 
 

1.128. “Section 3” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.4. 
 

1.129. “Site” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 
 

1.130. “Site Delivery Conditions” shall have the meaning set forth in the Development 
Agreement. 
 

1.131. “SMSA Income” shall mean the Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area median 
family income for the Boston area as determined by the United States Department of Labor, 
adjusted for family size, and published by HUD under Section 8 of the Act, or any equivalent 
measure, if such an index is no longer in effect. 
 

1.132. “Special Member” shall mean CREA SLP, LLC, an Indiana limited liability 
company, and its successors and permitted assigns under the Operating Agreement (other than 
any assignee that is the Managing Member or an affiliate or designee thereof). 
 

1.133. “Substantial Completion” shall mean (i) the completion of the Improvements 
located on the Premises in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications, to the extent that 
only minor adjustments and punch list items remain to be performed, as evidenced by a 
certificate of such completion by Tenant’s architect, and (ii) issuance of a permanent, full and 
unconditional Certificate of Occupancy for all or substantially all of the Units contained within 
the Improvements. 
 

1.134. “Supplemental Rent” shall mean the meaning set forth in Section 4.2. 
 

1.135. “Taking” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.1 hereof. 
 

1.136. “Tax Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.6 hereof. 

1.137. “Temporary Taking” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.7 hereof. 
 

1.138. “Tenant” shall have the meaning set forth in the first sentence of this Lease. 
 

1.139. “Tenant Requirements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(f). 
 

1.140. “Tenant Sale Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(c). 

1.141. “Tenant's Property” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.10 hereof. 
 

1.142. “Tenant’s Property Interest” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(a). 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

         
 

15 

1.143. “Term” shall mean the term of this Lease described in Section 3.2 hereof. 
 

1.144. “Third Party Acquirer” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 13.5(b). 

1.145. “Total Development Costs” shall mean all out-of-pocket bona fide so-called “hard 
costs”, so-called “soft costs” and so-called “land costs” paid or incurred in developing, 
constructing and financing the Improvements and shall include the amount of Fixed Rent paid 
hereunder.  Any amounts included in Total Development Costs based on transactions with 
Affiliates shall be on arm's-length, commercially reasonable terms.  Any amounts included in 
Total Development Costs on account of activities allocable in part to those referred to above and 
in part to other costs shall be allocated in accordance with equitable cost accounting procedures. 
 

1.146. “Total Taking” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.3 hereof. 
 
1.147. "Total Tenant Payment" shall mean the statutory amount a household will pay 

toward the gross rent (rent plus utilities) for occupancy of an Affordable Unit.  Currently, the 
Total Tenant Payment for an Affordable Unit subject to a Project-Based Voucher HAP Contract 
is more particularly set forth in 24 C.F.R. 5.628 as the greater of (i) 30% of a household's 
monthly adjusted income, and (ii) 10% of the household's unadjusted monthly income, and (iii) 
the minimum rent Landlord must charge a family except in cases of financial hardship. 

 
1.148. “Transaction Rent” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4 hereof. 

 
1.149. “Transfer” shall mean any direct or indirect, voluntary or involuntary, (i) sale, 

transfer, or assignment, including without limitation, sales, transfers, and assignments by 
operation of law, by merger, or consolidation, or otherwise by Tenant of the Improvements or all 
or any portion of Tenant’s leasehold interest in the Premises; (ii) any sale, transfer, or assignment 
of more than a fifteen percent (15%) equity interest in Tenant in a single transaction or series of 
related transactions; and (iii) in the case of any Affiliate that owns more than fifty percent (50%) 
of the direct equity interests in Tenant as its only material investment (other than cash or cash 
equivalents), any sale, transfer or assignment in a single transaction or series of related 
transactions of the direct equity interests in such Affiliate. 
 

1.150. “Units” shall mean rental dwelling units to be occupied by individuals or families 
for residential purposes. 
 

1.151. “Use Agreement” shall mean the Boston Housing Authority Charlestown Use 
Agreement among Landlord, Tenant and HUD dated as of June 30, 2023 pertaining to the 
Premises, as amended, restated, replaced, modified, extended and/or supplemented from time to 
time.   
 

1.152. “Value Equivalent” shall mean the amount at a later or future time of a given sum 
of money in the present or at another earlier time, increased or decreased in accordance with the 
change in the Index over the intervening period so as to have the same value as such sum of 
money in the present or at such other earlier time.  
 

1.153. “WBE” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.3. 
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1.154. “Yield on Treasuries” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4. 

 
ARTICLE II - DEMISE OF PREMISES; CONDITION 

 
2.1. Demise of Premises.  Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases 

from Landlord, for the Term hereinafter described and upon the terms and conditions specified in 
this Lease, (i) the Premises; and (ii) all easements, rights and appurtenances relating to the 
Premises. 
 

2.2. Title and Condition of Premises.  The Premises are leased subject to all Legal 
Requirements now in effect or hereafter adopted by any governmental authority having 
jurisdiction, to the extent applicable to the Premises, including without limitation, the terms and 
conditions of the HAP Contract, the Use Agreement, the BPDA Regulatory Agreement, and any 
other agreements entered into by Tenant with HUD or other public agencies applicable to the 
Premises.  Title to the Premises is subject to, and benefitted by, all matters of record and in fact 
existing as of the Commencement Date relating to the Premises.  Landlord and Tenant 
acknowledge that the title to the Premises as of the Commencement Date is as set forth in the 
title insurance policy (or in a commitment to issue such policy or pro forma title insurance 
policy) attached hereto as Exhibit I. 
 
 2.3. No Representations by Landlord.  Tenant acknowledges that it is leasing the 
Premises, and is agreeing to construct, operate and maintain the Improvements, after a full and 
complete examination of the Premises, is taking the Premises in their present “as-is” condition as 
of the Commencement Date, including without limitation, subsurface conditions, and assumes all 
risks associated with performance of its obligations under this Lease.  Except for representations 
expressly set forth in this Lease or in any subsequent agreement executed in writing by Landlord, 
Landlord makes no representations to Tenant and Tenant may not rely upon any statement, 
whether written or oral, now or hereafter made by any officer, employee, agent or representative 
of Landlord, as to (a) the geotechnical, environmental or other conditions of the Premises, (b) the 
suitability of the Premises for the Improvements, (c) the existence or suitability of any on-
Premises or off-Premises facilities, (d) the availability of governmental permits and approvals, 
(e) the practicality or capacity of plans and specifications heretofore or hereafter approved by 
Landlord to satisfy the performance requirements of any governmental and quasi-governmental 
agencies, and/or (f) the compliance by the Premises and Project, and the contemplated use 
thereof, with existing zoning requirements.  Landlord hereby disclaims any statement or 
representation not consistent with this Section 2.3, except as expressly set forth in this Lease or 
in any subsequent agreement executed in writing by Landlord. 
 
 2.4. Easements.  Landlord agrees to use reasonable efforts to assist Tenant in 
obtaining any and all easements and rights of way as may be necessary to construct and/or 
operate the Improvements and to relocate or terminate easements currently encumbering the 
Premises to the extent such relocation or termination is reasonably necessary for the construction 
of the Improvements; provided, however, Landlord shall not be subject to any expense, cost, fee 
or liability in connection therewith. Likewise, Tenant agrees to grant Landlord temporary 
easements for utilities and access necessary to operate the existing buildings on the Site owned 
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and managed by Landlord that do not interfere with Tenant’s construction or use of the Premises.  
Landlord has granted Tenant the Easement contemporaneously with the entry into this Lease. 
 

ARTICLE III - TERM 
 

3.1. Commencement Date.  This Lease shall commence on the Commencement Date. 
 

3.2. Term.  Subject to the terms, covenants, agreements and conditions contained 
herein, Tenant shall have and hold the Premises for a term (the “Term”) of ninety-nine (99) 
years commencing on the Commencement Date. 
 

ARTICLE IV - RENT AND OTHER CHARGES 
 

4.1. Fixed Rent for Premises.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord as fixed rent (“Fixed 
Rent”) a one-time lump sum amount of $76,500.00 for the entire Term of this Lease for the 
Premises.  Landlord acknowledges that it has received, on the Commencement Date, payment in 
full of the Fixed Rent for the entire Term.   
 

4.2. Supplemental Rent.  Commencing on the Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay 
to Landlord annually as supplemental rent (“Supplemental Rent”), the amount of $59.07 per 
Unit (the “Per Unit Supplemental Rent”), which Per Unit Supplemental Rent shall be adjusted 
annually on each January 1 to reflect the year-over-year increase, if any, in the Index expressed 
as a percentage (i.e., the Index as of the current January 1 divided by the Index as of the prior 
January 1), provided that the Per Unit Supplemental Rent shall not be less than 100% of the Per 
Unit Supplemental Rent during the prior calendar year. 

 
4.3. Participating Rent.   
 
(a) Commencing on the date of the expiration of the Lockout Period and continuing 

through and including the date of any LMP Transfer Event (the “LMP Transfer Date”), Tenant 
shall pay to Landlord as “Participating Rent”, an amount equal to (i) twenty-five percent (25%) 
of the Leveraged Operating Cash Flow from the Improvements after payment of Fixed Rent, 
Supplemental Rent and the Landlord Management Fee but before payment of Participating Rent, 
and (ii) twenty-five percent (25%) of gross proceeds (whether in cash, kind, mortgage notes, or 
otherwise) received by Tenant (before payment of Participating Rent) from any Refinancing of 
the Improvements, or any portion thereof, or Tenant’s interest under this Lease, less only (W) the 
amounts outstanding on any prior Permitted Leasehold Mortgage note (or other Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee debt) and any Junior Loans immediately prior to the Refinancing, (X) 
actual, documented, customary closing costs of the Refinancing paid by Tenant to third parties 
who are not Affiliates of Tenant (such as brokerage commissions, financing/lender fees 
including any prepayment premiums or exit fees, mortgage/transfer taxes/fees, title insurance 
premiums, escrow fees, legal fees, and recording fees), (Y) any Transaction Rent payable under 
Section 4.4, and (Z) any reserves or escrows established under the new Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgage note or other loan documents (such as for tenant security deposits, real estate taxes, 
insurance, capital improvements and replacement reserves), plus any reserves or escrows 
released under the prior Permitted Leasehold Mortgage note or other loan documents.  The 
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Participating Rent payable under (ii) above will be triggered either by a Refinancing obtained by 
Tenant where it continues to hold Tenant’s interest under the Lease thereafter or by a 
Refinancing in conjunction with a Sale Transfer.  

 
(b) On the LMP Transfer Date, in lieu of any Participating Rent that would otherwise 

be payable under Section 4.3(a)(ii) above in connection with any Refinancing occurring on the 
LMP Transfer Date, and after taking into account the Participating Rent due under Section 
4.3(a)(i) above, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional Participating Rent, an amount equal 
to twenty-five percent (25%) of the gross proceeds received by Tenant (whether in cash, kind, 
mortgage notes, or otherwise) from any Sale Transfer (net of any assumed debt) occurring on the 
LMP Transfer Date, either directly, or indirectly, less only (i) actual, documented, customary 
closing costs paid by Tenant to third parties who are not Affiliates (such as brokerage 
commissions, legal fees, escrow fees, title insurance premiums, recording fees and any transfer 
fees or excise taxes or similar assessments imposed on ground lessees by the City or 
Commonwealth), (ii) the amounts outstanding on any prior Permitted Leasehold Mortgage note 
(or other Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee debt) or Junior Loans immediately prior to the Sale 
Transfer that are not being assumed in connection with the Sale Transfer (and any prepayment 
premiums or exit fees payable in connection with the payoff of such debt or loans) and (iii) 
Transaction Rent.  This Section 4.3(b) shall only apply if the LMP Transfer Date is after the end 
of the Lockout Period. 

 
(c) An example illustrating the calculation of Leveraged Operating Cash Flow is set 

forth in Exhibit J.   

(d) In the event of a disagreement between the parties as to the proper calculation of 
Participating Rent, the calculation will be submitted to arbitration in accordance with Section 
18.6, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord, with a full reservation of rights, not later than ten (10) 
after the submission of such matter to arbitration, an amount equal to (i) one-half of Tenant’s 
calculation of Participating Rent plus (ii) one-half of Landlord’s calculation of Participating 
Rent, and upon the written decision of the arbitrators, Landlord shall promptly refund Tenant the 
amount of any overpayment of Participating Rent or Tenant shall promptly pay Landlord the 
amount of any underpayment of Participating Rent, as applicable.  Tenant shall not be in default 
in its obligation to pay Participating Rent to Landlord on account of any disagreement between 
the parties as to the proper calculation of Participating Rent, so long as Tenant timely pays to 
Landlord the disputed amount set forth above in this paragraph during the pendency of the 
arbitration and, if applicable, pays any underpayment of Participating Rent promptly after the 
written decision of the arbitrators.   

 
(e) From and after the LMP Transfer Date, no further Participating Rent shall be due 

and payable under this Lease. 
 
4.4. Transaction Rent. 

 
(a) In addition to all other Rent payable hereunder during the Term, from and 

after the expiration of the Lockout Period, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as “Transaction Rent”, 
an amount equal to one percent (1.0%) of the gross proceeds received by Tenant (whether in 
cash, kind, mortgage notes, or otherwise) from any Refinancing of the Improvements, or any 
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portion thereof, or Tenant's interest under this Lease, less only (i) the amounts outstanding on 
any prior Permitted Leasehold Mortgage note (or other Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee debt) or 
Junior Loans immediately prior to the Refinancing and (ii) actual, documented, customary 
closing costs of the Refinancing paid by Tenant to third parties who are not Affiliates of Tenant 
(such as brokerage commissions, financing/lender fees including any prepayment premiums or 
exit fees, mortgage/transfer taxes/fees, title insurance premiums, escrow fees, legal fees, and 
recording fees).   
 

(b) In addition to all other Rent payable hereunder during the Term (except 
that no Transaction Rent will be payable under Section 4.4(a) in the event of a Sale Transfer or a 
Refinancing as described in Section 4.4(c) or with respect to the transactions set forth in Section 
6.5(b) or the last grammatical paragraph of Section 6.5), from and after the expiration of the 
Lockout Period, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Transaction Rent, an amount equal to the 
greater of (A) one percent (1.0%) of the gross proceeds received by Tenant (whether in cash, 
kind, mortgage notes, or otherwise) from any Sale Transfer from time to time, either directly, or 
indirectly, less only actual, documented, customary closing costs paid by Tenant to third parties 
who are not Affiliates (such as brokerage commissions, legal fees, escrow fees, title insurance 
premiums, recording fees and any transfer fees or excise taxes or similar assessments imposed on 
ground lessees by the City or Commonwealth); and (B) a participation in the profitability of 
Tenant’s investment measured based on Tenant’s achieved unleveraged Internal Rate of Return 
per annum (“IRR”) at the date of the Sale Transfer, compared to three (3) tiers of hurdle rates of 
return on Tenant’s investment calculated using discount rates equal to the five-year trailing 
average of the yield per annum on ten-year treasury notes (the “Yield on Treasuries”), 
calculated as described below, plus six (6) percent, nine (9) percent and twelve (12) percent, as 
follows:  
 
 Landlord’s participation shall be computed as follows: 
 

 A ten percent (10%) participation in Tenant’s profits to the extent the achieved 
IRR on Tenant’s Invested Capital is greater than the hurdle rate equal to the Yield 
on Treasuries plus six percent (6%), and less than the hurdle rate equal to the 
Yield on Treasuries plus nine percent (9%); plus 

 
 A twenty percent (20%) participation in Tenant’s profits to the extent the 

achieved IRR on Tenant’s Invested Capital is greater than the hurdle rate equal to 
the Yield on Treasuries plus nine percent (9%) and less than the hurdle rate equal 
to the Yield of Treasuries plus twelve percent (12%); plus 

 
 A thirty percent (30%) participation in Tenant’s profits to the extent the achieved 

IRR on Tenant’s Invested Capital is greater than the hurdle rate equal to the Yield 
on Treasuries, plus twelve percent (12%). 

 
The achieved IRR on Tenant’s Invested Capital shall be calculated net of all Fixed Rent, 
Supplemental Rent, the Landlord Management Fee, Participating Rent and Transaction Rent 
under Section 4.4(b)(A) paid or payable to Landlord in determining when Landlord’s 20% and 
30% participation in Tenant’s profits begin.   
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The Yield on Treasuries shall be calculated as follows: sum the daily closing rate of the 10-year 
treasury bond as published by the U.S. Treasury for the preceding 5 years divided by the sum of 
the number of data points (which will exclude weekends and holidays when the bond market is 
closed).  The first calculation of Yield on Treasuries will be done on or before the date this Lease 
is placed in escrow, as agreed to by Tenant and Landlord.  Subsequent calculations of Yield on 
Treasuries will be done whenever a Transaction Rent payment to Landlord is triggered under this 
Section 4.4(b) using the date of the relevant transaction (i.e., the Sale Transfer, or a Refinancing 
described in Section 4.4(c) below). 
 
For purposes of this Section, “IRR” shall mean (a) the discount rate at which the net present 
value of all quarterly unleveraged cash flows (positive and negative) from the Improvements 
(after subtracting the amount of any Fixed Rent, Supplemental Rent, the Landlord Management 
Fee, Participating Rent and Transaction Rent under Section 4.4(b)(A) paid or payable to 
Landlord with respect to the applicable period) over Tenant’s holding period equals zero, (b) 
times four (4).  “Invested Capital” shall mean, initially, with respect to the first Sale Transfer, 
the Total Development Costs recognized quarterly as negative cash flows during the construction 
period or, with respect to each subsequent Sale Transfer, the purchase price paid by the acquiring 
Tenant for its interest, plus actual, documented closing costs customarily paid by a purchaser, 
paid by the acquiring Tenant to third parties (including governmental authorities) who are not 
Affiliates of Tenant (such as brokerage commissions, legal fees, escrow fees, title insurance 
premiums, financing fees, recording fees and any transfer fees or excise taxes or similar 
assessments imposed on purchasers of ground lease interests by the City or Commonwealth) 
plus, in each case, capital expenditures incurred by Tenant during its ownership period, 
substantiated as hereinafter set forth. 
 
An example illustrating the calculation of Transaction Rent is set forth in Schedule 1-A.  The 
actual Excel Spread Sheet containing the formulas used for calculating Transaction Rent in such 
example accompanies this Lease as Schedule 1-B. 
 
In the event of any foreclosure, assignment in lieu of foreclosure or other Transfer that is not 
subject to Transaction Rent as provided in Section 6.5(b) or the last grammatical paragraph of 
Section 6.5, then for purposes of calculating the Transaction Rent that would apply to any 
subsequent Sale Transfer or a Refinancing described in Section 4.4(c) below that triggers 
Transaction Rent, Invested Capital shall be reset to equal either the purchase price paid by the 
purchasing Tenant from a foreclosing Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, or if acquired by the 
foreclosing Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, the outstanding amount of the Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgage (including any unpaid interest, penalties and costs which Tenant then owes to the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee) plus actual documented closing costs paid by the acquiring 
Tenant to third parties as of the date of such foreclosure, assignment in lieu of foreclosure or 
other Transfer. 
 

(c) This Section 4.4 will apply to each subsequent Sale Transfer and 
Refinancing of Tenant’s interest in the Lease and the Improvements during the Term.  If a Sale 
Transfer has not occurred in the prior ten (10) year period, then any Refinancing will be treated 
as a Sale Transfer pursuant to clause (b) above (and no Transaction Rent will be payable under 
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clause (a) above) with the Sale Transfer price to be determined by the appraisal performed by the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee in connection with the Refinancing, provided that if either party 
disagrees with the results of such appraisal, the deemed Sale Transfer price will be submitted to 
arbitration in accordance with Section 18.6. 

 
(d) In the event of a disagreement between the parties as to the proper 

calculation of Transaction Rent, the calculation will be submitted to arbitration in accordance 
with Section 18.6, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord, with a full reservation of rights, not later 
than ten (10) after the submission of such matter to arbitration, an amount equal to one-half of 
the sum of (i) Tenant’s calculation of Transaction Rent and (ii) Landlord’s calculation of 
Transaction Rent, and upon the written decision of the arbitrators, Landlord shall promptly 
refund Tenant the amount of any overpayment of Transaction Rent or Tenant shall promptly pay 
Landlord the amount of any underpayment of Transaction Rent, as applicable.  Tenant shall not 
be in default in its obligation to pay Transaction Rent to Landlord on account of any 
disagreement between the parties as to the proper calculation of Transaction Rent, so long as 
Tenant timely pays to Landlord the disputed amount set forth above in this paragraph during the 
pendency of the arbitration and, if applicable, pays any underpayment of Transaction Rent 
promptly after the written decision of the arbitrators.   
 

4.5. Payment of Rent.   
 

(a) All Rent shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord in lawful money of the 
United States of America at Landlord's address set forth herein or at such other place or to such 
other person as Landlord from time to time may designate. 
 

(b) Supplemental Rent shall be payable in annual installments, in arrears, on 
or before thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar year during the Term hereof on account 
of amounts due for the prior calendar year (or portion thereof).   

 
(c) Participating Rent from Leveraged Operating Cash Flow shall be payable 

in annual installments, in arrears, upon delivery of audited financial statements as required under 
Section 4.6(b). 
 

(d) An estimate of Transaction Rent and Participating Rent from a 
Refinancing shall be provided to Landlord on or before thirty (30) days prior to the closing of 
any Sale Transfer or Refinancing occurring during the Term, supported by information provided 
by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with Sections 4.6(b) and 4.7.  For Transaction Rent, the 
calculation of Tenant’s Invested Capital shall be based on unaudited statements of quarterly 
unleveraged cash flow prepared in accordance with the form attached as Exhibit J for each 
calendar quarter within the Term.  The calculation of Invested Capital will commence on the first 
day of the calendar quarter in which the Commencement Date falls or the date a Tenant acquires 
an interest in the Premises.  At such first day, Tenant’s initial amount of Invested Capital will be 
recognized as a negative cash flow.  All subsequent recognition of positive and negative cash 
flows shall occur at the end of each calendar quarter.  The actual calculation for Transaction Rent 
and Participating Rent from a Refinancing shall be made on or before the date that is three (3) 
days prior to a closing date of a Sale Transfer or Refinancing and submitted to Landlord for 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

         
 

22 

verification. Transaction Rent and Participating Rent from a Refinancing shall be paid upon such 
closing date.  If any adjustments to Transaction Rent are required post-closing due to changes in 
the recognition of positive and negative cash flows made in Tenant’s quarterly statements then, if 
such calculation results in a higher Transaction Rent than that which has been paid by Tenant, 
Tenant shall promptly pay to Landlord such shortfall amount; if such calculation results in a 
lower Transaction Rent than that which has been paid by Tenant, then Landlord shall promptly 
refund to Tenant such excess amount.  Tenant shall submit to Landlord within ninety (90) days 
after receipt of a permanent Certificate of Occupancy for the initial Improvements a detailed 
statement of the Total Development Costs, as defined herein, certified as correct by Tenant’s 
chief financial officer or chief operating officer, together with such invoices, contracts and other 
evidence substantiating such costs as Landlord may reasonably request. 
 

4.6 Books and Records; Audit Rights 
 

(a) Books and Records.  At all times during the Term of this Lease, Tenant 
shall keep and maintain accurate and complete books and records pertaining to the 
Improvements, Total Development Costs, Invested Capital, dates of Sale Transfers and 
Refinancings, Leveraged Operating Cash Flow, consideration paid and received for Sale 
Transfers, Refinancings and to all other items related to the calculation of Rent and any other 
amounts coming due under this Lease or concerning the Improvements and the Premises (such 
books and records being herein the “Books and Records”).  The Books and Records and each 
budget, report, financial statement or other item of financial information delivered to Landlord 
shall be maintained and presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”), as consistently applied to the real estate industry, and consistent with the preparation 
of the financial statements referred to below.  Tenant shall retain and keep available such Books 
and Records for not less than seven (7) years after the end of each calendar year in which any 
Rent was due, or in the case of Total Development Costs, Invested Capital and Leveraged 
Operating Cash Flow, seven (7) years after the Transaction Rent or Participating Rent, as 
applicable, based on such information is paid, including the seven (7) years after the expiration 
or earlier termination of this Lease, or, in the event of litigation or claims arising out of or 
relating to this Lease, until such litigation or claims are completely disposed of and all time 
limits for appeal have expired.  Tenant shall make such Books and Records, including without 
limitation, rent rolls, available for inspection and audit by Landlord, HUD, the City, any other 
agency providing public funds to Landlord, the Comptroller General of the United States or their 
authorized representatives, upon not less than one (1) full business day’s advance notice, at all 
reasonable times during regular business hours, either on the Premises or at another location 
within the City.  Tenant shall provide copies of any Books and Records requested by Landlord or 
its representatives, within seven (7) calendar days from such request. 

(b) Financial Statements.  (i) Tenant shall provide Landlord, within thirty (30) 
days of the end of each calendar quarter, during the Term, financial statements certified as 
correct by Tenant’s chief financial officer or chief operating officer, prepared from the Books 
and Records in accordance with GAAP as consistently applied to the real estate industry, 
including, without limitation, a balance sheet, statement of income, statement of changes in 
Tenant’s members’ equity and statement of cash flows along with a supplement schedule for 
quarterly unleveraged cash flow and quarterly Leveraged Operating Cash Flow (see Exhibit J) 
to be used for the calculation of Transaction Rent and Participating Rent from Leveraged 
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Operating Cash Flow, and capital expenditures incurred during the quarter; (ii) for each calendar 
year during the Term, Tenant shall prepare from the Books and Records and cause to be audited 
by an independent certified public accountant of recognized standing selected by Tenant, an 
annual financial statement for Tenant incorporating the results of operations of the 
Improvements, including without limitation, a balance sheet, statement of income, statement of 
changes in Tenant’s members’ equity, statement of cash flows, and a certification of capital 
expenditures incurred with respect to the Premises during the year.  Beginning with the first such 
annual financial statement, in anticipation of future Sale Transfer and Refinancing events, Tenant 
shall provide Landlord with a cumulative record of unleveraged cash flow and Leveraged 
Operating Cash Flow consistent with the computational illustration and formula set forth in 
Exhibit J.  Such financial statements shall in form and substance contain all elements of 
statements prepared under GAAP as consistently applied to the real estate industry, including 
both generally accepted accounting principles and generally accepted audit standards.  Such 
financial statements, including the certification by the auditors and all letters of such auditors to 
management in connection with the audit, shall be delivered to Landlord no later than April 1st of 
each year during the Term and the year following the expiration or earlier termination of this 
Lease; (iii) any discrepancy between the sum of the quarterly unleveraged cash flow and 
Leveraged Operating Cash Flow for a calendar year and the annual amounts set forth in the 
audited financial statements for the year shall be corrected in the cash flow for the fourth quarter 
of such calendar year. 

(c) Audits. If, as a result of Tenant’s audit or an inspection or audit of 
Tenant’s Books and Records by Landlord, HUD, the City, any other agency providing public 
funds to Landlord, the Comptroller General of the United States, or their authorized 
representatives, it is established that any calculation affecting the amount of Rent due hereunder 
was misstated, so that Landlord shall have been paid less Rent than it was entitled to receive 
under this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the difference between the Rent that should have 
been paid, including interest at the Default Rate, and the Rent that was paid.  Such payment shall 
be made within 30 days of receipt of written notice from Landlord. Further, if the amount that 
should have been paid exceeds by two percent (2%) or more the amount that was paid, or if an 
audit reveals that the Books and Records of Tenant are in such a state that the Rent due Landlord 
cannot be properly determined, the entire expense of any audit performed by Landlord, HUD, the 
City, any other public agency providing public funds to Landlord, or the Comptroller General of 
the United States, shall be borne by Tenant.  If Tenant’s audit or Landlord’s inspection and audit 
establishes that Tenant has overpaid Landlord, then such overpayment shall be credited to Tenant 
within thirty (30) days of the approval of such credit by Landlord. 

(d) Warranty of Information.  Each delivery of quarterly and annual reports or 
statements under this Section 4.6 or other financial information in regard to the Premises shall be 
accompanied by a signed statement of Tenant’s chief financial officer or chief executive officer 
representing and warranting that such report, statement or items of information is presented in 
compliance in all material respect with this Section.  No delivery of non-conforming reports, 
statement or items of information to Landlord under this Lease shall be effective to waive the 
right of Landlord to full performance of this Section or to waive any breach by Tenant in the 
delivery of reports, statement or other information. 
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(e) Projections.  As soon as available, but in no event later than thirty (30) 
days prior to the commencement of each calendar year, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord an 
information copy of a projected summary income and expense statement reflecting the budget 
of the estimated gross revenues, capital expenditures, operating costs (including, separately, 
administrative and general expense, utility expense and repair and maintenance expense), for 
such coming calendar year or Tenant’s fiscal year, as applicable, in the form attached as the 
“Operating Budget” in Exhibit K. 

 
4.7 Transaction Statement.  Not later than three (3) days prior to a closing of any Sale 

Transfer or Refinancing (whether or not the Sale Transfer or Refinancing results in the payment 
of Transaction Rent or Participating Rent from a Refinancing), Tenant shall deliver a statement 
in reasonable detail to Landlord, certified as correct by Tenant’s chief financial officer or chief 
operating officer, together with substantiating documentation, setting forth the amount of 
Transaction Rent or Participating Rent from a Refinancing then due, if any, and the calculation 
thereof.  Such statement shall include an itemization of the following (to the extent applicable): 
 

(a) Gross proceeds of a Sale Transfer or gross proceeds of a Refinancing, 
broken down in reasonable detail; 

(b) With respect to a Refinancing, the portion of such gross proceeds used to 
repay any outstanding balance of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage or any Junior Loans; 

(c) With respect to a Refinancing, the balances outstanding on any Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgage and any Junior Loans, if any, immediately preceding the completion of such 
Refinancing; 

(d) With respect to a Refinancing, (i) the appraised value of Tenant’s 
leasehold interest in the Premises, as determined by an appraisal performed for the Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee which is Refinancing Tenant’s leasehold interest in the Premises, and (ii) 
the principal amount of the new Permitted Leasehold Mortgage and any Junior Loans; 

  (e) With respect to a Sale Transfer, the calculation of Tenant’s Invested 
Capital and any other itemized information necessary to calculate IRR and the Yield on 
Treasuries calculation; 

(f) The transaction costs of the Sale Transfer or Refinancing transaction, if 
applicable; and 

  (g) The calculation of one (1%) of gross proceeds received by Tenant from a 
Sale Transfer compared to the calculation of the participation in the profitability of Tenant’s 
investment, as set forth in Section 4.4(b). 

4.8. Additional Rent.  Tenant covenants to pay and discharge, when the same shall 
become due, as Additional Rent, all other amounts, liabilities and obligations which Tenant 
assumes or agrees to pay or discharge pursuant to this Lease, together with every fine, penalty, 
interest and cost which may be added for non-payment or late payment thereof and, in the event 
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of any failure by Tenant to pay or discharge any of the foregoing, Landlord shall have all rights, 
powers and remedies provided herein or by law in the case of non-payment of Rent. 
 

4.9. Net Lease.  It is understood and agreed by Tenant that this Lease is a triple net 
lease and the Rent, Additional Rent and all other sums payable hereunder shall be absolutely net 
to Landlord.  Tenant shall be responsible for all real estate and personal property taxes, payments 
in lieu of taxes, assessments, utility charges, liens, insurance, maintenance, repairs and all other 
costs associated with the Premises and the Improvements which may arise or become due during 
the Term.  Tenant shall pay all sums payable hereunder without notice or demand (except as 
otherwise provided in this Lease), set-off, abatement, suspension or deduction, and Tenant shall 
not interpose any counterclaim or defense of whatever nature or description in any proceeding by 
Landlord for the collection of money due hereunder, provided, however, that such agreement not 
to interpose any counterclaim or defense shall not be construed as a waiver of Tenant's right to 
assert a counterclaim or defense against any action seeking to declare an Event of Default or 
terminate this Lease or as a waiver of Tenant's right to assert claims against Landlord in any 
separate action.  Tenant also reserves the right to commence and prosecute an independent action 
at law or in equity against Landlord to seek damages, injunctive or other relief or remedies with 
respect to any breach of this Lease on the part of Landlord.  Tenant’s covenants and obligations 
to construct and complete the Improvements, to pay Rent, Additional Rent and other amounts 
payable by Tenant and to perform its other obligations set forth in this Lease are separate and 
independent from any of Landlord’s covenants or obligations in this Lease. 

 
4.10. Taxes and Other Charges.  Subject to Section 4.11 hereof, Tenant will pay or 

cause to be paid as Additional Rent, before any fine, penalty, or interest may be added thereto for 
the non-payment thereof, (i) all taxes, or payments in lieu thereof, assessments, levies, municipal 
fees, water and sewer rents and charges, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary, 
foreseen and unforeseen, which are, at any time during the Term hereof, imposed or levied upon 
or assessed by a governmental authority against (A) the Premises, (B) any Rent, Additional Rent 
or other sum payable hereunder, or (C) Tenant’s interest in this Lease or the leasehold estate 
hereby created, or which arise in respect of Tenant’s operation, possession or use of the 
Premises; (ii) all gross receipts or similar taxes imposed or levied upon, assessed against or 
measured by any Rent, Additional Rent or other sum payable hereunder; (iii) all sales, use and 
similar taxes at any time levied, assessed or payable on account of Tenant’s acquisition, leasing 
or use of the Improvements or the Premises; (iv) all charges to Tenant for utilities serving the 
Premises directly to the utility provider and (v) CRA Permanent Funding Assessments and 
Common Expense Assessments (each as determined in accordance with, the Owners’ 
Association Agreement), and any other assessments assessed against Tenant or the Premises 
under the Owners’ Association Agreement, payable to the Owners’ Association.  Any such taxes, 
assessments and other charges with respect to the Premises for the then current tax period shall 
be apportioned as of the Commencement Date, and the pro rata share thereof shall be paid to 
Landlord or credited to Tenant, as the case may be, so that Tenant shall pay only those portions 
thereof which correspond with the portion thereof as is within the Term hereby demised.  Any 
such taxes, assessments and other charges with respect to the Premises for the fiscal year in 
which the Term of this Lease shall end shall be apportioned so that Tenant shall pay only those 
portions thereof which correspond with the portion of said year as is within the Term hereby 
demised.  Tenant shall not be required to pay any franchise, transfer, income, capital levy or 
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similar tax of Landlord (other than any tax referred to in clause (ii) above) unless such tax is 
imposed, levied or assessed in substitution for any other tax, assessment, charge or levy which 
Tenant is required to pay pursuant to this Section 4.10, but only in an amount calculated as if 
Landlord owned only the Premises and Landlord's income consisted only of amounts payable as 
Rent hereunder.  Tenant will furnish to Landlord, promptly after demand therefor, proof of 
payment of all items referred to above which are payable by Tenant.  If any such assessment may 
legally be paid in installments, Tenant may pay such assessment in installments; in such event, 
Tenant shall be liable only for installments which are attributable to any period falling within the 
Term hereof.  Subject to Section 4.11 hereof, during the continuance of any Event of Default, 
Landlord shall have the right to pay, discharge or remove any tax, assessment, levy, or other 
charges for which Tenant is responsible as set forth in this Section 4.10 on behalf of Tenant and 
charge Tenant therefor.  To the extent that the Premises do not constitute a single, separate tax 
parcel as designated by the City, Landlord agrees to support Tenant’s request to the assessors' 
office of the City to assess the Premises as a single tax parcel separately from all other land of 
Landlord, and to provide all information and material requested by the assessors in connection 
therewith.  In the event that the Premises are not separately taxed or assessed for or with respect 
to any applicable taxation period, then, in that event, any tax, assessment, levy, and other charges 
shall be apportioned between the Premises and the remainder of the applicable tax parcels in 
such manner that Tenant shall pay only an equitable portion thereof properly apportioned or 
allocated to the Premises. 
 

4.11. Permitted Contests.  Tenant may seek a reduction in the valuation of the Premises 
or Tenant’s leasehold interest under this Lease assessed for tax purposes.  Landlord shall not 
require Tenant, nor shall Landlord have the right, to pay, discharge or remove any tax, 
assessment, levy, fee, rent, charge, lien or encumbrance, or to comply with any Legal 
Requirement applicable to the Premises or the use thereof, so long as Tenant shall contest the 
existence, amount, or validity thereof by appropriate proceedings which shall prevent the 
collection of or other realization upon the tax, assessment, levy, fee, rent, charge, lien or 
encumbrance so contested, and the sale, forfeiture or loss of the Premises or any Rent or any 
Additional Rent to satisfy the same, and which shall not affect the payment of any Rent, 
provided that such contest shall not subject Landlord to the risk of any criminal liability or civil 
penalty.  If the amount of the tax, assessment, levy, fee, rent, charge, lien, encumbrance, liability 
or penalty being contested exceeds $150,000, or, after the fifth year after the Commencement 
Date, the Value Equivalent of such amount, Tenant shall give such reasonable security as may be 
requested by Landlord to insure payment of such tax, assessment, levy, fee, rent, charge, lien, 
encumbrance, liability or penalty and to prevent any sale or forfeiture of the Premises by reason 
of such nonpayment, and Tenant hereby indemnifies Landlord for any such liability or penalty 
(regardless of amount).  Upon the termination after final appeal of any proceeding relating to any 
amount contested by Tenant pursuant to this Section, Tenant shall promptly pay any amount 
determined in such proceeding to be due, and in the event Tenant fails to make such payment, 
Landlord shall have the right to make any such payment on behalf of Tenant and charge Tenant 
therefor.  Subject to the foregoing, and provided that it shall incur no out-of-pocket costs, 
Landlord shall join in any proceeding or execute and deliver any appropriate papers which may 
be necessary to permit Tenant so to contest any valuation of the Premises or any tax, assessment, 
levy, fee, rent, charge, lien or encumbrance and shall further cooperate with Tenant in such 
contest, as Tenant may from time to time reasonably request. 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

         
 

27 

 
4.12. Landlord Management Fee.  During the Term, Landlord shall provide the 

following management services to Tenant with respect to the Improvements (collectively, the 
“Landlord Management Services”):  all management and oversight services contemplated to be 
provided by Landlord with respect to the Improvements pursuant to the Local Tenant 
Organization Agreement and the Management Plan, including Landlord’s membership on the 
committees and sub-committees established under the Local Tenant Organization Agreement and 
general oversight of community relations at the Project.  Commencing on the Commencement 
Date, and for so long as Landlord provides the Landlord Management Services to Tenant to the 
reasonable satisfaction of Tenant, Tenant shall pay to Landlord annually as Additional Rent a 
management fee in an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the property management fee paid 
by Tenant to its Permitted Manager under its Management Agreement (or, if self-managed, to its 
Affiliate under the corresponding management agreement) for the Improvements for the 
corresponding calendar year (pro-rated for partial calendar years) (the “Landlord Management 
Fee”).  The Landlord Management Fee shall be payable in annual installments, in arrears, on or 
before thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar year during the Term hereof on account of 
amounts due for the prior calendar year (or portion thereof).  In the event that Landlord fails to 
provide Landlord Management Services to Tenant to the reasonable satisfaction of Tenant, 
Tenant shall provide Landlord with a written notice indicating in reasonable detail in what 
respect Landlord has failed to provide the Landlord Management Services with respect to the 
Improvements, and what measures will be necessary, in the reasonable opinion of Tenant, for 
Landlord to take to meet its obligations to with respect to the performance of Landlord 
Management Services.  Such notice shall contain the following legend placed in bold face large 
type prominently and conspicuously at the top of the transmittal letter: “THIS IS A NOTICE OF 
DEFAULT.  IMPORTANT RIGHTS UNDER THE GROUND LEASE MAY BE SUSPENDED 
OR LOST BY FAILURE TO CURE THE STATED DEFAULT PROMPTLY.”  If such failure 
continues for more than thirty (30) days after such written notice, then Tenant may suspend the 
payment of the Landlord Management Fee until such time as Landlord fulfills its obligations to 
provide the Landlord Management Services, it being agreed that no Landlord Management Fee 
shall be payable with respect to any such period of suspension.  
 

ARTICLE V - USE AND QUIET ENJOYMENT; SURRENDER 
 

5.1. Use; Conditions. 
 

(a) Tenant covenants and agrees that the Improvements and Premises may 
only be used for the Permitted Uses as set forth herein in accordance with all Legal 
Requirements.  Tenant shall use the Premises only for the construction, development, leasing, 
operation and maintenance of the Improvements, consisting of no fewer than 102 Affordable 
Units, accessory facilities, amenities, and improvements customary or desirable in connection 
therewith, including, without limitation, parking facilities and areas, ancillary retail and 
commercial space, property management office, community space (including, without limitation, 
a tech lounge, conference/training room, and communal spaces for independent and group 
connectivity), recreational areas and/or open space (the “Permitted Uses”) and for no other uses.  
The initial Improvements shall be constructed as shown on the Final Plans and Specifications.  
Tenant shall exercise commercially reasonable efforts initially to lease and thereafter during the 
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Term to keep the Affordable Units at the Premises at all times leased to Assisted Residents 
pursuant to the requirements of this Lease (subject to casualty, condemnation and force majeure 
events), the HAP Contract, the Letter of Assurance and the Management Plan.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, the Improvements shall not be converted to a condominium or cooperative form of 
ownership structure without the consent of Landlord, which consent may be withheld in 
Landlord’s sole discretion.  Without the prior consent of the BHA, Tenant shall not offer, and 
shall prohibit the Residents of the Units from offering, use of the Units on a short term rental or 
other time-sharing basis for a fee for a period of time that would trigger the Massachusetts room 
excise tax applicable to short-term rentals (which, as of the Commencement Date, is thirty-one 
(31) consecutive days or less), including without limitation, pursuant to an Airbnb or VRBO 
program.  Tenant shall use good faith efforts to cause the uses by any retail subtenants to 
conform to the Retail Strategic Plan in accordance with Section 14.1. 

 
(b) Of the Affordable Units, approximately 31% shall be one-bedroom units, 

approximately 35% shall contain two bedrooms, approximately 24% shall contain three 
bedrooms and approximately 10% shall contain four bedrooms.  The basic unit characteristic of 
the Affordable Units will be equal in finishes, fixtures, appliances and amenities to the market-
rate units expected to be constructed in the first mixed-income building planned on another 
portion of the Site (provided that such mixed-income building may contain finishes for all units 
therein that are unique to such building for aesthetic reasons).  The Improvements or Major 
Alterations, as applicable, will, to the extent feasible, conform to “green building”, “well 
building” and “accessibility” standards, universal design principles and energy efficiency and 
sustainable practices in effect prior to commencement of construction thereof.  The Affordable 
Units will at all times during the Term have the benefit of, and be subject to, all Legal 
Requirements, including without limitation, applicable federal, state and local rental subsidy 
programs, including HUD’s Project-Based Voucher requirements.  Landlord and Tenant agree to 
enter into HAP Contracts, to the extent such contracts are authorized by HUD.  Landlord agrees 
to use reasonable efforts to work with HUD and any successor federal agency, and state and 
local agencies, to procure and maintain Project-Based Vouchers or comparable rental subsidies 
at a level that enables the operation and maintenance of the Affordable Units to be economically 
sustainable. 
 

(c) Tenant shall operate the Units, any retail space and all amenity space and 
common areas of the Improvements and Premises consistent with good business practices 
applicable to affordable housing rental buildings.  Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and 
expense, perform all of Tenant’s activities on the Premises in compliance with all Legal 
Requirements affecting the Premises and the Improvements.  Tenant shall also abide by such 
regulations, procedures and policies as may be contained in the Owners’ Association Agreement, 
the Letter of Assurance and the Management Plan or adopted in accordance with the procedures 
set forth therein. 
 

(d) Landlord and Tenant intend that, unless and until Tenant has entered into a 
Management Agreement (as defined below) for the Improvements with a Permitted Manager in 
accordance with this Lease, the Units and any retail space, and all amenity space and common 
areas of the Improvements and Premises shall be self-managed by Tenant or an Affiliate.  Tenant 
acknowledges that it has received and reviewed a copy of the Management Plan on or before the 
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Commencement Date.  Tenant shall comply (and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
cause any Permitted Manager to comply) with the Management Plan to the extent applicable to 
the Affordable Units and, solely to the extent, if at all, located within the Premises, any 
temporary community center.  If Tenant does not elect to self-manage (or retain an Affiliate to 
provide management services), subject to Landlord’s prior written approval, which Landlord will 
not unreasonably withhold or delay, Tenant shall delegate the marketing and leasing of the Units 
and management of the Improvements to a professional management company routinely engaged 
in the management of mixed-income apartment buildings containing, in the aggregate, at least 
2,000 residential apartment units similar to the Improvements for at least five (5) years prior to 
the date of initial delegation by Tenant (“Permitted Manager”).  Landlord acknowledges that to 
the extent that Tenant causes the Permitted Manager to perform any of Tenant’s obligations or 
covenants under this Lease, such obligations or covenants shall be deemed to have been 
performed by Tenant.  A Permitted Manager may be engaged only pursuant to a commercially 
reasonable form of management agreement approved by Tenant (a “Management Agreement”) 
which shall be expressly subject to the terms of this Lease, and shall be in a form reasonably 
required or approved by Landlord obligating the Permitted Manager to comply with the 
Management Plan to the extent applicable to the Affordable Units and, solely to the extent, if at 
all, located within the Premises, any temporary community center.  Landlord hereby 
acknowledges and agrees that any Management Agreement shall be subject and subordinate to 
the rights of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee as may be provided in such Management 
Agreement or any subordination agreement relating thereto required by a Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee, provided that if a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee (or its assignee) shall succeed to 
the interest of Tenant under this Lease by foreclosure, assignment in lieu of foreclosure or 
otherwise, such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or assignee shall be obligated to cause its 
Permitted Manager to agree to be bound by the Management Agreement reasonably required or 
approved by Landlord as described above. 
 

(e) If the Permitted Manager materially violates, breaches or fails to comply 
with any provision of, or obligation under, the Management Agreement, Landlord shall have the 
rights set forth in the Management Agreement to remove the then Permitted Manager and 
appoint a successor manager thereunder (or under a new Management Agreement), subject to the 
notice and cure provisions, if any, provided in the Management Agreement.  Furthermore, in all 
events, Landlord shall have the right to approve any successor or assignee of the Permitted 
Manager in accordance with Section 5.1(d).  If Tenant is self-managing the Improvements and 
materially violates, breaches or fails to comply with any provision of, or obligation under, this 
Lease that relates to the management of the Premises, which violation, breach or failure is not 
cured within thirty (30) days after written notice thereof from Landlord, or such longer period so 
long as Tenant has commenced to cure such violation, breach or failure within such thirty (30) 
day period and is using diligent, reasonable and continuous efforts to cure such violation, breach 
or failure, then Landlord shall have the right to require that Tenant appoint a Permitted Manager. 
 
 5.2  Provisions Regarding Cuts to Section 8 Rental Subsidies.  Landlord and the 
Developer have developed a plan for addressing shortfalls that arise if there are notable changes 
to the Section 8 program that affect the Project or any of the Improvements.  The memorandum 
attached as Exhibit G hereto describes the plan for managing a loss or diminution of rental 
subsidy for Affordable Units that arises from a reduction in federal appropriations or change in 
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applicable law, regulation, or governmental policy at the federal, state, or local level.  Landlord 
and Tenant agree to implement and comply with such plan with respect to the Premises and 
Improvements thereon. 
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, the terms and provisions of this Section 
5.2 and Exhibit G shall supersede any contrary or inconsistent provision in this Lease 
(including, without limitation, with respect to Affordable Units and Assisted Residents and the 
definitions thereof), and in the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this Section 5.2 
and Exhibit G and any other section or provision of this Lease, this Section 5.2 and Exhibit G 
shall govern.  In circumstances where this Section 5.2 and Exhibit G becomes applicable, each 
Party will execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, such further instruments, or 
amendments, modifications or clarifications to this Lease and do or cause to be done such further 
acts, as may reasonably be necessary or proper to carry out the intent and purpose of this Section 
5.2 and Exhibit G. 
 
 5.3 Owners’ Association.  Tenant has simultaneously herewith entered into or 
executed a joinder with respect to the Owners’ Association Agreement and has, pursuant to and 
in accordance therewith, become a member of the Owners’ Association.  The Owners’ 
Association is an organization of all ground tenants of the Site and, for the term of the 
Development Agreement, the Developer (the “Owners’ Association”).  Landlord is a special 
member of the Owners’ Association.  Tenant acknowledges and agrees that it (and its successors 
and assigns) will be bound by, and shall comply with, the terms of the Owners’ Association 
Agreement, as it may be amended from time to time, during the Term.  Tenant acknowledges 
and agrees that CRA Permanent Funding Assessments and Common Expense Assessments (each 
as defined in, and determined in accordance with, the Owners’ Association Agreement) are 
charged to Tenant and other ground tenants of the Site and shall constitute Additional Rent.  
Tenant may also be assessed under the Owners’ Association Agreement for other assessments, 
including without limitation, assessments for purposes of constructing the Common Areas and 
improvements thereon, which assessments shall constitute Additional Rent hereunder. 
 
 5.4 Local Tenant Organization.  The Local Tenant Organization Agreement for 
Charlestown Development (as the same may be amended, restated, replaced, modified, extended 
and/or supplemented from time to time, the “Local Tenant Organization Agreement”) is an 
agreement originally dated as of April 28, 2021 by and among the CRA, Landlord, Developer, 
and the Owners’ Association which addresses the rights of the CRA, and successor LTO’s, with 
respect to participation in certain decisions and operations relating to the Site.  Tenant 
acknowledges that the CRA, or any successor as the local tenant organization (“LTO”) 
recognized by Landlord at the Site as of the Commencement Date will act as the representative 
of the Assisted Residents of the Site, including without limitation, the Improvements, as and to 
the extent set forth in the Local Tenant Organization Agreement, so long as the CRA or such 
successor LTO meets the LTO Standards or, if the CRA only has conditional recognition status 
under the Local Tenant Organization Agreement, then it will act as the representative of the 
Assisted Residents of the Site only to the same extent that conditional recognition status affords 
the CRA with the right to do so under the Local Tenant Organization Agreement.  Tenant 
acknowledges the rights of the LTO under the Local Tenant Organization Agreement and receipt 
of a copy of the Local Tenant Organization Agreement.  In the event the CRA or any successor 
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LTO fails to meet the LTO Standards and is disqualified from representing the Assisted 
Residents, Tenant shall cooperate with the Owners’ Association in its efforts to assist and 
support the efforts of the BHA to establish a new LTO, as more particularly described in the 
Owners’ Association Agreement.  Neither the Local Tenant Organization Agreement, nor any 
reference herein to the Local Tenant Organization Agreement and the rights of the LTO 
thereunder, shall create or imply any privity of contract or other direct legal relationship between 
the CRA or any successor LTO with Tenant under this Lease.  
 
 5.5. No Waste.  Tenant shall not injure, overload, deface, or strip, or cause waste or 
damage to, the Premises or the underlying fee, or any part thereof, in violation of applicable 
Legal Requirements nor commit any nuisance or unlawful activity; nor permit the emission from 
the Premises of any objectionable noise or odor which constitutes a public or private nuisance or 
which may be reasonably expected to unreasonably disturb the quiet enjoyment of neighboring 
buildings or premises or those having business with them; nor permit any flashing or neon lights 
which cast light outside the Improvements (except as provided in the Approved Development 
Plan, as required in connection with the construction of the Improvements or as otherwise may 
be permitted by applicable Legal Requirements); nor permit or knowingly suffer any Occupant 
to do any of the foregoing. 
 

5.6. Permits and Approvals.  Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, obtain all 
permits, certificates, approvals, licenses and all other necessary or appropriate actions of any 
federal, state or municipal authorities required to enable the construction, leasing, maintenance, 
operation and use of the Improvements or any Major Alterations thereto (collectively, the 
“Approvals”).  Upon the request of Tenant, Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant in obtaining 
the Approvals and hereby authorizes Tenant to file for and prosecute the same (and shall join in 
any application or proceeding with respect to the Approvals where the provisions of any Legal 
Requirement require that such application or proceeding be brought by or in the name of 
Landlord), provided that Landlord shall not be required to incur any unreimbursed costs or 
expenses in connection with such cooperation and shall not be required to join in or become a 
party, nominal or otherwise, to any proceeding in which it will oppose the City or the 
Commonwealth, or any agency, authority, branch, commission, division, office or subdivision of 
or for the City or the Commonwealth (except as provided in Article XI in the event of a 
threatened eminent domain taking or condemnation), nor shall Landlord be required, in 
connection with any such proceeding or otherwise, to oppose in any way any policy previously 
established by Landlord nor to take any position inconsistent with a position previously taken 
and made public by Landlord.  Nothing herein, however, shall prohibit Tenant from taking such 
lawful actions as it may deem necessary in seeking Approvals, consistent with the Approved 
Development Plan, as it may be modified, the design documents approved by Landlord, and this 
Lease (or defending the same in any appeal), and Landlord shall not appear in opposition to 
Tenant so long as the Approvals are consistent with the Approved Development Plan, as it may 
be modified in accordance with this Lease, the design documents approved by Landlord, and this 
Lease. 
 
 5.7. Use Agreement, HAP Contract, Others.  Tenant shall comply with all material 
provisions of the Use Agreement, HAP Contract, and the BPDA Regulatory Agreement to the 
extent applicable to the Premises. 
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5.8. Quiet Enjoyment.  If and so long as Tenant shall pay all Rent, Additional Rent 

and other charges herein provided, and shall observe and perform all covenants, agreements and 
obligations contained herein on its part to be kept, Landlord warrants peaceful and quiet 
occupation and enjoyment of the Premises by Tenant; provided, that Landlord may enter upon 
and examine the Premises and may review Books and Records related to the Premises and this 
Lease in accordance with Section 17.10 and, if and to the extent required by applicable Legal 
Requirements, HUD, the Comptroller General of the United States, the City and any other 
governmental agency providing public funds to Landlord or any of their representatives, may 
enter upon and examine the Premises and may review Books and Records related to the Premises 
and this Lease in accordance with Section 17.10, in order to audit and examine such Books and 
Records related to any federal or City subsidies or approvals received by Tenant. 
 

5.9. Ownership of Improvements.  This Lease is intended to convey to Tenant all the 
burdens and benefits of ownership of the Premises and to cause Tenant to be treated as the owner 
of the Premises for federal and state income tax purposes as of the Commencement Date. 
Notwithstanding any provision in this Lease to the contrary, the Improvements and all other 
alterations, additions, equipment and fixtures built, made or installed by the Tenant in, on, or 
under or the Premises shall be the sole property of the Tenant until the expiration or other 
termination of the Term. Accordingly, at all times during the Term, Tenant shall be deemed to 
exclusively own the Improvements for federal income tax purposes, and Tenant alone shall be 
entitled to all of the tax attributes of ownership thereof, including, without limitation, the right to 
claim depreciation or cost recovery deductions, the right to claim the federal low-income housing 
tax credits available to Tenant under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, with respect to the Improvements, and the right to amortize capital costs and to claim 
any other federal income tax benefits attributable to the Improvements. The parties agree to treat 
this Lease in a manner consistent with this intention, including filing all federal income tax 
returns and other reports consistently with such treatment. Landlord will not claim tax credits, 
depreciation or any other federal or state income tax benefits with respect to the Premises, or 
take any action which is inconsistent with this provision. Nothing contained in this Lease shall, 
however, require Tenant to pay any capital levy, franchise, income, corporate, estate, inheritance, 
succession, transfer or similar taxes, tax of Landlord, or any income, profits or revenue tax, 
assessment or charge upon the rent or other benefit received by Landlord under this Lease that 
may be imposed by any governmental authority. 
 

5.10. Tenant's Property and Yield Up.  Tenant shall have the right to remove furniture, 
equipment, and trade fixtures installed by Tenant on the Premises (“Tenant's Property”) from 
the Premises at any time during the Term of this Lease and shall, upon the request of Landlord, 
remove or cause to be removed all furniture, equipment and trade fixtures belonging to Tenant at 
the expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this Lease.  If any such Tenant's Property is 
removed, Tenant, at its expense, shall repair any damage resulting from such removal.  If Tenant 
leases, or gives Landlord notice of its intention to lease, Tenant's Property for use in the 
Premises, Landlord agrees that it will, without undue delay, execute a written instrument for the 
benefit of any equipment lessor, on such form as shall be furnished by such equipment lessor or 
by Tenant wherein Landlord shall recognize that its rights to such leased Tenant's Property, if 
any, shall be subordinate to the rights of the equipment lessor.  Any Tenant's Property remaining 
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on the Premises beyond ninety (90) days after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term of 
this Lease shall be deemed to be abandoned by Tenant and shall become the property of 
Landlord.  Landlord may thereafter cause any Tenant’s Property to be removed from the 
Premises and disposed of, but the cost of any such removal and disposition and the cost of 
repairing any damage caused by such removal shall be borne by Tenant. 
 

5.11. Surrender of Premises.  At the expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this 
Lease, Tenant shall peaceably leave, quit and surrender the Premises in good condition and 
repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted and subject to the provisions of Article X and Article 
XI.  Subject to the rights of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee as provided in Section 6.8, upon 
such expiration or termination all Improvements on the Premises or portion thereof so terminated 
shall become the sole property of Landlord at no cost to Landlord and the Improvements and 
Premises shall be free of all liens and encumbrances except for occupancy by Residents and 
encumbrances existing as of the Commencement Date or caused or approved by Landlord. 
 
 5.12. Construction and Maintenance Easements.  Landlord shall grant such reasonable 
rights of access, utility easements and construction easements to Tenant across portions of the 
Site now or hereafter owned by Landlord and not yet subject to a lease as are reasonably 
necessary for the construction and operation of the Improvements to the extent consistent with 
the Approved Development Plan for the entire Project.  Subject to the approval of any Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee (which approval Tenant will use reasonable efforts to obtain within twenty 
(20) days of any request therefor) and solely to the extent consistent with the Approved 
Development Plan for the entire Project, Tenant shall grant similar easements in or over the 
Premises to Landlord or to tenants of other portions of the Site now or hereafter owned by 
Landlord as may be reasonable and required for the Project.  In each case, the party exercising 
any right under this Section 5.12 will indemnify the other party for any loss or damage arising 
out of such use and will restore any property damaged at its own expense. 
 
 5.13. Holder Agreement.  Tenant agrees that, if Tenant requests and Landlord provides 
“Personal Data”, as such term is defined by M.G.L. Chapter 66A, or Tenant otherwise obtains 
Personal Data, Tenant and its employees, representatives, subcontractors, subconsultants, 
contractors, and/or agents (“Holders”) shall comply with M.G.L. Chapter 66A and all applicable 
regulations with respect to such Personal Data, and such Personal Data will be placed in a secure 
system that reasonably assures the confidentiality of the Personal Data.  In its use and 
maintenance of Personal Data, Tenant shall not disseminate or publish any such Personal Data 
(except to Landlord’s or Tenant’s designated officers and employees or property manager in the 
ordinary course of business) without the informed consent of the data subject (as defined in 
M.G.L. Chapter 66A) and Landlord, or as permitted by law. 
 
 5.14. Amendments to Approved Development Plan.  At such time as any amendment to 
the Approved Development Plan which affects the Premises is proposed, then unless the 
Developer has delivered a copy thereof to Landlord and Tenant, the proposing Party (or the Party 
that received the proposed amendment from the Developer) shall deliver a copy thereof to the 
other Party for its review and approval.  No amendment to the Approved Development Plan 
which affects the Premises shall be binding upon Landlord or Tenant without the prior written 
consent of such Parties, which such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or 
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conditioned provided such amendment (i) does not require (as opposed to permit) any deviation 
from (a) the Final Plans and Specifications previously approved by Landlord, or (b) the bulk, 
dimensions, square footage, use, or design of any Improvements now or later constructed on the 
Premises in compliance with the terms of this Lease; and (ii) does not adversely affect in any 
other manner the use, operation, financing, leasing, or occupancy permitted under this Lease or 
any Improvements then existing on the Premises or permitted under the terms of this Lease to be 
built on the Premises.  Furthermore, no amendment to the Approved Development Plan shall be 
binding upon any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or any Curing Party at the time of such 
amendment, unless approved in writing by such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or Curing Party, 
as applicable.  Any amendment to the Approved Development Plan that has been approved by 
Tenant and Landlord and such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee and Curing Party, as applicable, 
shall thereupon become a part of the Approved Development Plan hereunder.   
 

ARTICLE VI - RIGHT TO MORTGAGE; PROTECTION OF PERMITTED LEASEHOLD 
MORTGAGEES 

 
6.1. Right to Mortgage.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Lease to the 

contrary, Tenant shall have the right at all times and from time to time to mortgage, encumber, 
pledge and/or conditionally assign this Lease and its interest in the Premises, the Improvements 
and Tenant’s Property with a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage (and, where required by a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee, by grant of a security interest under the applicable Uniform Commercial 
Code and conditional or collateral assignment of rents and/or Occupancy Agreements with 
respect to the Premises).  Tenant shall give prior notice to Landlord of its intent to enter into a 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgage and shall seek confirmation from Landlord that the proposed 
mortgagee is a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee.  Such notice and request for confirmation shall 
be made to Landlord in writing and shall be accompanied by such information as is reasonably 
necessary for Landlord to determine whether the proposed mortgagee falls within the definition 
of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee set forth in Article I.  Within fifteen (15) days of its receipt 
of such written request, Landlord shall either determine that the proposed mortgagee satisfies the 
criteria set forth in the definition of Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee in Article I or it shall notify 
Tenant of the specific respects in which such mortgagee does not satisfy such criteria or it shall 
indicate with reasonable specificity what further information it requires to make its 
determination.  If Landlord does not notify Tenant in writing within said fifteen-day period of all 
specific respects in which the proposed mortgagee does not satisfy the criteria set forth in the 
definition of Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee in Article I or of the further information it requires 
to make its determination, such proposed mortgagee shall be deemed to be a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee.  If Landlord requests further information concerning the proposed 
mortgagee, within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of such additional information, Landlord shall 
confirm that the proposed mortgagee is a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or it shall notify 
Tenant of the specific respects in which such mortgagee does not satisfy the criteria set forth in 
the definition of Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee in Article I.  If Landlord does not so notify 
Tenant within said fifteen-day period, such proposed mortgagee shall be deemed to be a 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee.  Unless (i) a financing transaction is closed with the proposed 
mortgagee to which confirmation or consent is given or deemed given hereunder within 180 days 
of the date such confirmation or consent is given or deemed given, or (ii) Tenant enters into a 
legally binding commitment with respect to a financing with the proposed mortgagee within such 
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180-day period, then such consent shall be void.  Upon request by Landlord, Tenant shall furnish 
Landlord with copies of the signed commitment letter or term sheet from the proposed 
mortgagee, the proposed mortgage documents (when available), and such other information 
pertaining to the proposed loan that is relevant to this Lease as Landlord may reasonably request 
and shall also furnish Landlord, following the closing of the applicable financing, with a copy of 
the mortgage as executed and recorded; provided that Landlord agrees to treat all of such 
documentation and information as confidential.  Any other mortgages or encumbrances or 
security interests in Tenant's leasehold interest in the Premises or the Improvements may be 
entered into only with the prior approval of Landlord except that financing of Tenant's Property 
secured by a security interest in goods and governed by Article 9 of the Massachusetts Uniform 
Commercial Code shall not require such approval.  Purchase money second mortgages taken 
back by Tenant in connection with a Transfer permitted pursuant to Article XIII shall be 
permitted, provided that any such mortgage contains reasonable terms generally conforming to 
second mortgages being granted by commercial lenders and provided, further, that Tenant has 
complied with the provisions of Section 4.4 hereof.  Tenant shall not mortgage, pledge, 
hypothecate or otherwise use its interest in this Lease, the Premises, the Improvements, or any 
direct equity interests in Tenant to secure the performance of activities, projects, financings or 
endeavors except those which (i) relate to obligations under this Lease (or activities, projects, 
financings and endeavors related to carrying out rights or obligations of any Affiliate of Tenant 
relating to the Project), (ii) secure an obligation to repay money evidenced by a note or notes for 
which this Lease, the Premises and the Improvements (and/or any other lease, premises or 
improvements relating to the Project) constitute the only real property serving as security and 
which note or notes and mortgage or other security agreement do not contain cross default or 
cross collateralization provisions relating to any other note, security or obligation (other than a 
note, security or obligation, including, without limitation, in respect of any mezzanine financing, 
relating to any other lease, premises or improvements relating to the Project), and (iii) secure an 
obligation which becomes due prior to the expiration of the Term.  Any mortgage granted by 
Tenant shall permit the disbursement of casualty Insurance Proceeds and Awards in connection 
with Partial Takings, or conveyances under threat thereof, to be used for the repair and 
restoration of the Premises on the terms and conditions set forth in this Lease. 
 

6.2. No Subordination of Fee.  At no time shall Landlord's fee title in the Premises or 
Landlord's interest in this Lease be subjected or subordinated in any manner to the interests of a 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or any other mortgagee or lienholder of Tenant. 
 
 6.3. Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee's Right to Take Possession.  A Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee, during the term of its Permitted Leasehold Mortgage and subject to 
Section 6.6, shall have the right to enter upon and take possession of the Premises upon the 
happening of any Event of Default as specified herein or for any default in or breach of Tenant's 
obligations to such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee.  Notice thereof shall be sent to Landlord.  
Such entry, by itself, shall not be deemed to be a default hereunder. 
 
 6.4. Right of Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee to Cure Defaults.  A Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall have the benefit of the following provisions in addition to those 
elsewhere provided in this Lease, provided that such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have 
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given written notice to Landlord of the address in the United States to which notices are to be 
sent: 
 

(a) all notices or copies of notices which are by the terms of this Lease to be 
sent to such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall be in writing and shall be sent in the manner 
set forth in Section 19.1 to such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee at its address designated by 
notice to Landlord; 
 

(b) no notice of default or termination given by Landlord to Tenant shall be 
effective until a copy thereof shall also be sent to such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee; 
 

(c) after the occurrence of an Event of Default and receipt from Landlord of a 
notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default, a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have the 
same time period subsequent to the receipt of such notice to cure any default hereunder or cause 
the same to be cured as shall be permitted hereunder to Tenant after notice to Tenant of a default, 
plus (a) in the case of a default in the payment of any Rent, an additional period of sixty (60) 
days, and (b) in the case of any other default, an additional period of ninety (90) days, and if such 
default cannot with due diligence be cured within such additional ninety (90) day period, an 
additional time thereafter, provided that such cure is initiated during such additional ninety (90) 
day period and thereafter, the curing of the same is prosecuted with diligence; 
 

(d) after the occurrence of any Event of Default by Tenant which is not 
capable of being cured by the payment of money, but which is capable of being cured following 
obtaining possession and control of the Premises (a “Curable Nonmonetary Default”), 
Landlord agrees that it will not terminate or cancel this Lease by reason of such default without 
first giving to a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee such time as may reasonably be required to 
obtain possession of the Premises (including possession by a receiver) and to cure such default, 
provided that such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall prosecute with diligence and continuity 
its efforts to obtain such possession and to cure such default by Tenant; and 
 

(e) after the occurrence of any Event of Default which is not reasonably 
within the power of such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee to cure (a “Noncurable Default”), 
(including, without implied limitation, a violation by Tenant of Section 13.2), Landlord agrees 
that it will not terminate or cancel this Lease by reason of such default without first giving to 
such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee such time as may reasonably be required to complete 
foreclosure proceedings or otherwise to acquire the interests of Tenant under this Lease 
(provided that such forbearance by Landlord shall extend for only so long as such Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall be pursuing such remedies with diligence and continuity and shall be 
sending notices to Landlord at least monthly informing Landlord of its actions in pursuing such 
remedies) and upon the Transfer of the interest of Tenant under this Lease, any Noncurable 
Default shall be deemed to have been waived as to any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or any 
purchaser at a foreclosure sale.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, any 
failure to pay Participating Rent shall be deemed a Noncurable Default; provided, however, if an 
Event of Default hereunder exists as a result of a failure to pay Participating Rent when due that 
is not cured within the applicable notice and cure periods hereunder, then, if the Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee forecloses or accepts an assignment in lieu of foreclosure (collectively, a 
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“Foreclosure Event”) on its Permitted Leasehold Mortgage and recovers net Foreclosure Event 
proceeds in excess of the outstanding indebtedness then owed to such Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee plus actual, out-of-pocket costs incurred by it in connection with the Foreclosure 
Event, and after payment to any members of Tenant of any amounts owed to such members to 
repay any Junior Loans approved by Landlord in accordance with the definition thereof made by 
them under the Operating Agreement, the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall pay (or cause 
Tenant to pay) to Landlord twenty-five percent (25%) of any remaining Foreclosure Event 
proceeds, whereupon, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, the Participating 
Rent provisions of this Lease shall no longer apply and shall be deemed null and void; provided 
that Landlord reserves its right to pursue a claim for damages against the prior Tenant whose 
interest was subject to the Foreclosure Event for any failure of such prior Tenant to have paid to 
Landlord any Participating Rent when due. 
 

Landlord shall accept cure by a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee as a cure by Tenant, and 
shall not terminate this Lease if a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee in fact effects such cure within 
the applicable aforesaid period.  Nothing contained in this Section 6.4 shall require a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee to begin or continue such possession or foreclosure proceedings or 
preclude Landlord from exercising any rights or remedies under this Lease with respect to any 
other default by Tenant (for which the cure rights of the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee under 
this Lease have already been exhausted) during any period of such forbearance or preclude 
Landlord from exercising any rights or remedies under this Lease other than termination or 
cancellation of the Lease during any period of such forbearance.  The foregoing provisions of 
clauses (d) and (e) to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord shall have no obligation to refrain 
from terminating this Lease unless Tenant or such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have 
paid, or caused to be paid, all Rent, Additional Rent and other sums due and payable by Tenant 
hereunder within the cure period set forth in clause (c) and shall be diligently and continually 
prosecuting the cure of any default by Tenant which is capable of being cured by the payment of 
money or without being in possession or control of the Premises. 
 

6.5. Protection of Interests of Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee.  If a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee, through the operation of its contract to finance or refinance the 
Improvements, or by entry as a mortgagee in possession, or by foreclosure, or by acceptance of 
an assignment in lieu of foreclosure, acquires Tenant's interest in the Premises or the 
Improvements, such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have the right, at its option, to: 
 

(a) by itself, its agent, designee or nominee, complete construction of such 
Improvements substantially in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications and operate 
the Improvements itself and in all respects comply with the provisions of this Lease; 
 

(b) Transfer Tenant's interest in the Premises, the Improvements and this 
Lease to (i) a Controlled affiliate of such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, or (ii) any other 
assignee or transferee, which Controlled affiliate or other assignee or transferee shall expressly 
assume (subject to the terms of this Article VI) all of the covenants, agreements, and obligations 
of Tenant under this Lease, and shall be entitled to all the rights and benefits of Tenant under this 
Lease in respect of the Premises, by written instrument, reasonably satisfactory to Landlord to be 
recorded in the Registry, and the mortgagee of such assignee or transferee shall be entitled to all 
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of the rights of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee of Tenant provided the mortgagee is a 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee; provided that, with respect to any assignment or Transfer to 
such assignee or transferee that is not a Controlled affiliate of such Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee, the Transfer must comply with the provisions of Section 13.3(iii); and/or 
 

(c) terminate the leasehold interest created by this Lease, thereby permitting 
Landlord to determine the future of the Premises, including the right to relet the Premises; in the 
event of such termination, Landlord shall have no obligation to compensate such Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee for any losses. 
 

No such action by the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall relieve Tenant of any of its 
obligations hereunder.  If a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall elect to complete construction 
or shall so Transfer its interest, Landlord shall extend such time limits set forth in Section 7.2 
hereof as shall be reasonably necessary to allow for the completion of construction of the 
Improvements, and upon such completion, such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or its transferee, 
as the case may be, shall be entitled to a Certificate of Compliance pursuant to Section 7.5. 
 

No entry by a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee (or its affiliate) as a mortgagee in 
possession, or any acquisition by a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee (or its affiliate) of Tenant's 
interest in the Premises or the Improvements by foreclosure, or by acceptance of an assignment 
in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise, or any assignment or Transfer in accordance with clause (b) 
above, or any purchase by a purchaser at a foreclosure sale of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage, 
shall be subject to or trigger any Transaction Rent, nor shall any acquisition financing obtained 
by a purchaser at a foreclosure sale be deemed a Refinancing that shall be subject to or trigger 
any Transaction Rent.  For the avoidance of doubt, without the consent of Landlord, a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee may transfer its interest in any Permitted Leasehold Mortgage to its 
affiliate in connection with exercising its remedies under such Permitted Leasehold Mortgage, 
including foreclosure or acceptance of an assignment in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise, which 
affiliate shall be deemed a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee and which transfer shall not trigger 
any Transaction Rent. 
 

6.6. Obligations and Rights of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee in Possession.  If the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall enter upon and take possession of the Premises, but not 
otherwise, it shall be bound thereafter to keep and perform all duties and covenants and 
agreements of Tenant under this Lease; provided, however, that if any default or breach of 
covenant or other condition justifying termination or cancellation of this Lease by Landlord shall 
have been cured within the period provided in this Lease and Tenant shall resume possession and 
shall not then be in default under this Lease, the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, upon restoring 
Tenant to full possession of the Premises and its rights under this Lease, shall thereafter not be so 
bound; and provided further, however, that if after such entry upon and taking possession of the 
Premises, Landlord and the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall accept, in writing, another 
tenant in place of Tenant, or if after such entry and taking possession, the Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee shall assign its Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, the mortgage note secured thereby 
and its possession of the Premises to another lender (qualifying as a Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee) in place of the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee 
shall not be so bound. 
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6.7. No Modification or Termination By Tenant.  During the term of any Permitted 

Leasehold Mortgage, this Lease shall not be (i) amended or modified or (ii) terminated, 
surrendered or cancelled by reason of the exercise of any option or election by Tenant hereunder, 
or by the giving of any notice by Tenant hereunder, or by joint action of Landlord and Tenant, 
unless such amendment, modification, termination or cancellation is assented to in writing by the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee.  Any such attempted amendment or modification, termination, 
surrender or cancellation without such assent shall be void. 
 

6.8. Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee's Rights To New Lease.  Landlord agrees that (i) 
if the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee has acquired Tenant's interest in the Premises or the 
Improvements pursuant to Section 6.5, or (ii) upon any termination of this Lease with Tenant, at 
the request of the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, Landlord will, upon compliance with the 
requirements of this Section 6.8, enter into a new lease with the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee 
or a Controlled affiliate of the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee upon the same terms and 
conditions contained in this Lease, with appropriate revisions to reflect the rights of such 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or Controlled affiliate, for the remainder of the Term of this 
Lease; said new lease shall have the same priority as this Lease with Tenant and shall provide 
that title to the Improvements shall automatically vest in the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or 
such Controlled affiliate, and that Landlord shall assign to the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or 
such Controlled affiliate any Occupancy Agreements whose Occupants have attorned to 
Landlord.  Landlord shall not be required to enter into such a new lease unless, prior to the 
execution and delivery of such new lease, the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have paid, or 
caused to be paid, Rent, Additional Rent and other sums due and payable by Tenant to the date 
of commencement of the new lease, together with Landlord's reasonable expenses, including, 
without limitation, attorneys’ reasonable fees in terminating the Lease and preparing and 
delivering the new lease, and shall have cured all existing monetary and insurance defaults under 
the Lease and all other defaults under the Lease (other than Noncurable Defaults, as defined in 
clause (e) of Section 6.4), and shall have performed all the covenants and obligations of Tenant 
which are reasonably within the power of such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee to perform (any 
Noncurable Defaults shall be deemed waived as to such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or 
Controlled affiliate, its successors and assigns). 
 

6.9. Limitation on Liability of Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee .  Nothing herein shall 
require any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee to cure any default by Tenant or to begin or continue 
possession or foreclosure proceedings. No Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have any 
liability for Tenant’s obligations hereunder unless and until such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee 
shall take possession of the Premises, or acquire Tenant’s leasehold interest hereunder by 
foreclosure, assignment in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise.  Upon any such possession, 
foreclosure or acquisition, such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, and any other purchaser at 
foreclosure or party acquiring by, through or under such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, shall 
only be liable for Tenant’s obligations under this Lease accruing from and after the date of such 
possession, foreclosure or acquisition, not those accruing before, and shall be relieved from 
liability for Tenant’s obligations under this Lease upon any subsequent assignment or Transfer of 
its interest in this Lease to any transferee who agrees to become fully liable for such obligations, 
including those arising and accruing after such assignment or Transfer.  Any of Permitted 
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Leasehold Mortgagee’s obligations hereunder, and those of any purchaser at foreclosure sale or 
other party acquiring by, through or under such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, shall be binding 
upon the assets of such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or other party which comprise the 
Premises, but not any other assets of such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or other party, and 
Landlord shall look solely to such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee’s or other party’s interest in 
the Premises in satisfaction of any remedies which it might have against such Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee or other party. 
 

6.10. Refinancing.  Upon prior notice to Landlord, Tenant shall have the right to 
refinance the Premises at any time, provided that no Event of Default then exists (unless such 
refinancing will cure any such Event of Default), that such refinancing (including any 
Refinancing) is by means of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage, that all Rent, Additional Rent and 
other sums due and payable by Tenant shall have been paid on or before the date of such 
refinancing and that any Rent payments required by Section 4.4(a) are made to Landlord.   
 
 6.11. Cooperation with Lenders.  Landlord agrees to cooperate reasonably with any 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee and with Tenant in Tenant's negotiations with prospective 
lenders for the Premises and Improvements, and to accommodate the reasonable requirements of 
such lenders.  Landlord agrees to make reasonable modifications to this Lease to accommodate 
the requirements of a prospective Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, provided that Landlord shall 
never be required to enter into any amendment to this Lease which would (a) subordinate 
Landlord’s fee interest in the Premises; (b) reduce, defer or subordinate the payment of Rent; (c) 
relieve Tenant of any material obligation, monetary or otherwise, under this Lease; (d) extend the 
Term of this Lease; or (e) permit Tenant to construct Improvements other than those permitted 
under this Lease; or (f) otherwise materially adversely affect Landlord’s rights under this Lease; 
or (g) materially adversely affect the rights of Assisted Residents under their Occupancy 
Agreements.   
 

6.12. Estoppel Certificates.  Landlord and Tenant, as the case may be, will execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to each other or to any actual or prospective Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee, or a permitted transferee under Section 13.3, or any actual or prospective Occupant 
of a portion of the Premises other than a Unit, or any other actual or prospective purchaser, 
assignee, transferee or similar party, within fifteen (15) days after a written request therefor, a 
certificate certifying: 

 
(i) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have 

been modifications, that this Lease is in full force and effect as modified, and stating the 
modifications); 
 

(ii) the dates, if any, to which Rent, Additional Rent and other sums payable 
hereunder have been paid; 
 

(iii) whether or not, to the knowledge of Landlord or Tenant, as the case may 
be, there are then existing any defaults under this Lease (and if so, specifying the same); and 
 

(iv) such other matters relating to this Lease as may be reasonably requested. 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

         
 

41 

 
6.13. Recognition and Confirmation Agreement.  At the request of a Permitted 

Leasehold Mortgagee or Tenant, Landlord agrees to execute and deliver to such Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee a commercially reasonable recognition, non-disturbance and/or consent 
agreement in a form mutually agreeable to Landlord and such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, 
which agreement may also contain, without limitation, such confirmations and consents from 
Landlord as may be reasonably requested by such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee with respect 
to matters set forth in this Lease as to which the rights, instruments or agreements of, or in favor 
of, Landlord are stated in this Lease to be subject and subordinate to the rights, instruments or 
agreements of, or in favor of, such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee. 
 

6.14. Undertakings of Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee.  All Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgages shall provide that: 
 

(a) Notices.  Promptly after the giving to Tenant of any notice of process in 
any action or proceeding brought for foreclosure of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage or any 
notice of acceleration under a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage, or a foreclosure of a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgage, the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee will give duplicate copies thereof to 
Landlord by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by a nationally recognized overnight 
courier. 
 

(b) Amendment.  A Permitted Leasehold Mortgage shall not be amended in 
any manner that would cause it to no longer qualify as a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage without 
the prior written consent of Landlord. 
 
 6.15. Landlord’s Right to Mortgage.  Nothing in this Lease shall restrict or prevent 
Landlord’s right to mortgage its fee interest in the Premises for a governmental purpose provided 
that any such mortgage is subject and subordinate to this Lease, and Landlord shall cause any 
such mortgagee to execute and deliver such instruments as may be reasonably requested by 
Tenant, Curing Party or any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee to confirm such subordination to 
this Lease and to provide non-disturbance protections to Tenant.  Landlord shall provide Tenant 
with reasonable advance notice of any such mortgage. 
 
ARTICLE VII - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS AND ANY MAJOR 

ALTERATIONS 
 

7.1. The Improvements.  Tenant hereby agrees to use diligent efforts to construct on 
the Premises, at its sole cost and expense, the Improvements in accordance with the Final Plans 
and Specifications. 
 

7.2. Schedule for Construction.  Subject to force majeure events, Tenant shall 
Commence construction of the Improvements within thirty (30) days after the Commencement 
Date, shall prosecute such construction diligently and continuously in accordance with the 
construction schedule provided by Tenant to Landlord, and shall Substantially Complete such 
construction no later than thirty (30) months after the Commencement Date (the “Outside 
Completion Date”) all in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications; provided that 
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Tenant shall have the right to extend the Outside Completion Date for an additional period of 
two hundred seventy (270) days (the (“Extended Completion Period”) so long as Tenant 
continues to diligently pursue Substantial Completion.  For purposes of this Lease, construction 
of the Improvements shall be deemed to have “Commenced” upon commencement of actual 
physical work on the Premises pursuant to a full, unconditional building permit.  
 
 7.3. Construction Requirements.  Tenant shall construct the Improvements, and any 
Major Alterations, at its sole cost and expense, and at its sole risk, in a good and workmanlike 
manner, using new or good quality materials, in conformity with this Lease, and all applicable 
permits and approvals and other Legal Requirements. 
 

7.4. Monthly Progress Reports.  Tenant shall submit to Landlord a detailed estimated 
construction schedule at the time construction is begun, in a format then currently in use in the 
multi-family construction industry (the “Construction Schedule”).  The Construction Schedule 
shall be resubmitted each calendar quarter until the construction of the Improvements has been 
completed, with actual progress shown.  This quarterly submission shall be accompanied by a 
written report by Tenant citing any adjustments to the schedule forecast, analyzing the causes 
thereof, and, where applicable, noting corrective efforts. 
 
 7.5. Certificate of Compliance.  Promptly upon Substantial Completion of the 
Improvements, Tenant shall give to Landlord written notice thereof.  Not later than fifteen (15) 
days after the receipt of such notice, Landlord will either (i) issue to Tenant a Certificate of 
Compliance, in recordable form as set forth in Exhibit F attached hereto or (ii) provide Tenant 
with a written statement indicating in reasonable detail in what respect Tenant has failed to 
complete the Improvements, and what measures will be necessary, in the reasonable opinion of 
Landlord, for Tenant to take to obtain such Certificate (and, if clause (ii) is applicable, then at 
such time as Tenant believes it has completed the measures set forth in clause (ii), Tenant may 
give Landlord written notice of Substantial Completion, in which case Landlord shall then have 
seven (rather than fifteen) days to respond under clause (i) or (ii) above).  Such Certificate of 
Compliance from Landlord shall be conclusive determination of satisfaction and termination of 
the agreements and covenants in this Lease with respect to the obligations of Tenant and its 
successors and assigns to Commence and complete the Improvements.  If Landlord shall refuse 
or fail to provide Tenant with such a Certificate of Compliance or written statement within 
fifteen (or seven if applicable) days of a request therefor by Tenant, the Improvements shall be 
deemed to have been completed in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications, the 
Certificate of Compliance shall be deemed to have been issued, and Tenant shall be entitled to 
record or file (as appropriate) an affidavit to such effect with the Registry. 
 

7.6. Coordination; Inspection.  Tenant acknowledges that the Premises constitute a 
portion of the Site, which contains occupied multi-family residences and that the comfort and 
safety of Residents and Occupants of other premises in the Project and BHA Residents in 
existing buildings on the Site are of primary importance. Tenant shall provide to Landlord, for 
Landlord’s approval, not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, plans for 
coordination and management of Tenant’s construction of the Improvements and its relationship 
to activities of Landlord, Developer, any other tenants of the Site in the vicinity of the Premises 
and the BHA Residents in existing buildings on the Site (the “Construction Management 
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Plan”).  Such Construction Management Plan shall include, without limitation, planning for 
traffic, parking, pest control, noise, dirt/dust control, staging, safety, and other matters required 
for the safe and orderly construction of the Improvements and safe operations of adjacent 
activities by Landlord and other parties.  The Construction Management Plan shall include a 
communications plan, including without limitation, a 24-hour telephone number which 
Residents, other Occupants, and neighbors can call or text with questions, concerns, and 
complaints.  Tenant shall provide Landlord’s construction representative with a copy of the 
Construction Schedule and any amendments thereto and with reasonable access to the reports, 
logs and other systems in which Tenant records or notes the daily progress of construction.  
Tenant shall inform Landlord’s construction representative of any deviation from the 
Construction Schedule which, in Tenant’s good faith determination, is likely to cause a material 
delay in the Substantial Completion of the Improvements promptly after such deviation becomes 
apparent to Tenant.  All construction work of Tenant hereunder shall be subject to inspection by 
representatives of Landlord at reasonable times upon reasonable advance notice to Tenant.  Such 
representatives shall abide by all reasonable and usual rules of the workplace established by the 
general contractor, including, without limitation, safety requirements and compliance with 
applicable Legal Requirements. 
 

7.7. Delivery of Final Plans and Specifications to Landlord; Change Orders.  Pursuant 
to the Review Process established in Section 7.9 hereof, Landlord has approved Final Plans and 
Specifications for the initial Improvements, a list of which is attached hereto as Exhibit E.  If 
Tenant desires to modify the Final Plans and Specifications in any material respect, Tenant shall 
submit any such modification to Landlord for its review.  A modification of the Final Plans and 
Specifications that (i) does not impair or weaken the structure or mechanical systems of the 
residential apartment building included in the initial Improvements, or include the construction 
of any other buildings or structures or involve additional floors, (ii) complies with standards for 
Affordable Units previously approved by Landlord, including without limitation, building 
sustainability, energy efficiency and wellness standards, (iii) does not impair the use of the 
Improvements or the Premises for the Permitted Uses, (iv) does not involve a material change in 
the grade of the land constituting the Premises, or (v) does not materially affect in any way the 
exterior appearance or function of the residential apartment building included in the initial 
Improvements, shall be deemed a “Limited Change Order.”  Modifications of the Final Plans 
and Specifications which are not a Limited Change Order shall be deemed a “Major Change 
Order.”  Tenant shall provide copies of all change orders relating to modifications of the Final 
Plans and Specifications to Landlord.  If Landlord, acting reasonably, deems such a change order 
to be a Major Change Order, it shall so notify Tenant in writing within fifteen (15) days of its 
receipt of the change order, and such change order shall be treated as a Major Alteration under 
the provisions of Section 7.8.  If Landlord does not notify Tenant in writing that it considers 
such change order to be a Major Change Order within fifteen (15) days after its receipt thereof, 
then it shall be deemed to be a Limited Change Order, provided that in submitting a change order 
for Landlord’s review, Tenant shall have placed the legend required by Section 18.7 prominently 
at the top of the transmittal letter.  Landlord shall have no approval rights over Limited Change 
Orders.  Landlord shall have approval rights over Major Change Orders, subject to, and in 
accordance with, Section 18.7 and Section 7.8. 

7.8. Alterations of Improvements.  After the Final Plans and Specifications shall have 
been approved, except for Limited Change Orders, Tenant shall not make or permit to be made 
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any alterations, additions, or changes to the Improvements or Major Change Orders, except as set 
forth herein and in Section 7.7, which (a) in the case of alterations, additions or other changes to 
the Improvements or the Premises, either individually, or collectively as part of one integrated 
project, (i) cost in excess of TWO MILLION and NO/100 DOLLARS ($2,000,000.00) or, after 
the fifth year after the Commencement Date, the Value Equivalent of such amount, or (ii) are in 
the nature of capital improvements to more than twenty percent (20%) of the total gross floor 
area of the residential apartment building included in the initial Improvements; (b) in the case of 
additions to the residential apartment building included in the initial Improvements, exceed five 
thousand (5,000) square feet of new gross floor area of the residential apartment building 
included in the initial Improvements; (c) in the case of the construction of a new residential 
apartment building or structure on the Premises subsequent to the initial Improvements, exceed 
one thousand (1,000) square feet of new gross floor area; (d) involve any material demolition of 
the exterior structure of the residential apartment building included in the Improvements (other 
than in accordance with Articles X or XI and other than in connection with routine maintenance, 
repairs and replacements); or (e) adversely affect the number of bedrooms, the square footage or 
the quality of the finishes or the indoor air quality of any of the Affordable Units in any material 
respect (each of which, “Major Alterations”), without, in each case, the prior written consent of 
Landlord.  Landlord’s approval shall be subject to, and in accordance with, Section 18.7.  Any 
request for such consent shall be accompanied by graphic, financial and other materials sufficient 
to illustrate the nature and extent of the proposed Major Change Order or Major Alterations, its 
impact upon the Improvements or the Premises, improvements existing upon, or planned for 
under the Approved Development Plan, and other portions of the Site, and shall be submitted to 
Landlord in accordance with the Review Process established in Section 7.9 hereof.  Upon any 
reasonable disapproval thereof by Landlord, Tenant shall have no right, within six (6) months 
after such disapproval, to resubmit for approval any request for substantially the same Major 
Alterations unless so permitted by Landlord (or unless they have been altered in an effort to 
remove the basis for such disapproval).  Tenant may make Minor Change Orders and ordinary 
repairs and replacements and other changes which do not constitute a Major Change Order or 
Major Alterations without Landlord’s consent.  All alterations, additions  and other work made in 
accordance with this Section 7.8 shall be constructed in a good and workmanlike manner, using 
new or good quality materials, and in conformity with all applicable Legal Requirements and 
shall be completed with all due diligence.  If Tenant shall fail to comply with the foregoing 
requirement to obtain the consent of Landlord to such Major Change Orders or Major 
Alterations, Landlord may, within a reasonable time after its discovery thereof, direct in writing 
that Tenant so modify, reconstruct or remove such portion or portions of the Improvements as 
were reconstructed, demolished or subtracted from or added to or extended without the prior 
approval of Landlord in violation of the provisions of this Lease.  Tenant shall promptly comply 
with such directive, and shall not proceed further with such reconstruction, demolition, 
subtraction, addition or extension until such directive is complied with. 
 

7.9. Review Process.  Tenant shall cause Improvements or Major Alterations to be 
constructed upon the Premises only in accordance with the Approved Development Plan and 
(unless the nature of the Major Alterations are such that design plans would not reasonably be 
required) with a Schematic Design Submittal, a Design Development Submittal, and Final Plans 
and Specifications, each with accompanying financial analysis showing sources and uses and 
financial commitments, that have been approved by Landlord pursuant to the requirements of the 
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Development Agreement or the following Review Process, as applicable (the “Review 
Process”): 
 

(i) All subsequent submissions shall be consistent with the Approved 
Development Plan. 
 

(ii) Within a reasonable time but not later than fifteen (15) days after 
submission by Tenant of any materials which require approval in accordance with this Review 
Process, Landlord, in writing, shall either approve such materials or notify Tenant of the specific 
respects in which it finds such materials to be unacceptable, or notify Tenant that it requires an 
additional period of up to fifteen (15) days to review such materials, during which extended time 
it shall either approve such materials or notify Tenant of the specific respects in which it finds 
such materials to be unacceptable.  Landlord shall be entitled to one (1) such additional fifteen 
(15) day review period for each new submission made by Tenant of any materials which require 
approval in accordance with this Review Process.  The criteria which Landlord shall use in the 
Review Process are set forth in Exhibit L attached hereto.  If Landlord does not notify Tenant in 
writing within said fifteen (15) day period, as it may be extended one time for an additional time 
period of up to fifteen (15) days as set forth herein, of all specific respects in which materials are 
unacceptable, such materials shall be treated as having been approved by Landlord, as will all 
elements within such submission which are not so specified as unacceptable.  In regard to any 
specific matters of which Landlord disapproves, Tenant shall, within fifteen (15) days (or such 
additional time as may be requested by Tenant and reasonably approved by Landlord) after 
Tenant receives written notice of such disapproval, resubmit appropriate material, altered in an 
effort to remove the basis for such disapproval.  All resubmissions and subsequent approvals or 
disapprovals thereof shall be made and given in accordance with the procedure hereinabove 
provided for the original submission, until the relevant materials shall be approved or shall be 
treated as having been approved by Landlord as set forth above. 
 

(iii) In connection with the foregoing, the Parties contemplate and agree that 
submission and review of design and financial materials will be a continuing process with the 
Parties working cooperatively, expeditiously, reasonably, and in good faith with respect to the 
construction of the Improvements or any Major Alterations. 
 

(iv) Either Party may notify the other that it deems any action, delay, or 
submission or disapproval unreasonable or in bad faith, and describing the consequences of such 
action and requesting accelerated review of the submission to ameliorate such consequences or 
other relief.  Failure to give written notice within fifteen (15) days of any such action, delay, 
submission or disapproval shall be deemed acquiescence in the reasonableness thereof.  Failure 
of the Party receiving a notice requesting relief to make written protest of any such notice within 
ten (10) days thereof shall constitute acquiescence to the requested relief. 
 

(v) In submitting any design document to Landlord (or any modifications or 
changes thereto) for its review, Tenant shall place the legend required by Section 18.7  in bold 
face large type prominently at the top of the transmittal letter.  
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7.10. Record of Plans.  Tenant shall keep complete, accurate, up-to-date and permanent 
records of all material changes made to the Improvements during the Term of this Lease, 
including changes made to the Final Plans and Specifications during construction of the 
Improvements and in connection with any alterations and additions constructed pursuant to 
Section 7.7 or 7.8 or Article X or XI and, upon request of Landlord, shall provide copies of such 
records to Landlord in a format reasonably approved by Landlord. 
 

7.11. Design Documents.  At all stages of the design process set forth in Section 7.9 
hereof, Landlord shall have access to all design documents and technical backup information 
supporting such documents.  Tenant shall disclose to Landlord the existence of all design 
contracts and other technical contracts.  All architectural, engineering or other contracts entered 
into by Tenant relating to the design of Major Alterations (including without limitation all plans, 
specifications, renderings, engineering data, soil reports and other technical documents) are, to 
the extent assignable and to the extent permitted by such contracts, hereby collaterally assigned 
to Landlord (which collateral assignment Landlord agrees shall be subject and subordinate to any 
assignment now or hereafter granted to any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, and Landlord 
agrees to execute such documentation reasonably requested by Tenant or such Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee to confirm such subordination).  All documents produced for Tenant in 
connection with the design and construction of the Improvements and any Major Alterations, to 
the extent assignable, shall become the property of Landlord if this Lease is terminated as a 
result of an Event of Default by Tenant (subject and subordinate to the rights of any Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee if such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee exercises a right to receive a new 
Lease pursuant to Section 6.8 and the rights of a Curing Party if such Curing Party exercises a 
right to receive a New Lease pursuant to Section 15.1). 
 

7.12. Design Services Contract.  Tenant and a responsible architectural, planning, 
design, engineering and consulting firm or firms (the "Architect"), or the Contractor under a 
design-build arrangement, which firm or firms shall be approved by Landlord, such approval not 
to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed, shall enter into a contract or contracts, 
reasonably satisfactory in form to Landlord, for the design of the Improvements and (if the 
nature of such Major Alterations involves design work) any Major Alterations and, where 
appropriate, for supervision of construction of the Improvements or Major Alterations.  Tenant 
may, at any time thereafter, change such firm or firms or enter into contracts with new firms with 
the approval of Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or 
delayed.  Without limitation of the foregoing, Landlord hereby agrees that Stantec Architecture 
and Engineering P.C. is an approved Architect and Suffolk Construction Company, Inc. is an 
approved Contractor.  Pursuant to Chapter 231 of the Acts of 2020, Tenant and its Affiliates shall 
not be subject to any general or special law of the Commonwealth related to the procurement and 
award of contracts for the planning, design, construction management, construction, 
reconstruction, installation, demolition, maintenance or repair of buildings or public works by a 
public agency but shall be subject to Sections 26 – 27H, inclusive, of Chapter 149 of the General 
Laws of the Commonwealth.  Tenant may elect to cause one of its Affiliates (which may be a 
special purpose entity) to be the party in lieu of Tenant that contracts directly with an approved 
Architect or Contractor with respect to any design or construction work.  Landlord acknowledges 
and agrees that it has approved the contract between Stantec Architecture and Engineering P.C. 
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and Tenant dated as of November 5. 2021 relating to the provision of design services with 
respect to the Improvements. 
 

7.13. Construction Contract.  Tenant and a financially responsible general contracting 
firm or firms (the “Contractor”), which firm or firms shall be approved by Landlord, such 
approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed shall enter into a contract or 
contracts, reasonably satisfactory in form to Landlord, for the construction of the Improvements 
and (if the nature of such Major Alterations involves construction work) any Major Alterations, 
in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications referred to in Section 7.7, and Tenant may, 
at any time thereafter, change such firm or firms or enter into contracts with new firms with the 
approval of Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.  
Without limitation of the foregoing, Landlord hereby agrees that Suffolk Construction Company, 
Inc. is an approved Contractor.  Pursuant to Chapter 231 of the Acts of 2020, Tenant and its 
Affiliates shall not be subject to any general or special law of the Commonwealth related to the 
procurement and award of contracts for the planning, design, construction management, 
construction, reconstruction, installation, demolition, maintenance or repair of buildings or 
public works by a public agency but shall be subject to Sections 26 – 27H, inclusive, of Chapter 
149 of the General Laws of the Commonwealth.  Tenant agrees not to accept bids or proposals 
from, or enter into any contract with, any person or firm for the construction of the 
Improvements if such person or firm is debarred or suspended from contracting with Landlord, 
with the government of the United States of America, or under any applicable Legal 
Requirements.  Tenant agrees to require each person and firm with whom Tenant contracts for 
the construction of the Improvements or any Major Alterations to agree with Tenant not to 
accept bids or proposals from, or enter into any contract with, any such debarred or suspended 
person or firm for all or any part of the construction of the Improvements or Major Alterations, 
and Tenant shall strictly enforce each such agreement.  Tenant may enter into a project labor 
agreement in connection with all construction on the Premises.  In connection with construction 
on the Premises, including Major Alterations, Tenant shall comply at all times with prevailing 
wage laws, and to the extent required under applicable Legal Requirements, with Davis-Bacon 
requirements.  Unless otherwise required by applicable Legal Requirements, Tenant shall have 
no obligation to comply with prevailing wage laws in connection with any operational, 
maintenance or service contracts with respect to the Project.  Tenant may elect to cause one of its 
Affiliates (which may be a special purpose entity) to be the party in lieu of Tenant that contracts 
directly with an approved Contractor with respect to any construction work.  Landlord 
acknowledges and agrees that it has approved the contract between Suffolk Construction 
Company, Inc. and Tenant dated as of June 29, 2023 relating to the construction of the 
Improvements. 
 

7.14. Final Construction Documents.  Prior to Commencing construction of the 
Improvements or Major Alterations, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with: 
 

(i) Final Plans and Specifications approved by Landlord and by any Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee or other lenders of Tenant requiring approval; 
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(ii) The design services contract(s) and construction contract(s) referred to in 
Sections 7.12 and 7.13 above, based upon the Final Plans and Specifications, with any change 
orders as of the start of construction; 
 

(iii) With respect to the initial Improvements or any Major Alterations having 
an estimated cost in excess of the greater of (a) $5,000,000 and (b) 5% of the initial Total 
Development Costs for the initial Improvements, or, after the fifth year after the Commencement 
Date, the Value Equivalent of such higher amount, reasonable assurance that the Contractor will 
perform satisfactorily, which reasonable assurance shall be: (i) either (A) the Contractor 
providing payment and performance bonds of a surety company licensed to do business in the 
Commonwealth whose financial condition is reasonably satisfactory to Landlord (provided that 
if such financial condition is satisfactory to an Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, then such 
financial condition shall be deemed satisfactory to Landlord) in the amount of the estimated hard 
costs of such initial Improvements or Major Alterations naming Tenant, the Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee(s), if any, and Landlord, as multiple obligees, as their respective interests may appear 
(provided that Landlord agrees that its rights under such bonds shall be subject and subordinate 
to the rights of any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee), and Landlord shall execute a confirmatory 
agreement with respect thereto as may be reasonably requested by any Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee; or (B) evidence that the Contractor has implemented a subguard insurance program 
with respect to such initial Improvements or Major Alterations that is reasonably satisfactory to 
Landlord; and (ii) Tenant arranging for a guarantor reasonably acceptable to Landlord to provide 
for the benefit of Landlord a construction completion guaranty substantially in the form of 
Exhibit Q attached hereto, guaranteeing the lien free completion of such initial Improvements or 
Major Alterations (provided that, without limitation of Tenant’s rights to propose a different 
guarantor, any guarantor acceptable to the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall be deemed 
acceptable to Landlord for purposes of this provision) (provided that Landlord agrees that its 
rights under such completion guaranty shall be subject and subordinate to the rights of any 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee under its corresponding completion guaranty, and Landlord 
shall execute a confirmatory agreement with respect thereto as may be reasonably requested by 
any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee).  If a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee requires a completion 
guaranty, Tenant, at its option, shall have the right to provide a completion guaranty to Landlord 
in substantially the same form in lieu of the form of Exhibit Q attached hereto; 
 

(iv) Evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord that Tenant has the equity 
capital and final commitments for mortgage or other financing adequate for the construction of 
the Improvements or Major Alterations; 
 

(v) All licenses, permits, approvals, certificates and all other necessary or 
appropriate actions of any federal, state or municipal authorities required to enable construction 
of the Improvements or Major Alterations in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications 
and reasonably obtainable given the status of the Project.  Tenant shall provide Landlord with all 
applications for such permits, approvals, licenses, zoning relief, and other entitlements at least 
fifteen (15) days prior to submission for Landlord review and comments.  The failure of 
Landlord to comment within fifteen (15) days of receipt shall be deemed an approval of such 
application provided the legend required by Section 18.7 is placed in bold face large type 
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prominently at the top of the transmittal letter.  Landlord will cooperate with Tenant in obtaining 
all such Approvals in accordance with Section 5.6. 
 

(vi) A building permit for the Improvements or (if the nature of the Major 
Alterations requires a building permit) Major Alterations based upon the Final Plans and 
Specifications approved by Landlord which permit shall conclusively be deemed to be 
satisfactory evidence that such portion of the Improvements or Major Alterations complies with 
applicable zoning and building code requirements. 
 

7.15. Arbitration of Design Issues.  If either Party believes the other Party is being 
unreasonable in its position with respect to any substantial issue of design during the design and 
development review process established in this Article VII, and a reasonable attempt has been 
made to resolve said issue between the Parties, said Party may submit the issue for arbitration in 
accordance with Section 18.6 hereof by giving notice thereof to the other Party.  Landlord and 
Tenant shall divide equally all expenses of arbitration.  This Section is expressly limited to 
design issues. 
 
 7.16. Liens.  Tenant shall (unless Tenant contests the same pursuant to Section 4.11), 
within forty-five (45) days after the date on which Tenant receives notice of the same, bond or 
cause to be bonded, with surety companies reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, or pay or cause 
to be paid or discharge or cause to be discharged of record, any mechanic's, materialmen's or 
other lien or encumbrance filed against the Premises arising from any non-payment of any 
monies due and legally owing to any Persons doing any work for Tenant, furnishing any 
materials or supplies or renting any equipment to Tenant or any of its contractors or 
subcontractors in connection with the development, construction, reconstruction, alteration, 
furnishing, repair, maintenance or operation of the Improvements, other than mortgages, 
collateral assignments and security interests permitted by Section 6.1 hereof; provided, however, 
that Tenant shall have the right to contest any such lien or encumbrance in accordance with 
Section 4.11 hereof.  Nothing contained in this Lease shall be construed as constituting the 
consent or request of Landlord, expressed or implied, to or for the performance of any labor or 
services or the furnishing of any materials for any construction, alteration, addition, repair or 
demolition of or to the Premises, or the Improvements, or of any part thereof.  Notice is hereby 
given that Landlord will not be liable for any labor, services or materials furnished or to be 
furnished to Tenant, or to anyone holding the Premises, or the Improvements, or any part thereof 
through or under Tenant, and that no mechanic's or other liens for any such labor, services or 
materials shall attach to or affect the interest of Landlord in and to the Premises or the 
Improvements. 
  

7.17. Government Relations.  It is understood between the Parties that they must 
develop joint strategies and positions with respect to approvals and other actions of various 
levels of government necessary or desirable for the implementation, operation and management 
of the Improvements or any portion thereof.  At different stages of such implementation, and 
with respect to different governmental entities and issues, one or the other Party shall take the 
lead, following full discussion, consultation and an attempt to establish a joint position by mutual 
agreement, in dealings with such governmental entity.  The Party taking the lead shall be known, 
in this Section, as the Party with Primary Responsibility.  The other Party, known as the Party 
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with Secondary Responsibility, shall have the obligation to follow such lead and provide such 
support and cooperation as may be reasonably required under all the circumstances.  Reference 
to governmental entity in this Section shall include any agency, board or department thereof.  
The following sets forth the agreement of the Parties with respect to their respective roles 
pursuant to this Section: 
 

City Primary 
Responsibility 

Secondary 
Responsibility 

 Basic zoning matters (rezoning, 
PDA’s, variances, special 
permits etc.) 

Tenant Landlord 

 Basic street and traffic matters Tenant Landlord 

 Implementation matters 
(licenses, building permits, curb 
cuts, subdivision applications, 
etc.) 

Tenant 
 
 

Landlord 
 

 City grants and public funding Landlord Tenant 

 Property tax matters, including 
tax relief 

Tenant 
 

Landlord 

 Fees – building permit, water & 
sewer 

Tenant Landlord 

 All other Tenant Landlord 

Commonwealth   

 Environmental approvals Tenant Landlord 

 Tax credits, affordable housing 
loans and grants, other funding 

Tenant Landlord 

 All other   Tenant Landlord 

Federal Government   

 Environmental approvals, if any Tenant Landlord 

 Tax credits and other funding Tenant Landlord 

 Tenant relocation, tenant 
protection vouchers, disposition 

Landlord Tenant 
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approval and other HUD 
matters 

 
7.18. Construction Representatives; Cooperation.  Landlord and Tenant shall each 

designate, by written notice from time to time to the other, a construction representative for the 
construction of the Improvements and after notice thereof to the other Party and until such 
designation is changed or withdrawn, such construction representative shall deliver and receive 
all notices, approvals, communications, plans and specifications or other materials required to be 
delivered or received under this Article VII.  Each Party hereby pledges to provide the other 
Party with such information and other support and cooperation as may be reasonably required by 
the other Party (i) to carry out the responsibilities set forth, respectively, in Section 7.17 hereof, 
(ii) to keep the other Party reasonably informed of its activities pursuant to this Article VII 
hereof, and (iii) to take such other steps as may reasonably be required for the accomplishment 
of the Improvements. 
 

ARTICLE VIII - MAINTENANCE, REPAIR AND OPERATION 
 

8.1. Maintenance and Repair; Operation.  Tenant agrees that it will, during the Term, 
at its expense, keep, maintain, use and operate the Premises and the Improvements, including 
Major Alterations and any altered, rebuilt, additional or substituted buildings, structures and 
other improvements thereto, in good repair and appearance and tenantable condition, and subject 
to Articles X and XI, will promptly make all structural and non-structural, foreseen and 
unforeseen, and ordinary and extraordinary changes and repairs of every kind and nature which 
may be required to be made upon or in connection with the Premises and the Improvements or 
any part thereof in order to keep and maintain the Premises and the Improvements in such 
condition.  Tenant shall, at its own expense, keep the Premises and Improvements in a clean, neat 
and sanitary condition and shall make good faith efforts to keep the Units leased to the extent 
reasonably practicable, subject to customary lease roll-over periods, force majeure events and 
Articles X and XI; provided, however, that nothing herein shall require Tenant to enter into 
leases for Affordable Units with Residents that do not meet the requisite standards for Assisted 
Residents.  Landlord shall not be required to maintain, repair or rebuild, or to make any 
alterations, replacements, renewals or improvements of any nature or description to the Premises 
or the Improvements or any part thereof, whether ordinary or extraordinary, structural or non-
structural, foreseen or unforeseen, or to maintain the Premises or the Improvements or any part 
thereof in any way.  Landlord shall not be liable for any loss, damage or injury of whatever kind 
of caused by, resulting from, or in connection with (i) the supply or interruption of water, gas, 
electric current, or any other utilities to the Premises, (ii) water, rain or snow which may leak or 
flow from any street, utility line or surface or subsurface area or from any part of the Premises, 
(iii) other leakage from pipes, appliances, sewer or plumbing works therein, or from any other 
place, or (iv) for interference with air, light or similar interests by anybody or caused by any 
public or quasi-public work.  Tenant hereby expressly waives any right to make repairs at the 
expense of Landlord. 
 
 8.2. Inspection by Landlord.  To the extent allowed or required by applicable Legal 
Requirements, Landlord, HUD, the City, the BPDA and any other governmental agency 
providing public funds to Landlord with respect to the Premises, and the Comptroller General of 
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the United States, and their authorized representatives shall have the right to inspect the Premises 
during regular business hours upon not less than 24 hours’ prior oral notice, provided that such 
inspections are conducted in accordance with applicable Legal Requirements and do not 
unreasonably interfere, and are conducted so as to minimize to the extent practicable any 
interference, with the operations of, and use and enjoyment of the Premises by, Tenant or any 
Occupant.  In the event of any emergency conditions, such inspection by Landlord may take 
place at any time without prior notice. 
 
 8.3. Environmental Matters 
 

(a) Certain Definitions. 

(i) “AUL” shall mean an activity and use limitation now or hereafter 
applicable to the Premises. 

(ii) “Environmental Laws” shall mean, collectively, all applicable 
federal, state or local statutes, laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, directives, orders or 
decrees (whether now existing or hereafter enacted, promulgated or issued), with respect to the 
existence, assessment, release, remediation, removal or disposal of Hazardous Materials 
including those identified in the definition of “Hazardous Materials”, and the regulations 
promulgated under each of such statutes or laws, all as amended from time to time. 

(iii) “Hazardous Materials” shall mean, collectively, all substances 
defined or classified as a “hazardous substance”, “hazardous material”, “hazardous waste”, 
“pollutant”, or otherwise denominated as a regulated or hazardous substance, waste or material, 
toxic or pollutant in any of the following:  (i) the federal Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980; (ii) the federal Hazardous Materials 
Transportation Uniform Safety Act of 1990; (iii) the federal Toxic Substances Control Act; (iv) 
the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; (v) Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 
21D; (vi) Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 21E; (vii) Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 
21C; (viii) Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 21I; (ix) any other federal, state or local law 
addressing itself to environmental contamination, waste or health and safety; or (x) any 
regulations promulgated under any of the foregoing, including the Massachusetts Contingency 
Plan (310 CMR 40.0000) (“MCP”); as any of the foregoing may be promulgated or amended 
from time to time.  “Hazardous Materials” shall specifically include, but not be limited to, oil, 
asbestos, asbestos containing materials, lead, mold, radon, explosives, polychlorinated biphenyls, 
petroleum and petroleum-based derivatives, urea formaldehyde, and perfluoro-alkyl and 
perfluoro-alkyl substances. 

(iv) “Remedial Work” shall mean containment, monitoring, response 
actions, removal actions, remedial actions or interim cleanup actions, or AUL relating to known 
or suspected Hazardous Materials. 

(b) Remedial Work. 

 (i) Hazardous Materials Remedial Work.  From and after the time 
when all of the Site Delivery Conditions have been fully satisfied, Tenant shall be solely 
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responsible (at its cost and expense) for performing all investigations and assessments, and all 
Remedial Work and all special handling of soils or other materials at or emanating during the 
Term from the Premises, which is required by the MCP or other applicable Environmental Laws 
with respect to any reportable concentrations of Hazardous Materials identified or discovered on 
the Premises at any time (including, without limitation, during construction of the 
Improvements), regardless of whether such Hazardous Materials were first released upon or 
otherwise first became present upon or beneath the surface of the Premises or in any of the 
existing improvements located thereon before or after the Commencement Date of this Lease.  
Tenant’s obligations under this subsection (b)(i) shall not include the performance of any 
investigation, assessment or Remedial Work with respect to Hazardous Materials which (I) are 
first discovered at the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, and 
which were not generated or released, prior to such expiration or earlier termination of this 
Lease, by Tenant or any employee, contractor, servant or agent of Tenant, or by any Occupant of 
the Premises or (II) were released, discharged, stored, generated, transported, managed, used, 
disposed or caused by Landlord or its agents, representatives, employees or contractors on or 
after the Commencement Date (the “Excluded Environmental Liabilities”). 

 (ii) Manner of Remedial Work.  All Remedial Work required to be 
performed by Tenant hereunder shall be performed in accordance with all applicable 
Environmental Laws.  Remedial Work may include reuse of excavated soils on the Premises. 
The Parties agree that no AUL or similar engineering and/or institutional control may be 
implemented by Tenant without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, so long as such AUL or other similar engineering 
and/or institutional control will not unreasonably interfere with or limit the use of the Premises 
for multi-family residential use.   

(c) Environmental Covenants.  From and after the Commencement Date, 
Tenant hereby covenants with Landlord as follows (except, in each case, for the Excluded 
Environmental Liabilities): 

 (i) Except as may be permitted by, and only in compliance with, all 
applicable Environmental Laws, Tenant shall not allow, and shall use commercially reasonable 
efforts to cause Occupants not to allow, any Hazardous Materials to be stored, discharged, 
possessed, managed, processed, or otherwise handled on the Premises, and shall comply, and 
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause all Occupants to comply, with all 
Environmental Laws affecting the Premises.   

 (ii) Except to the extent it may be permitted by and only in accordance 
with applicable Environmental Laws, no activity shall be undertaken by Tenant (or knowingly 
permitted by Tenant) which would cause (i) the Premises to be considered a hazardous waste 
treatment, storage or disposal facility as defined under any Environmental Laws, (ii) a release or 
threat of release of Hazardous Materials at, on, under or from the Premises, including without 
limitation into any watercourse, surface or subsurface water or wetlands, or (iii) the discharge 
into the environment of any Hazardous Materials. 

 (iii) Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing promptly following Tenant 
becoming aware of any of the following occurrences: (i) any release or threat of release of 
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Hazardous Materials at, upon, under, within or from the Premises or the occurrence of any other 
environmental problem or liability with respect to the Premises which, in any such event, 
reasonably could be expected to subject Tenant, Landlord, the Premises or any portion of the Site 
to a claim under any Environmental Laws or to any restriction in ownership, occupancy, 
transferability or use of the Premises under any Environmental Laws, (ii) any lien filed, action 
taken or notice given of the nature described below in Section 8.3(d), (iii) any written notice 
given to Tenant by any governmental authority with respect to any release or threat of release of 
Hazardous Materials at, upon, under, within or from the Premises in violation of any 
Environmental Laws, or (iv) the commencement of any litigation relating to any alleged release 
or threat of release of any Hazardous Materials at, under, from or affecting the Premises. 

 (iv) Tenant shall, with reasonable due diligence, and at its sole cost and 
expense, take all actions and perform all investigation and assessment activities, and all 
Remedial Work, to the extent and at the time or from time to time, as shall be required by 
applicable Environmental Laws for the remediation of all releases of Hazardous Materials at or 
from the Premises, and shall further pay or cause to be paid at no expense to Landlord all clean 
up, administrative and enforcement costs of applicable governmental authorities, or the parties 
protected by such Environmental Laws, which may be asserted against the Premises due to any 
releases of Hazardous Materials at or from the Premises which are Tenant’s responsibility under 
this Lease.  All reasonable out-of-pocket costs, damages, liabilities, losses, claims, expenses 
(including attorneys’ reasonable fees and disbursements) which are incurred by Landlord due to 
Tenant’s breach of its obligations under this Section 8.3(c), without the requirement that 
Landlord wait for the ultimate outcome of any litigation, claim or proceeding, shall be paid as 
Additional Rent, by Tenant to Landlord, within thirty (30) days after notice to Tenant from 
Landlord itemizing the amounts incurred, with interest thereon at the Default Rate if not paid by 
Tenant within such thirty (30) day period. 

(v) In the event that at any time Tenant becomes aware that notice to 
any governmental authority pursuant to Section 8.3(d) below of a condition at, on or under the 
Premises is required by any applicable Environmental Law, Tenant shall promptly notify Landlord 
and prepare a draft notice.  All such notifications to Landlord and the draft notices shall be subject 
to review and comment by Landlord prior to the giving of any notice to the applicable 
governmental authority, except in situations (x) in which any applicable Environmental Law 
requires such notice to be given within less than two (2) business days after the discovery of a 
condition or the occurrence of an event, or (y) if any delay in providing notice would expose 
Tenant to criminal or civil liability or increase in the costs of performing the required investigation, 
assessment or Remedial Work; and in either such case Tenant’s Licensed Site Professional (as 
defined by the MCP) shall make such notice and shall provide a copy thereof to Landlord 
concurrently with giving such notice to the applicable governmental authority. 
 

(d) Environmental Notices.  Unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, Tenant 
shall provide the notices set forth in Section 8.3(c)(v) to the applicable governmental authority.  
Tenant shall provide Landlord with copies of any notices of releases of Hazardous Materials or 
other filings pursuant to Environmental Laws sent by or on behalf of Tenant to any federal, state 
or local agencies or authorities with respect to the Premises.  Such copies shall be sent to 
Landlord concurrently with being mailed or delivered to the governmental agencies or 
authorities.  Tenant also shall provide Landlord with copies of any notices of responsibility or 
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any other notices received by or on behalf of Tenant from any such agencies or authorities 
concerning any noncompliance with Environmental Laws on or about the Premises, including 
notices regarding Hazardous Materials located on or about the Premises. 
 
  (e) Environmental Indemnity.  Tenant shall indemnify, defend with counsel 
reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and save harmless Landlord for, from and against any and all 
damages, losses, liabilities, obligations, claims, litigation, demands, defenses, judgments, suits, 
proceedings, fines, penalties, costs, disbursements and expenses (including without limitation, 
penalties and fines within the meaning of any Environmental Law), of any kind or nature 
whatsoever, which may at any time be imposed upon, incurred by, or asserted or awarded against 
Landlord and arising from (i) any violation of Environmental Laws at the Premises during the 
Term other than Excluded Environmental Liabilities, or (ii) any breach of Tenant’s covenants 
contained in this Section 8.3.  Tenant shall have no obligation to indemnify, defend or save 
Landlord harmless from and against Excluded Environmental Liabilities or any third-party 
bodily injury or property damage claims arising from exposure to any environmental conditions 
existing on the Premises prior to the Commencement Date.  The indemnification obligations of 
Tenant set forth in this Section 8.3(e) shall be deemed to be continuing and shall survive the 
expiration or termination of this Lease for the duration of the applicable statute of limitations.  A 
Party shall give prompt written notice to the other Party of any claims threatened or made or suit 
instituted against it which could result in a claim of indemnification hereunder. 

(f) Landlord’s Right to Inspect.  Upon reasonable advance notice to Tenant 
from time to time, Landlord and its officers, employees, contractors or agents shall have the 
right, but not the duty or obligation, to enter upon the Premises during usual business hours for 
the purposes of non-invasive inspections of the same and, to the extent Tenant has not complied 
with the terms and conditions of this Section 8.3 after notice and the expiration of any grace 
periods available to Tenant under this Lease, for purposes of performing any environmental 
investigation, assessment or Remedial Work that Tenant has failed to make or perform that is 
required in order to comply with applicable Environmental Laws and the terms and conditions of 
this Section 8.3.  All such investigations shall be conducted in compliance with applicable Legal 
Requirements, following reasonable prior notice to Tenant (except in an emergency situation, in 
which case Landlord shall give to Tenant such telephonic, email or other notice, if any, as may 
be appropriate in the circumstances), in a commercially reasonable manner designed to minimize 
interference with any ongoing environmental investigation, assessment or Remedial Work or 
with the business operations or activities of Tenant or the Occupants and subject to reasonable 
site safety rules established by Tenant or the Contractor.  Provided it complies with the foregoing 
requirements of this Section, and excluding any loss, damage or injury arising out of any 
negligence, misconduct or default of Landlord or its officers, employees, contractors or agents in 
connection therewith, Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant in any manner for any expense, loss 
or damage occurring by reason of the aforesaid entries, nor shall the exercise of any such right be 
deemed an eviction or disturbance of Tenant’s use or possession.  If any such inspection, 
investigation or testing reveals non-compliance by Tenant or any other party claiming by, 
through or under Tenant (other than Landlord or its officers, employees, contractors or agents) 
with any Environmental Laws on the Premises, then Tenant shall deliver to Landlord for its 
approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, within thirty 
(30) days of the submission to Tenant of a written report describing such non-compliance, a 
corrective action plan (“Corrective Action Plan”) containing an explanation of the non-
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compliance, the proposed corrective action and a schedule for the implementation of the 
proposed corrective action.  If Landlord disagrees with any portion of the Corrective Action 
Plan, Tenant and Landlord shall attempt to resolve the disagreement through informal good faith 
negotiations.  If the Parties are unable to reach an agreement through informal negotiations, 
either Party may request that the matter be arbitrated in accordance with Section 18.6 hereof.  
Tenant shall commence within thirty (30) days after approval of a Corrective Action Plan, and 
shall thereafter diligently proceed to complete at its cost and expense, the remediation plan set 
forth therein subject to the conditions, if any, of Landlord’s approval or the arbitrators’ decision, 
as applicable.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any governmental authority with jurisdiction 
over the Premises establishes a remediation plan or schedule for the Premises, such 
governmental authority’s plan or schedule shall control subject to Tenant’s contest rights under 
Section 4.11.  If Tenant does not commence the required actions promptly, or thereafter fails to 
diligently complete the required actions substantially within the time periods set forth in the 
Corrective Action Plan, Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligation, upon reasonable 
advance notice, to enter upon the Premises without abatement of Rent and implement any 
remediation actions which it reasonably deems necessary or prudent to address such non-
compliance.  If Landlord implements any action pursuant to the foregoing sentence, Tenant shall 
pay Landlord’s entire reasonable cost of performing such work (including an amount for 
reasonably allocated administrative charges), within thirty (30) days after the date of demand by 
Landlord, plus interest on such amount if not paid within such thirty (30) day period at the 
Default Rate until paid in full.  Any such amounts shall be due from Tenant without limitation of 
other claims or damages that Landlord may have against Tenant. The provisions of this Section 
shall survive the termination or earlier expiration of this Lease. 

ARTICLE IX - INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 
 

 
9.1. Indemnification.  Tenant agrees to pay and to defend, indemnify and hold 

harmless Landlord from and against any and all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, expenses 
(including all attorneys’ reasonable fees and expenses of Tenant and Landlord), causes of action, 
suits, claims, demands or judgments of any nature whatsoever arising from: 
 

(i) any injury to or death of or claim of injury to or death of any Person or 
any damage to or loss of or claim of damage to or loss of property on the Premises, or on 
adjoining sidewalks, streets or ways, in each case arising out of or connected with the use, non-
use, possession, ownership, condition or occupation of the Premises, the Improvements, or any 
part thereof occurring during the Term of this Lease; 
 

(ii) violation by Tenant of any agreement or condition contained in this Lease 
by Tenant on its part thereof to be performed or complied with; and 

 
(iii) any contest by Tenant referred to in Section 4.11 hereof. 

 
provided, however, that, Tenant does not hereby indemnify Landlord, nor shall Tenant be 
obligated to defend Landlord or hold Landlord harmless, from any liabilities, losses, damages, 
costs, expenses (including all attorneys’ reasonable fees and expenses of Tenant and Landlord), 
causes of action, suits, claims, demands or judgments to the extent arising out of the negligence 
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or willful misconduct of Landlord or its employees, servants, agents, contractors, licensees, 
invitees and any other parties claiming by, through or under Landlord, or arising out of acts or 
events occurring prior to the Commencement Date. 
 

Landlord shall give Tenant prompt and timely notice of any claim made or suit instituted 
against it or any other party of which it has knowledge, relating to any matter which in any way 
may result in indemnification pursuant to this Section 9.1. 
 

Subject to the prior rights, if any, of insurers, Tenant shall be entitled to control the 
defense and any compromise of any such claim or suit to the extent of any actual or potential 
claim for indemnification made or reserved by Landlord (as well as any claim made against 
Tenant or any of those for whom it is legally responsible), provided that Landlord, at its expense, 
may participate in the defense to the extent of its interest therein, Landlord shall have a right to 
advance notice of any settlement, and Tenant shall not execute or otherwise agree to any consent 
decree or settlement which requires Landlord to admit to any negligence or fault or provides for 
other than monetary payment within Tenant’s sole ability to pay without Landlord’s prior written 
consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Landlord 
and Tenant shall cooperate fully with each other in connection with the defense, negotiation or 
settlement of any such claim or suit.  The obligations of the Parties under this Section 9.1 shall 
survive the expiration or any earlier termination of the Term of this Lease. 
 

9.2. Insurance Requirements.  Beginning on the Commencement Date and continuing 
until the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, Tenant shall at all times carry such 
liability, workers' compensation, property and other insurance coverage with respect to the 
Premises and the Improvements (but not including Tenant’s Property, and any other insurable 
property and equipment of Tenant therein or thereon, which insurance arrangements shall not 
involve Landlord) (the Premises and the Improvements sometimes referred to as “Insurable 
Property”) as may be reasonably required from time to time by Landlord (but not in excess of 
such insurance coverage as then may be customarily carried by owners of comparable properties 
in the City) or a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, but in no event shall Tenant carry less than the 
following: 
 

(i) commercial general liability insurance (or equivalent) applicable to the 
Insurable Property for death and bodily and other personal injury and property damage with a 
combined single limit of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Million 
Dollars ($2,000,000) general aggregate, any or all of which may be increased or decreased, as 
the case may be, from time to time to reflect changes in amounts of such insurance customarily 
carried by owners of comparable properties in the City (portions of which coverage may be 
provided under an umbrella policy); 
 

(ii) commercial automobile liability insurance covering all owned or hired and 
non-owned automobiles for bodily injury and property damage in the amount of Two Million 
Dollars ($2,000,000) combined single limit; 
 

(iii) workers’ compensation insurance required by law and employer’s liability 
insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily injury for each accident, 
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One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for disease in respect of any work performed by Tenant's 
employees on or about the Premises (portions of which employer’s liability coverage may be 
provided under an umbrella policy); 
 

(iv) umbrella liability insurance in the amount of Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000) per occurrence, covering losses in excess of the primary commercial general 
liability, commercial automobile liability, and employer’s liability coverage, provided that from 
and after the date which is three (3) months after Substantial Completion, the amount of umbrella 
liability insurance required shall be reset to such amount as is customarily carried by owners of 
comparable operating properties in the City from time to time;   
 

(v) demolition and debris removal insurance (if not included as part of the 
insurance carried pursuant to clause (vi) below) payable in the event that the debris or demolition 
is occasioned by damage to or destruction of the Improvements or any portion thereof, including 
any casualty pursuant to Article X hereof, or, to the extent such insurance is available, by 
condemnation pursuant to Article XI hereof, in each case sufficient to pay for the removal of 
any portion of the Improvements if required pursuant to Article X or XI hereof; 
 

(vi) causes of loss – special form property insurance with extended coverage 
(or equivalent) for the full replacement cost of the Improvements (excluding excavation costs), 
with an agreed upon value endorsement, adjusted annually to take into account any inflation in 
the replacement cost of the Improvements (excluding excavation costs and costs of foundations, 
footings and underground installations), and with ordinance and law coverage; 
 

(vii) during any construction periods, builder's risk coverage in amounts 
appropriate for the construction work undertaken on a completed value basis, covering the full 
insurable replacement cost (excluding excavation costs and costs of foundations, footings and 
underground installations); 
 

(viii) with respect to contractors, subcontractors, management agents, or other 
parties working on the Premises, such as cleaning companies, security companies or landscaping 
companies, commercial general liability, commercial automobile liability, workers’ 
compensation and employer’s liability and umbrella coverages, with limits, scope of coverage, 
and other provisions as described herein or as may be reasonably required by Landlord and 
determined to be consistent with other similar projects in the City of Boston; 
 

(ix) with respect to architects, engineers or other Persons providing 
professional services to Tenant and/or employed in connection with the Premises, professional 
liability (errors and omissions) insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), or 
such higher amount reasonably required by Landlord, covering acts, errors, or omissions 
committed in, or arising out of, the provision of services performed in connection with the 
Improvements and the Premises.  In addition, Tenant shall require any architect or engineer 
providing services to Tenant in connection with the Premises to carry insurance for valuable 
papers and records, computations, field notes, and other data pertinent to the Premises in the 
amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000), or as reasonably required by Landlord; 
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  (x) contractor’s pollution liability insurance including coverage for 
environmental contamination, bodily injury and property damage arising out of pollution 
conditions resulting from acts of Tenant or its Contractor, or subcontractors, or their employees 
or agents in carrying out the construction of the Improvements or any other activities or failures 
to act at the Premises in the amount of not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for 
each claim and Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000.00) in the aggregate; 
 

(xi) flood insurance if at any time the Premises are located in any federally 
designated “special hazard area” (including any area having special flood, mudslide and/or 
flood-related erosion hazards, and shown on a Flood Hazard Boundary map or a Flood Insurance 
Rate Map published by the Federal Emergency Management Agency as Zone A, AO, A1-30, 
AE, A99, AH, V0, V1-30, VE, V, M or E) in an amount equal to the full replacement cost of the 
Improvements (excluding excavation costs and costs of foundations, footings and underground 
installations) or the maximum amount then available under the National Flood Insurance 
Program; and 
 

(xii) from and after the date that seventy-five percent (75%) of the 
Improvements are occupied by any Occupants, rent loss insurance on an all-risk and agreed 
amount basis, with the amount being sufficient to recover at least the total estimated gross 
revenues from all sources of income for the Premises, or any part thereof, including, without 
limitation, rental income, for a twelve-month period. 
 

The amount and types of coverages stated in this Section 9.2 shall be reviewed once 
every three (3) years by Landlord and Tenant and shall be modified at such intervals (but not 
more often than once every three (3) years), to such reasonable degree, and according to 
Landlord’s reasonable determination, if increases or changes are necessary to reflect inflation or 
changes in the nature or degree of risks insured, provided Landlord shall not require insurance 
coverages or amounts in excess of those customarily carried by owners of comparable properties 
in the City or those then required by the then Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, and provided such 
coverages are available at commercially reasonable rates.  Landlord agrees that Tenant shall be 
afforded a reasonable period of time to obtain any such additional insurance or increased 
amounts as may then become applicable to Tenant. 
 

Any insurance required to be furnished by Tenant hereunder may be effected by a policy 
or policies of blanket insurance, provided, however, that the amount of the total insurance 
allocated to the Premises shall be such as to furnish in protection the equivalent of separate 
policies in the amounts herein required. 
 

9.3. Insurance Provisions.  Insurance maintained by Tenant and its contractors and 
consultants pursuant to the requirements of Section 9.3 shall: 
 

(i) be by standard policies, obtained from financially sound and responsible 
insurance companies authorized to do business in Massachusetts rated at least A -/VIII or better 
in Best’s Rating Guide or, if such rating is no longer available, an equivalent or better rating by a 
successor insurance carrier rating service reasonably acceptable to Landlord; 
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(ii) make proceeds payable to Tenant, any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, 
and Landlord as their respective interests as loss payees may appear and payable as set forth in 
Article X hereof, in the case of property insurance, and naming Landlord as an additional 
insured, in the case of liability insurance; 
 

(iii) be written to become effective on the Commencement Date unless 
otherwise noted, and shall be continued in full force and effect for the Term (except that 
builder’s risk or similar construction-related insurance shall only be required during the period 
construction is being undertaken); all liability policies shall be written on an occurrence basis; 
 

(iv) contain such contingent liability endorsements as shall make such 
insurance congruent with the causes of loss-special form, extended coverage and demolition and 
debris removal insurance required by clauses (v) and (vi) of Section 9.2; 
 

(v) insofar as and to the extent that the following provision may be effective 
without invalidating or making it impossible to secure insurance coverage obtainable from 
responsible insurance companies doing business in the Commonwealth, provide, in all property 
insurance policies whatsoever where Tenant is the named insured, a waiver of all rights of 
recovery, by subrogation or otherwise, against Landlord, and all other parties designated by 
Landlord, and provide for payment of losses to Tenant, the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee and 
Landlord, respectively, notwithstanding any act of negligence of Tenant or Landlord; and 
 

(vi) provide that any cancellation, nonrenewal or material modification thereof 
shall not be effective with respect to Landlord until after at least thirty (30) days' prior notice has 
been given to Landlord at the address set forth in Article XIX to the effect that such insurance 
policies are to be cancelled, not renewed or modified at a particular time. 
 

Certificates of insurance, or at the request of Landlord, copies of such policies and 
renewals, showing the issuance and effectiveness of each such policy and the amount of 
coverage afforded thereby, shall be sent to Landlord to the following address: 

 
Boston Housing Authority 
Attention: Director of Risk Management 
52 Chauncy Street 
Boston, MA 02111 

 
9.4. Insurance Primary; No Separate Insurance.  All insurance carried by Tenant shall 

be primary to any insurance carried by Landlord.  Neither Landlord nor Tenant shall take out 
separate insurance concurrent in form or contributing in the event of loss with that required in 
this Article IX to be furnished by, or which may reasonably be required to be furnished by, 
Tenant unless Landlord and Tenant are included therein as the insured, with loss payable as in 
this Lease provided.  Each party shall immediately notify the other of the placing of any such 
separate insurance and shall cause the same to be delivered as in Section 9.3 hereof required. 
Nothing contained in this Section 9.4 shall be applicable to or shall be construed by Tenant or 
any party, entity, or claimant of any nature that Landlord herein is waiving any and all rights it 
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may enjoy whether actual or perceived in M.G.L. Chapter 258 and commonly known as the 
Massachusetts Tort Claims Act. 
 

ARTICLE X - CASUALTY 
 
 10.1. Collection of Claims.  If the Improvements or any portion thereof shall be 
damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty prior to the expiration of the Term, Tenant shall 
proceed promptly to establish and pursue collection of all valid claims which may have arisen 
against insurers or others based upon any such damage or destruction. 
 
 10.2. Special Account.  If the total amount of all proceeds of any such claims 
(hereinafter called “Insurance Proceeds”) and any other monies provided for the reconstruction, 
restoration or repair of the Improvements, minus the reasonable out-of-pocket costs, fees and 
expenses incurred by Tenant in the collection thereof, shall exceed TWO MILLION and NO/100 
DOLLARS ($2,000,000), or, after the fifth year after the Commencement Date, the Value 
Equivalent of such amount, the same shall be paid into an escrow account, with a single escrow 
agent which shall be appointed by the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee.  The Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee shall have the right to appoint itself such escrow agent.  If there shall be no such 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, such escrow agent shall be appointed jointly by Landlord and 
Tenant, both parties agreeing to use reasonable efforts to agree on such appointment.  Payments 
from such escrow account shall conform to the requirements of this Article and, in the event of 
restoration, shall be made on a progress payment basis against vouchers certified by a registered 
architect selected by Tenant and supervising the work of restoration and shall be subject to 
reasonable retainage and made in accordance with usual and reasonable disbursement 
requirements of the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee. 
 

10.3. Restoration.  Unless otherwise determined in accordance with Section 10.6, 
Tenant shall repair and reconstruct the Improvements to substantially their condition at the time 
of such damage or destruction (subject however, to any changes necessary to comply with 
applicable building and zoning codes and ordinances and other applicable Legal Requirements) 
and the Insurance Proceeds and any other funds so collected (minus the reasonable out-of-pocket 
costs, fees and expenses incurred by Tenant in the collection thereof) shall be used and expended 
by Tenant for such purpose.  Any deficiency shall be paid by Tenant.  Tenant’s obligations 
hereunder shall not be affected by the unavailability or insufficiency of insurance proceeds.  Any 
excess proceeds after such repair or reconstruction has been fully completed shall be retained by 
Tenant, subject to the rights of any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, and subject to the rights of 
Landlord to require that such excess be applied to the extent necessary to pay any then 
outstanding and unpaid Rent, Additional Rent and other amounts owed by Tenant to Landlord 
pursuant to this Lease. 

 
 10.4. Original or Modified Plans.  Any restoration undertaken pursuant to the 
provisions of this Article X shall substantially conform to the provisions of the Final Plans and 
Specifications for the damaged Improvements, incorporating any alterations or modifications 
approved by Landlord prior to the casualty, or shall be built in accordance with such new or 
modified plans and specifications as Tenant, Landlord and, at its election, the Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee may at the time agree upon and approve (such approval of Landlord not to 
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be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), subject to any applicable building and zoning 
laws or other similar Legal Requirements then in existence. 
 

10.5. Commencement and Completion of Restoration.  When reconstruction or repair 
of the Improvements, or any portion thereof, which have been destroyed or damaged, is required 
by the provisions of this Article X, such reconstruction or repair shall be commenced within a 
period not to exceed ninety (90) days after the final settled amount of the Insurance Proceeds, 
and any applicable final, unappealable Approvals required for such reconstruction and repair, 
have been received by Tenant (or, if the conditions then prevailing require a longer period, such 
longer period as shall reasonably be required by Tenant proceeding with due diligence), and 
Tenant shall diligently prosecute such reconstruction or repair to completion, Tenant agreeing to 
use commercially reasonable efforts to complete such reconstruction or repair within thirty (30) 
months after the commencement thereof, subject to extension for any force majeure events. 
 

10.6. Determination of Whether or Not to Restore.  In the event of substantial damage 
or destruction by a casualty insured against occurring during the last five (5) years of the Term, 
then Tenant, subject to the rights of any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, shall have the right to 
terminate this Lease upon not less than thirty (30) days' notice to Landlord in which event the 
Insurance Proceeds minus the reasonable out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses incurred by 
Tenant in the collection thereof (or a sum equivalent to such amount) shall be payable as set 
forth in Section 10.7. Upon such termination, Landlord shall have the right but not the obligation 
to use its portion of the Insurance Proceeds to restore the Improvements. 
 
 10.7. Allocation of Proceeds.  If such casualty occurs and Tenant elects to terminate the 
Lease in accordance with Section 10.6, the Insurance Proceeds shall be allocated between and 
paid to Landlord and Tenant in order that, following the disbursement of the Insurance Proceeds, 
each has an amount of the Insurance Proceeds bearing the same proportion to the aggregate 
Insurance Proceeds as its respective interest in the Improvements bears to the aggregate value of 
the Improvements immediately prior to the casualty giving rise to termination of this Lease.  
Landlord and Tenant shall attempt to allocate the Insurance Proceeds between Landlord and 
Tenant fairly to effect such allocation.  If the parties are unable to agree on such allocation, the 
allocation shall be made pursuant to arbitration in the manner provided in Section 18.6.  In 
determining the value of Tenant’s interest in the Improvements, the parties or the arbitrators, as 
the case may be, shall take into account the present value of Tenant's leasehold estate for the 
remainder of the Term unencumbered by any mortgages, subject to all of the terms and 
conditions of this Lease.  In determining the value of Landlord's interest in the Improvements, 
the parties or the arbitrators, as the case may be, shall take into account the present value of (i) 
the right to receive Rent, Additional Rent and other charges and payments required to be paid 
under this Lease for the balance of the Term, and (ii) the projected residual value of the 
Improvements as of the originally scheduled expiration of the Term.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have a claim to the Insurance Proceeds prior 
to that of Tenant and Landlord to pay outstanding amounts secured by a Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgage to the extent required under such Permitted Leasehold Mortgage. 
 

10.8. Tenant's Responsibilities on Termination.  If Tenant terminates this Lease 
following a casualty in accordance with Section 10.6, then Tenant, at its sole expense, shall 
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deliver to Landlord any plans or other technical materials related to the design and construction 
of the Improvements and, at the request of Landlord and so long as Landlord makes available to 
Tenant sufficient Insurance Proceeds therefor, shall remove any remaining Improvements and 
restore the Premises to a cleared and safe condition and at a grade approximately level with 
abutting land.  Upon the completion of any such demolition or other site preparation work to the 
reasonable satisfaction of Landlord and the payment of Landlord’s allocable share of any 
remaining Insurance Proceeds (after application of such Insurance Proceeds to the costs of 
completion of any such demolition or other site preparation work to the reasonable satisfaction of 
Landlord) as provided in Section 10.7 to Landlord, Tenant shall surrender the Premises to 
Landlord in accordance with Section 5.11 of this Lease and this Lease shall be terminated 
without liability or further recourse to the parties hereto, except as expressly set forth in this 
Lease, provided that any Rent, Additional Rent, and other amounts payable or obligations owed 
by Tenant to Landlord as of the date of said termination shall be paid or otherwise carried out in 
full. 
 

10.9. Rent Deferred if Improvements Unusable.  During the time that the Improvements 
or portions thereof are unusable by Tenant or any of the Occupants (or if the use thereof has been 
materially impaired) because of such damage or destruction, to the extent not covered by rent or 
business interruption insurance carried by Tenant as required pursuant to Article IX, Rent 
reasonably allocable to the damaged portion of the Improvements may, at Tenant’s election, be 
deferred and accrued to reflect such impairment of use; however, there shall be no abatement of 
Rent on account of any damage or destruction by fire or other casualty.  Any such deferred Rent 
shall be paid in full to Landlord within 12 months of the date on which the Improvements are 
able to be put fully into use. In all matters where this Section 10.9 shall become applicable, 
Tenant shall provide Landlord with quarterly status reports as to the progress of any such 
restoration of the Improvements where Rent is deferred. Landlord may assess a reasonable late 
fee or penalty on such deferred Rent where the delay to put the Improvements fully into use is 
greater than 24 months. 
 

10.10. Demolition and Debris Removal Insurance.  Proceeds of demolition and debris 
removal insurance, if separately obtained pursuant to Section 9.2(v) hereof, shall be separately 
accounted for by the escrow agent and shall be used to the extent available to pay the cost of any 
such demolition and debris removal occasioned by a casualty unless otherwise agreed by 
Landlord, Tenant and any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee named as a loss payee on the policy 
of demolition and debris removal insurance, with Tenant responsible for paying any shortfall 
between such proceeds and the cost of such demolition and debris removal.  
 

ARTICLE XI - CONDEMNATION 
 

11.1. A Taking.  This Article shall apply to any taking of the title to, access to, or use of 
the Premises, or the Improvements, or any portion thereof by any governmental authority or any 
conveyance under the threat thereof, for any public or quasi-public use or purpose (a “Taking”).  
Takings may be total or partial, permanent or temporary, as provided below.  If so requested by 
Tenant, Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to oppose, in consultation and 
cooperation with Tenant, any Taking.  Landlord shall not exercise any right of eminent domain 
or condemnation it may have under applicable Legal Requirements to cause, or seek to cause, a 
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Taking of any portion of the Premises or Improvements or Tenant’s leasehold estate hereunder 
without the prior written consent of Tenant in Tenant’s sole and absolute discretion.  Without 
limitation of the foregoing, Landlord hereby waives the right to any share of the award of 
damages to Landlord’s interest in the Premises or Improvements arising out of any taking made 
by or at the direction of Landlord. 
 

11.2. Special Account.  The full amount of any award whether pro tanto or final for any 
Taking (the “Award”), shall, notwithstanding any allocation made by the awarding authority, be 
paid into an escrow account in accordance with the procedures established in Section 10.2 
above, provided that there shall first be deducted from the Award all reasonable fees and 
expenses of collection incurred by Tenant or Landlord, including but not limited to, attorneys' 
reasonable fees and experts' reasonable fees.  Landlord and Tenant shall then attempt to fairly 
allocate (taking into account any restoration obligation of Tenant) the Award between Landlord's 
interest in the Premises as encumbered by this Lease and Tenant's interest in the Premises and 
the Improvements for the remainder of the Term of this Lease, taking into account their 
respective interests, any existing appraisals used to determine (or to contest) the amount of the 
Award and any other relevant information and analysis.  If the parties are unable to agree on such 
allocation, the allocation shall be made pursuant to arbitration in the manner provided in Section 
18.6 hereof.  Upon determination of the allocation of the Award between Landlord and Tenant, 
either by agreement of the parties or by decision of the arbitrators, Landlord's portion thereof 
shall be paid forthwith to Landlord, and Tenant's portion shall be paid as provided in this Article 
XI.  The portion of the Award so allocated to Landlord shall be known herein as Landlord's 
Award, and the portion so allocated to Tenant shall be known herein as Tenant's Award.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, A Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall have a claim to the 
Award prior to that of Tenant and Landlord to pay outstanding amounts secured by a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgage to the extent required under such Permitted Leasehold Mortgage. 

 
11.3. Total Taking.  In the event of a permanent Taking of the fee title to, or control of, 

the entire Premises, or the entire Improvements, or of the entire leasehold estate hereunder (a 
“Total Taking”), this Lease shall thereupon terminate as of the effective date of such Total 
Taking (but shall not terminate as to the application of the Award as provided herein), without 
liability or further recourse to the parties, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, 
provided that any Rent, Additional Rent, or other charges payable or obligations owed by Tenant 
to Landlord as of the date of said Total Taking shall be paid or otherwise carried out in full.  
Tenant's Award for a Total Taking shall be applied first, to the extent necessary to pay any 
outstanding Rent, Additional Rent and other amounts owed by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to 
this Lease, and then to Tenant. 

 
 11.4. Partial Taking: Procedures and Criteria for Course of Action.  In the event of a 
permanent Taking of less than all of the Premises or the Improvements (a “Partial Taking”), 
 

(i) if , in Tenant’s good faith judgment, the continued use and occupancy of 
the remainder of the Premises by Tenant is or can reasonably be made to be economically viable, 
structurally sound and otherwise feasible (the “Restoration Criteria”), then the Premises and 
the Improvements shall be restored pursuant to Section 11.5 hereof; 
 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

         
 

65 

(ii) if , in Tenant’s good faith judgment, the continued use and occupancy of 
the remainder of the Premises by Tenant is not or cannot reasonably be made to be economically 
viable, structurally sound and otherwise feasible, then this Lease may be terminated pursuant to 
Section 11.6 hereof. 
 

After consultation with Landlord and the Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, Tenant shall 
within ninety (90) days after the effective date of the Partial Taking give notice to Landlord, 
together with back-up analysis, as to whether it elects to restore the Premises or terminate the 
Lease pursuant to this Section.  If Landlord disagrees with Tenant’s election, then the decision 
shall be made by arbitration pursuant to Section 18.6. 
 

11.5. Restoration.  If a decision is made pursuant to Section 11.4 to restore the 
remainder of the Premises and the Improvements, Tenant, Landlord and, at its election, the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, shall reasonably agree upon and approve plans and 
specifications to modify the remaining Improvements, which plans and specifications shall be, as 
nearly as possible, substantially in accordance with the original Final Plans and Specifications, 
amended to take account of the Taking and incorporating alterations or modifications approved 
(if and to the extent required by this Lease) by Landlord prior to the Taking, subject to any 
applicable building and zoning laws or other Legal Requirements then in existence.  Upon 
approval of said plans, Tenant shall promptly proceed, at its expense, to commence and complete 
the restoration pursuant to the provisions of Section 10.5 hereof.  Subject to the procedures of 
the escrow account set forth in Section 10.2 hereof, Tenant may use the entire Tenant's Award 
for such restoration, and may retain for its own use any portion of Tenant's Award remaining 
after the completion of the restoration, subject to the rights of Landlord to require that any such 
excess be applied first to the extent necessary to pay any outstanding Rent, Additional Rent and 
other amounts owed by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to this Lease.  If the cost of the restoration 
shall exceed the amount of Tenant's Award, the deficiency shall be paid by Tenant.  Tenant's 
obligation hereunder shall not be affected by the unavailability or insufficiency of Tenant's 
Award. 
 

11.6. Termination upon Non-Restoration.  Following a Partial Taking, if a decision is 
made pursuant to Section 11.4 hereof that the remaining portion of the Premises and 
Improvements is not to be restored, Tenant, upon the request of Landlord and at Tenant's sole 
expense, shall deliver to Landlord any plans used for the design and construction of the 
Improvements and, at the request of Landlord made within thirty (30) days after Tenant's 
election not to restore, shall demolish and remove or stabilize any Improvements not taken and 
restore the remaining Premises to a cleared and safe condition and at a grade approximately level 
with abutting land, provided that the Landlord Award and Tenant Award shall be applied ratably 
to the costs incurred by Tenant in connection with such demolition, stabilization or other site 
preparation work.  Upon completion of any such demolition, stabilization or other site 
preparation work to the reasonable satisfaction of Landlord, Tenant shall surrender the Premises 
to Landlord in accordance with Section 5.11 hereof and this Lease shall thereupon be terminated 
without liability or further recourse to the parties hereto, except as otherwise expressly provided 
in this Lease, provided that any outstanding Rent, Additional Rent, and other amounts payable or 
obligations owed by Tenant to Landlord as of the date of the Taking shall be paid in full.  
Tenant's Award shall be applied to the extent necessary to pay such amounts. 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

         
 

66 

 
 11.7. Temporary Taking.  If the use or occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof 
shall be temporarily requisitioned or taken by any government authority, civil or military 
(including, without limitation, any requisition or Taking arising out of the exercise of 
governmental war powers or any other emergency governmental powers) (a “Temporary 
Taking”), then any Award made as a result of such Temporary Taking shall be payable solely to 
Tenant and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect and there shall be no abatement of 
Rent as a result thereof. 
 

11.8. Demolition and Debris Removal Insurance.  Proceeds of demolition and debris 
removal insurance required pursuant to Section 9.2(v) hereof shall be used to the extent available 
to pay the cost of any such demolition and debris removal occasioned by a Taking or Partial 
Taking, with Tenant responsible for paying any shortfall between such proceeds and the cost of 
such demolition and debris removal. 
 

ARTICLE XII - DEFAULT; REMEDIES 
 

12.1. Events of Default.  An event of default (“Event of Default”) by Tenant shall 
occur: 
 

(i) if Tenant fails to pay when due the Rent, any Additional Rent or any other 
payments required under this Lease or the Owners’ Association Agreement and any such default 
shall continue for thirty (30) days after the receipt of written notice thereof by Tenant from 
Landlord; or 
 

(ii) if Tenant shall fail to maintain any insurance required by Sections 9.2(i), 
(iv), (vi) or (vii) (provided such required insurance is then available on commercially reasonable 
terms and conditions) and such default shall continue for a period of five (5) days after written 
notice from Landlord to Tenant; or 
 

(iii) if Tenant fails to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause Substantial 
Completion of the Improvements to occur on or before the Outside Completion Date, subject 
only to (a) force majeure events, (b) extension for any additional time granted to Landlord under 
Sections 7.7, 7.8 or 18.7 (beyond the initial fifteen (15) day period) for Landlord’s review of 
Tenant’s materials, Limited Change Orders, Major Change Orders or consideration of Tenant’s 
request for consent or approval, and (c) Tenant’s rights to extend the Outside Completion Date 
for the Extended Completion Period, and such failure shall not be cured within ninety (90) days 
after written notice thereof from Landlord, except that, where such failure could not reasonably 
be cured within said ninety (90) day period, Tenant shall not be in default, and no Event of 
Default shall exist, unless Tenant shall have failed (a) to commence to cure such default within 
said ninety (90) days, or (b) thereafter to make diligent, reasonable and continuous efforts to cure 
such failure as soon as practicable; or 
 

(iv) if any Transfer of Tenant’s interest in the Premises, the Improvements or 
this Lease, or any Transfer of equity interests in Tenant, in violation of this Lease shall have 
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occurred, and Tenant fails to cure the same within ten (10) business days after written notice 
from Landlord; or  
 

(v) if Tenant fails in any material respect to observe or perform any material 
covenant, condition, agreement or obligation hereunder other than those referred to in clauses (i) 
– (iv), (vi) –(x) of this Section, and shall fail to cure, correct or remedy such failure within ninety 
(90) days after the receipt of written notice thereof from Landlord, unless such failure cannot be 
cured by the payment of money and cannot with due diligence be cured within a period of ninety 
(90) days, in which case such failure shall not be deemed to continue if Tenant proceeds 
promptly and with due diligence to cure the failure and diligently completes the curing thereof as 
soon as reasonably practicable; or 
 

(vi) if Tenant abandons all or substantially all of the Premises, it being agreed 
that the Premises shall be deemed abandoned if, after Substantial Completion, the Improvements 
are not operated in accordance with the provisions of Article V for a period of more than six (6) 
consecutive months for any reason other than a force majeure event, a casualty or a Partial 
Taking (or any restoration following a casualty or Partial Taking); or 
 

(vii) if the representation and warranty of Tenant set forth in Section 17.2 of 
this Lease shall prove to be incorrect in any material and adverse respect as of the time when the 
same shall have been made and the same shall not have been remedied to the satisfaction of 
Landlord within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice thereof by Tenant (provided that 
Landlord agrees that the removal of any Disqualified Person from the chain of ownership of 
Tenant shall be deemed to be a satisfactory remedy); or 
 

(viii) if Tenant shall be adjudicated bankrupt or be declared insolvent pursuant 
to a final, unappealable order under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any other federal or state 
law (as now or hereafter in effect) relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up 
or adjustment of debts (hereinafter collectively called "Bankruptcy Laws"), or if Tenant shall 
(a) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, any receiver, 
custodian, trustee, United States Trustee or liquidator (or other similar official) of Tenant or of 
any substantial portion of Tenant's property; (b) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts 
generally as they become due; (c) make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 
(d) file a petition commencing a voluntary case under or seeking to take advantage of any 
Bankruptcy Law; or 
 

(ix) if an order for relief or similar order against Tenant shall be entered in any 
involuntary case under any Bankruptcy Law, or if a petition commencing an involuntary case 
against Tenant or proposing the reorganization of Tenant under the Federal Bankruptcy Code 
shall be filed in and approved by any court of competent jurisdiction and not be discharged, 
stayed or denied within ninety (90) days after such filing, or if a proceeding or case shall be 
commenced in any court of competent jurisdiction seeking (a) the liquidation, reorganization, 
dissolution, winding-up or adjustment of debts of Tenant, (b) the appointment of a receiver, 
custodian, trustee, United States Trustee or liquidator (or other similar official of Tenant or of 
any substantial portion of Tenant's property), or (c) any similar relief as to Tenant pursuant to 
any Bankruptcy Law, and any such proceeding or case shall continue undismissed for a period of 
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ninety (90) days, or any order, judgment or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing 
shall be entered and continued unstayed and in effect for ninety (90) days; or 
 

(x) if there is a material violation of the HAP Contract or the Use Agreement 
on the part of Tenant which Tenant fails to cure, correct or remedy within the applicable notice 
and cure period set forth in such agreements or provided by applicable Legal Requirements and 
on account thereof such agreement has been or may be terminated; or  
 

This Lease and any other ground lease with Landlord for any portion of the Site, and the 
obligations of any ground tenant or the Owners’ Association, as the case may be, thereunder, 
shall be separate and independent from the other.  The Development Agreement, the Owners’ 
Association Agreement and the obligations of Developer, the other ground tenants of the Site 
and the Owners’ Association thereunder shall be separate and independent from this Lease, and 
this Lease shall not contain (or be deemed to contain) any cross-default or cross-collateralization 
provisions with any other agreements or any other portions of the Site.  A default by Developer 
under the Development Agreement, the Owners’ Association Agreement, or under any other 
agreement entered into by Developer or its affiliate in connection with the Development 
Agreement shall not affect any of the rights or obligations of Tenant under this Lease or be 
deemed a default or Event of Default under this Lease.  A default by another ground tenant under 
a ground lease with respect to the Site or portion thereof, the Owners’ Association Agreement or 
any other agreement entered into by such ground tenant in connection with its ground lease shall 
not affect any of the rights or obligations of Tenant under this Lease or be deemed a default or 
Event of Default under this Lease.  A default by the Owners’ Association under a ground lease 
with respect to the Site or portion thereof, the Owners’ Association Agreement or any other 
agreement entered into by the Owners’ Association Agreement in connection with its ground 
lease shall not affect any of the rights or obligations of Tenant under this Lease or be deemed a 
default or Event of Default under this Lease.   
 

12.2. Remedies for Default. 
 

(a) If there exists and is continuing an Event of Default on the part of Tenant, 
except with respect to an Event of Default under Section 12.1(v) relating to covenants and 
obligations of Tenant set forth in Article XVI, and no condition precedent to any obligation of 
Tenant exists unfulfilled or unwaived, then Landlord, subject to the rights of a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee set forth in Article VI and a Curing Party as set forth in Article XV, may 
terminate this Lease pursuant to Section 12.3 and may exercise its other remedies set forth in this 
Article XII. 
 

(b) If there is an Event of Default on the part of Tenant under Section 12.1(v) 
relating to the covenants and obligations of Tenant set forth in Article XVI, as Landlord’s sole 
and exclusive remedies under this Lease and at law or in equity, Landlord may require Tenant to 
submit a plan of correction and monthly reports indicating how it intends to use good faith 
efforts or to try to the greatest extent feasible, as applicable, to meet the goals set forth in Article 
XVI.  If Tenant continues to fail to use good faith efforts or to try to the greatest extent feasible, 
as applicable, to meet the goals set forth in Article XVI, Landlord may require Tenant to hire a 
firm experienced in achieving such goals to assist in the efforts and cause the Contractor or 
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Permitted Manager (if the Contractor or Permitted Manager has failed to comply with any agreed 
plan of correction) to cooperate with such firm.  If such failure to meet the good faith efforts and 
greatest extent feasible standards set forth in Article XVI persists, Landlord may impose fines in 
an amount not to exceed $500 per day until Tenant produces evidence that it is seeking to meet 
such standards, and Landlord shall have the right to commence a specific performance action 
against Tenant to seek to cause Tenant to replace the Contractor or Permitted Manager who has 
failed to comply with any such agreed plan of correction or to cause Tenant to otherwise comply 
with the covenants and obligations of Tenant set forth in Article XVI.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, Landlord shall not have any right to seek any damages against Tenant, terminate or 
rescind this Lease in whole or in part or dispossess Tenant of any of its rights or interest under 
this Lease on account of any Event of Default on the part of Tenant under Section 12.1(v) 
relating to the covenants and obligations of Tenant set forth in Article XVI. 
 

12.3. Termination of Lease for Tenant's Default.  Subject to any rights of a Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee under Article V or a Curing Party under Article XV, Landlord may, when 
permitted by Section 12.2, terminate this Lease upon not less than thirty (30) additional days' 
written notice to Tenant, and any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee and Curing Party of which it 
has notice, setting forth Tenant's uncured, continuing Event of Default and Landlord's intent to 
exercise its rights to terminate under this Section 12.3, whereupon this Lease shall terminate on 
the termination date therein set forth unless Tenant's Event of Default has been cured before such 
termination date. 
 

Upon such termination, Tenant's interest in the Premises shall automatically revert to 
Landlord without the necessity for any deed or conveyance from Tenant to Landlord, Tenant 
shall promptly quit and surrender the Premises and the Improvements to Landlord, without cost 
to Landlord, and Landlord may, without demand and further notice, re-enter and take possession 
of the Premises and the Improvements, or any part thereof and repossess the same as Landlord's 
former estate by summary proceedings, ejectment or otherwise in conformance with applicable 
Legal Requirements without being deemed guilty of any manner of trespass and without 
prejudice to any remedies which Landlord might otherwise have for arrears of Rent or for a prior 
breach of the provisions of this Lease.  All obligations of Tenant under this Lease which accrued 
prior to termination shall survive such termination. 
 

12.4. Rights Upon Termination.  Upon termination of this Lease pursuant to Section 
12.3, Landlord may: 
 

(i) retain, at the time of such termination, any Rent, Additional Rent or other 
fees or payments made hereunder which have been earned by Landlord up to and including the 
time of termination, without any deduction, offset or recoupment whatsoever; and 
 

(ii) subject to any rights of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or a Curing 
Party, enforce its rights under any performance, payment or lien bond outstanding at the time of 
such termination; and 
 

(iii) require Tenant to deliver to Landlord, or otherwise effectively transfer to 
Landlord, subject to any rights of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee, without any representation 
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or warranty from Tenant, and to the extent transferable, any and all rights of possession, 
ownership or control Tenant may have in and to, any and all plans, specifications, renderings, 
engineering data, soils or water report and other technical documents or material related to the 
design and construction of the Improvements and architect's and construction contracts relating 
to the Improvements; and 
 

(iv) relet the Premises for such term or terms, on such conditions as Landlord, 
in its reasonable discretion, may determine provided Landlord shall in no way be responsible or 
liable for any failure to relet the Premises or to collect any rent due upon such reletting; and 
 

(v) recover from Tenant on the dates on which Rent would otherwise be 
payable, the Rent and charges which would be payable if this Lease were still in effect, less the 
net proceeds of any reletting after deducting Landlord’s reasonable expenses in connection 
therewith, or at any time, in lieu of collecting such payments as aforesaid, collect as liquidated 
and agreed final damages for Tenant’s default a sum equal to the amount by which the Rent 
called for hereunder for what would have been the earlier of (i) the remainder of the Term or (ii) 
the date which is ten (10) years after the termination of this Lease, exceed the fair rental value of 
the Premises reasonably achievable for the same period, minus amounts previously collected, 
discounted to present value by discounting or increasing such amounts at an annual rate equal to 
the Prime Interest Rate on the business day immediately preceding the date of calculation or 
award, plus two percent (2%). 
 
 In addition to the above remedies of Landlord (but not in addition to the liquidated 
damages described in the clause (v) above), Tenant agrees to reimburse Landlord for any and all 
actual expenditures incurred, and for any and all actual damages suffered, by Landlord 
proximately caused by reason of such Event of Default or termination.  Landlord covenants to 
use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its damages under this Lease arising from any 
default of Tenant. 
 

12.5. Other Remedies; Management Control.  If there exists and is continuing an Event 
of Default on the part of Tenant, and no condition precedent to any obligation of Tenant exists 
unfulfilled or unwaived, Landlord shall, in addition to any other remedies herein provided, have 
the right to take one or more of the following actions without terminating the Lease: 
 

(i) re-enter and take possession of the Premises and the Improvements, or any 
part thereof and repossess the same by summary proceedings, ejectment, appointment of a 
receiver or otherwise in conformance with applicable Legal Requirements and complete 
construction of the Improvements, if it so elects, and otherwise operate the Improvements; 
 

(ii) subject to the prior written approval of any Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee, if the cause of the Event of Default was a failure of performance by the then-existing 
Permitted Manager for the Premises, require Tenant to replace such then-existing Permitted 
Manager with a new Permitted Manager reasonably acceptable to Landlord; and 
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(iii) if the cause of the Event of Default was a failure of Tenant to timely pay 
Rent to Landlord or to provide required services to Residents, impose reasonable management 
procedures to assure the timely payment of Rent to Landlord and required services to Residents. 
 

The rights of Landlord under this Section shall be subject and subordinate to any similar 
rights of any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee under Article VI or a Curing Party under Article 
XVI.  
 
 12.6 Injunctive Relief.  In the event of any breach by either Party of any of the 
agreements, terms, covenants or conditions in this Lease, the non-breaching Party shall be 
entitled to petition or initiate one or more actions for equitable relief, including without 
limitation, preliminary or permanent injunction, specific performance or any other equitable 
relief. 
 
 12.7. Performance by Landlord.  If Tenant shall fail to make any payment or perform 
any act required under this Lease and such failure matures into an Event of Default, Landlord 
may (but need not) after giving not less than fifteen (15) additional days' notice to Tenant and 
without waiving any default or releasing Tenant from any obligations, cure such default for the 
account of Tenant.  Tenant shall promptly pay Landlord the amount of such reasonable out-of-
pocket charges, costs and expenses (plus a 10% surcharge for Landlord's overhead) Landlord 
shall have incurred in curing such Event of Default, together with interest at the Default Rate. 
 

12.8. Legal and Other Costs.  Tenant shall be liable for the reasonable expenses 
incurred (including, without limitation, reasonable legal expenses) by Landlord in connection 
with any collection of Rent, Additional Rent or other funds owed by Tenant under this Lease, the 
remedying of any Event of Default under this Lease or any termination of this Lease where such 
collection, remedying or termination results from an Event of Default. 
 

12.9. Remedies Cumulative.  Unless otherwise specifically provided in this Lease, no 
remedy herein shall be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies to which Landlord or Tenant 
may be lawfully entitled in case of any breach or threatened breach by Landlord or Tenant, as the 
case may be, of any provision of this Lease, and each such remedy shall be cumulative and in 
addition to every other remedy; and every power and remedy given by this Lease may be 
exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by either Party.  No delay 
or omission by Landlord to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall 
impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of Default 
or an acquiescence therein.  No delay or omission by Tenant to exercise any right or power 
accruing upon any breach by Landlord of any of its obligations under this Lease shall impair any 
such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence 
therein.  The absence in this Lease of any enumeration of events of default by Landlord or 
remedies of either party with respect to money damages or specific performance shall not 
constitute a waiver by either Party of its right to assert any claim or remedy available to it under 
law or in equity (except to the extent this Lease provides for liquidated damages as the exclusive 
remedy of a Party). 
 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

         
 

72 

12.10. Waiver as to Surety.  Tenant and Landlord, for themselves and their successors 
and assigns, and all other persons who are or who shall become, whether by express or implied 
assumption or otherwise, liable upon or subject to any obligation or burden under this Lease, 
hereby waive, to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, all claims or defenses otherwise 
available on the grounds of its or their being or having become a person in the position of a 
surety, whether real, personal, or otherwise, or whether by agreement or operation of law.  Such 
waiver shall include, but shall not be limited to, all claims and defenses based upon extensions of 
time, indulgence, or modification of terms of this Lease. 
 

12.11. Force Majeure.  If either Party shall be delayed in performing any obligation 
under this Lease, except any obligation to pay Rent, Additional Rent or any other sums of money 
payable hereunder, the time for such performance shall be extended by a period of time equal to 
such delay, and the Party shall not be deemed to be in default, when such delay or default results 
from or is caused by war; civil or military disturbance; an act or threat of terrorism; insurrection; 
riot; sabotage; cyberattack; strike; a lock-out; other labor dispute; inability to obtain labor, 
material, or equipment; freight or commercial embargo; trade restrictions or other supply chain 
disruption causing a shortage of materials or energy; government or utility moratorium; flood; 
earthquake; tornado; hurricane; other unusually severe weather; fire; other casualty; act of God; 
epidemic; pandemic; public health emergency; quarantine restrictions; government order; or 
similar causes beyond the control of the Party claiming the delay (each of the foregoing, a “force 
majeure event”); provided that the Party whose performance is delayed shall pursue all 
reasonable and commercially practicable available means and measures necessary to minimize or 
eliminate such delay resulting from any such causes or conditions; and provided further that a 
Party claiming a delay due to a force majeure event shall give written notice of any such delay to 
the other Party within twenty (20) days of such party's knowledge of a delay attributable to the 
occurrence of such force majeure event. 
 

12.12. No Special Damages.  In no event will either Landlord or Tenant be entitled to 
any special, consequential, lost opportunity or lost profits damages as a remedy in the event of 
the other Party’s default or in connection with, arising out of or in any way related to the 
transactions contemplated by this Lease or any act or omission or event occurring in connection 
therewith, and each Party hereby waives, releases and agrees not to sue upon any such claim for 
any such damages, whether or not accrued and whether or not known or suspected to exist in its 
favor. 
 

ARTICLE XIII - RESTRICTIONS ON ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 
 

 
 13.1. Selection of Tenant.  The Parties have entered into this Lease to permit and 
encourage the development of the Premises in accordance with the terms hereof.  Tenant 
acknowledges that: 
 

(i) The qualifications and identity of Tenant and its management personnel 
are of particular concern to Landlord; and 
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(ii) It is because of such qualifications and identity that Landlord is entering 
into this Lease; and 
 

(iii) In doing so, Landlord is willing to accept and rely upon the obligations of 
Tenant for the faithful performance of all undertakings and covenants to be performed by it 
under this Lease. 
 

Tenant also acknowledges that Landlord has a unique interest in determining and 
approving (to the extent such approval is required pursuant to this Article XIII) Tenant, in 
accordance with the terms hereof.  This interest arises out of Landlord's mission of providing 
stable, quality affordable housing for low and moderate income persons; to deliver these services 
with integrity and accountability and to create healthy living environments which serve as 
catalysts for the transformation from dependency to economic self-sufficiency. 
 

13.2. Prohibited Transfers.  For the reasons set forth in Section 13.1 hereof and except 
as otherwise provided in Sections 6.1, 6.5, 6.8, 13.3, and 14.1, and only to the extent the same 
would constitute a Change in Control of Tenant, Tenant shall not Transfer all or any of its rights 
under this Lease or its title to any Improvements or to the Premises, or any equity interest in 
Tenant, or in any entity which holds equity interests in Tenant to any Person unless the consent 
thereto of Landlord (and HUD, if required by the Use Agreement or applicable Legal 
Requirements) has first been obtained, which consent of Landlord shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Specifically, and not in limitation of the foregoing, Tenant 
shall not knowingly Transfer all or any of its rights under this Lease, or any equity interest in 
Tenant or any entity which holds equity interest in Tenant, to a Disqualified Person. 
 

13.3. Permitted Transfers.  So long as the consent of HUD to such Transfer has been 
obtained if and to the extent required by the Use Agreement or applicable Legal Requirements, 
the restrictions set forth in Section 13.2 hereof shall not apply to any Transfer: 
 

(i) of direct or indirect equity interests in Tenant, among co-venturing 
Persons or their Affiliates (or among the entities and persons, at any level, who hold ownership 
interests in Tenant, and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, permitted successors and 
assigns from time to time), so long as Tenant or any Controlled Affiliate of Tenant, retains legal 
and effective operating Control of the development and operation of the Premises and the 
Improvements;   
 

(ii) of Tenant's interest in this Lease, the Premises, the Improvements or 
portions thereof or equity interests in Tenant to a Controlled Affiliate of Tenant, provided that 
Tenant shall maintain its existence and shall remain obligated to carry out the undertakings and 
covenants to be performed by it under this Lease; 
 

(iii) of Tenant's interest in this Lease, the Premises, or the Improvements (such 
that the then Tenant would no longer be the tenant under this Lease) or of a Controlling direct or 
indirect interest in Tenant to a third party transferee, from and after the earlier of (x) stabilization 
of the Improvements (which shall mean 90% of the Units leased) and (y) eighteen (18) months 
after the date of Substantial Completion of the Improvements, provided that Tenant shall obtain 
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Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned 
or delayed, provided that (a) there shall be no uncured Event of Default under this Lease except 
as otherwise permitted by Article VI or Article XV; (b) in the case of a transfer of Tenant’s 
interest in this Lease, the proposed transferee of Tenant’s interest under this Lease, by instrument 
in writing reasonably satisfactory to Landlord and such proposed transferee and recordable at the 
Registry, shall for itself and its successors and assigns, for the benefit of Landlord, have 
expressly assumed all the obligations of Tenant under the Lease relating to the period from and 
after the date of the Transfer, and agreed to be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions 
under this Lease to which Tenant is subject; (c) Tenant has paid all reasonable, out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred by Landlord, including without limitation, attorneys’ reasonable fees in 
connection with such a proposed Transfer, (d) any such transferee has complied with M.G.L. 
Chapter 7C, Section 38 and any other Legal Requirements that are expressly applicable to such a 
Transfer; (e) the proposed transferee is not a Disqualified Person; (f) the consent of HUD has 
been obtained, if and to the extent required by applicable Legal Requirements; and (g) the 
proposed transferee (or its Control party(ies)), if such transferee will be Tenant or the Managing 
Member of Tenant, shall have, in the reasonable opinion of Landlord, the qualifications, 
experience and financial responsibility (taking into account any commitments from any lender(s) 
to provide financing) required to fulfill the obligations contained herein for the continued 
management and operation of the Improvements or, if the proposed transferee (or its Control 
party(ies)) does not have the qualifications and experience required to manage and operate the 
Improvements, it shall, in the reasonable opinion of Landlord, be financially responsible and 
shall have a contract (or cause Tenant to have a contract) with an entity which has, in the 
reasonable opinion of Landlord, qualifications and experience required to fulfill the obligations 
contained herein; provided, however, that, without limitation, if Tenant and the proposed 
transferee, as the case may be, satisfy the applicable conditions set forth in clauses (a)-(f) above, 
it shall be unreasonable for Landlord to withhold consent or object if the proposed transferee (or 
its Control party(ies)) or its proposed manager shall have at least five (5) years’ experience 
owning, operating or managing mixed-income residential buildings, at the time of Transfer 
owns, operates or manages not less than 2,000 residential units and does not have a reputation in 
the multi-family business community that could reasonably result in a material adverse impact 
on Landlord or the Premises.  In the event of a transfer of Tenant’s entire leasehold interest as 
provided in this clause (iii), Tenant shall be relieved from liability for Tenant’s obligations under 
this Lease and the transferee shall become completely and fully liable for such obligations, 
including those arising and accruing after such assignment, in Tenant’s place and stead, such 
assignee thereupon solely and completely succeeding and replacing Tenant as the tenant 
hereunder, except only as provided in Article VI regarding the liability of Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagees; 
 

(iv) of any leasehold, license or other occupancy interest in the Premises or 
Improvements or any portion thereof pursuant to an Occupancy Agreement between Tenant and 
an Occupant; provided, however, that any such Transfer is made pursuant to the requirements of 
Article XIV and complies with the provisions of Section 5.1 and all other provisions of this 
Lease applicable to such a Transfer; or of any subleasehold, license or other occupancy interest 
in the Premises or Improvements or any portion thereof pursuant to any assignment, sublease, 
sub-sublease, license, occupancy agreement or similar transfer that may be permitted under such 
an Occupancy Agreement and that is not prohibited by this Lease; 
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(v) of Tenant's interest in this Lease, the Premises, the Improvements, or any 

part thereof, to any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or its affiliate, as security or pursuant to the 
granting of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage in accordance with Section 6.1, or pursuant to a 
foreclosure of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage, or pursuant to the granting of a deed or 
assignment in lieu of such foreclosure or other similar Transfer to a Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee; 
 

(vi) of Tenant’s interest in this Lease, the Premises, the Improvements, or 
portions thereof to any transferee of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or its affiliate after any 
assignment in lieu of foreclosure, entry as a mortgagee in possession or foreclosure or as a tenant 
under a new lease entered into in accordance with Section 6.5(b) or Section 6.8, provided that 
any such transferee that is not a Controlled affiliate of a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee shall 
meet the requirements of Section 13.3(iii); 
 

(vii) of any interest in the Premises, or any part thereof, for utility or like 
easements necessary to permit the construction, operation and use of the Improvements (and 
Landlord covenants to join in, if required, and execute and deliver such easement and other 
agreements in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord); 
 

(viii) of direct or indirect interests in any publicly-traded company, or interests 
in a pension plan, institutional endowment, foundation, family office, sovereign wealth fund, or 
other types of institutional investors, including without limitation, co-mingled funds, which may 
be a direct or indirect owner of Tenant, provided such transfer does not result in a Change of 
Control of Tenant;   
 

(ix) of direct or indirect equity interests in Tenant, or a member or partner of 
Tenant, for estate planning purposes or as a result of death, disability or incapacity of any of the 
principals of Tenant, Leggat McCall Properties LLC or Joseph J. Corcoran Company, LLC (or 
Tenant’s then Managing Member) so long as such Transfer does not result in a Change in 
Control of Tenant; 

 
(x) that is permitted or contemplated pursuant to Article XV or that are 

Transfers between the Curing Party and the then Managing Member of Tenant (or their 
respective affiliates) or that are Transfers after which the Curing Party or its designated 
managing member, manager, general partner or equivalent Controls Tenant; 

 
(xi) of direct or indirect interests in Tenant to effectuate a qualified 

opportunity zone structuring in compliance with applicable Legal Requirements, provided such 
Transfer does not result in a Change in Control of Tenant; 

 
(xii) of Investor Member and/or Special Member’s interest in Tenant to any 

affiliate of the Investor Member or Special Member, or transfers of any direct or indirect 
ownership interests in Investor Member and/or Special Member provided that an affiliate of 
CREA, LLC continues to be either the sole member, managing member or manager of the 
Investor Member or Special Member, as applicable; or 
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(xiii) of Investor Member and/or Special Member’s interest in Tenant pursuant 

to any provision of the Operating Agreement (including, without limitation, in connection with 
the Put Option or any rights or obligations of the Managing Member under the Operating 
Agreement to purchase or repurchase the interests of Investor Member and/or Special Member). 

 
13.4. Landlord's Consent or Confirmation.  If the consent of Landlord to any Transfer is 

required by this Article XIII, or if Tenant desires Landlord to confirm that a Transfer complies 
with the requirements of this Article XIII, Tenant shall notify Landlord of the entity to whom a 
Transfer is proposed, and such notice shall provide reasonably sufficient information to enable 
Landlord to evaluate the acceptability of the proposed transferee.  Within fifteen (15) days of its 
receipt of a request for (a) confirmation that a proposed Transfer satisfies the applicable criteria 
set forth in Section 13.3 or (b) consent to a Transfer requiring consent of Landlord under this 
Article XIII, Landlord shall either determine that the proposed transferee satisfies the applicable 
criteria, or is otherwise satisfactory to Landlord, or it shall notify Tenant of the specific respects 
in which such proposed transferee does not satisfy the applicable criteria, or is not otherwise 
acceptable to Landlord, or it shall indicate with reasonable specificity what further information it 
requires to make its determination.  If Landlord does not notify Tenant in writing within said 15-
day period of all specific respects in which the proposed transferee does not satisfy the 
applicable criteria or does not otherwise satisfy Landlord in accordance with  Section 13.3, or of 
the further information Landlord requires to make its determination, (and subject to Tenant’s 
compliance with the legend requirements set forth in Section 18.7) the Transfer to such proposed 
transferee shall be deemed approved.  If Landlord requests further information concerning a 
proposed transferee, within fifteen (15) days of receipt of such additional information, Landlord 
shall either consent to such Transfer or it shall notify Tenant of the specific respects in which 
such proposed transferee does not satisfy the applicable criteria, or is not otherwise acceptable to 
Landlord in accordance with Section 13.3.  If Landlord does not so notify Tenant within said 15-
day period, then (subject to compliance with the legend requirements set forth in Section 18.7) 
the Transfer to such proposed transferee shall be deemed approved.  The recording of an 
affidavit by Tenant to the effect that such approval has been deemed to have been received by 
the passage of such a period shall be conclusive evidence thereof.  If an assignment or other 
agreement to Transfer is not entered into with the proposed transferee to which consent is given 
or deemed given hereunder within one hundred eighty (180) days of the date such consent is 
given or deemed given, then such consent shall be void.  Except as otherwise specifically 
provided in this Lease or with respect to Transfers that do not require the consent of Landlord by 
the terms of this Lease, the consent of Landlord to any proposed transferee shall be required but 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. 

 
13.5. Right of First Offer. 
 

(a) From and after the expiration of the Compliance Period (as hereinafter 
defined), Landlord shall have the right of first offer (the “Landlord ROFO”) to purchase 
Tenant’s interest in this Lease, the Premises and the Improvements (collectively, the “Tenant’s 
Property Interest”) on the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 13.5.  The Landlord 
ROFO will apply from and after the expiration of the Compliance Period to any Sale Transfer 
contemplated by Tenant and any purchase by the Managing Member of the IM/SM Interests, in 
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each case, other than pursuant to the Put Option (as hereinafter defined).  In that connection, 
from and after the expiration of the Compliance Period, Tenant agrees that Tenant will not 
effectuate a Sale Transfer and the Managing Member agrees that it will not exercise any option it 
may have pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement, or otherwise enter into any 
agreement, to purchase the IM/SM Interests (in each case, other than pursuant to the Put Option), 
without complying with the provisions and conditions of this Section 13.5.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that the Landlord ROFO shall not apply to any exercise by 
the Investor Member and/or the Special Member of its option to put its respective IM/SM 
Interests to the Managing Member pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement (the “Put 
Option”), which Put Option may be exercised and effectuated without any consent or approval 
of Landlord.  Nothing in this Lease grants, or shall be deemed to grant, any right to Landlord to 
compel (i) Tenant or Managing Member to sell Tenant’s Property Interest, (ii) Managing 
Member to purchase the IM/SM Interests or (iii) the Investor Member or Special Member to sell 
the IM/SM Interests.  The term “Compliance Period” shall mean the entire period during which 
the “compliance period” in Section 42(i)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code shall be applicable to 
any building comprising the Improvements.  

 
(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 13.5 to the contrary, Landlord 

acknowledges and agrees that (i) a Taking shall not be subject to the Landlord ROFO and (ii) in 
the event that a Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee acquires the Tenant’s Property Interest by 
judicial or non-judicial foreclosure, exercise of the power of sale or acceptance of an assignment 
in lieu of foreclosure, then (A) such Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee may Transfer the Tenant’s 
Property Interest one or more times to a Controlled affiliate that is a Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee without such Transfer being subject to the Landlord ROFO and (B) such Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee or such Controlled affiliate may Transfer the Tenant’s Property Interest to 
any unrelated third party subject to Sections 6.5(b) and 13.3(iii) (“Third Party Acquirer”) 
without such Transfer being subject to the Landlord ROFO, provided that any Sale Transfer 
subsequently effectuated by such Third Party Acquirer shall be subject to the Landlord ROFO. 

 
(c) If, from and after the expiration of the Compliance Period, (i) Tenant 

desires to accept an unsolicited offer for a Sale Transfer or otherwise desires to effectuate a Sale 
Transfer, or (ii) if the Managing Member desires to exercise any purchase option it may have 
pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement to purchase, or otherwise desires to purchase 
(other than pursuant to the Put Option) the IM/SM Interests, Tenant or the Managing Member, as 
the case may be, shall deliver to Landlord a notice (the “Tenant Sale Notice”) stating that (I) 
Tenant desires to effectuate a Sale Transfer, in its sole and absolute discretion, or (II) the 
Managing Member desires to purchase the IM/SM Interests for a price that would yield to the 
Investor Member and Special Member no less than the price required to be paid to them under 
the Operating Agreement (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Investor Member and 
Special Member), and therefore in the case of either (I) and (II), as required by this Section 13.5, 
Tenant desires to offer Tenant’s Property Interest for sale to Landlord.  The Tenant Sale Notice 
shall state the all-cash purchase price for the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest as determined by 
Tenant in its sole and absolute discretion (extrapolated to equate to a sale of the entire Tenant’s 
Property Interest or 100% of the direct or indirect ownership interests in Tenant, as applicable 
(“Extrapolated” or “Extrapolation”) (the “Offer Price”).  For the avoidance of doubt and 
notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Offer Price, as Extrapolated for the IM/SM 
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Interests, shall not be less than an amount that will yield distributions of net sale proceeds to the 
Investor Member and the Special Member pursuant to the Operating Agreement that are at least 
equal to the amount that each would have received had the Managing Member or its affiliates 
acquired the IM/SM Interests pursuant to the call option rights set forth in the Operating 
Agreement.  The Tenant Sale Notice shall constitute an offer by Tenant, or the Managing 
Member as the case may be, to transfer Tenant’s Property Interest to Landlord at the Offer Price 
contained in the Tenant Sale Notice and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.  Any 
Extrapolation set forth in this Section 13.5(c) or in Section 13.5(f) shall (i) in the case of a Sale 
Transfer of less than 100% of Tenant’s Property Interest (e.g., the sale of a 50% tenant-in-
common interest), be based on the sale of 100% of Tenant’s Property Interest, and (ii) in the case 
of a Sale Transfer of less than 100% of the direct or indirect ownership interests in Tenant, be 
based upon the percentage of distributions to which the applicable exiting holder of a direct or 
indirect ownership interest in Tenant would be entitled to upon a Sale Transfer of the entire 
Tenant’s Property Interest under the Operating Agreement as compared to the percentage of 
distributions to which the remaining holder(s) of ownership in Tenant would be entitled on 
account of such a capital event. 

 
By way of example of such Extrapolation, assume that after the Compliance 
Period (a) the Managing Member is willing to pay $10 to the Investor Member 
and Special Member, collectively, to purchase the IM/SM Interests, (b) the 
Investor Member and Special Member, collectively, are entitled to 10% of the net 
distributable proceeds from a sale of the Tenant’s Property Interest, and (c) the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgage has an outstanding balance of $500.  Then, before 
the Managing Member may exercise any option to purchase, or enter into an 
agreement to purchase, the IM/SM Interests for $10, Tenant and the Managing 
Member must first offer to sell the Tenant’s Property Interest to Landlord for 
$600 ($10/10% + $500).  If Landlord accepts the offer, then upon a sale of the 
Tenant’s Property Interest, the Managing Member would receive $90 and the 
Investor Member and Special Member, collectively, would receive $10, after 
repayment of the $500 Permitted Leasehold Mortgage balance.  If Landlord 
declines the offer, then the Managing Member may buy the IM/SM Interests for 
$10. 
 
(d) Landlord shall have thirty (30) days from its receipt of such Tenant Sale 

Notice to accept the offer by giving Tenant within such period written notice of such acceptance 
(“Landlord’s Acceptance Notice”), accompanied by a good faith, earnest money deposit 
(together with interest earned thereon, the “Deposit”) in an amount equal to one percent (1%) of 
the Offer Price, which Deposit shall be non-refundable to Landlord except in the event of a 
default by Tenant in its obligation to sell Tenant’s Property Interest to Landlord at the Offer 
Price subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.  If Landlord timely provides Landlord’s 
Acceptance Notice and the Deposit, the closing of the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest shall 
occur on the date that is ninety (90) days after the Landlord’s Acceptance Notice (unless 
otherwise agreed by the parties) and in connection with such closing Landlord and Tenant shall 
execute commercially reasonable escrow instructions with a mutually acceptable third party 
escrow agent and such other commercially reasonable conveyance instruments (including an 
assignment and assumption agreement with respect to Tenant’s interest under this Lease) as may 
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be reasonably necessary or appropriate to consummate the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest to 
Landlord.  The sale of Tenant’s Property Interest shall be on an “AS-IS, WHERE IS, WITH 
ALL FAULTS” basis and Tenant shall not be required to provide any representations or 
warranties to Landlord as to the Premises or Improvements or the condition thereof; provided 
that (1) nothing in this Section 13.5 shall be deemed to waive or limit Landlord’s inspection and 
access rights or Tenant’s obligation to maintain the Premises and the Improvements as expressly 
set forth in this Lease (and the closing of the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest shall be 
contingent upon a satisfactory inspection of the Premises and Improvements by Landlord to 
confirm Tenant’s compliance with such maintenance obligation) and (2) as of such closing 
Landlord and Tenant shall be deemed to have remade the representations and warranties set forth 
in Section 17.1 but only in respect of the sale transaction and the conveyance documents to be 
executed in connection therewith as contemplated by this Section 13.5 rather than in respect of 
the Lease.  On the closing date of the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest, Tenant shall convey to 
Landlord the Tenant’s Property Interest free and clear of all liens and encumbrances other than 
those created by Landlord or its employees, agents or contractors, those of record or in existence 
as of the Commencement Date, and those which are permitted by the terms and conditions of this 
Lease (including, without limitation, any permitted Occupancy Agreements), provided, however, 
that Tenant shall cause any Permitted Leasehold Mortgage to be paid off and/or discharged as of 
the closing date of the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest (or, if not discharged on the closing 
date, thereafter promptly discharged in accordance with customary conveyancing practice), 
unless Tenant and Landlord have agreed that the Permitted Leasehold Mortgage will be assumed 
by Landlord as of the closing date of the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest on terms and 
conditions mutually acceptable to Tenant and Landlord (including a release executed by the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee of the Tenant and its Affiliates with respect to the Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgage financing and any associated guaranties, indemnification agreements or 
loan documents, on terms and conditions satisfactory to Tenant), in which case the outstanding 
principal amount of the Permitted Leasehold Mortgage that is assumed by Landlord shall be 
credited against the Offer Price.  There shall be no holdbacks, escrows or indemnifications from 
Tenant required in connection with the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest.  The Offer Price shall 
be payable in cash, by wire transfer or other immediately available funds, at the closing of the 
sale of Tenant’s Property Interest, with customary prorations in accordance with applicable 
REBA standards (or, in the absence thereof, local custom) and, if applicable, credit for the 
outstanding balance of any indebtedness secured by Tenant’s Property Interest that is either 
assumed or taken subject to by Landlord.  Any transfer or recordation taxes payable in 
connection with the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest shall be paid in accordance with applicable 
REBA standards (or, in the absence thereof, local custom).  Landlord shall be responsible for the 
costs of any title insurance it desires to procure in connection with the sale of Tenant’s Property 
Interest.  Each party shall be responsible for its own attorneys’ fees incurred in connection with 
the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest.  The costs of any escrow agent for the sale of Tenant’s 
Property Interest shall be evenly split by the parties.   

 
(e) If the sale of Tenant’s Property Interest is not consummated in accordance 

with the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 13.5 due to a default by Landlord, Tenant 
shall be entitled to retain the Deposit as liquidated damages as its sole remedy for the default of 
Landlord and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, the Landlord ROFO rights 
under this Lease shall be forever extinguished and of no further force or effect.  If the sale of 
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Tenant’s Property Interest is not consummated in accordance with the terms and conditions set 
forth in this Section 13.5 due to a default by Tenant, Landlord shall be entitled, as its sole 
remedies therefor, the right to either (i) bring an action for specific performance for conveyance 
of the Tenant’s Property Interest at the Offer Price and on the terms and conditions set forth in 
this Section 13.5 (which action must be commenced within sixty (60) days after such default of 
Tenant or Landlord shall be deemed to have irrevocably elected to proceed under clause (ii)); or 
(ii) receive the entire Deposit (including accrued interest) from Tenant, provided that unless the 
sale of Tenant’s Property Interest to Landlord is consummated in accordance with any such 
specific performance action by Landlord, the Landlord ROFO and the rights and the obligations 
of Landlord under this Section 13.5 shall not terminate but shall continue to apply in accordance 
with the terms hereof as though no Tenant Sale Notice had been delivered.   

 
(f) In the event that Landlord rejects an offer by Tenant pursuant to a Tenant 

Sale Notice, or fails to timely deliver Landlord’s Acceptance Notice and Deposit after receipt of 
a Tenant Sale Notice, then (1) the Managing Member or its designee may purchase the IM/SM 
Interests or (2) Tenant may enter into an agreement for the Sale Transfer with any Person(s), 
subject to Sections 13.2 and 13.3, in the case of each of (1) and (2), for a price (as Extrapolated) 
of not less than ninety-eight percent (98%) of the Offer Price and on other financial terms and 
conditions (as Extrapolated) not materially better to the buyer than those set forth in the Tenant 
Sale Notice (the “Tenant Requirements”).  If such purchase of the IM/SM Interests or Sale 
Transfer does not close within two-hundred seventy (270) days of the date Landlord rejects (or is 
deemed to have rejected on account of failing to have timely delivered Landlord’s Acceptance 
Notice and Deposit after receipt of a Tenant Sale Notice) an offer by Tenant pursuant to a Tenant 
Sale Notice, or does not meet the Tenant Requirements, then Landlord’s right to acquire the 
Tenant’s Property Interest shall revive, and the process described above shall start again.  In the 
event that Tenant pursues a Sale Transfer after Tenant’s Property Interest has been previously 
offered to Landlord in accordance with this Section 13.5 and subsequently receives counteroffers 
(as Extrapolated) less than ninety-eight percent (98%) of the Offer Price, and Tenant desires to 
accept such lower price, then Tenant shall be obligated to re-offer the Tenant’s Property Interest 
to Landlord at such lower price that Tenant desires to accept in accordance with this Section 
13.5 and Landlord shall be obligated to deliver Landlord’s Acceptance Notice and Deposit 
within thirty (30) days of such re-offer, or Landlord shall be deemed to have waived its rights 
hereunder as to such Sale Transfer.   

 
(g) This Section 13.5 and the Landlord ROFO shall continue in effect during 

the Term of this Lease and shall be binding on all of Tenant’s and Managing Member’s 
successors in interest and apply to all subsequent Sale Transfers of Tenant’s Property Interest, 
except as otherwise expressly provided in this Section 13.5. 

 
(h) Landlord may assign the Landlord ROFO to a Person that includes the 

CRA or any successor Local Tenant Organization representing the Assisted Residents of the Site 
or Improvements, subject to compliance with applicable Legal Requirements, provided that such 
partnership or joint venture shall have, in the reasonable opinion of Landlord and the Owners’ 
Association, the qualifications, experience and financial capability and responsibility required to 
fulfill any remaining unfulfilled obligations contained in this Lease with respect to the 
management and operation of the Improvements and the continuing obligations of Tenant under 
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the Owners’ Association Agreement, or if the proposed transferee (or its Control party(ies)) does 
not have the qualifications and experience required to manage and operate the Improvements, it 
shall have a firm contractual arrangement with an entity which has, in the reasonable opinion of 
Landlord and the Owners’ Association, the qualifications and experience required to fulfill such 
management and operating obligations contained in this Lease and the Owners’ Association 
Agreement.  Landlord shall provide Tenant with reasonable advance written notice of any 
proposed assignment of the Landlord ROFO and the proposed assignee. 

13.6. Restrictions on Assignment by Landlord.  Landlord acknowledges and agrees 
that, in connection with this Lease, Tenant has entered into, or intends to enter into, a payment in 
lieu of taxes agreement or other real estate tax relief or payment agreement with the City of 
Boston with respect to the Premises and Improvements (the “Tax Agreement”).  Landlord 
agrees that, during the term of any Tax Agreement, Landlord shall not sell, assign or otherwise 
transfer, directly or indirectly, all or any portion of Landlord’s interest in the Premises, the 
Improvements or this Lease, unless the City of Boston agrees in a written instrument satisfactory 
to Tenant and any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee that the Tax Agreement will remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect, notwithstanding any such sale, assignment or transfer by 
Landlord. 
 

ARTICLE XIV - SUBLETTING 
 

14.1. Subletting.  Tenant may, as a matter of right and without having to obtain 
Landlord’s consent, sublease Units to Residents, pursuant to Occupancy Agreements, as 
determined by Tenant from time to time; provided, however, that all Occupancy Agreements 
with Residents shall comply with the provisions of Section 5.1, shall not permit sub-subleasing 
without the Tenant’s consent, and provided further, that any subleases of Affordable Units shall 
comply with the provisions of the Management Plan, the Letter of Assurance, any applicable 
HAP Contract, other applicable Legal Requirements of HUD or any other governmental agency 
providing subsidies, funding or approvals to Tenant, all other Legal Requirements, and the 
provisions of this Lease regarding maintaining the Affordable Units.  All subleases for 
Affordable Units shall be in a form that is consistent with the requirements of the Management 
Plan.  All Affordable Units are subject to and have the benefit of the terms and conditions of the 
Project-Based Voucher requirements for the  term of the applicable HAP Contract.  Tenant 
acknowledges that the Affordable Units constitute low-income housing as defined in the Act and 
that Landlord, as the provider of the Project-Based Vouchers, will prescreen applicants for 
Affordable Units and refer them to Tenant. Tenant acknowledges that BHA Residents have 
certain rehousing rights as set forth in the Letter of Assurance which Tenant is required to 
recognize.   In the event of any conflict between a provision of this Lease that affects the 
Affordable Units and a Project-Based Voucher Legal Requirement, or HUD or other 
governmental agency Legal Requirement applicable to the Affordable Units, then the Project-
Based Voucher or HUD or other government agency Legal Requirements shall govern, subject, 
however, to Section 5.2. Tenant agrees to provide such reports regarding the Affordable Units 
and the Assisted Residents as are required by Landlord, HUD, or any governmental agency 
providing subsidies for Assisted Residents or funding for the Improvements. 
 

Tenant may, as a matter of right and without having to obtain Landlord’s consent, sublet 
or license any part or parts of the Premises or Improvements (other than the Units) at any time 
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and from time to time to such Occupants (including commercial subtenants) and upon such terms 
and conditions (including pursuant to such Occupancy Agreements) as Tenant shall deem fit and 
proper, provided that any uses by such Occupants must be for Permitted Uses allowed by this 
Lease, and Tenant shall use good faith efforts to cause the uses by any retail subtenants to 
conform to the retail strategic plan for the Premises (the “Retail Strategic Plan”) approved prior 
to the Commencement Date by Landlord (or as such Retail Strategic Plan may be modified from 
time to time with Landlord’s approval, including to take into account evolving consumer 
preferences and retail formats during the Term), such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, 
delayed or conditioned.  To attract certain retail tenants who may not be able to pay market rental 
rates, if the Improvements contain more than 5,000 square feet of retail space, Tenant will agree 
to offer a 50% discount off the then market rents for up to twenty percent (20%) of the retail 
space located within the Improvements, if necessary and unless otherwise approved by Landlord. 
 

No sublease made as permitted by this Section 14.1 shall impose any obligations on 
Landlord or otherwise affect any rights of Landlord under this Lease. 
 

At the request of Tenant, Landlord agrees to execute and deliver to any retail and/or 
commercial Occupant at the Premises a commercially reasonable recognition, non-disturbance 
and/or consent agreement in a form mutually agreeable to Landlord and such Occupant; provided 
that Landlord has approved the Occupancy Agreement with such Occupant, such approval not to 
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. 
 

14.2. Utility Charges to Residents of Affordable Units.  Tenant shall not impose any 
charge for the delivery of non-telecommunication utilities (cold and hot water, sewer, gas, 
electricity, light, heat or power) to Affordable Units, regardless of how such utilities may be 
tracked or metered.  The cost of such non-telecommunication utility related charges shall be 
included in the gross rent on which the Total Tenant Payment is calculated for an Assisted 
Resident’s occupancy of an Affordable Unit pursuant to the Occupancy Agreements, subject to 
changes in the Legal Requirements related to Project-Based Vouchers that mandate otherwise.  
Policies and rules to promote energy efficiency and conservation behavior and deter waste of 
utilities shall be included in the Management Plan, in particular in the resident handbook. 

 
ARTICLE XV - CURE RIGHTS 

 
15.1. Cure Rights.  Provided Landlord has approved the Transfer of an equity interest in 

Tenant to an investor pursuant to the provisions of Section 13.4 (whether or not such approval is 
required pursuant to Sections 13.2 and 13.3), such approved investor, for so long as it holds an 
equity interest in Tenant, and upon notifying Landlord in writing of its desire to obtain the 
protections set forth below, and providing Landlord with an address for notices (the “Curing 
Party”), shall have the following rights: 

(a) The Curing Party (or any affiliate thereof) may exercise its rights under 
the Operating Agreement to become or designate a new Managing Member upon the occurrence 
of the conditions set forth in such Operating Agreement, such exercise to be deemed a permitted 
Transfer under Article XIII hereof.  In furtherance of the foregoing, Landlord agrees that it will 
take no action to effect a termination of this Lease by reason of any Event of Default without 
first giving to Curing Party one hundred twenty (120) calendar days to replace Tenant’s 
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Managing Member, and cause the new Managing Member to cure such Event of Default (but 
such requirement to cure shall only apply if the applicable Event of Default is capable of cure by 
such substitute or additional Managing Member); provided, that (a) as a condition of such 
forbearance, Landlord must receive notice of the substitution of a new Managing Member of the 
Tenant within sixty (60) calendar days following Landlord’s notice of Event of Default to the 
Curing Party, and (b) Tenant, following such substitution of Managing Member, shall thereupon 
proceed with due diligence to cure such Event of Default to the extent curable by such substitute 
or additional Managing Member. 

(b) Except as may be expressly otherwise provided herein, this Lease shall not 
be amended, modified, terminated, or cancelled by Tenant, nor shall Landlord accept a surrender 
of this Lease by Tenant, without the prior written consent of the Curing Party. 

(c) Landlord agrees to give copies to the Curing Party of any notice of an 
Event of Default hereunder or notice of any default or matter which, if left uncured will become 
an Event of Default, or of a termination of this Lease, in accordance with the requirements for 
the giving of notices as provided herein.  Landlord acknowledges that no event will constitute an 
Event of Default for which this Lease may be terminated by Landlord, unless the Curing Party 
shall have been given notice thereof and an opportunity to cure as provided herein. 

(d) The Curing Party may elect, in its sole and absolute discretion, to cure or 
cause to be cured any default by Tenant under this Lease.  The Curing Party shall have the same 
period after the receipt of notice for remedying the default as is given Tenant, plus an additional 
sixty (60) days, and Landlord agrees to accept performance by the Curing Party (or any affiliate 
thereof) as though it had been done or performed by Tenant. 

(e) If this Lease is terminated as a result of a default on the part of Tenant or 
rejected or disaffirmed in a bankruptcy proceeding, Landlord shall, subject to the satisfaction of 
all the conditions provided below, on written request of the Curing Party made at any time within 
thirty (30) days after Landlord has given notice of such termination to the Curing Party, enter 
into a new lease (“New Lease”) with such Curing Party (or its designee) in accordance with the 
following provisions: 

(i) The term of any such New Lease shall be the remainder of the 
Term of this Lease; 

(ii) Such New Lease shall be upon the exact terms and conditions as 
this Lease (with only those revisions necessary to reflect the substitution of the Curing Party or 
its designee for, or as the Managing Member of, Tenant); 

(iii) The Curing Party or its designee shall, contemporaneously with the 
delivery of such request for a New Lease, pay to Landlord all Rent, fees, charges, and other 
amounts owed by Tenant to Landlord which then remain unpaid or which have accrued, together 
with all expenses, including attorneys’ reasonable fees, actually incurred by Landlord in 
connection with the termination of this Lease and the execution and delivery of such New Lease; 
and 
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(iv) The Curing Party or its designee shall have performed all 
unfulfilled covenants and agreements required as of that date to be performed by Tenant under 
this Lease (except for defaults not capable of being cured by the Curing Party, including, without 
limitation, any failure by Tenant to pay Participating Rent; provided, however, if Curing Party 
enters into a New Lease, then the Curing Party shall  be responsible to pay when due any 
Participating Rent first accruing from and after the date of such New Lease). 

(f) Landlord agrees that, as of the date of this Lease, the Investor Member and 
the Special Member shall each be a Curing Party, and their address is as follows: 

CREA Bunker Hill Building M, LLC 
30 South Meridian Street, Suite 400 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 
Attention: Asset Management – Bunker Hill Building M 
Email: CREAAM@creallc.com 
 
CREA SLP, LLC 
30 South Meridian Street, Suite 400 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46204 
Attention: Asset Management – Bunker Hill Building M 
Email: CREAAM@creallc.com 

 
(g) Landlord agrees to enter into a commercially reasonable recognition, non-

disturbance, standstill and/or consent agreement with a Curing Party, provided that Landlord has 
reviewed and approved the Operating Agreement pursuant to which such Curing Party has 
acquired an equity interest in Tenant. 

(h) The provisions of this Article XV shall survive the termination of this 
Lease. 

ARTICLE XVI - NON-DISCRIMINATION AND EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES 

 
16.1. Compliance with Laws and Regulations.  Tenant shall comply in all material 

respects with all applicable Legal Requirements and any commercially reasonable requirements 
of Landlord set forth in its written policies in effect from time to time, of which Tenant has been 
given written notice, that are applicable to all of Landlord’s properties, pertaining to civil rights, 
equal opportunity, anti-discrimination and employment opportunities, including executive orders 
and rules and regulations of appropriate federal, state and local agencies unless otherwise exempt 
therefrom.  Specifically, Tenant covenants that Tenant shall: 
 

(a) Not discriminate against any individual because of membership in any legally 
protected class, including, without limitation, race, color, religion, creed, national origin, 
ancestry, age being greater than forty years, gender, sexual orientation, gender expression and 
identity, genetic information, disability, or Vietnam-era veteran status, nor because of 
membership in, or due to any obligation to perform service in, a uniformed military service of 
the United States, including the National Guard, in the use of the Premises, including the hiring 
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and discharging of employees (if any), the provision or use of services, and the selection of 
suppliers and contractors; 
 

(b) Conspicuously post notices to its employees and prospective employees (if any) 
setting forth the Fair Employee Practices Law of the Commonwealth; 
 

(c) Not discriminate against any person because of race, color, religion, creed, 
national origin, ancestry, age, gender, sexual orientation, gender expression and identity, genetic 
information, disability, or veteran status in the subleasing or refusing to sublease of any Unit or 
providing or refusing to provide any services or use of any facility, and shall comply in all 
material respects with all Legal Requirements pertaining to fair housing practices and the leasing 
of any portion of the Premises for residential dwelling purposes. 
 

16.2. Information and Reports.  During the initial construction of the Improvements, 
until the same are Substantially Completed, and thereafter during any Major Alterations, and 
with respect to the Management Agreement and other material service contracts entered into by 
Tenant pertaining to the Premises, Tenant will provide all information and reports required by 
HUD, the City or Landlord and set forth in Legal Requirements, the HAP Contract, and in 
commercially reasonable written policies of Landlord in effect from time to time, of which 
Tenant has been given written notice, that are applicable to all of Landlord’s properties, in each 
case pertaining to civil rights, equal opportunity, anti-discrimination and employment 
opportunities, and will permit access in accordance with Section 17.10 to the Premises and 
Improvements and any of its books, records, accounts, or other sources of information which 
may reasonably be determined by Landlord to affect Tenant's obligation hereunder.  Without 
limiting the foregoing, Tenant shall maintain (a) all financial information required for HUD 
reports, including any applicable Certified Payroll Reporting Requirements, for the preceding 
month; (b) all documentation showing compliance with all MBE/WBE and minority and women 
employment and Section 3 requirements under this Lease, including but not limited to 
compliance plans and employee lists, which may be required under this Lease and any project 
labor agreement that is binding on Tenant; and (c) all additional information regarding 
compliance with all MBE/WBE requirements pursuant to Section 16.3 and Section 3 
requirements pursuant to Section 16.4 that Landlord may otherwise reasonably request in order 
to enable Landlord to comply in all respects with HUD reporting requirements.  Tenant shall 
deliver to Landlord such of the above-mentioned reports as Landlord requests in writing within 
ten (10) days of its receipt of such request. 
 

16.3. MBE and WBE Participation; Minority and Women Employment. 
 

To achieve greater participation of minority business enterprises (“MBEs”) and women’s 
business enterprises (“WBEs”) in contracts administered directly or indirectly by Landlord 
pursuant to Executive Orders 11625 and 12138, and Landlord’s Minority and Women 
Participation Provision (“MWPP”), attached hereto as Exhibit N, Tenant agrees to use its good 
faith efforts to: 
 

(a) place qualified MBEs and WBEs and small business concerns on 
solicitation lists; 
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(b) divide the services relating to the Improvements into smaller tasks or 

quantities to permit maximum participation by MBEs and WBEs and small business concerns; 
 
(c) use the services and assistance of the U.S. Small Business Administration, 

the Minority Business Development Agency of the U.S. Department of Commerce, any local 
minority assistance organizations, and various state and local government small business 
agencies; 

 
(d) achieve the following numeric goals with respect to the Improvements: 

twenty-five percent (25%) for MBE utilization, and fifteen percent (15%) for WBE utilization, 
forty percent (40%) of worker hours for minority workers, and twelve percent (12%) of worker 
hours for women workers; and 

 
(e) comply with such additional requirements relating to MBEs and WBEs as 

set forth in the MWPP and hiring and training plans developed by Tenant and approved by 
Landlord. 
 

16.4. Resident Employment.  Tenant shall ensure, to the greatest extent feasible, that 
all requirements of Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended 
are followed (“Section 3”) with respect to resident employment opportunities pertaining to the 
Improvements.  Section 3 shall apply, to the extent provided in this Section 16.4, to resident 
employment opportunities pertaining to the Improvements as a matter of Landlord policy 
regardless of whether Section 3 applies as a matter of law.  The goal behind Section 3 is to 
ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated by governmental financial 
assistance for housing and community development programs is, to the greatest extent feasible, 
directed toward low- and very low-income persons, particularly recipients of government 
assistance.  Tenant shall ensure, to the greatest extent feasible, that employment and training 
opportunities generated as a result of the development of, or other work on, the Improvements be 
directed to qualified Section 3 workers. Tenant shall ensure, to the greatest extent feasible, that 
the Section 3 hiring and training preferences are followed with respect to the Improvements 
when such opportunities arise, directing opportunities in the order of priority set forth Landlord’s 
Resident Employment Provision (“REP”) attached hereto as Exhibit O.  Additionally, Tenant 
shall also commit to enforcing that 25% or more of the total hours goal for the Improvements 
shall be worked by Section 3 Workers and 5% or more labor hours shall be worked by Targeted 
Section 3 Workers, as these terms are defined in the REP, to greatest extent feasible.  Tenant 
shall also ensure, to the greatest extent feasible, that contracting opportunities are directed to 
Section 3 business concerns. 
 

The REP sets out in detail the requirements of Section 3, codified as Landlord’s policy. 
Specific resident employment obligations and procedures are detailed in the REP and the REP 
shall govern additional aspects of resident employment compliance and are incorporated herein 
by reference. 
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ARTICLE XVII - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; AFFIRMATIVE 
COVENANTS 

 
17.1. Representations and Warranties.  The Parties hereto each represent and warrant 

with respect to themselves: 
 

(a) Each Party is duly organized or qualified and in good standing under the 
laws of the Commonwealth and has the power and authority to own or hold its properties. 

(b) The execution hereof and the performance of the obligations herein 
described, and of any acts which may be reasonably necessary or appropriate to accomplish the 
purposes set forth herein, have been duly authorized by each of the respective Parties. 
 

(c) Each Party has full power and authority to enter into this Lease.  This 
Lease has been duly executed.  This Lease constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of 
each of the respective Parties, and is enforceable in accordance with its terms as the same may be 
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and 
the effect of general equitable principles. 
 

(d) The execution, delivery and performance of this Lease (i) does not conflict 
with any judgment, order, Legal Requirement, joint venture agreement, charter, or any indenture 
agreement or other instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound; (ii) does not 
constitute a default under any agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is 
bound; and (iii) does not result in the creation of any lien, change or encumbrance or security 
upon, its assets. 
 

(e) To the Party’s actual knowledge, there is no litigation or administrative 
proceeding pending or threatened in writing which would in any way affect the ability of the 
Party making the warranty to carry out its obligations under this Lease or which would otherwise 
adversely affect the construction and operation of the Improvements or the transactions 
contemplated by this Lease. 

 
 17.2. No Disqualified Person.  Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that neither 
Tenant, nor to the actual knowledge of Tenant, the holder of any equity interest in Tenant, or in 
any Person which holds equity interests in Tenant or in any other Person in the chain of 
ownership of Tenant, is a Disqualified Person.  
 
 17.3. No Reliance. Tenant represents and warrants that it has made or will make an 
independent investigation and inquiry into all matters relevant to the performance of its 
obligations hereunder without reliance on any statement, whether written or oral, made by any 
officer, employee, agent or representative of Landlord, except for representations and warranties 
of Landlord expressly set forth in this Lease. 
 

17.4. Maintenance of Business and Existence.  Tenant will continue to engage in 
business of the same general type as now conducted by it so that its principal business shall 
continue to be substantially the same as it is on the date of execution of this Lease and to do all 
things necessary to preserve, renew, and keep in full force and effect its existence in its state of 
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formation or organization and rights and franchises necessary to continue such business and 
preserve and keep in force and effect all licenses and permits necessary for the proper conduct of 
its business, unless prior written approval of Landlord is obtained. 
 

17.5. Conduct of Business.  Tenant will conduct and maintain its business in 
compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements and in accordance with this Lease. 
 

17.6. Cordial Relationships .  Tenant shall endeavor to maintain cordial relationships 
with the City and the neighbors of the Premises and to be sensitive to the concerns of Landlord 
and the neighborhood; provided, however, that Tenant’s failure to comply with this Section 17.6 
covenant shall not constitute a default or breach of Tenant. 
 

17.7. Notification of Defaults.  Tenant will promptly notify Landlord of any material 
default in the payment or performance of any of its obligations under or pursuant to this Lease of 
which Tenant becomes aware, whether or not any requirement or notice or lapse of time, or both, 
or any other condition has been satisfied or has occurred. 
 

17.8. Notification of Disputes.  Tenant will promptly notify Landlord of any materially 
adverse claims, actions or proceedings against Tenant affecting the Premises or the 
Improvements or Tenant’s performance of this Lease of which Tenant becomes aware. 
 

17.9. Notification of Attachments.  Tenant will promptly notify Landlord of any unpaid 
levy, attachment, execution or other legal process against its assets, in excess of THREE 
HUNDRED THOUSAND and NO/100 DOLLARS ($300,000.00) or, after the fifth year after the 
Commencement Date, the Value Equivalent of such amount, or any less amount which will 
materially, adversely affect the Premises, the Improvements or Tenant’s performance of this 
Lease. 
 

17.10. Access to Records and Premises.  Tenant will afford reasonable access by 
Landlord, its accountants, attorneys or agents, during normal business hours of Tenant and not 
less than two (2) business days’ advance notice, at Landlord's expense, to the Premises and to 
Tenant's Books and Records, leases, subleases, other agreements, plans, drawings, specifications 
and any other documents relating to this Lease, the Premises or the Improvements to inspect and 
make and take away copies of any and all of the same as Landlord, HUD, the City, the BPDA  
and any other agency providing subsidies, funding or approvals to Tenant or funds to Landlord, 
the Comptroller General of the United States, and any of their authorized representatives may 
reasonably request for a governmental purpose in order to determine Tenant’s compliance with 
the provisions of this Lease or Tenant’s obligations to such parties; provided that such 
inspections do not unreasonably interfere with, and are conducted in accordance with applicable 
Legal Requirements and so as to minimize, to the extent practicable, any interference with the 
operations of, and use and enjoyment by, Tenant or any Occupant of the Improvements or the 
Premises.  Tenant will promptly deliver to Landlord, HUD, the City, the BPDA and any other 
agency providing subsidies, funding or approvals to Tenant or funds to Landlord, the 
Comptroller General of the United States, and any of their authorized representatives, such 
certificates and documents as any of them may reasonably request to ensure compliance with 
Tenant’s reporting obligations under applicable Legal Requirements, the Use Agreement, the 
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HAP Contract, and any other contracts between Tenant and such governmental authority to the 
extent pertaining to the Improvements or the Premises, and will use commercially reasonable 
efforts to cause any contractor engaged by Tenant with respect to the Improvements or the 
Premises to do the same.  (Landlord recognizes that any data contained in such Books and 
Records constitutes important business records and trade secrets of Tenant and therefore agrees 
to treat such information as confidential to the maximum extent permitted by law.) 
 

17.11. Agency Reports.  Upon Landlord’s reasonable request, Tenant will provide 
Landlord with copies of any reports it has furnished to any City, state or federal agency or 
regulatory body relative to the Premises or the Improvements. 
 

17.12. Further Information.  Tenant will promptly furnish Landlord from time to time 
such other information regarding its operations, business affairs and financial condition 
concerning the Premises as Landlord may reasonably request. 
 

17.13. Further Assurances.  Upon request, each Party will execute and deliver, or cause 
to be executed and delivered, such further instruments and do or cause to be done such further 
acts, as may reasonably be necessary or proper to carry out the intent and purpose of this Lease, 
provided that such instruments shall not increase a Party’s obligations or decrease a Party’s 
rights under this Lease. 
 

17.14. Current Information.  Tenant will use commercially reasonable efforts to 
promptly furnish Landlord from time to time with current information which changes in any 
material adverse manner information previously submitted to Landlord by Tenant. 
 

17.15. Legal Costs.  Tenant will reimburse Landlord for all reasonable out-of-pocket 
legal expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with all requests by Tenant for consent, 
approval or review hereunder, recognition agreements, estoppel certificates, easements, licenses, 
mortgages, amendments to this Lease and other agreements relating to this Lease or to the 
Premises. 
 
 17.16. Notice; Further Information and Assurances.  Landlord will provide notice, 
further information and assurances to Tenant with respect to matters under the control or within 
the knowledge of Landlord in a manner identical with obligations imposed on Tenant pursuant to 
Sections 17.7, 17.8, 17.9, 17.12, 17.13, and 17.14 above. 
 

17.17. Fee Ownership of Premises.  Landlord shall not enter into, consent to, suffer or 
permit any lien or other encumbrance to title to the Premises, and shall refrain from taking or 
suffering any action that would impose any encumbrance or lien on title to the Premises, or that 
would interfere with or adversely affect (a) Tenant's ability to exercise its rights and fulfill its 
obligations under this Lease, including, without limitation, the development of the 
Improvements, or (b) Landlord's ability to lease the Premises, without in each case Tenant’s prior 
express written consent in Tenant’s sole and absolute discretion, provided that Landlord may 
grant a fee mortgage on its fee interest in the Premises for a governmental purpose, so long as 
such mortgage is expressly subject and subordinate to this Lease and subject to compliance with 
the requirements set forth in Section 6.15. 
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ARTICLE XVIII – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
18.1. Designation of Authorized Representatives.  Landlord and Tenant shall each 

designate an authorized representative to be responsible for granting the approvals and 
concurrences required pursuant to this Lease and for maintaining communications between the 
Parties.  The authorized representative for Landlord shall be Joseph Bamberg and/or such other 
persons as Landlord may designate from time to time.  The authorized representative for Tenant 
shall be Adelaide Grady and/or such other persons as Tenant may designate from time to time.  
Each Party shall be entitled to rely on concurrences or approvals of the other Party's authorized 
representative until such time as a Party receives notice from the other Party revoking the 
authority of such authorized representative and designating a replacement. 
 

18.2. Notice of Lease.  Landlord and Tenant agree that this Lease shall not be recorded 
and that, upon the execution and delivery hereof, each will execute and deliver to the other a 
notice of lease substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit P, which Tenant shall be 
entitled to record. 
 

18.3. No Merger of Title.  There shall be no merger of the leasehold estate created by 
this Lease with the fee estate in the Premises by reason of the fact that the same person or entity 
may own or hold (a) the leasehold estate created by this Lease or any interest in such leasehold 
estate, and (b) the fee estate in the Premises or any interest in such fee estate; and no such merger 
shall occur unless and until all persons, including Landlord if it then owns the fee estate, having 
any interest in (i) the leasehold estate created by this Lease, or (ii) the fee estate in the Premises, 
shall join in a written instrument effecting such merger and shall duly record the same. 
 

18.4. No Waiver.  The failure of either Party to insist in any one or more cases upon the 
strict performance of any of the covenants of this Lease, or to exercise any option or election 
herein contained, shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment for the future of such 
covenant, option or election unless this Lease specifies otherwise.  The receipt by Landlord of 
Rent with knowledge of the breach of any covenant herein shall not be deemed a waiver of such 
breach. 
 

18.5. No Broker.  Landlord and Tenant each represent to the other that there was no 
broker involved in consummating this Lease and that, to the best of their knowledge, there is no 
broker entitled to a commission in connection with this Lease. 
 

18.6. Arbitration.  Whenever, pursuant to the terms of this Lease, Tenant and Landlord 
cannot agree upon issues of the characterization, terms or approval of any loan as a Junior Loan 
solely for purposes of the calculation of Participating Rent, Transaction Rent, and Leveraged 
Operating Cash Flow; the calculation of the amount of Participating Rent under Section 4.3; the 
Sale Transfer price under Section 4.4(c); the calculation of the amount of Transaction Rent 
under Section 4.4; design under Section 7.15; a Corrective Action Plan under Section 8.3(f); the 
allocation of Insurance Proceeds under Section 10.7; the allocation of an Award under Section 
11.2; or Tenant’s election to restore the Premises or terminate the Lease under Section 11.4, then 
the matter for determination, upon the election of either Landlord or Tenant, shall be submitted 
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to arbitration as follows: the matter shall be determined by arbitrators, one to be chosen by 
Tenant, one to be chosen by Landlord, and a third to be selected as below provided.  Such 
arbitrators shall be qualified, independent real estate professionals with experience in 
transactions of a size and character similar to the transaction contemplated by this Lease and 
shall be technically competent in the subject matter of the dispute. The written decision of a 
majority of three arbitrators chosen as herein provided shall be conclusive and binding upon 
Landlord and Tenant.  Landlord and Tenant shall each notify the other of its chosen arbitrator 
within ten (10) days following the call for arbitration and the chosen arbitrators shall then select 
an impartial third arbitrator within fifteen (15) days of the designation of the initially chosen 
arbitrators.  The arbitrators shall receive submissions from both Parties.  The three arbitrators 
shall render a written decision within thirty (30) days following the date of appointment of the 
third arbitrator and shall notify Landlord and Tenant thereof.  Judgment may be entered in any 
court of competent jurisdiction upon an award reflecting the decision of such arbitrators.  
Landlord and Tenant shall divide equally all expenses of arbitration.  Arbitration under this 
Section is expressly limited to the matters set forth herein 
 

18.7. Consents and Approvals.  Except as herein otherwise expressly provided, 
wherever in this Lease the consent or approval of Landlord or Tenant is required, such consent or 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned and shall be in writing 
signed by an authorized officer (designated pursuant to the provisions of Section 18.1) of the 
Party granting such consent or giving such approval, which may be delivered electronically or be 
executed with a digital signature.  Unless a different time frame is specified in this Lease, the 
Party requesting consent or approval is entitled to a decision from the other Party either granting 
or denying (with reasons for any denial specified) such request within fifteen (15) days the 
receipt of such request, and any such request which has not been responded to within said fifteen 
(15) day period shall be deemed to have been granted, provided that the following legend has 
been placed in bold face large type prominently and conspicuously at the top of the transmittal 
letter: “IMPORTANT RIGHTS MAY BE LOST BY FAILURE TO ACT PROMPTLY.  THIS 
SUBMISSION WILL BE DEEMED APPROVED 15 DAYS AFTER RECEIPT UNLESS 
WRITTEN NOTICE IS GIVEN TO TENANT WITHIN SUCH PERIOD THAT A ONE-TIME 
ADDITIONAL PERIOD OF UP TO 15 DAYS OF TIME IS NEEDED.” unless the Party 
receiving such letter notifies the other Party in writing within such time period that it requires a 
one-time additional period of up to fifteen (15) days to review a matter, in which case the Party’s 
failure to disapprove or object to such matter within such additional period shall be deemed such 
Party’s consent and approval thereto. 
 

18.8. Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Lease, and the Parties hereto shall 
punctually perform the obligations required to be performed by each of them and attempt to 
fulfill the conditions applicable to each of them as and when the time for performance is due 
under this Lease, it being understood that the date by which either Party is required to perform 
any obligation under this Lease shall be determined by taking into account the force majeure 
event provisions of Section 12.11, if applicable. 
 

18.9. Due Diligence and Good Faith.  Both Parties agree to pursue in good faith and 
with due diligence the purposes set forth herein and all acts in furtherance thereof, specifically 
including all acts required of either Party by the terms hereof.  
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18.10. Survival of Obligations.  All of the obligations, representations, warranties and 

covenants made in this Lease shall be deemed to have been relied upon by the Party to which 
they were made and to be material and shall survive the execution and performance of any 
agreements between the Parties related hereto to the extent that they are by their terms, or by a 
reasonable interpretation of the context, to be performed or observed or relied upon after the 
execution or performance of such agreements. 
 

18.11. Supplemental Documents.  Recognizing that the implementation of the provisions 
hereof may require the execution of supplemental documents the precise nature of which cannot 
now be anticipated, each of the Parties agrees to assent (subject, in the case of Tenant, to the 
consent of any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee) to, execute and deliver such other and further 
documents (including, without limitation, votes and certificates) as may be reasonably requested 
or required by the other Party hereto (or any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee) so long as such 
other and further instruments and documents are consistent with the terms and provisions hereof, 
shall not impose additional obligations on any Party, shall not deprive any party of the privileges 
herein granted to it and shall be in furtherance of the intent and purposes of this Lease.  To the 
extent any provisions of any agreement hereafter executed by the Parties hereto pursuant to this 
Lease are inconsistent with the provisions of this Lease, the terms of such agreement shall 
govern, but such agreements shall be interpreted, if possible, to implement the spirit of this 
Lease, and shall not be used to frustrate the purposes set forth herein. 
 

18.12. Invalidity of Provisions.  If any one or more of the phrases, sentences, clauses or 
paragraphs contained in this Lease shall be declared invalid by the final and unappealable order, 
decree or judgment of any court, this Lease shall be construed as if it did not contain such 
phrases, sentences, clauses or paragraphs, provided that such construction does not substantially 
alter the material benefits and burdens of the respective parties as set forth in this Lease, and 
provided further, that in place of such invalid provision, there shall be substituted a valid and 
enforceable provision which comports to the findings of the court and most nearly accomplishes 
the original intention of the Parties. 
 

18.13. Binding Effect.  Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, all of the covenants, 
conditions and obligations contained in this Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit 
of the respective authorized successors and assigns of Landlord and Tenant to the same extent as 
if each such successor and assign were in each case named as a party to this Lease.  Any Person 
acquiring any or all of the rights, title and interest of Tenant in and to the leasehold estate in the 
Premises, (i) under any judicial sale made under a Permitted Leasehold Mortgage or as the result 
of any action or remedy provided therein; (ii) by foreclosure proceeding or action in lieu thereof, 
in connection with any such Permitted Leasehold Mortgage; or (iii) as a result of any legal 
process or proceedings (other than eminent domain proceedings by public authority), shall 
thereby become liable under and be fully bound by all of the provisions of this Lease (except as 
otherwise provided in this Lease, including Article VI hereof) and, with the prior written consent 
of Landlord, Tenant may be fully or partially released from its obligations under this Lease. 
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 18.14. Pronouns.  Whenever the context may require, any pronouns used in this Lease 
shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the singular form of 
nouns and pronouns shall include the plural and vice versa. 
 

18.15. Rights of Others.  Nothing in this Lease, express or implied, is intended to confer 
upon any person other than the Parties hereto and their authorized successors and assigns (and, 
where so stated in this Lease, any Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee or Curing Party), rights or 
remedies under or by reason of this Lease.  Each Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee and each 
Curing Party shall be a third-party beneficiary of the provisions of this Lease that reference the 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagees and the Curing Party, and each such party shall have rights to 
enforce such terms, as applicable. 
 

18.16. Covenants Running with the Premises.  The Parties intend that the covenants and 
the provisions of this Lease, and the rights contained in this Lease, shall run with the Premises 
for the Term hereof. 
 

18.17. Amendments.  This Lease may not be amended, changed, modified or discharged 
except by an instrument in writing signed by Landlord and Tenant and consented to by any 
Permitted Leasehold Mortgagee and any Curing Party in their sole discretion. 
 

18.18. Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings throughout this Lease are for 
convenience and reference only, and they shall in no way be held or deemed to define, modify or 
add to the meaning, scope or intent of any provisions of this Lease. 
 

18.19. Governing Law.  This Lease shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws 
of the Commonwealth. 
 

18.20. Disclaimer of Relationship.  Nothing contained in this Lease, nor any act of 
Landlord, Tenant, HUD, or the City, shall be deemed or construed to create any joint venture, 
partnership, association, or principal/agent relationship between Tenant and Landlord, HUD, or 
the City, except as expressly set forth herein. 
 

18.21. Multiple Counterparts.  This Lease may be executed in two or more counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall constitute a fully executed 
Lease, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Lease or the terms hereof, to produce 
or account for more than one such counterpart, provided that the counterpart produced bears the 
signature of the Party sought to be charged.  Facsimile and/or digitally transmitted signatures 
shall be sufficient to bind the Parties and shall in all respects be treated in court proceedings or 
otherwise as the legal equivalent of an original signature. 
 

18.22. Electronic Signatures.  Each of the Parties agrees on behalf of itself, and any 
Person acting or claiming by, under or through such Party, that any written instrument or 
approval delivered in connection with this Lease or any related document, including without 
limitation any amendments or supplements to this Lease, may be executed by electronic methods 
(whether by faxed versions of an original signature or electronically scanned and transmitted 
versions (e.g., via pdf) of an original signature or utilization of an electronic or digital signature 
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platform or application).  Any electronic signature document delivered via email from a Person 
shall be considered signed or executed by such Person on behalf of the applicable Party.  Each of 
the Parties agree to assume all risks arising out of the use of electronic methods for all purposes 
including the authorization, execution, delivery, or submission of documents, instruments, 
notices, and approvals, including without limitation the risk of interception and misuse by third 
parties.  Any electronic signature shall have the same legal validity and enforceability as a 
manually executed signature to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, including the 
Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the Massachusetts Uniform 
Electronic Transactions Act, or any similar federal or state law, rule or regulation, as the same 
may be in effect from time to time, and the parties hereby waive any objection to the contrary.  
Any document or approval accepted, executed or agreed to in conformity with such laws will be 
binding on all parties hereto to the same extent as if it were physically executed and each party 
hereby consents to the use of any third party electronic signature capture service providers as 
may be reasonably chosen by a party hereto. 
 

18.23. Entire Agreement.This Lease contains the entire agreement between the Parties 
relating to the transactions contemplated hereby and any prior or contemporaneous agreements, 
understandings, representations and statements, oral or written, are merged herein, except as 
expressly provided herein. 

 
ARTICLE XIX - NOTICES AND PAYMENTS 

 
19.1. Notices, Demands and Other Instruments.  Unless otherwise expressly permitted 

by the terms of this Lease, all notices, demands, submissions, requests, consents, approvals and 
other instruments required or permitted to be given pursuant to the terms of this Lease shall be in 
writing and shall be deemed to have been properly given if delivered by email (provided that any 
notices of termination or default sent by email shall also be sent at the same time by one of the 
other following means provided herein) by hand delivery, or nationally recognized overnight 
courier service, or sent by certified United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 
to the addressee, and 
 

(1) if directed to Landlord addressed to: 
 
   Boston Housing Authority 
   52 Chauncy Street 
   Boston, MA  02111 
   ATTN:  Administrator 
   Email: _______________ 
 

with a copy to: 
 

Boston Housing Authority 
52 Chauncy Street 
Boston, MA  02111 
ATTN:  General Counsel; and 

   Email: _______________ 
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(2) if directed to Tenant addressed to: 

 
   Building M Owner LLC 

c/o Leggat McCall Properties LLC 
10 Post Office Square 
13th Floor 
Boston, Massachusetts 02109 

   Attention:  Eric B. Sheffels and Adelaide Grady 
Email:  eric.sheffels@lmp.com and adelaide.grady@lmp.com  

 
with a copy to: 

 
   Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP 

One Federal Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
Attention: James L. Black, Jr., Esq. 
Email: james.black@morganlewis.com 

 
and until Substantial Completion has occurred, with a copy to: 

 
Leggat McCall Properties LLC 
10 Post Office Square 
13th Floor 
Boston, Massachusetts 02109 

   Attention:  Eric B. Sheffels and Adelaide Grady 
Email:  eric.sheffels@lmp.com and adelaide.grady@lmp.com  

 
or to such other address as may from time to time be specified in writing by any party hereto.  
Unless otherwise specified in writing, each party shall direct all sums payable to another party to 
said party's address for notice purposes.  Notices may be sent by counsel on behalf of a Party.  
As a matter of convenience, but not as a requirement, the sending Party, where possible, will also 
transmit to the other Party a copy of the communication by electronic means.  Notices 
concerning emergency situations may be orally communicated in person or by telephone, but 
shall be promptly confirmed by supplemental written notice (including email) as provided 
herein. 
 

ARTICLE XX – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 

20.1. Exhibits and Schedules.  The following Exhibits and Schedules are hereby made a 
part hereof. 
 
Exhibit A –  Description of the Premises 
Exhibit B -  Plan of Premises 
Exhibit C –  Intentionally Deleted 
Exhibit D –  Intentionally Deleted 
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Exhibit E –  Final Plans and Specifications 
Exhibit F –  Certificate of Compliance 
Exhibit G –  Provisions Regarding Cuts to Section 8 Rental Subsidies 
Exhibit H –  Intentionally Deleted 
Exhibit I –  Title Insurance 
Exhibit J –  Form of Statement of Unaudited Quarterly Unleveraged Cash Flow and 

Leveraged Operating Cash Flow 
Exhibit K –  Form of Operating Budget 
Exhibit L –  Design Review Process 
Exhibit M –  Intentionally Deleted 
Exhibit N –  BHA Minority & Women Participation Provision  
Exhibit O –  BHA Resident Employment Provision  
Exhibit P –  Notice of Lease 
Exhibit Q -  Form of Construction Completion Guaranty 
 
Schedule 1-A Transaction Rent Calculation Illustration 
Schedule 1-B Transaction Rent Calculation Formulas  
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EXHIBIT A 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE PREMISES 
 

 
The land located in that part of Boston called Charlestown, Suffolk County, Massachusetts, being 
Lot M on a plan entitled, "Subdivision Plan of Land Lot ‘M’ & Open Space, Boston Housing 
Authority - Charlestown Campus; prepared for Leggat McCall Properties, 10 Post Office Square, 
Boston MA 02109” recorded with the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds as Plan 249 of 2023, to 
which plan reference is made for a more particular description.  Lot M contains 35,934+ S.F. 
according to said plan.    
 
The above described land has the benefit of the following: 
 
Easement as set forth in the Drainage Easement Agreement between the Boston Housing Authority 
and Building M Owner LLC to be recorded herewith in the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds. 
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EXHIBIT B 
 

PLAN OF PREMISES 
 

[SURVEY OR SUBDIVISION PLAN FOR PREMISES TO BE ATTACHED AT TIME 
OF LEASE EXECUTION] 
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EXHIBIT C 
 

INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
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EXHIBIT D 
 

INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
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EXHIBIT E 
 

FINAL PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

[LIST TO BE ATTACHED AT TIME OF LEASE EXECUTION] 
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EXHIBIT F 
 

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 
 
 
 The BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY (the “BHA”), relying in part on the Certificate 
of Occupancy issued by the City of Boston Inspectional Services Department with respect to the 
Improvements and in part on the Certificate of Completion, dated __________ ___, ____, issued 
by [insert name of Architect], and such other certificates and inspections as the BHA has deemed 
relevant, hereby certifies in accordance with the provisions of that certain Construction and 
Ground Lease Agreement for the Building M premises located at 40 Corey Street, Charlestown, 
Massachusetts between the BHA, as Landlord and Building M Owner LLC, as Tenant dated as 
of June 30, 2023, notice of which is recorded with the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds at Book 
____, Page ____ (the “Ground Lease”), that the construction of the Improvements (as defined in 
the Ground Lease) has been completed in compliance with all of the terms and conditions of the 
Ground Lease. 
 
 

[Signature on next page] 
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[Signature Page to Certificate of Compliance] 
 
 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the BHA has caused these presents to be signed, 
acknowledged and delivered, in its name and on its behalf, this ____ day of __________, ____. 
 
 
      BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 
 
      By: ___________________________________ 
       Name: 
       Title: 
 
 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
 
Suffolk, ss. 
 
 On this ___ day of __________, ____, before me, the undersigned notary public, 
personally appeared ______________________, proved to me through satisfactory evidence of 
identification, which was personal knowledge, to be the person whose name is signed on the 
preceding Certificate of Compliance and acknowledged to me that she signed it voluntarily for 
its stated purpose as the voluntary act of the Boston Housing Authority. 
 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
      My commission expires:  
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Provisions Regarding Cuts to Section 8 Rental Subsidies 
 

 
The Bunker Hill development needs preservation but the federal public housing 
program will not provide the required investment. Due to a persistent lack of federal 
funding that shows no indication of changing, the Bunker Hill public housing development 
in the Charlestown neighborhood of Boston is obsolete and in urgent need of investment. 
There are no national proposals to fund the capital or operating needs of public housing 
developments such as Bunker Hill in a manner that will appreciably extend the useful life of 
the units and provide the high-quality housing residents deserve. Instead, the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) has urged public housing 
authorities (“PHAs”) to look to private capital markets to repair or replace their deteriorated 
housing stock and is expediting its reviews of proposals to demolish and replace units that 
have outlived their useful life. Also, HUD now allows PHAs to replace public housing units 
with units supported by Project-Based Housing Choice Vouchers (“PBV Subsidies”) under 
Section 8 of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937 (“Section 8”), which represents a significant 
policy change.  
 
The existing Bunker Hill buildings will be demolished and a new, more economically 
diverse community will be constructed in its place. Accordingly, to preserve the 1,100 
affordable units at Bunker Hill for the long term, the Boston Housing Authority (“BHA”) 
applied to HUD to dispose of and demolish the existing obsolete buildings and to replace 
them with newly constructed low-income units, in a mixed-income setting that will include 
market-rate units and community amenities. In addition to the replacement of the 1,100 
obsolete housing units with newly constructed units, the redevelopment will end the relative 
isolation experienced by current residents of Bunker Hill and enable their full inclusion in a 
vibrant new community (the entire Bunker Hill revitalization is referred to as the 
“Redevelopment” in the rest of this document). The Redevelopment will be at least a $1.5 
Billion endeavor, generating enormous economic activity including jobs and contracting 
opportunities for low-income public housing residents and other low-income people who 
live nearby as required by Section 3 of the Housing Act of 1968.  
 
The Redevelopment’s plan replaces all Bunker Hill affordable units on a one-for-one 
basis, although one hundred (100) of the replacement units may be constructed off-site. 
BHA, the City of Boston (“City”), the Charlestown Resident Alliance (“CRA”), and the 
development team of Joseph J. Corcoran Co. and Leggat McCall Properties LLC (the 
“Developer” and, collectively, with Joseph J. Corcoran Co., the “Development Team”) have 
been planning the Redevelopment against this backdrop of federal disinvestment. The 
Redevelopment’s plan must manage the tension between attracting and maintaining the 
private investment required to rebuild the community and honoring the affordable housing 
needs of current and future Bunker Hill residents.  Toward that end, the parties have agreed 
to a plan that rebuilds 1,010 Affordable Units on the Bunker Hill site, builds one hundred 
(100) Affordable Units throughout the neighborhood, together with up to 1,689 market-rate 
units, retail space, and other community amenities. For this memorandum, “Affordable 
Unit” means a unit that is set aside for households with incomes at or below fifty percent 
(50%) of Area Median Income (“AMI”).  In furtherance of the goal of preserving 
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Affordable Units, notwithstanding the uncertainties of PBV Subsidies and the Section 8 
program for the next 99 years, the Development Team has agreed that despite a Subsidy 
Shortfall (defined below) reducing or eliminating such subsidies, no more than fifty percent 
(50%) of the Affordable Units in any building (the “Minimum Commitment”) will ever be 
converted from being Affordable Units.    
 
 
There will be Affordable Buildings and Mixed-Income Buildings. As currently 
envisioned, the parties have agreed that there will be two types of housing developments. 
While all buildings will include Affordable Units, there will be “Affordable Buildings” and 
“Mixed-Income Buildings.” The Affordable Buildings will consist predominantly of 
Affordable Units. Current Bunker Hill residents have the right to return pursuant to the 
approved Relocation Plan, which means that the occupants at initial lease-up will have 
incomes closer to thirty percent (30%) of AMI. In addition, the Project-Based Housing 
Assistance Payments Contract for the PBV Subsidies will be in place to allow returning 
residents and subsequent occupants to pay no more than thirty percent (30%) of their 
income towards rent. The Mixed-Income Buildings will include up to seventy-eight percent 
(78%) market-rate units (i.e. units that are not income-restricted) and at least twenty-two 
percent (22%) Affordable Units.  
 
Affordable Buildings and Mixed-Income Buildings will be financed differently. The 
parties anticipate that the financing for the Affordable Buildings will come from typically 
available affordable housing development sources, including but not limited to equity 
generated by four percent (4%) Low Income Housing Tax Credits (“LIHTCs”), soft loans 
from public and private lenders, along with commercial construction financing and tax-
exempt permanent loans. The Mixed-Income Buildings will be financed conventionally. 
Practically, this means that the Affordable Buildings will have customary operating reserves 
plus Section 8 transition reserves of at least six (6) months of rental income to accommodate 
fluctuations in occupancy and/or subsidies (though the BHA is requesting that the 
Developer consider larger reserves if economically feasible, to guard against concerns of a 
Subsidy Shortfall (defined below) as discussed in greater detail later in this document), but 
the Mixed-Income Buildings will not provide similar reserves because, following industry 
norms, the risks of fluctuating occupancy or income will be accounted for in the project 
underwriting. As such, the Mixed-Income Buildings will only carry such reserves as 
determined appropriate by their owners, private sector lenders, and investors.  There is no 
regulatory or statutory requirement or industry standard that reserves be explicitly set aside 
for privately-financed projects like the Mixed-Income Buildings.  In addition, any  
requirement for reserves  to address possible Subsidy Shortfalls would compromise the 
economic viability of Mixed-Income Buildings and thus make attracting private capital 
increasingly difficult.  
 
The Redevelopment involves extensive public funding commitments to catalyze the 
required private investment.  To generate the capital needed to construct the on-site 
Affordable Units, the City has initially committed $30 Million to the first two phases (and 
has discussed a long-term commitment as high as $125 Million in current dollars), which 
investment the City will more than recapture over time through collecting real estate taxes 
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on the Affordable and Mixed-Income Buildings.  In addition, the BHA has committed to 
providing PBV Subsidies for the Affordable Units. The BHA has agreed to base the PBV 
Subsidies on Small Area Fair Market Rents (“SAFMRs”), which allows BHA to set voucher 
amounts at the higher neighborhood level rather than at the lower metropolitan statistical 
area level.  
 
PBV Subsidies are critical to the creation and maintenance of the Affordable Units in 
the Redevelopment. The success of the Redevelopment depends upon PBV Subsidies 
flowing through the BHA to each of the Affordable Units in the Redevelopment. The PBV 
Subsidies will serve two important purposes. First, they play a critical role in making it 
possible for the Owners of the Affordable Buildings and the Mixed-Income Buildings to 
sufficiently capitalize the development. Second, the PBV Subsidies will allow returning 
public housing residents of Bunker Hill, and new eligible families in the future, to pay only 
thirty percent (30%) of their incomes toward rent, just as they do in public housing.  
 
Most public housing redevelopments include “back up” plans for significant subsidy 
reductions. Federal appropriations for PBV Subsidies have historically been very stable and 
do not vary as much as the appropriations for public housing operating and capital funds 
(although  large and fast growing federal deficits due to Covid-19 may cause investors to 
question future stability). However, it is customary in these long-term redevelopments that 
rely heavily on private investment for the owners and PHAs to develop a back-up plan—
often called “transformation plans” or “alternative management plans”—to adopt if there is 
a change at the federal government level that significantly reduces or eliminates the stream 
of subsidy to the project. These plans provide comfort to private lenders and investors as 
well as to returning residents. As public/private partnerships navigate these issues alongside 
HUD, transformation plans to address the elimination of federal public housing subsidy are 
evolving to reflect certain common themes, including: 
 

• Owners must first review their budgets for potential savings before taking any 
actions that would impact the residents, without compromising quality,  

• Owners of Affordable Buildings and PHAs are creating project reserves 
designed to be used to protect in-place Income-Qualified Residents, 

• Owners can make incremental changes to rents or the percentage of rents paid 
by Income-Qualified Residents, but solely in the amount needed to remedy 
the loss, 

• Owners are required to reinstate the previous  affordable arrangements once 
subsidies increase again sufficient to fully resolve the Subsidy Shortfall  and 
the Income-Qualified Residents resume their normal payment arrangements 
or, if Income-Qualified Residents are displaced due to the loss, another unit 
will need to be made available to an eligible low-income family.  

As a private development, the new Bunker Hill community will have to remain 
financially sustainable at all times. To appreciate the overall financial context for the 
Redevelopment, it is important to note that in the master development agreement between 
BHA and the Developer, the parties have agreed to certain economic “return thresholds” to 
enable the Developer and its investors to set clear parameters on the minimum return they 
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expect for the Redevelopment to be financially feasible.  Due to the long-term nature of the 
Redevelopment, the parties acknowledge that there will be unforeseeable economic changes 
over time that will affect the progress of the Redevelopment both positively and negatively. 
It is understood that throughout those changes, the Developer will need to meet its economic 
return thresholds and cannot be expected to cover losses caused by the federal government’s 
abandonment of the public housing and/or Section 8 programs. At the same time, BHA is a 
PHA that derives its income predominantly from federal sources. This means that BHA also 
lacks resources to make up for any further reduction in federal housing funds in the future. 
 
Given this background, there needs to be a plan for addressing shortfalls that arise if 
there are notable changes to the Section 8 program that affect the Redevelopment or 
any of the individual buildings. BHA, the CRA, and the Developer recognize that they 
need to develop an approach to address the possibility, however remote, that the federal 
government cuts or eliminates the funding for PBV Subsidies during the life of the 
Redevelopment. The remainder of this memorandum initiates discussions for managing a 
loss or diminution of rental subsidy for Affordable Units (a “Subsidy Shortfall”) that arises 
from a reduction in federal appropriations or change in applicable law, regulation, or 
governmental policy at the federal, state, or local level (a “Policy Change”). The measures 
discussed in this memo will not be triggered by normal reductions in Section 8 rents caused by a 
decline in market rents used in determining rent for PBV Subsidies. The Developer recognizes 
that  the application of other standard Section 8 requirements as articulated in the Project-Based 
Housing Assistance Payments Contract for the PBV Subsidies (“PBV Contract”) is not in 
itself a Policy Change, so long as any modification of the form of PBV  Contract does not 
thereby create the loss or diminution of rental subsidy for Affordable Units provided such 
units remain habitable as defined in the PBV Contract.   
 
Governing documents will continue to apply to the Developer and Owners. To the 
extent that the Subsidy Shortfall necessitates an adjustment in affordability requirements 
applicable to the Redevelopment, any plan devised to manage a Subsidy Shortfall will be 
implemented in phases and will be limited by the restrictions imposed by: 
 

1. Conditions required by the HUD Disposition for the Redevelopment, which 
requires 1,110 units of housing to be developed in multiple phases on or near 
the site to be operated as affordable housing for families with incomes at or 
below eighty percent (80%) percent of AMI for at least thirty (30) years (the 
Redevelopment contemplates 1010 on-site Affordable Units); 
 

2. The allocation of LIHTC by the Massachusetts Department of Housing and 
Community Development (“DHCD”) for the Affordable Buildings, which 
will require the Developer to limit occupancy to households with incomes at 
or below sixty percent (60%) of AMI for at least thirty (30) years; and  

 
3. The City’s zoning requirements under the City’s Inclusionary Development 

Policy (“IDP”) outlined in the initial City zoning approvals for the 
Redevelopment (approximately 350 units to remain affordable) to families 
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with incomes at or below seventy percent (70%) of AMI for at least thirty 
(30) years.  

 
Thus, for the first thirty (30) years of the ground lease, if there is a Subsidy Shortfall, the 
building owners (“Owners”) will not be able to rent the Affordable Units to households with 
incomes over 70% or 80% of AMI in Mixed-Income Buildings or to households having 
incomes of more than 60% of AMI in Affordable Buildings without consent of the agencies 
above. The chart at Exhibit A depicts the actions permitted to address a Subsidy Shortfall 
depending on what requirements are in effect in a given lease year based on the discussion 
below. 
 
How will the stakeholders determine that a Subsidy Shortfall has occurred? The 
determination of whether a Subsidy Shortfall has occurred will vary by building type.  
 
For Mixed-Income Buildings, the methodology for determining when a Subsidy Shortfall occurs 
is to compare (a) the ratio of Section 8 rent levels to market rent levels on a building-by-building 
basis in the three months immediately before the date the Policy Change becomes effective (the 
“Prior Rent Ratio”), to (b) the ratio of Section 8 rents levels to market rent levels in subsequent 
three-month periods (the “Subsequent Rent Ratio”) until the Subsidy Shortfall is substantially 
eliminated.  The comparison is done by dividing the Subsequent Rent Ratio by the Prior Rent 
Ratio to determine the “Shortfall Quotient.” The rent levels for the Section 8 units and the 
market-rate units will be calculated using the weighted average monthly rent for each type of 
unit contained in a building.  
 
For Affordable Buildings, the Shortfall Quotient is calculated by dividing (a) the Section 8 rent 
levels in three-month periods after the date of the Policy Change by (b) the Section 8 rent levels 
in the three months immediately before the date the Policy Change becomes effective.  
 
What actions will the parties take if a Subsidy Shortfall occurs? Due to the nature of the 
federal appropriations process, the stakeholders will have notice of the possibility of a Subsidy 
Shortfall. In light of this, the stakeholders will begin a consultative process to develop a plan to 
address the potential financial loss by pursuing alternative sources of rental, operating and 
capital subsidies, grants, or other funding from governmental and non-governmental sources 
(“Alternative Subsidies”).  The goal in seeking Alternative Subsidies is to maintain the 
Redevelopment at as close to a status quo level as possible without displacing residents, 
eliminating opportunities for affordable housing, or causing undue financial hardship on the 
Developer and Owners.  
 
What if there are no Alternative Subsidies? If the stakeholders are unable to secure 
Alternative Subsidies, the following equal principles will form the framework for any 
transformation plan devised by the parties to address the Subsidy Shortfall: 
 

1. Preserve the Affordable Units for households with very low incomes (i.e., at or below 
30% of AMI) to the greatest extent possible, 

2. Minimize displacement of in-place residents with very low incomes,  
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3. Ensure the continued financial viability of each building that includes avoidance of 
foreclosure or recapture of LIHTC, 

4. Treat tenants in Affordable Units as consistently as practically possible whether they 
reside in an Affordable Building or a Mixed-Income Building, and 

5. In any event, maintain the Minimum Commitment referenced above and detailed 
further below. 

Any transformation plan developed by the stakeholders will follow a tiered approach outlined 
below to manage the Subsidy Shortfall: 
 

1. Tier 1 – Owner Actions. The first step will be: 
a. The Owners absorb the Subsidy Shortfall until the Shortfall Quotient drops below 

90%. 
 

b. Owners, together with BHA and the CRA, look for means to replace the subsidy 
via other federal, state, or local programs or charities or to restructure the capital 
stack. 
 

2. Tier 2 – BHA Actions. When the Shortfall Quotient falls below 90%, the BHA will 
review its available funding sources to evaluate whether it can make any funds available 
to the Affordable Units, recognizing that it is unlikely that BHA will have any sources 
available that do not derive from the Redevelopment transactional documents.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the BHA agrees that while the Shortfall Quotient remains 
below 90%, the BHA will forgo Base Rent, Fixed Rent, Percentage Rent and Transaction 
Rent and other payments due under any Ground Lease.       
 
 

3. Tier 3 – Incremental Operating Changes. If there are no funds available to restore the 
Shortfall Quotient to ninety percent (90%), then the following affordability modifications 
shall be taken until the Shortfall Quotient for an individual building is restored to ninety 
percent (90%):  
 

a. Residents whose incomes are above eighty percent (80%) of AMI will be required 
to pay a higher tenant contribution towards rent for the Affordable Unit.  
 

b. Residents with incomes up to eighty percent (80%) of AMI in the Mixed Income 
Buildings will be required to pay more than thirty percent (30%) of income for 
rent.  The parties recognize that such increases in this subsection and those below 
may be subject to  the rents permitted by the initial IDP affordability levels 
outlined in the initial zoning permits issued by the Boston Planning and 
Development Agency (“BPDA”) for units that are not subject to LIHTC rules (the 
“IDP Rents”), and the parties will seek consent to such increases as are necessary 
to restore the Shortfall Quotient.  
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c. Residents of the Affordable Buildings will be required to pay more than thirty 
percent (30%) of income for rent up to the applicable LIHTC rents for the unit 
occupied (if the unit is then subject to LIHTC rules) or the IDP Rents. 
 

d. After the expiration of any applicable LIHTC rent restrictions or under 
agreements reached with DHCD allowing for relief from LIHTC restrictions, 
rents may be raised to the IDP Rents, if higher, assuming an IDP restriction still 
applies under the original zoning approvals for the Redevelopment. 

 
e. If the foregoing modifications cannot reasonably be projected to achieve a 

Shortfall Quotient of not less than 90% within six (6) months of the occurrence of 
a Subsidy Shortfall, then up to fifty percent (50%) of the Affordable Units in any 
building may be converted to market-rent units free of any affordability 
restrictions, with (a) any then-vacant units or then occupied units that become 
vacant converted to market immediately, and (b) the balance of the conversion 
happening at the end of the three-year phase-in period described in section (e) 
below.    

 
f. The increase in rent for a tenant then in occupancy as described in subsections (b), 

(c), and (d) above will be phased in proportionally over three (3) years to 
minimize dislocation of residents with incomes at or below eighty percent (80%) 
of AMI.  If and when an Affordable Unit becomes vacant, however, the rent paid 
by the next tenant can be increased to the highest permitted rent.  Rent increases 
will commence upon the annual renewal of the lease for any in-place tenant. 

 
g. Affordable Units included in the Minimum Commitment will be subject to the 

LIHTC rent restrictions or the IDP Rents, if higher, for the first thirty years and 
thereafter subject to the HUD allowable rents for the balance of the 99-year term 
of the applicable ground lease.  

 
What if PBV Subsidies are later restored at the Federal level? If the PBV Subsidies are 
restored, either partially or fully, due to a Policy Change (e.g. the federal government restores 
funding for Section 8 vouchers) or if a successor program providing operating subsidy becomes 
available, then any actions taken according to the above methodology will be reversed 
incrementally, subject to the Developer/Owners and BHA agreeing to a plan whereby the 
Developer/Owners are “made-whole” concerning the financial shortfall they experienced. 
“Made-whole” shall mean the recovery of the actual accrued Developer/Owner shortfall 
(including the time value of money) from the point that the Shortfall Quotient drops below 90% 
to the point that PBV Subsidies are restored.   
 
The tiered actions described above shall be incrementally reversed if, after a Policy Change 
creates a Subsidy Shortfall, a subsequent Policy Change reduces/eliminates a Subsidy Shortfall, 
in the following manner and order: 
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1. Reverse changes made to the number of Affordable Units, starting with undoing the 
conversion of Affordable Units to market-rate units, followed by reducing the rental 
payments of tenants from the LIHTC/IDP/HUD then applicable level to the original 
level of thirty percent (30%) of tenant income.  
 

2. Note that the restoration of project affordability will not be preconditioned on 
recovery of the actual accrued shortfall.  The mechanism(s) for recovering the 
accrued shortfall will be determined by the Developer/Owners and BHA at the 
relevant time based on the specific facts and circumstances and may include such 
strategies as managing the degree and timing of the reversal, deferring BHA ground 
rents, or otherwise finding sources to cover the identified Developer/Owner shortfall.        
 

      
What are the community’s guarantees that the Bunker Hill site will not transform 
completely into a market-rate development? For the first thirty (30) years, the HUD 
restrictions imposed by the HUD Disposition Approval require the site to include more than 
1,000 units that are geared toward families with incomes at or below eighty percent (80%) of 
median income. After that, if a Subsidy Shortfall is so severe as to warrant converting a 
significant number of the Affordable Units to market, as noted above, the Owners have agreed to 
commit to the Minimum Commitment of never converting more than fifty percent (50%) of the 
Affordable Units in any building, which means that fifty percent (50%) of the units in the 
Affordable Buildings would remain affordable and eleven percent (11%) of the Mixed-Income 
Buildings would remain affordable assuming a 22% affordable/78% market mix.  
 

 
  
  



Update 2-20-21 
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Example of Subsidy Shortfall for a Mixed-Income Building 
 

 
 
  

Rental Rate Change

3 Month 

Period 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Reduction in Section 8

Annual Change -3.0% 0.0% -4.0% 0.0% -5.0% 0.0% -6.0% 0.0%

Units Escalation Cumulative -3.0% -3.0% -7.0% -7.0% -12.0% -12.0% -18.0% -18.0%

Market Rent 204 3.0% 4,514            4,514            4,514            4,514            4,514               4,649            4,649            4,649            4,649            

Section 8 without Reduction 58 3.0% 4,096            4,096            4,096            4,096            4,096               4,219            4,219            4,219            4,219            

Section 8 with Reduction 58 4,096            3,973            3,973            3,809            3,809               3,604            3,604            3,358            3,358            

Prior Rent Ratio 90.7% 90.7% 90.7% 90.7% 90.7% 90.7% 90.7% 90.7% 90.7%

Subsequent Rent Ratio 88.0% 88.0% 84.4% 84.4% 77.5% 77.5% 72.2% 72.2%

Shortfall Quotient 97.0% 97.0% 93.0% 93.0% 85.4% 85.4% 79.6% 79.6%

Annualized Reduction in Section 8 Rent = Subsidy Shortfall 85,519         85,519         199,543       199,543           427,593        427,593       598,630       598,630       

Subsidy Shortfall Absorbed by Building 85,519          85,519          199,543       199,543           293,614        293,614       293,614       293,614       

Additional Subsidy Required to Maintain Shortfall Quotient at 90% -                -                -                -                   133,979        133,979       305,016       305,016       

Examples of Potential Actions Beyond Obtaining Replacement Subsidies:

1. Funding from Any BHA Affordability Reserve established from Prior Payments Received from Owner Entities -                -                -                -                

2. Offset of Ground Rent Payment Due BHA 133,979        133,979       133,521       133,521       

3. Increasing Tenants' Share of Rental Payments -                -                171,496       171,496       

6.  With the Shortfall Quotient > 90% in periods 1-4, the Building absorbs all of the reduction in Section 8 rent = Subsidy Shortfall.

7.  With the Shortfall Quotient < 90% in periods 5-8, the Subsidy Shortfall is shared by the Building and the BHA/Section 8 residents.

Key Assumptions/Clarifications for Illustration Using Mixed-Income Building F:

Base Prior to 

Effective 

Policy Change 

in YR 11

1.  Assumes a Policy Change becomes effective in the 11th year after a 2021 ground-breaking for Building F.

2.  In year 11 the ave. rent per market unit $4,514/month and the ave. rent per Section 8 unit is $4,096/month for the 3 month period immediately before the Policy Change.  Prior Rent Ratio is thus 90.7%.  

3.  The Policy Change causes Section 8 rents to be reduced by 3% in the 1st subsequent 3-month period; subsequent reductions occur of 4% in period 3, 5% in period 5 and 6% in period 7.

4.  Thus, the Policy Change causes the Subsequent Rent Ratio to be reduced to 88.0% in subsequent 3-month periods 1-2, to 84.4% in periods 3-4, 77.5% in periods 5-6, and 72.2% in periods 7-8. 

5.  The Shortfall Quotient (Prior Rent Ratio/Subsequent Rent Ratio) becomes 97.0% in subsequent periods 1-2, 93.0% in 3-4, 85.4% in periods 5-6, 79.6% in periods 7-8.

8.  The Subsidy Shortfall shown below as an annualized figure, with the Building absorbing the first "10%" and the BHA/Section 8 residents the balance. 

9.  The BHA/Section 8 residents' share is to be funded by the BHA Responses and Affordability Modifications described in Sections C. and D. of the Memo.  Examples shown below are funding from any

BHA Affordability Reserve established from prior payments made by the Owner Entities, offsetting current ground rent payments due to the BHA, and increasing the tenants' share of rental payments.



{D1059544.DOCX / 11                               DC458-111}10 
 
4817-1714-0184, v. 4 

Exhibit A 
 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 HUD is allowing some units to be “near” the site. 

Affordable Buildings 
Lease Year Applicable Requirements Possible Actions 
Years 1-30 1. HUD Disposition Approval – 1,0101 

units for tenants with incomes at or 
below 80% of AMI; covenant survives 
foreclosure.  

2. LIHTC Covenants – LIHTC units to 
remain affordable for 30 years for 
people at and below 60% of AMI; does 
not survive foreclosure. 

3. BPDA IDP – requires 13% of units 
(350 units) to be for households at and 
below 70% of AMI (based on the 
number of permitted units which is 
2,699) for 30 years with the right to 
extend for an additional 20 years  

• Seek replacement subsidies and capital restructuring to 
ensure compliance with applicable requirements without 
PBV Subsidies. 

• If Shortfall Quotient falls below 90%, BHA to forego 
rent/payments as set forth above. 

• Upon Affordable Unit turnover, admit higher income low 
income residents whose incomes do not exceed 60% of 
AMI. 

• Access owner-created operating reserves to make up for 
lost subsidy. 

• Require residents in Affordable Units to pay a greater 
percentage of income toward rent up to the LIHTC rent 
maximum.  
 

Years 30 - 
99 

 
1. City of Boston –  As noted, BPDA has 

a right to extend IDP requirements for 
up to an additional 20 years.  

 

• Same as above, except that LIHTC rent would not be an 
option and requiring residents to pay IDP rents is a 
possible action. 

• As units become vacant, convert up to 50% of the 
Affordable Units to market-rate units, while maintaining 
50% of the units as affordable. Protect existing tenants to 
extent feasible.   
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Mixed-Income Buildings 

Lease Year Applicable Requirements Possible Actions 
Years 1-30 1. HUD Disposition Approval – 1,010 

units for tenants with incomes at or 
below 80% of AMI; covenant survives 
foreclosure.  
 

2. BPDA IDP– requires 13% of units (350 
units) to be for households at and below 
70% of AMI (based on the number of 
permitted units which is 2,699) for 30 
years with the right to extend for an 
additional 20 years . 

 

• Owners alone bear the Subsidy Shortfall if Shortfall 
Quotient is equal to or greater than 90%.  

• Owners, along with BHA and the CRA, look for means to 
replace the subsidy via other federal, state, or local 
programs or charities or to restructure the capital stack.  

• If the Shortfall Quotient falls below 90%, then the BHA to 
forego rent/payments as set forth above.   

• Over income residents in Affordable Units (those with 
incomes over 80% of median) pay market rent. 

• Upon Affordable Unit turnover, admit higher-income low-
income residents whose incomes do not exceed 80% of 
AMI.  

 
Years 30-99 1. City of Boston--  As noted, BPDA has 

a right to extend IDP requirements for 
up to an additional 20 years. 

• All of the above. 
• Convert up to 50% of the Affordable Units to market-rate 

units incrementally and only as needed to eliminate the 
Subsidy Shortfall, while maintaining at least 50% of the 
designated Affordable Units as affordable. Protect existing 
tenants to the extent feasible.   
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EXHIBIT I 
 

TITLE INSURANCE 
 

[TO BE ATTACHED AT TIME OF LEASE EXECUTION.  OWNER’S PRO FORMA 
TITLE INSURANCE POLICY IS BEING REVISED BY TITLE COMPANY] 



 

ALTA OWNER POLICY (6/17/06) 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY  
 

OWNER POLICY 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 
File Number   Date of Policy     Amount of Insurance 
23-61646 June __, 2023      $101,601,393.00 
 At  
 
Policy Number:  Proforma 
 
1.  Name of Insured:  
 
 Building M Owner LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
  
2. The estate or interest referred to herein is at Date of Policy vested in the Insured  
   
3.  The estate or interest in the land described in this Schedule and which is covered by this 

policy is: 
 

LEASEHOLD, created by a Ground Lease by and between the Boston Housing 
Authority, as Lessor, and Building M Owner LLC, as Lessee, Notice of which is dated 
June 30, 2023 and recorded in Book _____, Page ___.  
 
EASEMENT created by a Drainage Easement Agreement by and between the Boston 
Housing Authority and Building M Owner LLC, dated June 30, 2023 and recorded in 
Book _____, Page ___. 

  
The fee simple interest in the Insured Land is vested in the Boston Housing Authority by 
Eminent Domain Takings recorded in Book 5793 Page 425, Book 5806 Page 119, Book 
5828 Page 166, and Book 5932 Page 441 

 
4. The land referred to in the Commitment is located at Medford Street, Tufts Street and Corey 

Street, Charlestown, Suffolk County, Massachusetts all more particularly described in 
Exhibit A attached and made a part hereof. 

 
Note: As used herein, “recorded” shall mean, “recorded with the Suffolk County Registry of 

Deeds” and “filed” shall mean, “filed with the Suffolk County Registry District of the Land 
Court.” 

 
This policy is valid only if Schedule B is attached. 

 
 
 



 

ALTA OWNER POLICY (6/17/06) 

 
 
This is a Pro Forma Title Policy for review purposes only which provides no insurance coverage 
to or on behalf of the proposed insured. This Pro Forma Policy does not necessarily reflect the 
present status or condition of title and is not a Commitment to insure the estate or interests or to 
provide any affirmative coverage shown herein. This Pro Forma Policy solely indicates the form 
and content of the policy which the Company may issue if: 
 

1. All requirements of the Commitment and any additional requirements as 
requested by the Company are met to the satisfaction of the Company;  

2. All necessary documents are furnished; 
3. The Company receives recordable and insurable documents evidencing the 

interest to be insured; 
4. Satisfactory title rundown from effective date of commitment though recording of 

instruments creating the interest to be insured, or satisfactory gap indemnity; 
5. All premiums, charges and fees due to the Company are paid in full. 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

SCHEDULE B -- Section 1 
 
 
Schedule B of the policy or policies to be issued will contain exceptions to the following matters 
unless the same are disposed of to the satisfaction of the Company. 
 
1. Intentionally Omitted. 
 
2. Intentionally Omitted. 
 
3. Intentionally Omitted. 
 
4. Intentionally Omitted. 
 
5. Liens for taxes and assessments, which become due subsequent to the Date of Policy.   
 
 Note: The Insured Land is exempt from the payment of real estate taxes through fiscal 

year 2023 ending June 30, 2023. 
 
6. Title to and rights of the public and others entitled thereto in and to those portions of the 

Land lying within the bounds of Tufts Street, Corey Street and Medford Street 
. 
7. The exact acreage or square footage being other than as stated in Exhibit A annexed or 

the plan(s) therein referred to.   
 
8. Easement from Boston Housing Authority to New England Telephone and Telegraph 

Company dated April 9, 1941, recorded in Book 5932, Page 24. 
 
9. Terms and provisions of Development Regulatory Agreement by and between Boston 

Planning & Development Agency and Boston Housing Authority dated July 15, 2021, 
recorded in Book 68791, Page 98. 
 

10. Conduit License Agreement by and between City of Boston Public Improvement 
Commission, as Licensor, and Boston Housing Authority, as Licensee, dated June 22, 
1990, recorded in Book 16444, Page 236. 
 

11. Notice of Discontinuance of a segment of Wolford Street by the City of Boston Public 
Improvements Commission dated January 27, 2022 recorded in Book 68999, Page 40. 
 

12. Notice of the Widening and Relocation of a portion of Medford Street by the City of 
Boston Public Improvements Commission dated February 17, 2022, recorded in Book 
68999, page 42. 
 

13. Notice of the Widening and Relocation of a portion of Corey Street by the City of Boston 
Public Improvements Commission dated February 17, 2022, recorded in Book 68999, 
page 49. 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

 
14. Notice of the Widening and Relocation of a portion of Tufts Street by the City of Boston 

Public Improvements Commission dated February 17, 2022, recorded in Book 68999, 
page 58. 
 

15. Grant of Highway Easement - Corey Street, Charlestown, by and between Boston 
Housing Authority and the City of Boston, by and through its Public Improvement 
Commission dated February 17, 2022, recorded in Book 68999, Page 52. 
 

16. Grant of Highway Easement – Medford Street - by and between Boston Housing 
Authority and the City of Boston, by and through its Public Improvement Commission 
dated February 17, 2022, recorded in Book 68999, Page 44. 

 
17. Grant of Highway Easement –Tufts Street - by and between Boston Housing Authority 

and the City of Boston, by and through its Public Improvement Commission dated 
February 17, 2022, recorded in Book 68999, Page 60. 

 
18. Intentionally Omitted.  

 
19. Owners’ Association Agreement for Bunker Hill Redevelopment Project among the 

BHA, Bunker Hill LandCo LLC and Bunker Hill Owners Association Inc. dated June 30, 
2023, recorded in Book _____,  Page ___, as affected by Joinder Agreement by and 
among BHA, Bunker Hill LandCo LLC, Bunker Hill Owners Association Inc. and 
Building M Owner LLC dated June 30, 2023, recorded in Book _____,  Page ___. 

 
20. Terms and provisions of Ground Lease by and between the Boston Housing Authority, as 

Lessor, and Building M Owner LLC, as Lessee, Notice of which is dated June 30, 2023 
and recorded in Book _____, Page ___.  

 
21. Terms and provisions of Drainage Easement Agreement between the Boston Housing 

Authority and Building M Owner LLC dated June 30, 2023, recorded in Book ___, Page 
___.  

 
22. Terms and provisions of Use Agreement (Bunker Hill Apartments Phase 1B) dated June 

30, 2023 by and between the Boston Housing Authority, United States Department of 
Housing and Urban Development and Building M Owner LLC recorded in Book ___, 
Page ___. 

 
23. Residential Compliance Agreement between Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency and 

Building M Owner LLC, dated June 30, 2023, and recorded in Book _____, Page ___. 
 

24. First Leasehold Mortgage, Security Agreement, Financing Statement (Fixture Filing) and 
Assignment of Leases and Rents, dated as of June 30, 2023, from Building M Owner 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company to the Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency, 
recorded on June ___, 2023 in Book ______, Page _____, which incorporates by 
reference that certain Regulatory Agreement, dated as of  June 30, 2023, between 
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Building M Owner LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and the Massachusetts 
Housing Finance Agency, recorded on June ___, 2023 in Book _______, Page _____. 

 
25. Bridge Leasehold Mortgage, Security Agreement, Financing Statement (Fixture Filing) 

and Assignment of Leases and Rents, dated as of June 30, 2023, from Building M Owner 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company to the Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency, 
recorded on June ___, 2023 in Book ______, Page _____, as affected by Prior Recorded 
Lien Holder Consent by the Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency dated as of June 30, 
2023, recorded on June ___, 2023 in Book ______, Page _____.   

 
26. Second Bridge Leasehold Mortgage, Security Agreement, Financing Statement (Fixture 

Filing) and Assignment of Leases and Rents, dated as of June 30, 2023, from Building M 
Owner LLC, a Delaware limited liability company to the Massachusetts Housing Finance 
Agency, recorded on June ___, 2023 in Book ______, Page _____, as affected by Prior 
Recorded Lien Holder Consent by the Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency dated as 
of June 30, 2023, recorded on June ___, 2023 in Book ______, Page _____.  

 
27. Tax Credit Regulatory Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants between the 

Executive Office of Housing and Livable Communities and Building M Owner LLC 
dated June 30, 2023, recorded in Book _____,  Page ___. 
 

28. Prior Recorded Lienholder Consent from Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency dated 
as of June 30, 2023, recorded on June ___, 2023 in Book ______, Page _____. 
 

29. Survey entitled “ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY - LOT M - BOSTON HOUSING 
AUTHORITY CHARLESTOWN CAMPUS BOSTON, SUFFOLK COUNTY, 
MASSACHUSETTS, Prepared for LEGGAT MCCALL PROPERTIES 10 POST 
OFFICE SQUARE, BOSTON MA 02109”; prepared by  Nitsch Engineering dated 
March 17, 2023, most recently updated June 28, 2023  (the “Survey”) discloses the 
following matters: 
 
a. Encroachment by building at 98 Medford Street into Medford Street (building to 

be demolished); 
b. Property is surrounded by temporary construction fencing that encroaches onto 

adjacent streets; 
c. Property is partially demolished and under construction. 
 

 
     
Robert J. Moriarty, Jr. 
Authorized Signatory 
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EXHIBIT A 
     
The Leasehold Estate is the land located in that part of Boston called Charlestown, Suffolk 

County, Massachusetts, being Lot M on a plan entitled,  "Subdivision Plan of Land Lot ‘M’ & 
Open Space, Boston Housing Authority - Charlestown Campus; prepared for Leggat McCall 
Properties, 10 Post Office Square, Boston MA 02109” recorded with the Suffolk County 
Registry of Deeds as Plan 249 of 2023, to which plan reference is made for a more particular 
description.  Lot M contains 35,934+ S.F. according to said plan.    
 
The above described land has the benefit of the following: 
 
Easement as set forth in the Drainage Easement Agreement between the Boston Housing 
Authority and Building M Owner LLC dated June 30, 2023, recorded in Book ___, Page ___.  
 
Parcel ID: 200152000
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ALTA 3.2-06 ZONING – LAND UNDER DEVELOPMENT ENDORSEMENT 
Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
1. For purposes of this endorsement: 

 
a. “Improvement” means a building, structure, road, walkway, driveway, curb, subsurface 

utility or water well existing at Date of Policy or to be built or constructed according to 
the Plans that is or will be located on the Land, but excluding crops, landscaping, lawns, 
shrubbery, or trees. 

b. “Plans” means those site and elevation plans made by Stantec Architecture and 
Engineering P.C. designated as “Project Manual – Volume 1 Bunker Hill Housing 
Building M Boston, MA Construction Documents dated February 4, 2022. 

 
2. The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured in the event that, at 

Date of Policy 
 
a. according to applicable zoning ordinances and amendments, the Land is not classified 

Zone Charlestown Urban Renewal Area, Urban Renewal Area “U*” Overlay District.  

b. the following use or uses are not allowed under that classification:  

Multi-family Residential; Parking; Commercial including but not limited to Retail, 
Restaurant, Services; Health Clinic; Community, Cultural and Recreational Uses; Open 
Space; and Accessory Uses 

c. There shall be no liability under paragraph 2.b. if the use or uses are not allowed as the 
result of any lack of compliance with any condition, restriction, or requirement contained 
in the zoning ordinances and amendments, including but not limited to the failure to 
secure necessary consents or authorizations as a prerequisite to the use or uses.  This 
paragraph 2.c. does not modify or limit the coverage provided in Covered Risk 5. 

 
3. The Company further insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of a 

final decree of a court of competent jurisdiction either prohibiting the use of the Land, with 
any existing Improvement, as specified in paragraph 2.b. or requiring the removal or 
alteration of the Improvement, because, at Date of Policy, the zoning ordinances and 
amendments have been violated with respect to any of the following matters: 

 
a. Area, width, or depth of the Land as a building site for the Improvement 

b. Floor space area of the Improvement 

c. Setback of the Improvement from the property lines of the Land 

d. Height of the Improvement, or 
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e. Number of parking spaces. 

 
4. There shall be no liability under this endorsement based on: 
 

a. the invalidity of the zoning ordinances and amendments until after a final decree of a 
court of competent jurisdiction adjudicating the invalidity, the effect of which is to 
prohibit the use or uses;  

b. the refusal of any person to purchase, lease or lend money on the Title covered by this 
policy. 

 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 5.1-06 Planned Unit Development—Current Assessments  
 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 

 
The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of: 

1. Present violations of any restrictive covenants referred to in Schedule B that restrict the 
use of the Land or the forfeiture or reversion of Title by reason of any provision 
contained in the restrictive covenants. As used in this paragraph 1, the words “restrictive 
covenants” do not refer to or include any covenant, condition, or restriction (a) relating to 
obligations of any type to perform maintenance, repair, or remediation on the Land, or (b) 
pertaining to environmental protection of any kind or nature, including hazardous or toxic 
matters, conditions, or substances, except to the extent that a notice of a violation or 
alleged violation affecting the Land has been recorded in the Public Records at Date of 
Policy and is not excepted in Schedule B. 

2. Any charges or assessments in favor of any association of owners, that are provided for in 
any document referred to in Schedule B, due and unpaid at Date of Policy. 

3. The enforced removal of any existing structure on the Land (other than a boundary wall 
or fence) because it encroaches onto adjoining land or onto any easements. 

4. The failure of the Title by reason of a right of first refusal to purchase the Land that was 
exercised or could have been exercised at Date of Policy. 

 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 8.2-06 COMMERCIAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION LIEN 
ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
The Company insures the insured against loss or damage sustained by reason of any 
environmental protection lien which, at Date of Policy, is recorded in those records established 
under state statutes at Date of Policy for the purpose of imparting constructive notice of matters 
relating to real property to purchasers for value and without knowledge, except as set forth in 
Schedule B. 

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance.  To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 

Dated: 
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ALTA 9.8-06 COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS ENDORSEMENT 

LAND UNDER DEVELOPMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
1.  The insurance provided by this endorsement is subject to the exclusions in Section 4 of this 
endorsement; and the Exclusions from Coverage, the Exceptions from Coverage contained in 
Schedule B, and the Conditions in the policy.  

2.  For purposes of this endorsement only: 

a.  “Covenant” means a covenant, condition, limitation or restriction in a document or 
instrument in effect at Date of Policy. 

b.  “Future Improvement” means a building, structure, road, walkway, driveway, curb 
to be constructed on or affixed to the Land in the locations according to the Plans and 
that by law will constitute real property, but excluding any crops, landscaping, lawn, 
shrubbery, or trees. 

c.  “Improvement” means a building, structure located on the surface of the Land, road, 
walkway, driveway, or curb, affixed to the Land at Date of Policy and that by law 
constitutes real property, but excluding any crops, landscaping, lawn, shrubbery, or 
trees. 

d.  “Plans” means those site and elevation plans made by Stantec Architecture and 
Engineering P.C. designated as “Project Manual – Volume 1 Bunker Hill Housing 
Building M Boston, MA Construction Documents dated February 4, 2022. 

3.  The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of: 

a.  A violation of an enforceable Covenant by an Improvement on the Land at Date of 
Policy or by a Future Improvement, unless an exception in Schedule B of the policy 
identifies the violation; 

b.  Enforced removal of an Improvement located on the Land or of a Future 
Improvement as a result of a violation of a building setback line shown on a plat of 
subdivision recorded or filed in the Public Records at Date of Policy, unless an 
exception in Schedule B of the policy identifies the violation; or 

c.  A notice of a violation, recorded in the Public Records at Date of Policy, of an 
enforceable Covenant relating to environmental protection describing any part of the 
Land and referring to that Covenant, but only to the extent of the violation of the 
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Covenant referred to in that notice, unless an exception in Schedule B of the policy 
identifies the notice of the violation. 

4.  This endorsement does not insure against loss or damage (and the Company will not pay 
costs, attorneys' fees, or expenses) resulting from: 

a.  any Covenant contained in an instrument creating a lease;  

b.  any Covenant relating to obligations of any type to perform maintenance, repair, 
or remediation on the Land; or 

c.  except as provided in Section 3.c, any Covenant relating to environmental protection 
of any kind or nature, including hazardous or toxic matters, conditions, or substances. 

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not 
(i) modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, 
(iii) extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a 
provision of the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of 
this endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of 
the terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements.  

Dated: 
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ALTA 13-06 LEASEHOLD OWNER’S ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 
1. As used in this endorsement, the following terms shall mean: 
 

a. "Evicted" or "Eviction": (a) the lawful deprivation, in whole or in part, of the 
right of possession insured by this policy, contrary to the terms of the Lease or 
(b) the lawful prevention of the use of the Land or the Tenant Leasehold 
Improvements for the purposes permitted by the Lease, in either case as a result 
of a matter covered by this policy. 

 
b. "Lease": the lease described in Schedule A. 

 
c. "Leasehold Estate": the right of possession granted in the Lease for the Lease 

Term. 
 

d. "Lease Term": the duration of the Leasehold Estate, as set forth in the Lease, 
including any renewal or extended term if a valid option to renew or extend is 
contained in the Lease. 

 
e. "Personal Property": property, in which and to the extent the Insured has rights, 

located on or affixed to the Land on or after Date of Policy that by law does not 
constitute real property because (i) of its character and manner of attachment to 
the Land and (ii) the property can be severed from the Land without causing 
material damage to the property or to the Land. 

 
f. "Remaining Lease Term": the portion of the Lease Term remaining after the 

Insured has been Evicted.  
 

g. "Tenant Leasehold Improvements": Those improvements, in which and to the 
extent the Insured has rights, including landscaping, required or permitted to be 
built on the Land by the Lease that have been built at the Insured's expense or in 
which the Insured has an interest greater than the right to possession during the 
Lease Term. 

 
2. Valuation of Estate or Interest Insured: 
 

If in computing loss or damage it becomes necessary to value the Title, or any portion of 
it, as the result of an Eviction of the Insured, then, as to that portion of the Land from 
which the Insured is Evicted, that value shall consist of the value for the Remaining 
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Lease Term of the Leasehold Estate and any Tenant Leasehold Improvements existing 
on the date of the Eviction.  The Insured Claimant shall have the right to have the 
Leasehold Estate and the Tenant Leasehold Improvements affected by a defect insured 
against by the policy valued either as a whole or separately.  In either event, this 
determination of value shall take into account rent no longer required to be paid for the 
Remaining Lease Term. 

 
3. Additional items of loss covered by this endorsement: 
 

If the Insured is Evicted, the following items of loss, if applicable to that portion of the 
Land from which the Insured is Evicted shall be included, without duplication, in 
computing loss or damage incurred by the Insured, but not to the extent that the same 
are included in the valuation of the Title determined pursuant to Section 2 of this 
endorsement, any other endorsement to the policy, or Section 8(a)(ii) of the Conditions: 

 
a. The reasonable cost of (i) removing and relocating any Personal Property that the 

Insured has the right to remove and relocate, situated on the Land at the time of 
Eviction, (ii) transportation of that Personal Property for the initial one hundred 
miles incurred in connection with the relocation, (iii) repairing the Personal 
Property damaged by reason of the removal and relocation, and (iv) restoring the 
Land to the extent damaged as a result of the removal and relocation of the 
Personal Property and required of the Insured solely because of the Eviction. 

 
b. Rent or damages for use and occupancy of the Land prior to the Eviction that the 

Insured as owner of the Leasehold Estate may be obligated to pay to any person 
having paramount title to that of the lessor in the Lease. 

 
c. The amount of rent that, by the terms of the Lease, the Insured must continue to 

pay to the lessor after Eviction with respect to the portion of the Leasehold 
Estate and Tenant Leasehold Improvements from which the Insured has been 
Evicted. 

 
d. The fair market value, at the time of the Eviction, of the estate or interest of the 

Insured in any lease or sublease permitted by the Lease and made by the Insured 
as lessor of all or part of the Leasehold Estate or the Tenant Leasehold 
Improvements. 

 
e. Damages caused by the Eviction that the Insured is obligated to pay to lessees or 

sublessees on account of the breach of any lease or sublease permitted by the 
Lease and made by the Insured as lessor of all or part of the Leasehold Estate or 
the Tenant Leasehold Improvements. 

 
f. The reasonable cost to obtain land use, zoning, building and occupancy permits, 

architectural and engineering services and environmental testing and reviews for 
a replacement leasehold reasonably equivalent to the Leasehold Estate. 
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g. If Tenant Leasehold Improvements are not substantially completed at the time of 
Eviction, the actual cost incurred by the Insured, less the salvage value, for the 
Tenant Leasehold Improvements up to the time of Eviction.  Those costs include 
costs incurred to obtain land use, zoning, building and occupancy permits, 
architectural and engineering services, construction management services, 
environmental testing and reviews, and landscaping. 

 
4. This endorsement does not insure against loss, damage or costs of remediation (and the 

Company will not pay costs, attorneys' fees or expenses) resulting from environmental 
damage or contamination. 

 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance.  To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA Endorsement Form 15.1 
 

(Non-imputation-Additional Insured) 
 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
For purposes of the coverage provided by this endorsement, 
 
CREA Bunker Hill Building M, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and CREA SLP, LLC, an 
Indiana limited liability company (collectively, the “Additional Insured”) 
` 
is added as an insured under the policy.  By execution below, the insured named in Schedule A 
acknowledges that any payment made under this endorsement shall reduce the amount of insurance as 
provided in Section 10 of the Conditions and Stipulations. 
 
 The Company agrees that it will not assert the provisions of Exclusions from Coverage 3(a), (b) 
or (e) to deny liability to the Additional Insured for loss or damage otherwise insured against under the 
terms of the policy solely by reason of the action or inaction or knowledge, as of Date of Policy, of  
 

BH Building M GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 
 
whether or not imputed to the Additional Insured by operation of law, to the extent of the percentage 
interest in the insured acquired by Addition Insured as a purchaser for value without knowledge of the 
asserted defect, lien, encumbrance, adverse claim, or other matter insured against by the policy. 
 
 This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) extend the 
Date of Policy or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance.  To the extent a provision of the policy or a 
previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of the endorsement, this endorsement 
controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the terms and provisions of the policy and of 
any prior endorsements. 
 
AGREED AND CONSENTED TO: 
 Building M Owner, LLC 
 
 
_____________________________ 
INSURED 
 

   COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 
                         ___________________________________________ 
             By:  
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ALTA 17-06 ACCESS AND ENTRY ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 

The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured if, at Date of 
Policy (i) the Land does not abut and have both actual vehicular and pedestrian access to and 
from Medford Street, Tufts Street and Corey Street (the "Street"), (ii) the Street is not physically 
open and publicly maintained, or (iii) the Insured has no right to use existing curb cuts or entries 
along that portion of the Street abutting the Land. 
 

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not 
(i) modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, 
(iii) extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a 
provision of the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of 
this endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 17.2-06 UTILITY ACCESS ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 

The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of the lack of a right of 
access to the following utilities or services:   

 Water service  Natural gas service   Telephone service 

 Electrical power service  Sanitary sewer   Storm water drainage 
 

either over, under or upon rights-of-way or easements for the benefit of the Land because of:   

(1) a gap or gore between the boundaries of the Land and the rights-of-way or easements;  

(2) a gap between the boundaries of the rights-of-way or easements ; or  

(3) a termination by a grantor, or its successor, of the rights-of-way or easements. 
 

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance.  To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 

 
Dated: 
 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

ALTA 18-06 SINGLE TAX PARCEL ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 
The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of the Land 
being taxed as part of a larger parcel of land or failing to constitute a separate tax parcel for real 
estate taxes. 
 
Parcel: 0200152000 
 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance.  To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements to it. 
 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 19.2 CONTIGUITY MULTIPLE PARCELS 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of there being 
any gaps, strips, or gores lying within or between Lot M and the area described in the Drainage 
Easement Agreement, both as described in Exhibit A to Schedule A. 
 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance.  To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements to it. 
 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 25-06 SAME AS SURVEY ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of the failure of 
the Land as described in Schedule A to be the same as that identified on the Survey shown in 
Schedule B as Item 29, first paragraph.  

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not 
(i) modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, 
(iii) extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a 
provision of the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of 
this endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 26-06 SUBDIVISION ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 
The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of the failure 
of the Land to constitute a lawfully created parcel according to the subdivision statutes and 
local subdivision ordinances applicable to the Land. 

 
This endorsement is made a part of the commitment or policy.  It is subject to all of the terms of 
the commitment or policy and prior endorsements.  Except as expressly stated on this 
endorsement, the terms, dates and amount of the commitment or policy and prior endorsements 
are not changed. 
 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 28-06 EASEMENT- DAMAGE OR ENFORCED REMOVAL ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured if the exercise of the 
granted or reserved rights to use or maintain the easement(s) referred to in Exception(s) 8, 10, 
11, 15,  16, 17, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule B results in: 

 
(1) damage to an existing building located on the Land, or  
(2) enforced removal or alteration of an existing building located on the Land,  

 
 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 28.3-06 – (Encroachments - Boundaries and Easements - Land Under Development) 
 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
1. The insurance provided by this endorsement is subject to the exceptions in Section 4 of this 
endorsement; and the Exclusions from Coverage, the Exceptions from Coverage contained in 
Schedule B, and the Conditions in the policy. 

2. For purposes of this endorsement only: 

(a) “Improvement” means a building, structure, or paved area, including any road, 
walkway, parking area, driveway, or curb located on the surface of the Land or the 
surface of adjoining land at Date of Policy that by law constitutes real property. 

(b) “Future Improvement” means any of the following to be constructed on the Land 
after Date of Policy in the locations according to the Plans and that by law constitutes 
real property: 

(i) a building; 

(ii) a structure; or 

(iii) a paved area, including any road, walkway, parking area, driveway, or curb. 

c. (c) ““Plans” means those site and elevation plans made by Stantec Architecture and 
Engineering P.C. designated as “Project Manual – Volume 1 Bunker Hill Housing 
Building M Boston, MA Construction Documents dated February 4, 2022. 

3. The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of: 

(a) An encroachment of any Improvement or Future Improvement located on the Land 
onto adjoining land or onto that portion of the Land subject to an easement, unless an 
Exception in Schedule B of the policy identifies the encroachment; 

(b) An encroachment of any Improvement located on adjoining land onto the Land at 
Date of Policy, unless an Exception in Schedule B of the policy identifies the 
encroachment; 

(c) Enforced removal of any Improvement or Future Improvement located on the Land as 
a result of an encroachment by the Improvement or Future Improvement onto any 
portion of the Land subject to any easement, in the event that the owners of the easement 
shall, for the purpose of exercising the right of use or maintenance of the easement, 
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compel removal or relocation of the encroaching Improvement or Future Improvement; 
or 

(d) Enforced removal of any Improvement or Future Improvement located on the Land 
that encroaches onto adjoining land. 

4. Sections 3(c) and 3(d) of this endorsement do not insure against loss or damage (and the 
Company will not pay costs, attorneys’ fees, or expenses) resulting from the following 
Exceptions, if any, listed in Schedule B: 25a and 25b 

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not 
(i) modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, 
(iii) extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a 
provision of the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of 
this endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
Dated: 
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ALTA 34-06 Identified Risk Coverage Endorsement 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 
1. As used in this endorsement “Identified Risk” means: the easement rights in favor of New 

England Telephone Company described in Exception 8 of Schedule B. 

2. The Company insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured by reason of:  

a. A final order or decree enforcing the Identified Risk in favor of an adverse party; or 

b. The release of a prospective purchaser or lessee of the Title or lender on the Title from 
the obligation to purchase, lease, or lend as a result of the Identified Risk, but only if 

i. there is a contractual condition requiring the delivery of marketable title, and  

ii. neither the Company nor any other title insurance company is willing to insure 
over the Identified Risk with the same conditions as in this endorsement.  

3. The Company will also pay the costs, attorneys' fees, and expenses incurred in defense of 
the Title by reason of the Identified Risk insured against by Paragraph 2 of this 
endorsement, but only to the extent provided in the Conditions.   

4. This endorsement does not obligate the Company to establish the Title free of the Identified 
Risk or to remove the Identified Risk, but if the Company does establish the Title free of the 
Identified Risk or removes it, Section 9(a) of the Conditions applies. 

 This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does not 
(i) modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance.  To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 

 

Dated: 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

WAIVER OF ARBITRATION ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
The above referenced policy is amended in the following manner: 
 
Paragraph 14 of the Conditions of the policy is hereby deleted.  
 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy.  Except as it expressly states, it does  not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls.  Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements.  
 
Dated: 
 
 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

ALTA 39-06 POLICY AUTHENTICATION ENDORSEMENT 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 
When the policy is issued by the Company with a policy number and Date of Policy, the 
Company will not deny liability under the policy or any endorsements issued with the policy 
solely on the grounds that the policy or endorsements were issued electronically or lack 
signatures in accordance with the Conditions. 
 
 
This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) 
modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 
 
Dated:  



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

ALTA Endorsement 40-06 (Tax Credit - Owner’s Policy) 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY  

1. This endorsement is subject to the exclusions in Section 4 of this endorsement; and the 
Exclusions from Coverage, the Exceptions from Coverage contained in Schedule B, and 
the Conditions in the policy. 

2. For purposes of this endorsement only: 

a.  “Tax Credit Investor” means CREA Bunker Hill Building M, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company and CREA SLP, LLC, an Indiana limited liability company. 

b.  “Tax Credit” means a tax credit in effect at Date of Policy pertaining to the Land that 
is available to the Tax Credit Investor under an applicable section of the Internal 
Revenue Code or other applicable law. 

3.    The Company insures against loss or damage, not exceeding the Amount of Insurance, 
sustained by the Tax Credit Investor by a reduction in a Tax Credit that is caused solely 
by a defect, lien, encumbrance, or other matter insured against by the policy, subject to 
the limitations in Section 8(a) of the Conditions. The Company has no liability to the Tax 
Credit Investor under this endorsement until: 

a.   its liability and the extent of a loss insured against by the policy have been definitely 
fixed in accordance with the Conditions; and 

b.   the Tax Credit Investor establishes the reduction in the amount of a Tax Credit. 

4.    This endorsement does not insure against loss or damage (and the Company will not pay 
costs, attorneys’ fees, or expenses) incurred in defending or establishing: 

a.   the eligibility of the Tax Credit Investor or the Land for a Tax Credit; 

b.   that the Tax Credit Investor or the Land is entitled to a Tax Credit; or 

c.   the existence, ownership, or amount of a Tax Credit. 

5.    The calculation of loss or damage under this endorsement shall be subject to Section 11 
of the Conditions. In addition, the Company shall not be liable for duplicate recoveries of 
loss or damage to the Insured and Tax Credit Investor. 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

6.   The Insured: 

a.   assigns to the Tax Credit Investor the right to receive any payment or portion of a 
payment for loss or damage otherwise payable to the Insured under Section 12 of the 
Conditions, but only to the extent of the reduction in the amount of a Tax Credit; and 

b.   acknowledges that any payment made by the Company to the Tax Credit Investor 
under this endorsement shall reduce the Amount of Insurance as provided in Section 10 
of the Conditions. 

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except to the extent expressly stated, it does not 
(i) modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) 
extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a provision of 
the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this 
endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the 
terms and provisions of the policy and of any prior endorsements. 

Agreed and Consented to: 

Insured 

Building M Owner LLC  
By:__________________________________ 
 
 [Tax Credit Investor] 
 
 
CREA Bunker Hill Building M, LLC, 
 a Delaware limited liability company  
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Michael M. Murray, Authorized Representative 
 
CREA SLP, LLC,  
An Indiana limited liability company 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Michael M. Murray, Authorized Representative  
 
COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
  
By: _______________________________ 
Authorized Signatory 
 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

MAXIMUM ACTUAL LOSS ENDORSEMENT 
 

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
The Company hereby agrees that for purposes of determining the maximum liability of the 
Company under this Policy, the maximum actual loss of the insured shall include all funds paid 
by or on behalf of the insured for the development of the Land and related costs, both “hard” and 
“soft”, which costs may include, without limitation, materials, labor, and/or fees, as evidenced by 
a sworn statement of the owner and substantiated by receipts for costs incurred in connection 
with the development as shown on the attached (schedule, exhibits, etc., which shows proposed 
uses of proceeds).    [Please note that information will be required to complete this 
Endorsement.] 
 
 
This endorsement, when countersigned by an authorized signatory, is made a part of the policy 
and is subject to all of the terms and provisions thereof and of any prior endorsements thereto.  
Except to the extent expressly stated, it neither modifies any of the terms and provisions of the 
policy and any prior endorsements, nor does it extend the effective date of the policy and any 
prior endorsements, nor does it increase the face amount thereof. 
 
Dated:  
 



 

ALTA Owner Policy 

TAX DEED ENDORSEMENT 
  

Attached to Policy No. ___________ 

Issued By 
 

COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
 
 
This policy affirmatively insures against loss or damage sustained by the Insured as a result of 
the entry of a final judgment extinguishing the appurtenant easement described in Schedule A , 
or denying or limiting the use thereof by reason of the foreclosure of a tax title or a mortgage 
against the land subject to that easement 
 
This endorsement, when countersigned by an authorized signatory, is made a part of the policy 
and is subject to all of the terms and provisions thereof and of any prior endorsements thereto.  
Except to the extent expressly stated, it neither modifies any of the terms and provisions of the 
policy and any prior endorsements, nor does it extend the effective date of the policy and any 
prior endorsements, nor does it increase the face amount thereof. 
 
The total liability if the Company under said policy and any endorsements therein shall not 
exceed, in the aggregate, the face amount of said policy and costs which the Company is 
obligated under the conditions and stipulations thereof to pay.  
 
Dated: 
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EXHIBIT J 

 
FORM OF STATEMENT OF UNAUDITED QUARTERLY UNLEVERAGED CASH 

FLOW AND LEVERAGED OPERATING CASH FLOW 
 



Balance Sheets

 

31-Mar-20 31-Dec-19
Assets

Property and equipment:

Land and land improvements -$                       -$                                  

Building and building improvements -                         -                                    

-                         -                                    

Accumulated depreciation -                         -                                    

-                         -                                    

Other assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -                         -                                    

Tenant security deposits -                         -                                    

Deferred financing Costs, net of amortization) -                         -                                    

Accounts receivable -                         -                                    

Total other assets -                         -                                    

Total assets -$                       -$                                  

Liabilities and Members' Equity

Liabilities:

Mortgage note payable, net of unamortized deferred financing costs -$                       -$                                  

Accrued expenses -                         -                                    

Accrued interest -                         -                                    

Deferred income -                         -                                    

Security deposit liability -                         -                                    

Total liabilities -                         -                                    

Members' equity -                         -                                    

Total liabilities and members' equity -$                       -$                                  

See notes to financial statements. 

Check PY

-$                       

MP075963
Text Box
March 31




Balance Sheets

30-Jun-20 31-Dec-19

Assets

Property and equipment:

Land and land improvements -$                        -$                       

Building and building improvements - -

- -

Accumulated depreciation - -

- -

Other assets:

Cash and cash equivalents - -

Tenant security deposits - -

Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization - -

Accounts receivable - -

Total other assets - -

Total assets -$                        -$                       

Liabilities and Members' Equity

Liabilities:

Mortgage note payable, net of unamortized deferred financing costs -$                        -$                       

Accrued expenses - -

Accrued interest - -

Deferred income - -

Security deposit liability - -

Total liabilities - -

Members' equity - -

Total liabilities and members' equity -$                        -$                       

June 30



EXHIBIT J-1

Balance Sheets

Q2 Q1 Prior Yr End

Assets

Property and equipment:

Land -$                        -$                        -$                    

Building and building improvements - - -

- - -

Accumulated depreciation - - -

- - -

Other assets:

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents - - -

Restricted cash for tenant security deposits - - -

Other restricted cash - - -

Deferred financing costs, net of amortization - - -

Accounts receivable - - -

Prepaid  expenses - - -

Total other assets - - -

Total assets -$                        -$                        -$                    

Liabilities and Members' Equity

Liabilities:

Mortgage note payable, net of unamortized deferred financing costs -$                        -$                        -$                    

Junior note payable - - -

Accrued expenses - - -

Accrued interest - - -

Deferred income - - -

Tenant security deposits - - -

Total liabilities - - -

Members' equity - - -

Total liabilities and members' equity -$                        -$                        -$                    

Check w/Members' Equity Sheet - - -

See notes to financial statements. 

Balance Sheet by Quarter



EXHIBIT J-1

Statements of Operations

YTD Q2 Q1

Revenues:

Rental income -$                                     -$                        -$                        

Other income - - -

- - -

Operating expenses:

Real estate taxes - - -

Repairs and maintenance - - -

General and administrative - - -

Utilities - - -

Audit Expense - - -

Management fees - - -

Supplemental rent (Ground Lease Per Unit Charge) - - -

Additional rent (Ground Lease % Management Charge) - - -

Legal and administration fees - - -

Insurance - - -

Bank fees - - -

- - -

Income before interest, depreciation and amortization - - -

Other expenses:

Interest - - -

Amortization of financing costs - - -

Depreciation - - -

- - -

Net Income -$                                        -$                        -$                        

Income Statement by Quarter



Statements of Changes in Members' Equity

Member 1 Member 2

50% 50% Total

Balance at Prior Year End -$                        -$                        -$                        

Distributions - - -

Net Income - - -$                        

Balance at Q1 - - -

Distributions - - -

Net Income - - -

Balance at Q2 -$                        -$                        -$                        

See notes to financial statements. 

Members Equity



Statements of Cash Flows

YTD Q2 Q1

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss -$                    -$                       -$                       

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash 

   provided by operating activities:

Depreciation - - -

Amortization of financing costs - - -

Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets

Straight-line rent adjustment

      Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash for security deposits - - -

Decrease (increase) in other restricted cash - - -

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable - - -

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses - - -

Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses - - -

Increase (decrease) in accrued interest - - -

Increase (decrease) in deferred income - - -

Increase (decrease) in tenant security deposits - - -
Net cash provided by operating activities - - -

Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions to building and building improvements - - -
Net cash used in investing activities - - -

Cash flows from financing activities:

Capital contributions by (distributions to) members - - -

Mortgage note advances (principal payments) - - -

Junior note advances (principal payments) - - -
Net cash used in financing activities - - -

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents - - -

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period - - -

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, end of period -$                      -$                      -$                      

Supplementary summary of non-cash investing transactions:
Building and building improvements included in accrued expenses -$                      -$                      -$                      

Write-off of disposal of fixed assets -$                       -$                       -$                       

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow activity:
Cash paid for interest -$                      -$                      -$                      

Cash paid for Participating Rent under ground lease -$                       -$                       -$                       

See notes to financial statements. 

Cash Flow by Quarter



EXHIBIT J-2

Unleveraged Cashflow and Leveraged Operating Cash Flow Calculations

Unleveraged Cash Flow Calculation By Quarter Leveraged Operating Cash Flow Calculation By Quarter

YTD Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 YTD Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
Net cash provided by operating activities - - - Net cash provided by operating activities - - -
Adjustments: Adjustments:

Cash paid for interest - - - Cash paid for Participating Rent - -$                  -$                  
Additions to Land and Buildings - - - Additions to Land and Buildings - - -

Mortgage note principal payments from operating cash flow - - -
Unleveraged Cash Flow - - - Junior note principal payments from operating cash flow - - -

Leveraged Operating Cash Flow Before Participating Rent - - -

Cumulative Record of Unleveraged Cash Flow Gross Revenue Calculation By Quarter Cumulative Record of Leveraged Operating Cash Flow Before Participating Rent Cumulative Record of Junior Loans Funded by Tenant Affiliates

Year 1 Q 1 - Year 1 Q 1 - Year 1 Q 1 - Year 1 Q 1

Year 1 Q 2 - Year 1 Q 2 - Year 1 Q 2 - Year 1 Q 2

Year 1 Q 3 Year 1 Q 3 Year 1 Q 3 Year 1 Q 3

Year 1 Q 4 Year 1 Q 4 Year 1 Q 4 Year 1 Q 4

Year 2 Q 1 Year 2 Q 1 Year 2 Q 1 Year 2 Q 1

Year 2 Q 2 Year 2 Q 2 Year 2 Q 2 Year 2 Q 2

Year 2 Q 2 Year 2 Q 2 Year 2 Q 2 Year 2 Q 2

Year 2 Q 3 Year 2 Q 3 Year 2 Q 3 Year 2 Q 3

Year 2 Q 4 Year 2 Q 4 Year 2 Q 4 Year 2 Q 4

J2 - Supplemental Schedule



EXHIBIT J-3

Summary of BHA Payments

YTD Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

At Lease Commencement
Fixed Rent - - - - -

From Operating Revenues
Supplemental Rent (Ground Lease Per Unit Charge) - - - - -

Additional Rent (Ground Lease % Management Charge) - - - - -

From Leveraged CF Waterfall 
Distributions

During Lockout Period 
(1) 

Participating Rent - - - - -

After Lockout Period and through LMP Transfer Date 

From Transaction Proceeds

Transaction Rent (2)
- - - - -

Total Payments to BHA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Notes:   (1) See Assigment of Economic Interests Agreement for Input Detail

 (2) See GL Schedules 1A & 1 B for Calculations

Cumulative Record of BHA Payments

At Commencement 76,500

Year 1 Q 1 -

Year 1 Q 2 -

Year 1 Q 3

Year 1 Q 4

Year 2 Q 1

Year 2 Q 2

Year 2 Q 2

Year 2 Q 3

Year 2 Q 4

J3-Supplemental Schedule
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EXHIBIT K 
 

FORM OF OPERATING BUDGET 
 

[TO BE ATTACHED AT TIME OF LEASE EXECUTION] 
 



A B C D E F G H I

PY Actuals PY Actuals 2022 Year to date Actuals 2022 Variance Proposed Variance Cost Per Unit

Dec 2020 Dec 2021 Budget September 2022 Annualized C & E Budget E & G 181

Schedule Of Receipts

Residential Receipts

Rent-Resident Share 1,169,084$                    1,193,535$                    1,156,455$                    889,082$                       1,185,443$                    28,988$            1,357,323$                  171,880$                  7,499$              

Rent-Subsidy 6,219,084$                    6,325,112$                    6,500,293$                    4,823,490$                    6,545,320$                    45,027$            6,657,390$                  112,070$                  36,781$            

Rent-Garage & Parking 4,200$                           3,975$                           4,200$                           2,850$                           3,800$                           (400)$                3,800$                         -$                         21$                   

Vacancies-Apartments (149,968)$                     (90,344)$                       (114,851)$                     (36,715)$                       (48,953)$                       65,898$            (120,221)$                    (71,267)$                  (664)$                

Concessions To Residents (31,660)$                       (26,571)$                       (24,744)$                       (19,291)$                       (25,721)$                       (977)$                (25,656)$                      65$                          (142)$                

Bad Debts (6,884)$                         (24,120)$                       -$                              -$                              -$                              -$                  -$                            -$                         -$                  

Total Residential Receipts 7,203,856$                    7,381,587$                    7,521,353$                    5,659,416$                    7,659,888$                    138,535$          7,872,636$                  212,748$                  43,495$            

Service Receipts

Laundry & Vending Income 25,416$                         23,512$                         25,000$                         9,876$                           13,168$                         (11,832)$           -$                            (13,168)$                  -$                  

NSF & Late Charges 135$                             90$                               100$                             105$                             140$                             40$                   -$                            (140)$                       -$                  

Damage Reimbursements 207$                             -$                              150$                             -$                              -$                              (150)$                -$                            -$                         -$                  

Keys & Access Cards 60$                               35$                               100$                             240$                             320$                             220$                 -$                            (320)$                       -$                  

Miscellaneous Income 199$                             785$                             -$                              136$                             181$                             181$                 500$                            319$                        3$                     

Total Service Receipts 26,017$                         24,423$                         25,350$                         10,357$                         13,810$                         (11,540)$           500$                            (13,310)$                  3$                     

Financial Income

Interest Income-Operation 2,073$                           860$                             1,000$                           1,459$                           1,945$                           945$                 2,000$                         55$                          11$                   

Total Financial Income 2,073$                           860$                             1,000$                           1,459$                           1,945$                           945$                 2,000$                         55$                          11$                   

Total Income 7,231,946$                    7,406,869$                    7,547,703$                    5,671,232$                    7,675,643$                    127,940$          7,875,136$                  199,493$                  43,509$            

Schedule Of Expenses

Advertising Expenses

Advertising 24$                               423$                             500$                             25$                               33$                               467$                 33$                              -$                         0$                     

CORI's & Credit Reports 1,389$                           971$                             1,200$                           609$                             812$                             388$                 812$                            -$                         4$                     

Total Advertising Expenses 1,413$                           1,394$                           1,700$                           634$                             845$                             855$                 845$                            -$                         5$                     

Administrative Expenses

Management Fee 222,406$                       200,996$                       200,996$                       150,747$                       200,996$                       0$                     207,337$                     (6,341)$                    1,146$              

Office/Admin Salaries 276,889$                       223,849$                       192,848$                       142,670$                       190,227$                       2,621$              235,729$                     (45,502)$                  1,302$              

Admin Employee Benefits 51,306$                         36,132$                         35,179$                         28,847$                         38,463$                         (3,284)$             62,595$                       (24,132)$                  346$                 

Legal 21,846$                         4,715$                           20,000$                         3,455$                           4,607$                           15,393$            20,000$                       (15,393)$                  110$                 

Auditing 18,100$                         18,900$                         20,600$                         19,455$                         25,940$                         (5,340)$             26,718$                       (778)$                       148$                 

Telephone/Communications 30,629$                         20,048$                         21,000$                         19,219$                         25,625$                         (4,625)$             20,000$                       5,625$                     110$                 

Office Expense 59,274$                         51,976$                         45,000$                         44,590$                         59,453$                         (14,453)$           47,700$                       11,753$                   264$                 

Temp Admin Staff 6,918$                           4,975$                           -$                              6,734$                           8,979$                           (8,979)$             -$                            8,979$                     -$                  

Staff Training & Education 6,894$                           3,676$                           6,200$                           3,841$                           5,121$                           1,079$              5,000$                         121$                        28$                   

Dues & Memberships -$                              -$                              -$                              119$                             158$                             (158)$                -$                            158$                        -$                  

Resident & Social Services 221,332$                       185,049$                       209,316$                       159,324$                       212,432$                       (3,116)$             300,672$                     (88,240)$                  1,661$              

Office Rent 69,148$                         80,837$                         84,471$                         63,079$                         84,105$                         366$                 84,311$                       (206)$                       466$                 

Misc Admin 6,567$                           327$                             2,500$                           -$                              -$                              2,500$              -$                            -$                         -$                  

Consulting Fee -$                              -$                              -$                              2,750$                           3,667$                           (3,667)$             -$                            3,667$                     -$                  

Total Administrative Expenses 995,308$                       831,481$                       838,110$                       644,830$                       859,773$                       (21,663)$           1,010,062$                  (150,289)$                5,580$              

Maintenance Expenses

Maintenance Salaries 203,776$                       213,445$                       182,659$                       143,145$                       190,860$                       (8,201)$             233,522$                     (42,662)$                  1,290$              

Maint Employee Benefits 23,696$                         20,290$                         21,262$                         11,147$                         14,863$                         6,399$              50,025$                       (35,162)$                  276$                 

Sample Property Budget



A B C D E F G H I

PY Actuals PY Actuals 2022 Year to date Actuals 2022 Variance Proposed Variance Cost Per Unit

Dec 2020 Dec 2021 Budget September 2022 Annualized C & E Budget E & G 181

Sample Property Budget

Janitor Materials 4,183$                           5,241$                           4,600$                           2,877$                           3,836$                           764$                 4,600$                         (764)$                       25$                   

Janitor/Cleaning Contract 60,232$                         65,472$                         66,000$                         46,935$                         62,580$                         3,420$              66,396$                       (3,816)$                    367$                 

Grounds Materials 1,108$                           1,174$                           -$                              66$                               88$                               (88)$                  -$                            88$                          -$                  

Grounds Contracts 62,255$                         67,394$                         75,000$                         53,007$                         70,676$                         4,324$              75,000$                       (4,324)$                    414$                 

Decorating Materials 17,052$                         10,805$                         18,000$                         4,522$                           6,029$                           11,971$            12,000$                       (5,971)$                    66$                   

Decorating Contract 75,583$                         69,782$                         80,000$                         44,633$                         59,511$                         20,489$            72,000$                       (12,489)$                  398$                 

Carpentry Materials 47,668$                         24,497$                         25,000$                         10,191$                         13,588$                         11,412$            25,000$                       (11,412)$                  138$                 

Carpentry Contract 57,862$                         50,603$                         70,000$                         17,080$                         22,773$                         47,227$            50,000$                       (27,227)$                  276$                 

Electrical Materials 20,798$                         14,694$                         15,000$                         9,713$                           12,951$                         2,049$              13,500$                       (549)$                       75$                   

Electrical Contract 15,381$                         16,315$                         10,500$                         18,610$                         20,610$                         (10,110)$           13,000$                       7,610$                     72$                   

Plumbing Materials 20,752$                         19,564$                         18,500$                         12,427$                         16,569$                         1,931$              18,500$                       (1,931)$                    102$                 

Plumbing Contract 78,164$                         75,540$                         76,000$                         35,618$                         47,491$                         28,509$            70,000$                       (22,509)$                  387$                 

Appliance Materials 46,884$                         33,525$                         15,000$                         26,788$                         35,717$                         (20,717)$           15,000$                       20,717$                   83$                   

Windows/Glass 3,325$                           3,278$                           5,000$                           1,245$                           1,660$                           3,340$              5,000$                         (3,340)$                    28$                   

Elevator Service & Maintenance 10,568$                         16,303$                         14,500$                         21,997$                         29,329$                         (14,829)$           15,360$                       13,969$                   85$                   

COVID-19 Expense 5,274$                           1,138$                           -$                              2,175$                           2,900$                           (2,900)$             -$                            2,900$                     -$                  

Heating/Cooling Repairs 49,060$                         62,446$                         30,000$                         48,711$                         57,948$                         (27,948)$           50,000$                       7,948$                     276$                 

Fire & Safety Systems 19,737$                         31,325$                         23,000$                         14,401$                         19,201$                         3,799$              23,000$                       (3,799)$                    127$                 

Locks/Keys/Access Systems 3,947$                           3,142$                           -$                              784$                             1,045$                           (1,045)$             -$                            1,045$                     -$                  

Exterminating 22,087$                         22,690$                         20,000$                         21,606$                         28,808$                         (8,808)$             18,720$                       10,088$                   103$                 

Garbage & Trash Removal 3,358$                           6,455$                           4,200$                           270$                             360$                             3,840$              1,500$                         (1,140)$                    8$                     

Snow Removal 18,701$                         30,222$                         40,000$                         32,409$                         38,409$                         1,591$              40,000$                       (1,591)$                    221$                 

Maintenance Equipment 1,048$                           861$                             1,500$                           693$                             924$                             576$                 1,500$                         (576)$                       8$                     

Uniforms 3,197$                           2,037$                           2,000$                           1,477$                           1,969$                           31$                   2,100$                         (131)$                       12$                   

Misc. Maintenance 1,761$                           5,324$                           1,400$                           1,151$                           1,535$                           (135)$                1,500$                         35$                          8$                     

Total Maintenance Expenses 877,457$                       873,562$                       819,121$                       583,679$                       762,232$                       56,890$            877,223$                     (114,992)$                4,847$              

Utilities Expenses

Electricity 204,498$                       224,070$                       222,993$                       176,385$                       223,678$                       (685)$                234,862$                     (11,184)$                  1,298$              

Gas 143,529$                       151,912$                       156,315$                       117,877$                       167,726$                       (11,411)$           176,112$                     (8,386)$                    973$                 

Water & Sewer 293,987$                       292,115$                       310,380$                       221,555$                       296,164$                       14,216$            310,972$                     (14,808)$                  1,718$              

Total Utilities Expenses 642,015$                       668,097$                       689,688$                       515,817$                       687,568$                       2,120$              721,947$                     (34,378)$                  3,989$              

Security Expense

Security Contract 85,118$                         64,135$                         85,000$                         29,500$                         39,333$                         45,667$            55,990$                       (16,657)$                  309$                 

Total Security Expenses 85,118$                         64,135$                         85,000$                         29,500$                         39,333$                         45,667$            55,990$                       (16,657)$                  309$                 



A B C D E F G H I

PY Actuals PY Actuals 2022 Year to date Actuals 2022 Variance Proposed Variance Cost Per Unit

Dec 2020 Dec 2021 Budget September 2022 Annualized C & E Budget E & G 181

Sample Property Budget

Taxes & Insurance Expense

Real Estate Taxes 601,866$                       642,978$                       666,977$                       483,376$                       644,501$                       22,475$            660,614$                     (16,113)$                  3,650$              

Admin Payroll Taxes 21,025$                         21,098$                         18,056$                         11,937$                         15,916$                         2,140$              21,713$                       (5,797)$                    120$                 

Maint Payroll Taxes 17,258$                         20,067$                         18,340$                         12,977$                         17,303$                         1,037$              20,645$                       (3,342)$                    114$                 

Corporate Taxes-State 520$                             520$                             520$                             520$                             520$                             -$                  520$                            -$                         3$                     

Excise/Personal Property Tax -$                              87$                               150$                             87$                               87$                               63$                   125$                            (38)$                         1$                     

Misc Tax, License & Permits 149$                             12,327$                         175$                             3,045$                           3,045$                           (2,870)$             3,200$                         (155)$                       18$                   

Property & Liability Ins 111,446$                       128,636$                       134,287$                       105,816$                       141,088$                       (6,801)$             149,553$                     (8,465)$                    826$                 

Motor Vehicle Insurance 2,907$                           2,932$                           3,000$                           2,442$                           3,256$                           (256)$                3,600$                         (344)$                       20$                   

Worker's Comp 9,386$                           9,021$                           8,543$                           6,603$                           8,804$                           (261)$                10,188$                       (1,384)$                    56$                   

Total Tax & Insurance Expenses 764,557$                       837,666$                       850,047$                       626,803$                       834,520$                       15,527$            870,158$                     (35,638)$                  4,808$              

Total Operating Expenses 3,365,868$                    3,276,334$                    3,283,666$                    2,401,262$                    3,184,272$                    99,395$            3,536,225$                  (351,954)$                19,537$            

Net Operating Income 3,866,077$                    4,130,535$                    4,264,037$                    3,269,970$                    4,491,372$                    227,335$          4,338,911$                  (152,461)$                23,972$            

Non Operating Income & Expenses

Non Operating Income

Interest Income-Repl Res 27,981$                         3,761$                           5,000$                           15,108$                         20,144$                         15,144$            15,000$                       (5,144)$                    83$                   

Total Non Operating Income 27,981$                         3,761$                           5,000$                           15,108$                         20,144$                         15,144$            15,000$                       (5,144)$                    83$                   

Financial Expenses

Mortgage Interest #2 1,815,596$                    1,791,723$                    1,769,087$                    1,329,175$                    1,772,233$                    (3,147)$             1,743,541$                  28,693$                   9,633$              

Mortgage Ins Premium 128,216$                       126,530$                       124,783$                       93,812$                         125,083$                       (299)$                123,284$                     1,799$                     681$                 

Interest Expense – Financing Fees 34,104$                         33,654$                         33,187$                         24,890$                         33,187$                         0$                     32,704$                       483$                        181$                 

Total Financial Expenses 1,977,916$                    1,951,907$                    1,927,057$                    1,447,877$                    1,930,503$                    (3,446)$             1,899,529$                  30,974$                   10,495$            

Depreciation

Depreciation 1,501,764$                    1,285,101$                    1,398,062$                    1,048,546$                    1,398,061$                    1$                     1,414,403$                  (16,341)$                  7,814$              

Total Depreciation 1,501,764$                    1,285,101$                    1,398,062$                    1,048,546$                    1,398,061$                    1$                     1,414,403$                  (16,341)$                  7,814$              



A B C D E F G H I

PY Actuals PY Actuals 2022 Year to date Actuals 2022 Variance Proposed Variance Cost Per Unit

Dec 2020 Dec 2021 Budget September 2022 Annualized C & E Budget E & G 181

Sample Property Budget

Total Non Operating Expenses 3,451,699$                    3,233,247$                    3,320,119$                    2,481,315$                    3,308,420$                    11,699$            3,298,931$                  9,489$                     18,226$            

Net  Income 414,378$                       897,288$                       943,918$                       788,655$                       1,182,952$                    239,034$          1,039,980$                  (142,972)$                5,746$              

Cash Flow Adjustments

Add:

Depreciation & Amortization 1,501,764$                    1,285,101$                    1,398,062$                    1,048,546$                    1,398,061$                    (1)$                    1,414,403$                  16,341$                   7,814$              

Replacement Reserve Releases -$                              -$                              868,475$                       229,629$                       269,629$                       (598,846)$         422,710$                     153,081$                  2,335$              

Accrued Interest & Asset/Incent. mgt fees 34,104$                         33,654$                         33,187$                         24,890$                         33,187$                         (0)$                    32,704$                       (483)$                       181$                 

Less: -$                            -$                         

Replacement Reserve Deposits 433,284$                       312,205$                       (152,784)$                     (108,790)$                     (145,053)$                     7,731$              (158,552)$                    (13,498)$                  (876)$                

Capital Improvements (513,799)$                     (334,536)$                     (768,475)$                     (174,427)$                     204,127$                       972,602$          (422,710)$                    (626,837)$                (2,335)$             

Less non operating income (27,981)$                       (3,761)$                         (5,000)$                         (15,108)$                       (20,144)$                       (15,144)$           (20,144)$                      -$                         (111)$                

Loan Principal Retired (661,540)$                     (685,342)$                     (710,001)$                     (530,140)$                     (706,853)$                     3,147$              (735,547)$                    (28,693)$                  (4,064)$             

Net Cash Flow From Operations 1,180,210$                    1,504,609$                    1,607,382$                    1,263,255$                    2,215,905$                    608,523$          1,572,844$                  (643,061)$                8,690$              

Cash Flow Adjustments

Plus/(Minus):

Decr/(Incr) in Savings & Operating Escrows (174,227)$                     (266,298)$                     -$                              260,425$                       260,425$                       260,425$          (260,425)$                -$                  

Decr/(Incr) in Net A/R Balances 18,463$                         (19,840)$                       -$                              29,246$                         29,246$                         29,246$            (29,246)$                  -$                  

Decr/(Incr) in Other Assets (18,788)$                       (13,684)$                       -$                              74,981$                         74,981$                         74,981$            (74,981)$                  -$                  

Incr/(Decr) in A/P & Accrued Expenses 5,433$                           99,523$                         (127,028)$                     (127,028)$                     (127,028)$         127,028$                  -$                  

Incr/(Decr) in Other Liabilities 732$                             865$                             (205)$                            (205)$                            (205)$                205$                        -$                  

Non operating income and expense 27,981$                         3,761$                           5,000$                           15,108$                         15,108$                         10,108$            (15,108)$                  -$                  

Replacement Reserve Interest -$                              -$                              (5,000)$                         (15,108)$                       (15,108)$                       (10,108)$           15,108$                   -$                  

Prior Year Distribution (1,304,358)$                  (1,319,621)$                  -$                              (1,514,883)$                  (1,514,883)$                  (1,514,883)$      1,514,883$               -$                  

Net Cash Flow (264,553)$                     (10,685)$                       1,607,382$                    (14,209)$                       938,441$                       (668,941)$         1,572,844$                  634,403$                  8,690$              
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EXHIBIT L 
 

DESIGN REVIEW PROCESS 
 

The design of the Improvements was approved by Landlord pursuant to the design review 
process established under the Development Agreement prior to the execution of the Lease. 

 
The following Design Review Process shall be followed with respect to any future Major 

Alterations (unless the nature of the Major Alterations are such that design plans would not 
reasonably be required), provided that Landlord shall consider in good faith reasonable 
modifications to the process set forth in this Exhibit L requested by Tenant if the nature and scope 
of the Major Alterations being performed warrants a less rigorous process that that articulated in 
this Exhibit L. 

 
Tenant shall, promptly upon development thereof, submit to Landlord four (4) full size sets 

and two (2) half size sets of each of the schematic, design development and construction drawings 
and specifications for the Major Alterations (collectively, as used in this Exhibit L, the “Design 
Documents”).  Design Documents for Major Alterations to the Improvements shall conform to any 
applicable Bunker Hill Housing Design Criteria established by Developer and Landlord prior to 
the execution of this Lease and used in the design of the initial Improvements, which may include 
requirements of Landlord regarding “green building standards”, “well building standards”, 
accessibility and sustainable practices, as well as other applicable requirements of the BHA  and 
other applicable legal requirements set forth in such criteria. 

 
Design submissions as required by this Exhibit L shall be made to Landlord at various 

stages of project design and construction depending on the nature of the design and construction 
process.  Major Alterations shall be reviewed at the following stages, as set forth in Section A 
below:  Schematic Design, Design Development, and Construction Documents.  Tenant shall not 
commence construction (and/or demolition, except as required by applicable law or as necessary 
to maintain the Improvements in safe and secure condition) of any Major Alterations until final 
Design Documents for such Major Alterations have been approved by Landlord in accordance 
with this Exhibit L.  Tenant’s required submissions are set forth and described in Section A, 
below.  Landlord’s right to approve, and the process by which Landlord shall approve or 
disapprove such submissions are set forth in Section B, below.  Landlord shall cooperate with 
Tenant’s efforts to complete any applicable development review process with the BPDA as set 
forth in Section C, below.  Landlord and Tenant will each designate a Project Manager with respect 
to the Major Alterations. 
 

Submission and review of design materials will be a continuing process and it is expected 
that reasonable requests by Landlord for progress prints, technical information and other materials 
in addition to those required herein will be met by Tenant.  Project Managers of Landlord and 
Tenant shall meet on a regular basis but no less frequently than monthly, unless the parties 
otherwise agree, to review the status of the development of design materials for the Major 
Alterations. 
 
A. SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
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1. Schematic Design Stage 
 

The intent of the review at this stage is to secure agreement on the basic design of a 
component as documented by dimensional plans and preliminary building elevations and sections, 
if applicable for the Major Alterations being performed.  The following materials, if relevant to 
the stage of design or construction of a component, and only to the extent reasonably applicable to 
the Major Alterations (the parties recognizing that many of the following materials would be 
applicable only if in the event of a substantial rebuilding of the Major Alterations following a 
material casualty), must be submitted: 

 
(a) Prior to the Schematic Design submissions, schedule a Kick-off meeting with 

Landlord to introduce staff, discuss the general and design approach to the project, 
review and identify any gaps in the information concerning the existing conditions, 
work with Landlord, site and maintenance staff, and other agencies to continue to 
collect additional drawings and information. 

 
(b) Written description of the Major Alterations including design detail for Major 

Alterations as compared to BHA Design Criteria. 
 

(c) Site plan showing:   
 

(i) Relationships of Major Alterations to existing Improvements and, if 
applicable, proposed adjacent buildings and open space.  Open spaces 
mutually defined by buildings on adjacent parcels and across streets shall 
be included. 

 
(ii) Location and dimensions of walks, driveways, parking, service areas, roads, 

and major landscape features. 
 

(iii) Pedestrian and vehicular (including service) access and flow through the 
parcel and to adjacent areas, including building entries and curbside 
operations diagrams. 

 
(iv) Survey information, such as existing elevations, benchmarks, utilities, etc.  

(Survey to be prepared by Tenant). 
 

(d) Preliminary grading plan. 
 

(e) Site and building sections plan. 
 

(f) Schematic building plans showing the ground floor, typical upper floor(s) and 
parking levels, if any, for the Major Alterations.  
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(g) Preliminary building elevations with identification of proposed materials. 
Elevations shall show the Major Alterations in the context of the surrounding area 
as required by BPDA to illustrate character, scale, materials and colors.   

 
(h) Estimated development schedule for the Major Alterations which shall be 

developed and periodically updated in accordance herewith. 
 
(i) Description of the sustainable design and construction features of the Major 

Alterations organized in accordance with the LEED checklist of the U.S. Green 
Building Council, sufficient to obtain a LEED Gold Certification. 

 
2. Design Development Stage 
 

The intent of the review at this stage is to secure agreement on the design prior to work on 
Construction Documents.  The following materials (if not already received, reviewed and approved 
as herein provided) and only to the extent reasonably applicable to the Major Alterations must be 
submitted as soon as relevant to the stage of design or construction of the Major Alterations: 
 

(a) Updated written description of the Major Alterations.  Provide a brief summary of 
those items still unresolved from the Schematic Design Stage. 

 
(b) Site plan showing: 

 
(i) Relationship of proposed Major Alterations and open space to existing or 

proposed Improvements, adjacent buildings, open spaces, streets, and 
buildings and open spaces across streets. 

 
(ii) Proposed site improvements and amenities including paving, landscaping, 

lighting and street furniture extending at least to the back of the curb of 
adjacent streets and driveways. 

 
(iii) Building and site dimensions, including setbacks and other dimensions. 

 
(iv) Proposed site grading, including typical existing and proposed grades at 

parcel lines. 
 

(c) Site sections. 
 

(d) Building plans, sections and elevations for all floors of all buildings developed from 
approved Schematic Design Stage drawings.  All plans, sections and elevations 
shall reflect the impact of proposed structural and mechanical systems on the 
appearance of exterior facades, interior public spaces, and roofscape. 

 
(e) Include a cost estimate that tracks estimate changes over the design period to the 

issuance of the Pricing Set.  
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(f) Include an outline specifications in a format acceptable to the parties which lists the 
technical specification sections and their respective scopes.  

 
(g) Provide a summary of the codes and/or regulations that will apply to the Major 

Alterations. 

(h) Note any significant design modifications made since the approval of the Schematic 
Design Stage. 

3. Construction Documents Stage 

The intent of the review is to ensure that the architectural, MEPFP, site and landscape 
design of the Major Alterations are consistent with the Approved Development Plan as amended, 
the provisions of this Agreement, all Approvals, and any prior submissions as amended.  The 
following materials (but only to the extent reasonably applicable to the Major Alterations) must 
be submitted as soon as relevant to the stage of design or construction of the Major Alterations: 

(a) A statement that the plans conform to the Approved Development Plan, this 
Agreement, all prior submissions and all Public Approvals or, if such is not the 
case, how the plans materially deviate. Provide a brief summary of the significant 
project changes, or items still unresolved, from the previous stage and their 
potential impact to the project’s budget and schedule. 

(b) Site plan showing: 

(i) Relationship of proposed Major Alterations, building and open space to 
existing or proposed adjacent buildings, open space, streets, private ways, 
and buildings and open spaces across streets. 

(ii) Proposed site improvements and amenities, including paving, landscaping, 
lighting and streetscape improvements extending at least to the back of the 
curb of adjacent streets, driveways and private ways.  Building and site 
dimensions, including setbacks and other dimensions. 

(ix) Proposed site grading, including typical existing and proposed grades at 
parcel lines. 

(c) Building elevations at an appropriate scale showing the Major Alterations to 
illustrate character, scale, materials and colors. 

(d) Description of the palette of materials proposed for the exterior of the building 
finishes and site improvement finishes. 

(e) Parking plan, if applicable, showing the location of the parking spaces, ingress and 
egress to and from the parking spaces and relationship of the parking spaces to the 
building entrances and exits. 
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(f) Include an updated cost estimate that tracks estimate changes over the design 
period.  

(g) Include specifications formatted as established in previous stage that lists the 
technical specification sections and their respective scopes.  

(h) Construction schedule. 

(i) Confirmation from the architect that the Major Alterations are designed to meet 
LEED gold, if applicable.  

4. General Requirements - All Submissions 

All materials submitted by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to this Exhibit L shall comply 
with the following requirements: 

i. All material changes to the site plan and the parking plan shall be submitted 
to Landlord for review with an explanation of such changes. Materials 
relating to other aspects of the Improvements shall be accompanied by a 
statement setting forth the material changes made from previously-
submitted Design Documents.  Notice shall be given to Landlord prior to 
finalizing, or submitting for review by any public agency, any change to the 
Design Documents that affects the number of Units or the Landlord’s 
Design Criteria.  

ii. Such materials shall have been prepared by an architect, engineer, landscape 
architect and/or surveyor, as appropriate, licensed to practice in the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

iii. Final Plans and Specifications shall conform to all applicable legal 
requirements relating to the design, construction, and use of the 
Improvements. 

iv. All plan sets shall be submitted electronically in PDF format except that any 
site plans and parking plans shall be also submitted on half (1/2) size paper 
copies (two (2) copies). 

 
B. BHA APPROVAL OF DESIGN SUBMISSIONS 
 

Design Documents will be reviewed by Landlord at various stages of completion.  Upon 
receipt of the documents, the BHA will have fifteen (15) business days to complete its review and 
submit comments.  Upon written approval of any Design Documents, the next stage of the Design 
Documents for the Major Alterations or component of a phase of the Major Alterations must be 
materially consistent with the submissions previously approved by Landlord.  After any Design 
Document has been approved by Landlord, Tenant shall not materially modify, change, amend or 
vary from the approved Design Document (or any material component thereto) without first 
obtaining Landlord’s written approval in each instance required by this Exhibit L which approval 
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rights shall be limited by the terms and provisions of this Exhibit L.  Tenant agrees that any request 
for approval by Landlord of a Design Document or modification to a Design Document shall be 
accompanied by all documentation reasonably necessary for Landlord to properly assess the 
quality and impact of the Design Document or requested modification to the Design Document. 
 

Landlord shall have the right to approve or disapprove the Design Documents and all other 
materials submitted to Landlord pursuant to the provisions of Section A of this Exhibit L for the 
Major Alterations, but only for the limited purposes of verifying that (i) the various components 
of the Major Alterations are consistent with the Approved Development Plan and Design 
Documents previously approved by Landlord, (ii) the design of any Major Alterations to the 
Improvements conform to the Landlord’s Design Criteria, and (iii) the Major Alterations are 
designed to be constructed in accordance with applicable legal requirements (the “Limited Review 
Standards”). 
 

Landlord’s right to review the Design Documents or changes or modifications thereto shall 
be in accordance with the Limited Review Standards, and Landlord’s right to withhold approval 
of Design Documents for the Major Alterations shall be limited to the following circumstances, 
each being referred to herein as a “Material Change”: (i) any material change to any Affordable 
Unit including without limitation, changes in the quality of the finishes, (ii) any changes to the 
access or parking for Income Qualified Residents, (iii) changes in or objections to the quality, or 
any other aspect, of the building comprising the Improvements being not at least equal to that 
called for by the Final Plans and Specifications, (iv) changes, other than in a de minimis manner, 
to the exterior appearance of the building comprising the Improvements, any public area finishes 
to the building comprising the Improvements or any landscaping, walkways and other exterior 
space visible to the general public, (v) changes adversely affecting the structural integrity of the 
building comprising the Improvements, (vi) reduction in the rentable square feet of the building 
comprising the Improvements by ten percent (10%) or more (provided, however, that Landlord 
shall have the right to disapprove any Design Document that changes the number or square footage 
or layouts of Affordable Units that are materially different from prototype units), (vii) changes 
adversely affecting the capacity, functionality or serviceability of the HVAC, plumbing, electrical 
and other mechanical or structural systems of the building comprising the Improvements, (viii) 
any changes that would, in the reasonable opinion of Landlord, unreasonably delay completion of 
the Major Alterations, (ix) any material changes to the “footprint” of the building comprising the 
Improvements or any component thereof , or (x) any reduction in the proportion of the Affordable 
Units compared to Market-Rate Units. 
 
Miscellaneous 
 

The review and approval rights of Landlord set forth in this Exhibit L are for the sole 
benefit of Landlord.  It is understood and agreed that Tenant and Tenant’s architects and engineers 
are fully and completely responsible for all aspects of the design, engineering and construction of 
the Major Alterations.  No comments on or approval by Landlord of the Design Documents or 
Final Plans and Specifications or any other advice or opinions provided by Landlord concerning 
the design or construction of the Major Alterations shall render Landlord responsible for the 
design, engineering or construction of the Major Alterations or invest Landlord with any 
responsibility for defects or other conditions of the Major Alterations.  Tenant shall bear the sole 
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responsibility and cost for the suitability, adequacy and compliance of the Design Documents, 
Final Plans and Specifications and the Major Alterations with all applicable legal requirements, 
whether or not the Design Documents or Final Plans and Specifications are approved by (or 
deemed approved by) Landlord. 
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EXHIBIT M 
 

INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
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EXHIBIT N 
 

BHA MINORITY & WOMEN PARTICIPATION PROVISION 
 

[TO BE ATTACHED AT TIME OF LEASE EXECUTION] 
 



BHA MPP 1/96 UPDATED 10/22   MWPP 
 00800-1 of 3 

BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY 

SECTION 00800 

MINORITY AND WOMEN'S PARTICIPATION PROVISION (MWPP) 

for 

_______________________
BHA JOB NO.  __________

1.01 GENERAL 

A. This section summarizes goals for the project (the "Project") for the utilization of minority
and women workers and minority business enterprises ("MBEs") and women's business
enterprises ("WBEs") under the Contract.  This section also summarizes goals for BHA’s
purchasing of supplies and services not related to construction.

B. Other duties and requirements of law that may not be specified in this section apply and
are inherently a part of the Contract.

1.02 UTILIZATION OF MINORITY AND WOMEN WORKERS AND MBEs AND WBEs 

The Boston Housing Authority's Minority and Women's Participation Provision ("MWPP"), 
consisting of Sections 00800 through 00800C, sets out certain affirmative action goals for the 
Contract.  The Contractor shall take affirmative action to meet the minority and women 
workforce goals and minority and women's business enterprise utilization goals for the Project 
set out herein.  

A. Minority Workforce Goals.  The Contractor and each of its Subcontractors shall 
take affirmative action to employ and maintain Minority workers that perform a total of FORTY 
PERCENT (40 %) of the total employee person hours under the Contract.  

B. Women Workforce Goals.  The Contractor and each of its Subcontractors 
shall take affirmative action to employ and maintain Women workers that perform a total of 
TWELVE PERCENT (12 %) of the total employee person hours under the Contract. 

C. Utilization of MBEs.

1. Agency-wide Goals.  The BHA’s goal for the utilization of MBEs is
TWENTY PERCENT (20 %).  The Contractor for supplies or services unrelated to construction 
shall take affirmative action to expend twenty percent of the Contract price to MBEs for the 
procurement of goods, supplies, and/or services under the Contract if the nature of the Contract 
permits. 

2. Construction & Design Work Goals.  The Project goal for the utilization of
MBEs for construction and construction design is TWENTY-FIVE PERCENT (25 %).  The 
Contractor shall take affirmative action to expend twenty-five percent of the Contract price to 
MBEs to procure construction work, supplies, and goods and/or services for the Project under 
the Contract.  The Contractor can self-perform as an MBE or joint-venture with MBEs, 
subcontract to MBEs, or purchase materials/goods or other services from MBEs. 
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D. Utilization of WBEs.

1. Agency-wide Goals.  The BHA’s goal for the utilization of WBEs is
FIFTEEN PERCENT (15 %).  The Contractor for supplies or services unrelated to construction 
shall take affirmative action to expend fifteen percent of the Contract price to WBEs for the 
procurement of goods, supplies, and/or services under the Contract if the nature of the Contract 
permits. 

2. Construction & Design Work Goals. The Project goal for the utilization of
WBEs for construction and construction design is FIFTEEN PERCENT (15 %).  The Contractor 
shall take affirmative action to expend fifteen percent of the Contract price to WBEs to procure 
construction work, supplies, and goods and/or services for the Project under the Contract.  The 
Contractor can self-perform as a WBE or joint-venture with WBEs, subcontract to WBEs, or 
purchase materials/goods or other services from WBEs. 

E. Required Certification.  Only MBEs and WBEs certified by the Massachusetts
Supplier Diversity Office (SDO) or the City of Boston’s Supplier Diversity Program (SDP) will be 
deemed MBEs and WBEs to demonstrate compliance with the MWPP. If an SDO or SDP-
certified MBE or WBE is not performing work on the contract, such MBE or WBE participation 
will not contribute towards the utilization goals. 

1.03 REQUIRED SUBMITTALS FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS. 

The Contractor shall, in accordance with Section 3 of Section 00800A of the MWPP, complete 
and submit to the BHA the Required Submittals within five (5) business days of bid opening. 
The Required Submittals are contained in the Boston Housing Authority Minority and Women 
Participation Provision Forms ("MWPP Forms") in Section 00800B of the MWPP.   

1.04 EXTENSION OF TIME FOR SUBMITTAL. 

The Contractor may, in accordance with Section 4 of Section 00800A of the MWPP, request an 
extension of time for making the Required Submittals  

1.05 WAIVER OF MWPP UTILIZATION GOALS. 

The Contractor may, in accordance with Sections 7 and 9 of Section 00800A of the MWPP, 
request a waiver of the MWPP goals set out in this section.  Waiver requests should be directed 
to the Director of Civil Rights at the BHA, 9th Floor, 52 Chauncy Street, Boston, MA  02111. 
Waiver requests may be mailed, emailed, faxed, or hand-delivered.  

1.06 INCREASE IN CONTRACT PRICE. 

If there is an increase in the Contract price attributable to the selection of one or more alternates 
and/or to the use of unit prices, the Contractor shall, in accordance with Section 12 of Section 
00800A of the MWPP, conform the Required Submittals to reflect such increase.  If there is an 
increase in the Contract price attributable to change orders or other adjustments, the Contractor 
may, in accordance with such Section 12, be required to revise its Required Submittals to reflect 
such increase. 
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1.07 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION REQUIREMENTS. 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable Federal, State or other governmental rules, 
regulations and requirements relating to equal opportunity and affirmative action in construction 
projects (see Specifications section in Section 00800C of the MWPP). 
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SECTION 00800A 

 MINORITY AND WOMEN’S PARTICIPATION PROVISION (MWPP) 

Statement of Provision 

The Boston Housing Authority (“BHA”) has established the following provision to promote the 
utilization of minority and women business enterprise (“M/WBEs”) on BHA projects. This 
Provision shall be incorporated in its entirety in all BHA contracts and apply to all contractors.  

1. Definitions.

For the purposes of this Provision, the following terms have the following meanings:

1.1 Agency-wide Goals means the Boston Housing Authority’s aspirational goals for 
the total dollars spent on goods, supplies, and services by or from an MBE or 
WBE set out in Section 00800. 

1.2 BHA means the Boston Housing Authority. 

1.3 Bidder means any individual, partnership, joint venture, corporation, or other 
entity which submits a general bid to the BHA for performance of construction 
work; 

1.4 Contract means the contract executed or to be executed between a General 
Contractor or proposer and the BHA for performance of construction work, 
professional services, or purchase of goods of which this Provision is a part. 

1.5 Contractor means the individual, partnership, joint venture, corporation, or other 
entity that has executed the contract with the BHA. 

1.6 Minority Business Enterprise ("MBE") means a business enterprise owned and 
controlled by 51% or more by one or more minority persons and certified as a 
MBE by the SDO pursuant to M.G.L. c. 7, § 58 or  certified by the City of 
Boston’s Supplier Diversity Program (SDP). 

M.G.L. c. 7, § 58 defines an MBE as follows: "Minority business enterprise" or
"MBE", for the purpose of receipt of services from the Supplier Diversity Office
(SDO), means a business enterprise that is owned and controlled by one or more
socially or economically disadvantaged persons. Such disadvantage may arise
from cultural, racial, chronic economic circumstances or background or other
similar cause. Such persons include, but are not limited to, African Americans,
Cape Verdeans, Western Hemisphere Hispanics, Asians, American Indians,
Eskimos, and Aleuts. For purposes of section 61 and of section 40N of chapter 7,
the term "minority owned business" shall have the same meaning as "minority
business enterprise."

1.7  Perform means the doing of work by a contractor with its own organization. 

1.8 Services means work supplied to the Contractor in connection with its 
performance of this Contract, including rental of equipment, trucking, security, 
and other similar services, but not including insurance, bonding, or other financial 
services. 
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1.9 Subcontractor means any individual, partnership, joint venture, corporation, or 
other entity under contract with the Contractor (or any of its Subcontractors) to 
perform work under this Contract. 

1.10 Supplier Diversity Office (“SDO”) means the Commonwealth's Supplier Diversity 
Office as designated by M.G.L. c. 7, § 61 and § 58. The office is the successor to 
the State Office of Minority and Women Business Assistance (“SOMWBA”) 
pursuant to 425 CMR 2.00. 

1.11 Supplier Diversity Program (“SDP”) means Minority Business Enterprise and 
Women Business Enterprise certification with the City of Boston’s Supplier 
Diversity Program.   

1.12 Supply means the provision of any goods or services by a vendor to the 
Contractor.  An MBE or a WBE (as defined below) that merely acts as an agent 
or a passive conduit in connection with the provision of goods or materials, or an 
MBE or a WBE that does not assume any financial risk or control over goods and 
materials provided shall not be considered a vendor or supplier under this 
definition. 

1.13 Utilization Goals means the total dollar amount of the contract spent on MBE or 
WBE General Contractor, Subcontractor, and/or supplier of goods/services set 
out in Section 00800. 

1.14 Women Business Enterprise ("WBE") means a business enterprise owned and 
controlled by 51% or more by one or more women and certified as a WBE by 
SDO pursuant to M.G.L. c. 7, § 58 or SDP Certified.  

M.G.L. c. 7, § 58 defines a WBE as follows: "Women business enterprise" or 
"WBE", for the purpose of receipt of services from SDO means a business 
enterprise that is both owned and controlled, by one or more women who have 
invested in an ongoing business free of conversion rights. For purposes of 
section 61 and of section 40N of chapter 7, the term "women owned business" 
shall have the same meaning as "women business enterprise." 

1.15 Workforce Goals means the total labor hours performed by a minority and/or 
women worker under the Contract set out in Section 00800.  

2. Utilization of MBEs and WBEs.  Contractor/Bidders shall take affirmative action to meet 
the MBE and WBE utilization goals for work and/or for the supply of goods and/or services set 
out in Section 00800. Contractor/Bidders shall self-perform as an M/WBE or joint-venture with 
M/WBEs, subcontract to M/WBEs, or purchase materials/goods or other services from M/WBEs 
for the performance of the Contract. 

3. Required Submittals for Construction Contracts.  Within five (5) business days of bid 
opening the apparent low general bidder shall complete and submit to the BHA signed copies of 
the following documents (collectively, the "Required Submittals") contained in Section 00800B: 

 3.1 Attachment MWPP1, entitled "Contractor's Certification" ("Attachment 
MWPP1"), if not submitted with bid;   

3.2 Attachment MWPP2, entitled "MBE/WBE Utilization Form" ("Attachment 
MWPP2"); and 
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 3.3 Attachment MWPP3, entitled "Letter of Intent", for each MBE and WBE 
listed in the general bidder's Attachment MPP2 as providing materials and/or 
construction services for the project. 

 In addition, the BHA may request any other general bidder to make the Required 
Submittals and such general bidder shall do so within five (5) business days of receipt of the 
BHA's request.  The BHA shall make any such request in writing. 

4. Extension of Time for Submittal.  The apparent low general bidder may request an 
extension of time for making the Required Submittals, provided that: 

 4.1 The request is made in writing; and 

 4.2 Is made before the initial 5-day period for making the Required Submittals 
has expired; and 

 4.3 Sets out with specificity the reasons for the request. 

 The BHA will respond within two (2) business days of its receipt of a request for an 
extension of time.  If the BHA does not respond to the request for an extension of time in a 
timely manner, the general bidder will be deemed to have been granted an extension of five (5) 
business days. 

5. Penalty for Failure to Make Required Submittals.  Failure to submit the Required 
Submittals in a timely manner may cause the BHA to reject the general bidder's bid. 

6. Review of Required Submittals.  The BHA will review the Required Submittals for 
compliance with the BHA's MWPP.  Only MBEs and WBEs certified by the SDO or SDP will be 
deemed MBEs or WBEs for the purpose of demonstrating compliance with the MWPP. 

 If after reviewing the Required Submittals the BHA determines that a general bidder has 
not met the affirmative action obligations established for the job in accordance with MWPP 
requirements, the BHA may in the exercise of its discretion afford that bidder an opportunity to 
amend its Required Submittals by the addition, deletion and/or substitution of MBEs and/or 
WBEs. 

 If the BHA has permitted a general bidder to amend its Required Submittals by the 
addition, deletion and/or substitution of MBEs and/or WBEs, that bidder shall promptly submit to 
the BHA its amended Attachment MWPP2, together with an Attachment MWPP3 for each new 
MBE and/or WBE. 

7. Waiver of MBE/WBE Requirements.  If, despite a best faith effort, the apparent low 
general bidder or Contractor is unable to meet the MBE/WBE goals established for the job, it 
may request a waiver, either in full or in part, of the MBE/WBE goals, provided that: 

 7.1 The request is made in writing; and 

 7.2 Is made before the initial 5-day period for making the Required Submittals 
has expired; and 

 7.3 Is submitted with such of the Required Submittals as may be made; and 

 7.4 Sets out with specificity the reasons for the request. (Provide 
documentation demonstrating all the efforts undertaken including but not limited 
to the types and modes of outreach events to MBEs and/or WBEs, list of MBEs 
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and/or WBEs directly contacted, frequency and timeline of communication 
efforts, and any other compelling best faith efforts.)   

 Upon receiving a request for a waiver of the MBE/WBE goals established for the job, the 
BHA will determine whether there is reasonable cause to waive the MBE/WBE goals for the job, 
either in full or in part.  If in the exercise of its discretion the BHA determines that there is 
reasonable cause to grant the request for a waiver, it will notify the general bidder or Contractor 
in writing of its decision and its reasons therefor. 

 In no event will the BHA's failure to act on a request for a waiver of the MBE/WBE goals 
for a job be deemed a grant of such a waiver. 

8. Utilization of Minority and Women Workers.  The Contractor and each of its 
Subcontractors will take affirmative action to assure that the percentages set out in Section 
00800 of all person hours contributed in all job categories of construction work will be 
contributed by minority and women employees. 

9. Waiver of Minority Workforce Requirement.  If, despite its best efforts, the Contractor or 
any of its Subcontractors is unable to comply with the Minority workers requirements 
established for the job, the Contractor may request a waiver, either in full or in part, of such 
requirements, provided that: 

 9.1 The request is made in writing; and 

 9.2 Is made in a timely manner; and 

 9.3 Sets out with specificity the reasons for the request, including recruitment 
or outreach efforts undertaken.  

 Upon receiving a request for a waiver of the Minority workforce requirements established 
for the job, BHA will meet with the Contractor in order to determine whether there is reasonable 
cause to waive such requirements for the job, either in full or in part.  If in the exercise of its 
discretion the BHA determines that there is reasonable cause to grant the request for a waiver, 
it will notify the Contractor in writing of its decision and its reasons therefor. 

 In no event will BHA's failure to act on a request for a waiver of the Minority workforce 
requirements for a job be deemed a grant of such a waiver. 

10. Joint Venture Certification.  Upon the BHA's certification that a venture between an MBE 
and a non-minority-owned business, or between a WBE and a non-women-owned business, is 
as to form and substance, a legitimate joint venture, such a joint venture may be utilized, as 
provided herein, toward fulfillment of the goals established by the MWPP for the job.  If the 
Contractor or a Subcontractor is certified by the BHA as a legitimate joint venture, the creditable 
dollar amount of the work, goods or services performed or supplied by the MBE or WBE partner 
of the joint venture will be determined by the BHA in its sole discretion.  In taking its 
determination as to the dollar amount to credit toward the MWBE goals, the BHA will consider, 
among other things, the amount of the initial capital contribution of the MBE or WBE partner to 
the joint venture and the amount of joint venture proceeds to be distributed and actually 
distributed to said MBE/WBE partner of the joint venture.  The Contractor and any proposed 
parties to a joint venture shall provide to the BHA upon request such information or permit 
access by designees of the BHA, with or without prior notice, to any books, records, accounts, 
contracts or other sources of information necessary both to an initial determination or 
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certification and to on-going and final reviews of the business of the joint venture, in order to 
determine compliance with this Section 10. 

11. Compliance Monitoring after Contract Award 

 11.1 Prior to the execution of any Subcontract, whether prior to or after 
commencement of work under the Contract, the Contractor shall notify the BHA of the 
name, address, telephone number and MBE/WBE status of the Subcontractor with 
which it intends to contract for work and/or materials and/or supplies, the nature of the 
work and/or materials and/or supplies for which it intends to contract, the projected dates 
for commencement and completion of such work and/or provision of materials and/or 
supplies.  

11.2   A Contractor performing a construction contract shall also submit a completed 
and signed Attachment MWPP1A, entitled "Subcontractor's Certification" ("Attachment 
MWPP1A") for such Subcontractor.   

 11.3 At the end of each week following commencement of work under the Contract 
and continuing through to the completion of the work the General Contractor for a 
construction contract and each of its Subcontractors shall complete and submit to the 
BHA Attachment MWPP5, entitled "Weekly Utilization Report" ("Attachment MWPP5") 
showing for the preceding week the hours worked in each trade by each employee and 
identifying the minority status and sex of each such employee. 

 11.4 The Contractor shall submit with each application for payment under the Contract 
a completed and signed Attachment MWPP7, entitled "MBE/WBE Utilization Progress 
Report" ("Attachment MWPP7"). 

12. Increase in Contract Price.  If there is an increase in the Contract price attributable to the 
selection of one or more alternates and/or to the use of unit prices in awarding the Contract, the 
Contractor shall submit a revised Attachment MWPP2 to reflect the increased price and, where 
applicable, an Attachment MWPP3 for each new MBE and/or WBE, or for each MBE and/or 
WBE doing additional work and/or providing additional material and/or supplies to the 
Contractor for an increased price.  If there is an increase in the Contract price after execution 
attributable to change orders or other adjustments, the BHA may require the Contractor to 
submit a revised Attachment MWPP2 and, where applicable, new or revised Attachment 
MWPP3s. 

13. No Substitution for Designated MWPP Subcontractors.  Except with the prior express 
written consent of the BHA the Contractor shall not substitute for any MBE or WBE named in its 
Attachment MWPP2 as performing construction work or providing materials and/or supplies its 
own workforce or capacity or the workforce or capacity of any other subcontractor.  If the 
Contractor is unable, for reasons beyond its control, to complete the work of the Contract using 
the MBEs or WBEs named in its Attachment MWPP2, the Contractor may request that the BHA 
accept the addition, deletion and/or substitution of one or more MBEs or WBEs, or that the BHA 
waive the Contractor's MBE/WBE commitment under the MWPP to the extent necessary to 
bring the Contractor into compliance, or that the BHA accept an alternative commitment 
consistent with MWPP goals, provided that: 

 13.1  The request is made in writing; and 

 13.2  Is made promptly after the issue arises; and 
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 13.3  Sets out with specificity the reasons for the request. 

 Upon receiving such a request, the BHA may meet with the Contractor in order to 
determine whether there is reasonable cause to grant the request, either in full or in part, or it 
may make its determination based upon written submissions and/or telephone interviews.  If in 
the exercise of its discretion the BHA determines that there is reasonable cause to grant the 
Contractor's request, it will notify the Contractor in writing of its decision and its reasons 
therefor. 

 In no event will the BHA's failure to act on such a request be deemed a grant of the 
request. 

14. Enforcement. 

 14.1 If at any time the BHA determines that the Contractor is not in compliance with its 
obligations and commitments under the MWPP, it shall notify the Contractor in writing of 
such finding and of any sanctions it intends to apply.  Such written notice shall give the 
Contractor an opportunity to meet with representatives of the BHA to present information 
demonstrating that it is in compliance, or in mitigation of its failure to comply and shall 
appoint a time and place for such meeting, subject to the Contractor's availability.  The 
BHA may require the attendance of any Subcontractor at any such meeting. 

 14.2 Following any meeting held with a Contractor pursuant to Section 14.1 the BHA 
shall make a finding as to whether the Contractor is in compliance with its obligations 
and commitments under the MWPP and shall notify such Contractor in writing of such 
finding, the information upon which such finding was based and the sanctions, if any, it 
intends to apply.  Such finding shall be final and without recourse, unless it is made in 
bad faith and without reasonable cause. 

15. Penalties for Noncompliance.  If, during the term of the Contract the BHA determines 
that the Contractor is not in compliance with its obligations and commitments under the 
MWPP, the BHA may impose on the Contractor, or require the Contractor to impose on 
any Subcontractor, any one or more of the following penalties: 

 15.1 The recovery from the Contractor of one percent (1%) of the Contract price or 
$1,000.00, whichever is lesser, in the nature of liquidated damages for each week that 
the Contractor fails or refuses or has failed or refused to comply; or if a Subcontractor is 
in noncompliance, the recovery from the Contractor, to be assessed by the Contractor 
as a back charge against the Subcontractor, one  percent (1%) of the subcontract price, 
or $1,000.00, whichever is lesser, in the nature of liquidated damages for each week that 
the Subcontractor fails or refuses or has failed or refused to comply; 

 15.2 The suspension of any payment or part thereof due under the Contract, 
including, where applicable, payment of amounts that should have been paid to an MBE 
or WBE in accordance with the Contractor's commitment, until such time as the 
Contractor, or any Subcontractor, where applicable, is able to demonstrate its 
compliance with the terms of the MWPP; 

 15.3 Requiring the Contractor to subcontract with an MBE or WBE for any contract or 
specialty item, or to purchase any goods or services from an MBE or WBE in 
accordance with the MBE/WBE utilization goals for the Contract and/or the Contractor's 
commitment under the Contract to utilize MBEs and WBEs for the work of the Contract; 
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 15.4 The termination or cancellation of the Contract, in whole or in part, unless the 
Contractor or any Subcontractor, where applicable, is able to demonstrate within a 
reasonable specified time its compliance with its obligations and commitments under the 
MWPP; 

 15.5 The retention in connection with final acceptance and final payment of up to five 
percent (5%) of the Contract price (as adjusted by change orders or other amendments), 
where the Contractor and/or any Subcontractor has refused to demonstrate compliance 
with the Contractor's commitment under the Contract to utilize MBEs and WBEs in 
accordance with the MWPP; 

 15.6 Denial to the Contractor of the right to participate in any future contracts awarded 
by the BHA for a period of up to three (3) years. 

16. Access to Records and Documents.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors shall provide 
to the BHA upon the BHA's request access during regular business hours to any records, 
documents and other information prepared and/or kept by the Contractor and/or its 
Subcontractors in the regular course of business relevant to the Contractor's and/or its 
Subcontractors' compliance with the BHA's MWPP and shall promptly provide to the BHA upon 
its request copies of any and all such records, documents and other information. 

17. Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Requirements.  In addition to satisfying the 
specific requirements of this MWPP, the Contractor agrees to comply with all other applicable 
Federal, State or other governmental rules, regulations and requirements relating to equal 
opportunity and affirmative action in construction projects (see Section 00800C). 
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 SECTION 00800B 
 

MINORITY AND WOMEN’S PARTICIPATION PROVISION  
FORMS FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 

 
Attachments shall be submitted to BHA’s Contract Compliance Officer 

 
  TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ATTACHMENT MWPP1 Contractor’s Certification Submitted by apparent low 
general bidder within five (5) 
business days of bid opening. 

ATTACHMENT MWPP1A Subcontractor’s Certification Secured by general 
contractor from subcontractor. 
Submitted before the 
execution of subcontract. 
 

ATTACHMENT MWPP2 MBE/WBE Utilization Form Submitted by apparent low 
general bidder within five (5) 
business days of bid opening.  

ATTACHMENT MWPP3 Letter of Intent Submitted by apparent low 
general bidder within five (5) 
business days of bid opening. 

ATTACHMENT MWPP4 Quarterly Projected 
Workforce 

Submitted by the general 
contractor at a pre-
construction conference. 
Thereafter, submit before 
each quarter of work.  
 

ATTACHMENT MWPP5 Weekly Utilization Report Submitted by the general 
contractor and subcontractor 
five (5) days following the first 
week of the work. Thereafter, 
submitted weekly.  
 

ATTACHMENT MWPP6 Monthly Utilization Report Submitted by the general 
contractor and subcontractor 
by the fifth (5th) day of each 
month of the contract’s life. 
 

ATTACHMENT MWPP7 MBE/WBE Utilization 
Progress Report 

Submitted with each 
application for payment under 
the contract.  
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ATTACHMENT MWPP1 
Contractor's Certification    Bidder: _______________________ 

 
Name & Number of Project: _________________________________  

The purpose of Attachment MWPP1 is to demonstrate the bidder’s intent to comply with 
Section 00800 of the MWPP and perform the requirements set out in the Specifications.  

A bidder may not be eligible for award of a contract unless such bidder has submitted the 
following certification, which is deemed a part of the resulting contract. 

_______________________________________________certifies that: 

1. The bidder will use the following construction trades for the work under this contract: 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

2. The  Bidder will take affirmative action to meet the minority and women employment 
goals contained in Section 00800 of the MWPP; and 
 

3. The Bidder will obtain the subcontractor certification form (Attachment MWPP1A) from 
each of its subcontractors and submit it to the Boston Housing Authority prior to the 
award of any subcontract under this contract as required by the contract documents. 

NOTE: SUBMISSION OF THIS COMPLETED FORM IS A MATTER OF BID 
RESPONSIVENESS. FAILURE TO COMPLETE AND SUBMIT THIS FORM IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE MINORITY AND WOMEN’S PARTICIPATION PROVISION MAY CAUSE THE BID 
TO BE REJECTED.  

Signed under the pains and penalties of perjury,  

________________________________________________________________ 
(Signature of authorized representative of contractor) 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
(Title) 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
(Date) 
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ATTACHMENT MWPP1A 
Subcontractor’s Certification   Bidder:  ___________________________  
 

Name & Number of Project: _________________________________  
The purpose of Attachment MWPP1A is to demonstrate the subcontractor’s intent to comply 
with Section 00800 of the MWPP and perform the requirements set out in the Specifications.  

Regardless of tier, the prospective subcontractor must complete and submit the following 
certification to the General Contractor before the execution of any subcontract, which will be 
deemed a part of the resulting subcontract. 

_______________________________________________certifies that: 

4. The subcontractor will use the following construction trades for the work under this 
contract: 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

5. The subcontractor will comply with the minority and women employment goals contained 
in Section 00800 of the MWPP; and 

6. The subcontractor will obtain the subcontractor’s certification (MWPP1A) before 
awarding any subcontract under this subcontract, as required by the General Contractor. 

NOTE: SUBMISSION OF THIS COMPLETED FORM IS A MATTER OF BID 
RESPONSIVENESS. FAILURE TO COMPLETE AND SUBMIT THIS FORM IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE MINORITY AND WOMEN PARTICIPATION PROVISION MAY CAUSE THE BID TO 
BE REJECTED.  

Signed under the pains and penalties of perjury,  

________________________________________________________________ 
(Signature of authorized representative of contractor) 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
(Title) 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
(Date) 
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ATTACHMENT MWPP2 
MBE/MWE Utilization Form 
 
The purpose of Attachment MWPP2 is to demonstrate how the bidder will comply with Section 
00800 of the MWPP and perform the requirements set out in the Specifications. 
 
Name and Number of Project: __________________________________________________ 
Total Dollar Amount of Base Bid: _______________________________________________ 
Name of General Bidder: ______________________________________________________ 

  Address: ___________________________________________________________________ 
Phone(s): ___________________________________________________________________   

 
The bidder certifies that it will meet the Minority and Women Business Enterprise (M/WBE) 
goals contained in Section 00800 of the MWPP: 1) because it is an MBE and/or WBE as 
defined in the MWPP and/or 2) by contracting with the MBEs and WBEs listed below to provide 
the work, goods, or services indicated below at the prices indicated below. 
 
NOTE: ONLY WORK ACTUALLY PERFORMED BY A GENERAL CONTRACTOR THAT IS AN 
MBE OR A WBE MAY BE CREDITED TOWARD THE CONTRACTOR'S MWPP GOALS. THE 
CONTRACTOR'S STATUS AS AN MBE OR WBE MAY NOT BY ITSELF BE SUFFICIENT TO 
MEET MWPP GOALS. 
 

MBE supplying GOODS or NON-CONSTRUCTION 
SERVICES 
 
Name:  
 
Address:  
 
Phone:  

 
 
Type of GOODS:  
Price of GOODS: $ 
 
Type of SERVICES: 
Price of SERVICES: $ 
                                
                        Total: $ 

MBE providing CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
 
Name:  
 
Address:  
 
Phone:  

 
 
Type of CONSTRUCTION: 
*Price of CONSTRUCTION: $ 
 
**Grand Total of                  : $ 
GOODS, NON-                     
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, 
& CONSTRUCTION WORK 
 

 
* The total of construction work must be sufficient to meet the MBE subcontracting goals set forth in Section 00800 of 
the MWPP. 
** The Grand Total must be sufficient to meet the overall MBE percentage requirement set forth in Section 00800 of 
the MWPP. 
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WBE supplying GOODS or NON-CONSTRUCTION 
SERVICES 
 
Name:  
 
Address:  
 
Phone:  

 
 
Type of GOODS:  
Price of GOODS: $ 
 
Type of SERVICES: 
Price of SERVICES: $ 
                                
                        Total: $ 

WBE providing CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
 
Name:  
 
Address:  
 
Phone:  

 
 
Type of CONSTRUCTION: 
*Price of CONSTRUCTION: $ 
 
**Grand Total of                  : $ 
GOODS, NON-                     
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, 
& CONSTRUCTION WORK 
 

 
* The total of construction work must be sufficient to meet the MBE subcontracting goals set forth in Section 00800 of 
the MWPP. 
** The Grand Total must be sufficient to meet the overall MBE percentage requirement set forth in Section 00800 of 
the MWPP. 
 
NOTE: SUBMISSION OF THIS COMPLETED FORM IS A MATTER OF BID 
RESPONSIVENESS. FAILURE TO COMPLETE AND SUBMIT THIS FORM IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE MWPP MAY CAUSE THE BID TO BE REJECTED. FURTHERMORE, FAILURE TO 
INDICATE ABOVE DOLLAR AMOUNTS SUFFICIENT TO MEET BOTH PERCENTAGE 
GOALS OF SECTION 00800 OF THE MWPP MAY ALSO CAUSE THE BID TO BE 
REJECTED. 

Signed under the pains and penalties of perjury,  
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
(Signature of authorized representative of contractor) 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
(Title) 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
(Date) 
 

__________________________________________________________________ 
(Federal Identification Number) 
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ATTACHMENT MWPP3 
Letter of Intent 

Project Number: 

Name of General Contractor: 

Project Name: 

Name of M/WBE: 

1. The above-named Minority and/or Women Owned Business Enterprise agrees to perform 
work or supply goods and/or services in connection with the above-named project. The 
above-named General Contractor agrees to utilize the above-named Minority and/or Women 
Owned Business Enterprise in connection with the above named project. 

2. If the General Contractor and the Minority and/or Women Owned Business Enterprise will 
participate in the project as a joint venture, please attach a copy of the joint venture 
agreement and a copy of any financial agreements between corporate and personal 
members of the joint venture. 

3. The minority and/or women status of the above-named Minority and/or Women Owned 
Business Enterprise is certified by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts SDO) or the City of 
Boston Supplier Diversity Program (SDP) as: 

□ MBE    □ WBE   □ BOTH 
 

Itemized Description of work 
goods, or to be provided 

Contractors 
Labor 

Contractors 
Materials 

Suppliers 
Unit Price 

Suppliers 
Quantity 

Amount for 
Item 

      

                   Total Price: $ 

Signature of authorized representative of 
M/WBE 

Print Name and Title 

Date 

Federal Identification Number 

Signature of authorized representative of 
General Contractor 

Print Name and Title 

Date 

Federal Identification Number
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ATTACHMENT MWPP4 
Quarterly Projected Work Force Table 

 

Name and Number of Project: 
Name of General Contractor:  
Contractor filling out this form:  
Address:  
Phone(s):  
Trades Utilized:  
Estimate Total Hours to Complete Work:  
Total Contract Dollar Value:  
Quarter Begin:  
Quarter End:  
 
NOTE: Please identify the hours per trade, per week, for each trade individually.  

WEEK 
ENDING 

PROJECTED 
TOTAL HOURS BY 
ALL PERSONNEL 

PROJECTED TOTAL 
OF ALL MINORITY 
HOURS 

PROJECTED TOTAL 
OF ALL FEMALE 
HOURS 

TRADE 

     

 

THIS FORM MUST BE FILLED OUT BY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND ALL SUBCONTRACTORS AND 
PRESENTED AT THE PRE-CONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE.  
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ATTACHMENT MWPP5 
Weekly Utilization Report 

Date:         Report #:  
Week Of:       Percent Completed:  
To:         Project Date of Completion: 
 
Name of contractor ( ) or Subcontractor ( )  Ethnicity Codes: 1. Caucasian, 2. Black, 3. Hispanic, 4. Asian, 5. Other 

Address: Contractor’s Telephone No.:  
 

Project Name and Location:  
 

Project or Contract No.: 

 

Name, Address, 
SSN 

Sex Work 
Classifi
cation 

Ethni
city 
code 

OT 
ST 

S M T W T F S Total 
hours 

Rate 
of pay 

Gross 
amount 
earned 

FICA Withho
lding 
tax 

State 
W/H 

Union Total 
deduc
tions 

Net 
wage 
paid 

                     
        

                     
        

                     
        

                     
        

 
NAME & TITLE:____________________________ SIGNATURE: ______________________________  DATE: ____________ 

NOTE: THE WILLFUL FALSIFICATION OF ANY OF THE ABOVE STATEMENTS MAY SUBJECT THE CONTRACTOR OR SUBCONTRACTOR 
TO CIVIL OR CRIMINAL PROSECUTION. SEE SECTION 1001 OF TITLE 10 AND SECTION 231 OF TITLE 31 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE. 
This form must be completed in its entirety by all contractors and subcontractors and submitted to the BHA’s Contract Compliance Office each week 
during the life of this contract.  
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ATTACHMENT MWPP5 
Weekly Utilization Report (continued) 

I, __________________________________________________________, 
________________________________________ do hereby state:  

1. That I pay or supervise the payment of the person employed by 
_______________________________________on the 
__________________________________________________________ 
project, that during the payroll period commencing on the 
_____________________day of _____________________________, 
20_______ and ending the _________________ day of 
________________________, 20____________________ all persons 
employed on said project have been paid the full weekly wages earned, that 
no rebates have been or will be made either directly or indirectly to or on 
behalf of said ____________________________ from the full weekly 
wages earned by any person and that no deductions have been made either 
directly or indirectly from the full wages earned by any person, other than 
permissible deductions as defined in Regulations, Part 3 (29 CFR Subtitle 
A), issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act, as amended 
(48 Stat. 948, 63 Stat. 108, 72 Stat. 967, 76 Stat. 357, 40 U.S.C. 276c), and 
described below: 
____________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________
_________________________________ 

2. That any payrolls otherwise under this contract required to be submitted for 
the above period are correct and complete, that the wage rates for laborers 
or mechanics contained therein are not less than the applicable wage rates 
contained in any wage determination incorporated into the contract, that the 
classifications set forth therein for each laborer or mechanic conform with 
the work performed.  

3. That any apprentices employed in the above period are duly registered in a 
bona fide Apprenticeship program registered with a State Apprenticeship 
agency recognized by the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, United 
States Department of Labor, or if no such agency exists in a State, are 
registered with the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, United States 
Department of Labor. 

4. That:  
a. WHERE FRINGE BENEFITS ARE PAID TO APPROVED PLANS, 

FUNDS, OR PROGRAMS 

In addition to the basic hourly wage rates paid to each laborer mechanic 
listed in the above referenced payroll, payments or fringe benefits as 

listed in the contract have been or will be made to appropriate programs 
for the benefit of such employees expect as noted in Section 4 C below.  

b. WHERE FRINGE BENEFITS ARE PAID IN CASH 

In addition to the basic hourly wage rates paid to each laborer 
mechanic listed in the above referenced payroll, payments or fringe 
benefits as listed in the contract have been or will be made to 
appropriate programs for the benefit of such employees expect as 
noted in Section C below.  

c. EXCEPTIONS 

Exceptions (Craft) Explanation 

  

  

  

Remarks: 

 

 

 

NAME & TITLE SIGNATURE 

 

THE WILLFUL FALSIFICATION OF ANY OF THE ABOVE STATEMENTS MAY 
SUBJECT THE CONTRACTOR OR SUBCONTRACTOR TO CIVIL OR CRIMINAL 
PROSECURION. SEE SECTION 1001 OF TITLE 10 AND SECTION 231 OF TITLE 
31 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE.  
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ATTACHMENT MWPP5 
Weekly Utilization Report (continued)

GENERAL CONTRACTOR:         SUBCONTRACTOR:  
CONTRACT NUMBER:          LOCATION:  
WEEK ENDING:  
 

TRADES No. of  
employees 

Total Weekly 
Workforce 
Hours 

Female 
% of 
total 
weekly 
hours 

Female 
% of 
total 
hours to 
date 

Weekly 
no. Of 
minority 
workers 

Total 
weekly 
minority 
workforce 
hours 

Minority 
% of 
total 
weekly 
hours 

Total 
hours 
to 
date 

Total 
minority 
hours to 
date 

Minority 
% of 
total 
hours to 
date 

M F M F 

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

 

PREPARED BY:  
TITLE: 
DATE:  
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Instructions for Filling Monthly Employment Utilization Report (Attachment MWPP6) 
The Monthly Utilization Report is to be completed by each subject contractor (both prime and sub) and signed by a 
responsible official of the company. The reports are to be filed by the 5th day of each month during the term of the 
contract, and they shall include the total work-hours for each employee classification in each trade in the covered area 
for the monthly reporting period. The prime contractor shall submit a report for its aggregate work force and collect and 
submit reports for each subcontractor's aggregate work force to the Federal compliance agency that has Executive 
Order 11246 responsibility. (Additional copies of this form may be obtained from the U.S. Department of Labor, 
Employment Standards Administration, OFCCP's regional office for your area.) 

Compliance Agency U.S. Government agency assigned responsibility for equal 
Employment opportunity. (Secure this information from the 
contracting officer.) 

Federal Funding Agency U.S. Government agency funding project (in whole or in part). 
If more than one agency, list all.  
 

Contractor Any contractor who has a construction contract with the U.S. 
Government or a contract funded in whole or in part with 
Federal funds. 
 

Minority Includes Blacks, Hispanics, American Indians, Alaskan 
Natives, and Asian and Pacific Islands-both men and women 

1. Covered Area Geographic area identified in Notice required under 41 CFR 60-
4.2. 
 

2. Employer’s Identification Number Federal Social Security number used on Employer's Quarterly 
Federal 
Tax Return (U.S. Treasury Department Form 941). 
 

3. Current Goals (Minority & Female) See Contact Notification 

4. Reporting Period Monthly, or as directed by the compliance agency, beginning 
with the effective date of the contract. 
 

5. Construction Trade Only those construction crafts which contractor employs in the 
covered area. 
 

6. Work Hours of Employment (a-e) a. The total number of male hours and the total number of 
female hours worked by employees in each classification. 
b.- e. The total number of male hours and the total number of 
female hours worked by each specified group of minority 
employees in each classification 
 

               Classification The level of accomplishment or status of the worker in the trade 
(Journey Worker, Apprentice, Trainee). 
 

7. Minority Percentage The percentage of total minority work hours of all work-hours 
(the sum of columns b, c, and e divided by column a; just one 
figure for each construction trade). 
 

8. Female Percentage For each trade the number reported in a. F divided by the sum 
of the number reported in a. M and F. 
 

9. Total Number of Employees Total number of male and total number female employees 
working in each classification in each trade in the contractor's 
aggregate work force during reporting period. 
 

10. Total Number of Minority Employees Total number of male minority employees and total number of 
female minority employees working in each classification in 
each trade in the contractor's aggregate work force during 
reporting period.  
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 ATTACHMENT MWPP6 
Monthly Employment Utilization Report  

Project Number Covered Area (MA or EA) This report is required by Executive Order 11246, Sec. 203. This form replicates 
form CC-257 by the U.S. Department of Labor Office of Federal Contract Compliance 
Programs. Failure to report can result in contracts being canceled, terminated, 
suspended, and/or declared ineligible for further Government contracts or federally 
assisted construction contracts.  

Name and Address of Contractor Reporting 

 

List Worksite Address/Location 
  

Employer’s ID # 

 

Current Goals 
 
Minority:  
Female: 

Reporting Period 

From: 

To: 
1. 

 
Construction Trade 

 
 
Classifications 

Total Federal and Non-Federal Construction Work Hours Percentages Employees 
a. 
Total Work Hours 
of All Employees 
By Trade 

b. 
Black (Not 
of Hispanic 
Origin) 

c. 
Hispanic 

d. Asian 
or Pacific 
Islander 

e. 
American 
Indian or 
Alaskan Native 

2. 
Minority 
Percentage 

3. 
Female 
Percentage 

4. 
Total 
Number of 
Employees 

5. 
Total Number of 
Minority 
Employees 

M F M F M F M F M F 
 

M F M F 
 Journey Worker                 

Apprentice                 

Trainee                 

 Journey Worker                 

Apprentice                 

Trainee                 

 Journey Worker                 

Apprentice                 

Trainee                 

 Journey Worker                 

Apprentice                 

Trainee                 

 Journey Worker                 

Apprentice                 

Trainee                 

Total Journey Workers 
                

Total Apprentices 
                

Total Trainees 
                

Grand Total 
         

Company Official’s Signature and Title Telephone Number Date Signed Page 
of 
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ATTACHMENT MWPP7 
MBE/WBE Utilization Progress Report 

Project Number: 
Project Location: 
Date:  
Periodical Payment No.: 

a) Contractor:  
 

b) Minority and/or Women Business Enterprise:  

 
One copy of this report is to be submitted for each Minority and/or Women Business Enterprise 
at the time of submitting a request for payment. Copies of the report must be sent to the Minority 
Business Enterprise named above and the Contract Compliance Department. 
 

1. The total price to be paid to the above-name     Minority and/or      Women Business 
Enterprise: $ 
 

2. The amount remitted to the Minority and/or Women Business Enterprise as of the above 
date for work performed under this project: $ 
 

3. Balance due to Minority and/or Women Business Enterprises as of the above date for 
work performed under the above-named project: $ 
 

4. Comments or explanation of amounts indicated under items 1 and 2 above: 

 

 

5. We hereby certify that the information supplied herein (including pages attached) is 
correct and complete.  
 

Contractor:                     Minority Business Enterprise:  

_____________________________    _______________________________ 
Signed        Signed 
 
_____________________________    _______________________________ 
Title        Title 
 
_____________________________    _______________________________ 
Date        Date 
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SECTION 00800C 

 
MINORITY AND WOMEN’S PARTICIPATION PROVISION 

 
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION REQUIREMENTS 

 
Federally-Assisted Contracts over $10,000 only 

 
 

 
Page C-2 to C-3   Notice of Requirement for Affirmative Action 

to Ensure Equal Employment Opportunity 
(Executive Order 11246) 

 
Page C-4 to C-5   Equal Opportunity Clause 
 
Page C-6 to C-11   Standard Federal Equal Employment 

Opportunity Construction Contract 
Specifications 

 
Page C-12 to C-13   Instructions to Contractors Subject to 

Federal Bid Conditions 
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NOTICE OF REQUIREMENT FOR AFFIRMATIVE ACTION 
 

TO ENSURE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 
 

(Executive Order 11246) 
 

1. The CONTRACTOR'S attention is called to the "Equal Opportunity Clause" and 
"Standard Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications" 
set forth in this part. 

 
2. The goals1 and timetables for minority and female participation, expressed in percentage 

terms for the CONTRACTOR'S aggregate workforce in each trade on all construction 
work in the covered area, are as follows: 

 
GOALS FOR FEMALE PARTICIPATION IN EACH TRADE 

(Nationwide) 
 
UNTIL FURTHER NOTICE, the following goals and timetables for female participation shall be 
included in all Federal or Federally-assisted construction contracts and subcontracts in excess 
of ten thousand ($10,000) dollars.  The goals are applicable to the Contractor's aggregate on-
site construction work on a Federal or Federally-assisted construction contract or subcontract. 
 
The goal for female participation for each trade is 6.9%. 
 

GOALS FOR MINORITY PARTICIPATION IN EACH TRADE 
(Boston, Massachusetts Area) 

 
UNTIL FURTHER NOTICE, the following goals and timetables for minority participation shall be 
included in all Federal or Federally-assisted construction contracts and subcontracts in excess 
of ten-thousand ($10,000) dollars.  The goals are applicable to the contractor's aggregate on-
site construction work force whether or not the part of that workforce is performing work on a 
Federal or Federally-assisted construction contract or subcontract. 
 
GOALS AND TIMETABLES (EFFECTIVE UNTIL FURTHER NOTICE) 
 
The goal for minority participation for each trade is 4.0%. 
 
These goals are applicable to all the CONTRACTOR'S construction work (whether or not it is 
Federal or Federally-assisted) performed in the covered area.  The covered area is Boston, MA. 
 
                                                
1 According to 41 C.F.R. § 60-4 Appendix B-80, the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs (OFCCP) set 
nationwide goals for female participation at 6.9% and goals for Boston, MA, economic area for minority participation 
at 4.0%. On December 30, 1980, OFCCP extended the goals established in 41 C.F.R. 60-4 to “until further notice” 
and remain in effect. However, the BHA has established higher overall workforce goals that are set out in Section 
00800 and that do not conflict with the goals specified herein. See U.S. DEP’T. OF LAB. FED. CONT. COMPLIANCE 
PROGRAMS, CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTORS TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE GUIDE, app. P (2019) 
https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ofccp/Construction/files/ConstructionTAG.pdf (clarifying that “The percentage 
goal a contractor establishes for minority participation must be at least equal to the percentage established for that 
geographic area….Contractors may establish higher goals if they desire.”).  
 

https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ofccp/Construction/files/ConstructionTAG.pdf
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The Contractor's Compliance with the Executive Order and the regulations in 41 CFR Part 60-4 
shall be based on its implementation of the Equal Opportunity Clause, specific affirmative action 
obligations required by the specifications set forth in 41 CFR 60-4.3 (a) and its efforts to meet 
the goals established for the geographical area where the contract is to be performed.  The 
hours of minority and female employment and training must be substantially uniform throughout 
the length of the contract in each trade, and the CONTRACTOR shall make a good faith effort to 
employ minorities and women evenly on each of its projects.  The transfer of minority or female 
employees or trainees from contractor to contractor or from project to project for the sole 
purpose of meeting the contractor's goals shall be a violation of the contract, the Executive 
Order and the regulations in 41 CFR part 60-4.  Compliance with the goals will be measured 
against the total work hours performed. 
 
3 The CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to the Director of the Office of 

Federal Contract Compliance Programs within ten (10) working days of award of any 
construction subcontract in excess of $10,000 at any tier for construction work under the 
prime contract.  The notification shall list the name, address and telephone number of 
the subcontractor; employer identification number; estimated dollar amount of the 
subcontract; estimated starting and completion dates of the subcontract; and the 
geographical area in which the contract is to be performed. 

 
4. As used in this Notice, and in the contract, the covered area is Arlington, Boston, 

Belmont, Brookline, Burlington, Cambridge, Canton, Reading, Revere, Somerville, 
Stoneham, Wakefield, Westwood, Winthrop, Winchester, Woburn, and the Islands of 
Boston Harbor, Massachusetts. 
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EQUAL OPPORTUNITY CLAUSE 
 
During the performance of the contract, the contractor agrees as follows: 
 
1. The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take 
affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are 
treated during employment without regard to their race, color, religion, sex or national 
origin.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following:  Employment, 
upgrading, demotion, or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 
termination; rates of pay, or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, 
including apprenticeship.  The contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available 
to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided setting forth the 
provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

 
2. The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 

behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex or national origin. 

 
3. The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he 

has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract for understanding, a notice to be 
provided advising the said labor union of workers' representatives of the contractors' 
commitments under this section and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous 
places available to employees and applicants for employment. 

 
4. The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 

1965, and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 
 
5. The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 

of September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of 
Labor. 

 
6. In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this 

contract or with any or the said rules, regulations, or orders, the contractor may be 
cancelled, terminated, or suspended in whole or in part and the contractor may be 
declared ineligible for further Government contracts or federally-assisted construction 
contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked 
as provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or 
order of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

 
7. The contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph 

(1) and the provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or purchase 
order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued 
pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such 
provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor.  The contractor will take 
such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the administering 
agency may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for 
noncompliance; provided however, that in the event a subcontractor becomes involved 
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in, or is threatened with litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such 
direction by the administering agency, the contractor may request the United States to 
enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 
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STANDARD FEDERAL EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
 

OPPORTUNITY CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS 
 

(EXECUTIVE ORDER 11246) 
 
 
1. As used in these specification: 
 

a. Covered Area means the geographical area described in the contract agreement. 
 
b. Director means Director, Office of Federal Contract Compliance Program, United 

States Department of Labor, or any person to whom the Director delegates 
authority. 

 
c. Employer Identification Number means the Federal Social Security Number used 

on the Employer's Quarterly Federal Tax Return, U.S. Treasury Department 
Form 941. 

 
d. Minority includes: 
 

I. Black (all persons having origins in any of the Black African racial groups 
not of Hispanic origin). 

 
II. Hispanic (all persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central or other 

Spanish Culture or origin regardless of race). 
 
III. Asian and Pacific Islander (all persons having origin in any of the original 

peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian subcontinent or the 
Pacific Islands). 

 
IV. American Indian or Alaskan Native (all persons having origins in any of 

the original peoples of North America and maintaining identifiable tribal 
affiliations through membership and participation of community 
identification). 

 
2. Whenever the Contractor or any Subcontractor at any Tier subcontracts a portion of the 

work involving any construction trade, it shall physically include in each subcontract in 
excess of $10,000 the provisions of these specifications and the notice which contains 
the applicable goals for minority and female participation and which is set forth in this 
contract agreement. 

 
3. If the Contractor is participating (pursuant to 41 CFR 60-4.5) in a Hometown Plan 

approved by the U.S. Department of Labor in the covered area either individually or 
through an association, its affirmative action obligations on all work in the Plan area 
(including goals and timetables) shall be in accordance with that Plan for those trades 
which have union participating in the Plan.  Contractors must be able to demonstrate 
their participation in and compliance with the provisions of any such Hometown Plan.  
Each Contractor or Subcontractor participating in an approved plan is individually 
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required to comply with its obligations under the EEO clause, and to make a good faith 
effort to achieve each goal under the plan in each trade in which it has employees.  The 
overall good faith performance by other Contractors or Subcontractors toward a goal in 
an approved Plan does not excuse any covered Contractor's or Subcontractor's failure to 
take good faith efforts to achieve the Plan goals or timetables. 

 
4. The Contractor shall implement the specific affirmative action standards provided in 

paragraphs 7(a) through (p) of these specifications.  The goals set forth in this part are 
expressed as percentages of the total hours of employment and training of minority and 
female utilization.  The Contractor should reasonably be able to achieve in each 
construction trade in which it has employees in the covered area.  The Contractor is 
expected to make substantially uniform progress toward its goals in each craft during the 
period specified. 

 
5. Neither the provisions of any collective bargaining agreement, nor the failure by a union 

with whom the Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement to refer either minorities 
or women shall excuse the Contractor's obligations under these specifications, Executive 
Order 11246 or the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. 

 
6. In order for the non-working training hours of apprentices and trainees to be counted in 

meeting the goals, such apprentices and trainees must be employed by the Contractor 
during the training period and the Contractor must have made a commitment to employ 
the apprentices and trainees at the completion of their training, subject to the availability 
of employment opportunities. Trainees must be trained pursuant to training programs 
approved by the U.S. Department of Labor. 

 
7. The Contractor shall take specific affirmative actions to ensure equal employment 

opportunity. The evaluation of the Contractor's compliance with these specifications shall 
be based upon its efforts to achieve maximum results from its actions. The Contractor 
shall document these efforts fully and shall implement affirmative action steps at least as 
extensive as the following:  

 
 a.  Ensure and maintain a working environment free of harassment, intimidation and 

coercion at all sites and in all facilities at which the Contractor's employees are 
assigned to work.  The Contractor where possible, will assign two or more 
women to each construction project.  The Contractor shall specifically ensure that 
all foremen, superintendents, and other on-site supervisory personnel are aware 
of and carry out the Contractor's obligation to maintain such a working 
environment, with specific attention to minority or female individuals working at 
such sites or in such facilities. 

 
b. Establish and maintain a current list of minority and female recruitment sources 

and to community organizations when the Contractor or its unions have 
employed opportunities available, and maintain a record of the organization's 
responses. 

 
c. Maintain a current file of the names, addresses and telephone numbers of each 

minority and female applicant and minority or female referral from a union, a 
recruitment source or community organization and of what action was taken with 



 
BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY 

 

BHA MPPC 1/96 UPDATED 10/22                              MWPP 
   00800C- 8 of 12 

respect to each such individual.  If such individual was sent to the union hiring 
hall for referral and was not referred back to the Contractor by the union or, if 
referred, not employed by the Contractor, this shall be documented in the file with 
the reason therefor, along with whatever additional actions the Contractor may 
have taken. 

 
d. Provide immediate written notification to the Director when the union with which 

the Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement has not referred to the 
Contractor a minority person or women sent by the Contractor, or when the 
Contractor has other information that the union referral process has impeded the 
Contractor's efforts to meet its obligations. 

 
e. Develop on-the-job training opportunities and participate in training programs for 

the area which expressly include minorities and women, including upgrading 
programs and apprenticeship and trainee programs relevant to the Contractor's 
employment needs, especially those programs funded or approved by the 
Department of Labor.  The Contractor shall provide notice of these programs to 
the sources compiled under 7(b) above. 

 
f. Disseminate the Contractor's EEO policy by providing notice of the policy to 

unions and training programs and requesting their cooperation in assisting the 
Contractor in meeting its EEO obligations; by including it in any policy manual 
and collective bargaining agreement; by publicizing it in the company newspaper, 
annual report, etc.; by specific review of the policy with all management 
personnel and with all minority and female employees at least once a year, and 
by posting the company EEO policy on bulletin boards accessible to all 
employees at each location where construction work is performed. 

 
g. Review, at least annually, the company's EEO policy and affirmative action 

obligations under these specifications with all employees having any 
responsibility for hiring, assignment, layoff, termination or other employment 
decisions including specific review of these items with on-site supervisory 
personnel such as Superintendents, General Foreman, etc., prior to the initiation 
of construction work at any job site.  A written record shall be made and 
maintained identifying the time and place of these meetings, persons attending, 
subject matter discussed, and disposition of the subject matter. 

 
h. Disseminate the Contractor's EEO policy externally by including it in any 

advertising in the news media, specifically including minority and female news 
media, and providing written notification to and discussing the Contractor's EEO 
policy with other Contractors and Subcontractors with whom the Contractor does 
or anticipates doing business. 

 
i. Direct its recruitment efforts, both oral and written, to minority, female, and 

community organizations, to schools with minority and female students, and to 
minority and female recruitment and training organizations serving the 
Contractor's recruitment area and employment needs.  Not later than one month 
prior to the date for the acceptance of applications for apprenticeship or other 
training by any recruitment source, the Contractor shall send written notification 
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to organizations, such as the above, describing the openings, screening 
procedures, and tests to be used in the selection process. 

 
j. Encourage present minority and female employees to recruit other minority 

persons and women and, where reasonable, provide after-school, summer and 
vacation employment to minority and female youth both on the site and in other 
areas of a Contractor's work force. 

 
k. Validate all tests and other selection requirements where there is an obligation to 

do so under 41 CFR Part 60-3. 
 
l. Conduct, at least annually, an inventory and evaluation at least of all minority and 

female personnel for promotional opportunities and encourage these employees 
to seek or prepare for, through appropriate training, etc., such opportunities. 

 
m. Ensure that seniority practices, job classifications, work assignments and other 

personnel practices, do not have a discriminatory effect by continually monitoring 
all personnel and employment related activities to ensure that the EEO policy 
and the Contractor's obligations under these specifications are being carried out. 

 
n. Ensure that all facilities and company activities are nonsegregated except that 

separate or single-user toilet and necessary changing facilities shall be provided 
to assure privacy between the sexes. 

 
o. Document and maintain a record of all solicitations of offers for subcontracts from 

minority and female construction contractors and suppliers, including circulation 
of solicitations to minority and female contractors association and other business 
associations. 

 
p. Conduct a review, at least annually, of all supervisor's adherence to and 

performance under the Contractor's EEO policies and affirmative action 
obligations. 

 
8. Contractors are encouraged to participate in voluntary associations which assist in 

fulfilling one or more of the affirmative action obligations (7(b) through (p)).  The efforts 
of a contractor association, joint contractor-union, contractor community, or other similar 
group of which the Contractor is a member or participant, may be asserted as fulfilling 
any one or more of its obligations under 7(a) through (p) of these Specifications provided 
that the Contractor actively participates in the group, makes every effort to assure that 
the group has a positive impact on the employment of minorities and those in the 
industry, ensures that the concrete benefits of the program are reflected in the 
Contractor's minority and female work force participation, makes a good faith effort to 
meet its individual goals and timetables and can provide access to documentation which 
demonstrates the effectiveness of action taken on behalf of the Contractor.  The 
obligation to comply, however, is the Contractor's and failure of such a group to fulfill an 
obligation shall not be a defense for the Contractor's non-compliance. 

 
9. A single goal for minorities and a separate single goal for women have been established.  

The Contractor, however, is required to provide equal employment opportunity and to 
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take affirmative action for all minority groups, both male and female, and all women, both 
minority and non-minority.  Consequently, the Contractor may be in violation of the 
Executive Order if a particular group is employed in a substantially disparate manner (for 
example, even though the Contractor has achieved its goals for women generally, the 
Contractor may be in violation of the Executive Order if a specific minority group of 
women is underutilized). 

 
10. The Contractor shall not use the goals and timetables or affirmative action standards to 

discriminate against any person because of race, color, religion, sex or national origin. 
 
11. The Contractor shall not enter into any subcontract with any person or firm debarred 

from Government contracts pursuant to Executive Order 11246. 
 
12. The Contractor shall carry out such sanctions and penalties for violation of these 

Specifications and of the Equal Opportunity Clause, including suspension, termination 
and cancellation of existing subcontracts as may be imposed or ordered pursuant to 
Executive Order 11246, as amended, and its implementing regulations, by the Office of 
Federal Contract Compliance Programs.  Any Contractor who fails to carry out such 
sanctions and penalties shall be in violation of these Specifications and Executive Order 
11246, as amended. 

 
13. The Contractor, in fulfilling its obligation under these Specifications, shall implement 

specific affirmative action steps, at least as extensive as those standards prescribed in 
paragraph 7 of these Specifications, so as to achieve maximum results from its efforts to 
ensure equal employment opportunity.  If the Contractor fails to comply with the 
requirements of the Executive Order, the implementing regulations, of these 
Specifications, the Director shall proceed in accordance with 41 CFR 60-4.8. 

 
14. The Contractor shall designate a responsible official to monitor all employment related 

activity to ensure that the company EEO policy is being carried out, to submit reports 
relating to the provisions hereof, as may be required by the Government and to keep 
records.  Records shall at least include for each employee the name, address, telephone 
number, construction trade, union affiliation if any, employee identification number when 
assigned, social security, race, sex, status (e.g. mechanic, apprentice, trainee, helper, or 
laborer), dates of changes in status, hours worked per week in the indicated trade, rate 
of pay and locations at which the work was performed.  Records shall be maintained in 
an easily understandable and retrievable form; however, to the degree that existing 
records satisfy this requirement, contractors shall not be required to maintain separate 
records. 

 
15. Nothing herein provided shall be construed as a limitation upon the application of other 

laws which establish different standards of compliance or upon the application of 
requirements for the hiring of local or other area residents (e.g. those under the Public 
Works Employment Act of 1977 and the Community Development Block Grant 
Program). 
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INSTRUCTIONS TO CONTRACTORS SUBJECT 
TO FEDERAL BID CONDITIONS2 

 
 
Within ten (10) working days of the award of a subcontract in excess of $10,000, the contractor 
must submit a "Notice of Award of Construction Subcontract" to: 
 
  Assistant Regional Administrator 
  Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs 
  U.S. Department of Labor 
  JFK Federal Building, Room 1612C 
  Boston, MA  02203    (617) 223-5272 
 
In addition, all contractors and subcontractors subject to the Federal EEO Bid Conditions are 
required to file the Standard Form 257.  The instructions for filing this Monthly Employment 
Utilization Report are as follows: 
 
a. The report is to be completed by each subject contractor (both prime and 

subcontractors), signed by a responsible official of the company, and filed by the fifth 
day of each month during the term of the contract, beginning the effective date of the 
contract.  This report includes the total work hours worked for each employee level in 
each designated trade for the entire reporting period.  The contractor submits a report for 
its aggregate work force on all Federally-funded or assisted construction contracts and 
all non-Federal construction work within the particular Bid Condition area, and collects 
from subcontractors performing work on a Federally-assisted construction project their 
individual SF-257 reports of aggregate workforce in the Bid Condition area, and submits 
them with its own report to: 

 
  Assistant Regional Administrator 
  Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs 
  U.S. Department of Labor 
  JFK Federal Building, Room 1612C 
  Boston, MA 02203 
 
 Subcontractors should not individually submit these reports directly to HUD. 
 
b. Attach to the Standard Form 257 a one time listing of all Federally-funded or assisted 

contracts within the particular Bid Condition area by agency, contract and/or project 
number, location, dollar volume, percent completed, completion date, and a similar 
listing of all non-Federal work being performed in that area.  Monthly reports thereafter 
should only include a listing of new contracts (both federal and non Federal) received 

                                                
2 Forms referred to in these instructions are available from: 
 

  U.S. Department of Labor-Area Office 
  Office of Contract Compliance 
  507 J.W. McCormack Post Office and Court House Building 
  Boston, MA  02109   (617) 223-1481 
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and current contracts completed. 
 
c. If there is no work in a craft in the contractor's aggregate workforce for the reporting 

month, indicate this lack of work by placing a zero (0) in the appropriate column. 
 
d. Label the final report for a contractor or subcontractor FINAL REPORT-

CONTRACT/SUBCONTRACT COMPLETED. 
 
e. Enter your employer identification number (Federal Social Security number used on the 

Employers Quarterly Tax Return, U.S. Treasury Department Form 941) in item 1 of the 
Standard Form 257. 

 
f. Minority is defined as including Blacks, Hispanics, Asians/Pacific Islanders and 

American Indians, Aleuts, Cape Verdeans, and Eskimos. 
 
g. The procedure for assigning OFCCP identification numbers to each contract awarded 

has been cancelled, and the project names and OFCCP number are no longer required 
to be reported on the SF-257. 

 
Construction contractors and subcontractors performing work subject to the requirements of 
Executive Order 11246 in non-plan areas are also required to file SF-257 forms on a monthly 
basis.  The procedure for filing the form is identical to that outlined above except that the 
geographic area for reporting is the Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA) (or county, 
where no SMSA exists) in which the Federally-assisted construction contract is being 
performed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DB1/ 132812475.12 
 

 

17 

 
 

EXHIBIT O 
 

BHA RESIDENT EMPLOYMENT PROVISION 
 

[TO BE ATTACHED AT TIME OF LEASE EXECUTION] 
 

 



EXHIBIT N



 

 
Boston Housing Authority 

                                ATTACHMENT C-c                      

SECTION 3 PROVISION—RFP v2021 
i 

BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY 

SECTION 3 PROVISION 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

           Page       

Program Summary ii 

Part 1: Definitions 1 

Part 2: Training and Employment Preferences for Section 3 Workers 3 

Part 3: Contract Preference for Section 3 Business Concerns 4 

Part 4: Procedures Prior to Contract Execution 5 

Part 5: Compliance Monitoring After Notice to Proceed 6 

Part 6: Enforcement 7 

Part 7: Sanctions 7 

Part 8: Other Provisions 8 

Part 9: Section 3 Clause 9 

Part 10: Section 3 Provision Submission Forms   10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Boston Housing Authority 

                                ATTACHMENT C-c                      

SECTION 3 PROVISION—RFP v2021 
ii 

   SUMMARY 
1.01 GENERAL 
 
A. This section summarizes the Boston Housing Authority (“BHA”) Section 3 Provision 
("S3P").  The S3P describes BHA’s implementation of section 3 of the Housing and Urban 
Development Act of 1968 (“Section 3”).  Section 3 is a federal law that requires contractors, to the 
greatest extent feasible, to hire and/or train low and very low income persons in Boston or 
adjacent neighborhoods, employees of Section 3 Business Concern, and YouthBuild Participants 
("Section 3 Worker"); BHA residents and BHA lease voucher participants (“Targeted Section 3 
Worker”); and to offer subcontracts to business concerns owned or operated largely by Section 3 
Workers or Targeted Section 3 Workers ("Section 3 Business Concerns"). All persons 
submitting a proposal in response to BHA's Request For Proposal ("Proposers", 
"Consultants" and/or "Contractors") are advised to consult the S3P for the specific requirements 
that apply to them. Section 3 and this S3P apply to all BHA contractors. The S3P will be 
incorporated into the contract to be awarded by the BHA (the “Contract” or the “Section 3 
Contract”) and contains both pre- and post-contract award requirements.   
 
B. In addition to this Summary section, proposers, consultants, and contractors are required 
to review all sections of the S3P in order to be fully advised of all S3P procurement phase and 
contract phase requirements. Other duties and requirements of law which may not be specified 
in this section or the S3P apply and are inherently made part of the Contract. 
 
1.02 PREFERENCES FOR SECTION 3 WORKERS AND SECTION 3 BUSINESS  
 CONCERNS 

The S3P is appended to this section and is numbered 1 through 19. Together with this 
section, the S3P sets out certain employment, training and contracting requirements for the 
Contract. All proposers are required to comply with the terms of the S3P. 
 
A. Training and Employment Preference for Section 3 Workers and Targeted Section 3 
Workers. 
 
1. The Contractor shall, to the greatest extent feasible, provide employment and training 
opportunities to Section 3 Workers. The Contractor will be in compliance with the training and 
employment requirement when, to the greatest extent feasible, at least twenty-five (25) percent 
or more of the total number of labor hours worked by all Workers on a Section 3 project 
are Section 3 Workers; and Five (5) percent or more are Targeted Section 3 Workers. All 
training efforts must facilitate and promote the hiring percentages. 
 2. The S3P establishes certain requirements for outreach to Section 3 Workers and 
Targeted Section 3 Workers by the Contractor and for the documentation of such outreach efforts.  
Consult Part 2.2 of the S3P for these requirements.  
 3. The S3P establishes an order of priority for the Contractor for making any new hire 
under the Contract.  Consult Part 2.3 of the S3P for the order of priority in making offers of new 
hires. 
 
B. Contract Preference for Section 3 Business Concerns. 
 
 1. The Contractor shall, to the greatest extent feasible, give preference to Section 
3 business concerns when entering into any contract in connection with a Section 3 covered 
activity. When contracting with Section 3 Business Concerns, recipients will follow the order of 
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priority outlined below:  
1. Section 3 Business Concerns that provide economic opportunities for residents of 

the BHA development subject to the project for which the assistance is provided 
(category 1); 

2. Section 3 Business Concerns that provide economic opportunities for residents of 
other BHA developments or BHA’s leased housing program (category 2); 

3. HUD YouthBuild programs being carried out in the Boston metropolitan area 
(category 3); 

4. Section 3 Business Concerns that provide economic opportunities to Section 3 
Workers residing within the Boston metropolitan area (category 4).  

As with the Section 3 Worker and Targeted Section 3 Worker hiring preferences, Contractors are 
required to contract in the priority outline established above and must document instances where 
available higher category business concerns were available but not used.   
 2. The S3P establishes certain requirements for outreach to Section 3 Business 
Concerns by the Contractor and for the documentation of such outreach efforts.  Consult Part 3.2 
of the S3P for these requirements. 
 
1.03 PROCEDURES PRIOR TO CONTRACT AWARD AND EXECUTION 
 
 1. All proposers are required under the S3P to make certain submittals to the BHA 
and to attend an Implementation Meeting with the BHA prior to contract award.  Consult Parts 4 
and 5 of the S3P for these requirements for more details regarding these requirements. 
 
 2. A schedule of procedures prior to contract execution is indicated below: 

 
Step Event Submission of Form 

1 Proposal Due Date Form 1 (Part 4.1.1) 

 
2 

 
BHA Notification 

Form 2 (Part 4.1.3) 
Section 3 Compliance Plan (for 

proposals valued over $100,000) within 
10 business days 

3 BHA Approval/Disapproval of Section 
3 forms and Section 3 Compliance 

Plan 

 

 
The S3P forms submission schedule is provided solely as a convenience for proposers and in no 
way changes, affects, or supersedes the provisions contained in the S3P or any other section or 
provision of the Request For Proposals. All proposers are strongly encouraged to read the S3P 
thoroughly to ensure compliance with all applicable requirements. 
 
1.04 SECTION 3 PROVISION FORMS 
 
The S3P forms are appended to Part 10 of the S3P.  Bidders and contractors are required to 
submit the various S3P forms during the proposal submission phase, contract award phase and 
contract administration phase in the manner described in the S3P, time being of the essence. 
 
1.05 SECTION 3 CLAUSE. 
 
The Contractor is required to include information entitled the “Section 3 Clause” in all contracts 
and subcontracts related to the Contract.  The Section 3 Clause is printed at Part 10 of the S3P. 
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1.06 MISCELLANEOUS 
 
No provision of this S3P shall be interpreted or construed to create or establish an employment, 
agency or contractual relationship of any type or nature between the BHA and any Section 3 
Worker, Targeted Section 3 Worker and/or any Section 3 Business Concern. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

END OF S3P SUMMARY SECTION
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1.  Definitions. 
 
For the purposes of this S3P, the following terms have the following meanings: 

1) Authority or BHA means the Boston Housing Authority. 
 

2) BHA leased housing participant means an individual or family that has been admitted to and 
is currently assisted by a housing program administered by the BHA Leased Housing 
Department. 
 

3) Contractor means any entity which contracts to perform work in connection with a Section 3 
Covered Project. 
 

4) Employment opportunities means, with respect to Section 3 covered housing assistance, all 
employment opportunities arising in connection with Section 3 Covered Projects not including 
professional services. Professional services means non-construction services that require an 
advanced degree or professional licensing, including, but not limited to, contracts for legal 
services, financial consulting, accounting services, environmental assessment, architectural 
services, and civil engineering services.  
 

5) Federal Wage Rate Job Classification means the job classifications listed in the federal 
minimum wage rate schedule issued from time to time by the Secretary of the United States 
Department of Labor pursuant to the Davis Bacon Act.  
 

6) HUD means the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 
 

7) HUD YouthBuild programs mean programs that receive applicable federal assistance and 
provide disadvantaged youth with opportunities for employment, education, leadership 
development, and training in the construction or rehabilitation of housing for homeless 
individuals and members of low- and very low-income families. 
 

8) Metropolitan area means the Boston metropolitan statistical area (MSA), as established by 
the Office of Management and Budget. The Boston MSA consists of seven counties: Norfolk, 
Plymouth, Suffolk, Middlesex, Essex, Rockingham (NH), and Strafford (NH). 
 

9) Person means any natural person, business, partnership, corporation, joint venture, 
organization, entity or group of individuals. 
 

10) Project Development means the public housing development or developments for which the 
Contractor is performing work under a Section 3 Covered Contract. 
 

11) Provision or S3P means this Section 3 Provision. 
 

12) Section 3 means section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended 
(12 U.S.C. 1701u). 
 

13) Section 3 Business Concern means: 
A business concern meeting at least one of the following criteria, documented within the last six-
month period: 

i) It is at least 51 percent owned and controlled by low- or very low-income persons; 
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ii) Over 75 percent of the labor hours performed for the business over the prior three-
month period are performed by Section 3 Workers; or 

iii) It is a business at least 51 percent owned and controlled by current public housing 
residents or residents who currently live in Section 8-assisted housing. 
 

The status of a Section 3 Business Concern shall not be negatively affected by a prior 
arrest or conviction of its owner(s) or employees. 

 
14) Labor hours means the number of paid hours worked by persons on a Section 3 project or by 

persons employed with funds that include public housing financial assistance. 
 

15) Section 3 Compliance Plan means the plan submitted to the BHA by a Contractor setting out 
how it intends to comply with the requirements of this Provision. 
 

16) Section 3 Covered Activity means any activity, procurement or contract funded by Section 3 
covered HUD assistance including, but not limited to: all manner of procurements; and 
construction service contracts and subcontracts.  
 
Section 3 covered activities do not include procurements or contracts for the purchase of 
supplies and materials that do not require the furnishing of labor, time, and/or effort relating 
to the installation of the supply and/or material. Additionally, Section 8 project-based 
assistance contracts are not covered under this policy. Nevertheless, former public housing 
developments that are being redeveloped or undergoing a subsidy conversion to Section 8 
will continue to be subject to Section 3 either by law or BHA policy. 
 

17) Section 3 Covered Contract means a contract or a subcontract awarded by the Authority or 
by a Contractor for work on a Section 3 Covered Project and/or any Section 3 Covered Activity.  
Section 3 Covered Contracts do not include contracts for the purchase of supplies and 
materials, except where a contract for the purchase of materials includes installation. 
 

18) Section 3 Project means housing rehabilitation, housing construction, and other public 
construction projects assisted under HUD programs that provide housing and community 
development financial assistance when the total amount of assistance to the project exceeds 
a threshold of $200,000. The threshold is $100,000 where the assistance is from the Lead 
Hazard Control and Healthy Homes programs. These thresholds will be adjusted every five 
years by HUD.  

 
19) Section 3 Worker means any Worker who currently fits or when hired within the past five years 

fit at least one of the following categories, as documented: 
a) The Worker’s income for the previous or annualized calendar year is below the income 

limit established by HUD. 
b) The Worker is employed by a Section 3 Business Concern. 
c) The Worker is a YouthBuild participant. 
 

20) Section 3 joint venture means an association of business concerns formed by a written joint 
venture agreement to engage in and carry out a specific business venture, where one of the 
business concerns qualifies as a Section 3 Business Concern and: 
a) Is responsible for a clearly defined portion of the work to be performed and holds 

management responsibilities in the joint venture; and 
b) Performs at least 25% of the work and is contractually entitled to compensation 
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proportionate to its work. 
 

21) Subcontractor means any entity (other than an individual who is an employee of the 
Contractor) which has a contract with a Contractor to undertake a portion of the Contractor’s 
obligation for the performance of the work. 
 

1A. Order of Precedence.    

In the event of a conflict between the definitions contained in this Part 1 and the definitions of 
terms contained in Section 3 and its regulations, the definitions contained in Section 3 and its 
regulations shall control.   

2. Training and Employment Preference for Section 3 Workers. 

 2.1 When new hires are needed, recipients are required to, at a minimum: 
notify Section 3 Workers about training and employment opportunities arising out 
of any Section 3 covered activity; encourage the application of Section 3 Workers 
for training and employment opportunities arising out of any Section 3 covered 
activity; facilitate the employment of Section 3 Workers; and document actions 
taken to comply with these requirements and the results of such actions and 
impediments encountered, if any. 

 2.2 In order to qualify for priority status, Section 3 Workers and Targeted 
Section 3 Workers must meet the minimum qualifications of the position to be filled.   

 When hiring Section 3 Workers recipients will provide training and employment 
opportunities in the order of priority below: 

1. Residents of the BHA development subject to the project, as 
documented within the past five years (category 1); 

2. Residents of other BHA development (category 2); 

3. Participants in BHA’s leased housing programs (”BHA leased housing 
participant”) in the Boston metropolitan area (category 2); 

4. Participants in HUD YouthBuild programs in the Boston metropolitan 
area (category 3); 

5. Other low-income or very-low income residents of Boston metropolitan 
area (category 4). 

When hiring Targeted Section 3 Workers recipients will provide training and 
employment opportunities in the order of priority below: 
 

1. Worker employed by a Section 3 Business Concern (category 1); 

2. Residents of other BHA developments, as documented within the past 
five years (category 2); 

3. Participants in BHA’s leased housing programs (”BHA leased housing 
participant”) in the Boston metropolitan area, as documented within the 
past five years (category 3); 
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4. Participants in HUD YouthBuild programs in the Boston metropolitan 
area, as documented within the past five years (category 4); 

 2.3 Recipients are required to hire in the priority outline established above and 
must document instances where available higher category residents were not 
hired.  Recipients will not be permitted to fulfill the hiring and training percentages 
by passing over available category 1-3 residents to hire category 4 residents.   

 2.4 Any Contractor that has not met the minimum percentages for training and 
employment set forth in this Part 2 has the burden of demonstrating why it was not 
feasible to meet such percentages. 

 2.5 A Section 3 Worker or Targeted Section 3 Worker seeking preference in 
training and employment pursuant to this Part 2 shall, if requested to by the 
Contractor, certify or submit evidence that they are a Section 3 Worker or Targeted 
Section 3 Worker as defined in this Provision.   

 2.6 Notwithstanding the foregoing, any individual named as a Section 3 Worker 
or Targeted Section 3 Worker on a list provided to the Contractor by the Authority 
shall be deemed to be a Section 3 Worker or Targeted Section 3 Worker for the 
purposes of this Part 2.6 without being required to furnish additional proof of such 
status. 

 2.7 Nothing in this Part 2 shall be construed to require the employment of a 
Section 3 Worker or Targeted Section 3 Worker who does not meet the minimum 
qualifications of the position to be filled; however, any such qualifications shall be 
reasonably related to the work to be performed by the person filling the position as 
determined by the Authority. 

 2.8 The Contractor is responsible for complying with the requirements of this 
Provision in its own operations and for assuring compliance in the operations of its 
Subcontractors. 

 
3. Contract Preference for Section 3 Business Concerns. 

 3.1 The Contractor shall, to the greatest extent feasible, give preference to 
Section 3 Business Concerns when entering into any Contract in connection with 
a Section 3 Covered Project. 

 3.2 Prior to entering into any Contract in connection with a Section 3 Covered 
Project, the Contractor shall use its best efforts to: 

  1. Notify Section 3 Business Concerns about contracting 
opportunities arising out of any Section 3 Covered Contract;  

  2. Encourage Section 3 Business Concerns to submit proposals or 
bids on any Section 3 Covered Contracts; 

  3. Facilitate the award of contracts to Section 3 Business Concerns; 
and 

  4. Document actions taken to comply with the requirements of this 
Part 3, the results of such actions and impediments encountered, if any. 

 3.3 In entering into any Contract in connection with a Section 3 Covered 
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Project, the Contractor shall award any such contract in the following order of 
priority: 

  1.  Section 3 Business Concerns that provide economic 
opportunities for residents of the BHA development subject to the project 
for which the assistance is provided (category 1); 

  2. Section 3 Business Concerns that provide economic 
opportunities for residents of other BHA developments or BHA’s leased 
housing program (category 2); 

  3. HUD YouthBuild programs being carried out in the Boston 
metropolitan area (category 3); 

  4. Section 3 Business Concerns that provide economic 
opportunities to Section 3 Workers residing within the Boston metropolitan 
area (category 4). 

3.4 The Contractor may demonstrate compliance with the contract requirements 
of this Provision by meeting the following minimum percentages: at least 
twenty-five (25) percent or more of the total number of labor hours 
worked by all Workers on a Section 3 project are Section 3 Workers; and 
Five (5) percent or more are Targeted Section 3 Workers. 

3.5 Any Contractor that has not met the minimum percentages for contracting 
set forth in this Part 3 has the burden of demonstrating why it was not feasible to 
meet such percentages. 

 3.6 A Section 3 Business Concern seeking preference in contracting pursuant 
to this Part 3 shall, if requested by the Contractor, certify or submit evidence that 
it is a Section 3 Business Concern as defined in this S3P.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, any business concern named as a Section 3 Business Concern on a list 
provided to the Contractor by the BHA shall be deemed to be a Section 3 Business 
Concern for the purposes of this Part 3.6 without being required to furnish 
additional proof of such status. 

 3.7 A Section 3 Business Concern seeking preference in contracting pursuant 
to this Part 3 shall, if requested by the Contractor awarding the Contract, submit 
evidence sufficient to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Contractor that it is 
responsible and has the ability to perform successfully under the terms and 
conditions of such Contract.   

 3.8 The Contractor is responsible for complying with the requirements of this 
Provision in its own operations and for assuring compliance in the operations of its 
Subcontractors. 

  
4. Procedures Prior to Contract Execution. 

 4.1 Publicly Bid Section 3 Covered Contracts 

  1. Proposers shall submit a completed Certification of Intent to 
Comply with Section 3 (Form 1) and Section 3 Hiring, Training, and 
Contracting Opportunities (Form 2) with their proposals.  

  2. If the Certification of Intent to Comply with Section 3 (Form 1) 
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and/or Section 3 Hiring, Training, and Contracting Opportunities (Form 2) 
are not submitted with the proposal, the Authority may, but is not required 
to, reject the proposal.  If the Contractor's Certification is incomplete, the 
Authority may, but is not required to, permit the apparent proposer to 
submit and/or complete, correct, and/or modify such Forms in order to meet 
bid requirements. 

3. Within ten (10) business days of notification by the Authority, 
Proposers on contracts with costs estimated over $100,000 shall submit a 
Section 3 Compliance Plan describing in detail how the Proposer intends 
to comply with this Provision, including a plan for soliciting Section 3 
Workers, Targeted Section 3 Workers, and Section 3 Business Concerns 
for employment and contracting opportunities, together with sample 
solicitations and other information to be used in the implementation of such 
plan and designating a representative for overseeing the Proposer’s 
responsibilities under this Provision.   

 4.2 If deemed advisable by the BHA, the Authority may assist the Contractor’s 
outreach efforts by providing the Contractor with the following information (if such 
information is available) for its consideration: 

  1. A list of Section 3 Workers and Targeted Section 3 Workers 
available for work under this Provision and a summary of their qualifications 
and experience; and 

  2. A list of Section 3 Business Concerns available for work under 
this Provision and of the summary of their qualifications and experience. 

 4.3 The Authority shall, within five (5) business days after the delivery to the 
Authority of the Section 3 Compliance Plan: 

  1. Approve the Section 3 Compliance Plan as submitted; or 

  2. Approve the Section 3 Compliance Plan as modified to reflect 
changes arising out of correspondence between the Contractor and the 
Authority; or 

  3. Notify the Contractor that the Section 3 Compliance Plan is not 
approved and require the Contractor to submit for the Authority's approval 
a revised Section 3 Compliance Plan. 

 4.4 If the Contractor does not submit a Section 3 Compliance Plan, or if the 
Authority does not approve the Section 3 Compliance Plan, the Authority may, but 
is not required to, award the Contract to the next-ranked Person on the short list 
of Persons submitting proposals for the contract. 

  1. The next-ranked Person submitting a proposal for the contract 
shall be required to submit the forms required pursuant to Part 4.1 within 
five (5) business days of receipt of the Authority's request.  Forms required 
to be submitted pursuant to Part 4.1.3 shall be submitted within ten (10) 
business days of receipt of the Authority's original request. 

 4.5 In addition, the Contractor shall submit to the Authority prior to execution 
of any Subcontract a Section 3 Hiring, Training, and Contracting Opportunities 
form (Form 2) completed by such Subcontractor under such Subcontract.  
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 4.6 On the date of contract award, the Contractor shall provide the Authority 
with a list of its current employees in a format satisfactory to the Authority. The 
Contractor shall provide such employee lists on an ongoing basis for any and all 
of its subcontractors as subcontracts are awarded. 

 4.7 Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Contractor shall demonstrate 
compliance with this Provision no later than the date the Contractor signs the 
Contract. 

 
5. Compliance Monitoring After Notice to Proceed. 

 5.1 Upon request, the Contractor shall submit to the Authority a completed 
Quarterly Section 3 Report (Form 3) for the preceding quarter, setting out for 
each week in such quarter the total numbers of hours worked on the Section 3 
project and total number of labor hours worked by Section 3 Workers and Targeted 
Section 3 Workers, whether employed directly by the Contractor, or indirectly by 
one or more of its Subcontractors and amounts paid under the contract to Section 
3 Business Concerns, whether such amounts are paid directly by the Contractor, 
or indirectly by one or more of its Subcontractors.  

5.2 The Contractor shall promptly provide to the Authority, at its request, any 
such information or reports as the Authority may require and shall permit access 
to the Authority's employees and agents to the job site and to any books, records, 
accounts and/or other material deemed by the Authority to be necessary to monitor 
the Contractor's compliance with this Provision. 

 5.3 The Contractor or any of its Subcontractors may terminate the employment 
of a Section 3 Worker, Targeted Section 3 Worker, or the contract of a Section 3 
Business Concern for good cause, provided that the Contractor or Subcontractor 
first notifies the Authority in writing of the proposed termination and the specific 
reasons therefor.  The Authority may request that the Contractor or Subcontractor 
meet with the Authority to discuss the reasons for any such proposed termination. 
Nothing in this paragraph or in the S3P is intended to or shall be interpreted to 
create or establish an employment, agency or contractual relationship of any type 
or nature between the BHA and any Section 3 Worker, Targeted Section 3 Worker, 
and/or any Section 3 Business Concern. 

 5.4 If any Section 3 Worker or Targeted Section 3 Worker employed by the 
Contractor or a Subcontractor pursuant to this Provision leaves or is terminated 
from such employment, or if any Section 3 Business Concern fails to perform under 
its contract or its contract is terminated, the Authority may require the Contractor 
and/or its Subcontractor to employ another Section 3 Worker or Targeted Section 
3 Worker or contract with another Section 3 Business Concern in order to remain 
in compliance with the requirements of this Provision. 

 
6. Enforcement. 

 6.1 If at any time the Authority determines that the Contractor is not in 
compliance with this Provision, it shall notify the Contractor in writing of such 
finding and of any sanctions it intends to apply.  Such written notice shall give the 
Contractor an opportunity to meet with representatives of the Authority to present 
information demonstrating that it is in compliance, or in mitigation of its failure to 
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comply and shall appoint a time and place for such meeting, subject to the 
Contractor's availability. The Authority may require the attendance of any 
Subcontractor at any such meeting. 

 6.2 Following any meeting held with a Contractor pursuant to Section 7.1 the 
Authority shall make a finding as to whether the Contractor is in compliance with 
this Provision and shall notify such Contractor in writing of such finding, the 
information upon which such finding was based and the sanctions, if any, it intends 
to apply.  Any such finding shall be final and without recourse, unless it is made in 
bad faith and without reasonable cause. 

 
7. Sanctions. 

 7.1 If the Authority determines that the Contractor is not in compliance with this 
Provision, the Authority may impose on the Contractor, or require the Contractor 
to impose on any Subcontractor, any one or more of the following sanctions: 

  1. The recovery from the Contractor of one-tenth of one percent 
(0.1%) of the Contract price or $2,500, whichever is greater, in the nature 
of liquidated damages, for each week that the Contractor fails or refuses to 
comply; or the recovery from the Contractor, to be assessed by the 
Contractor as a back-charge against the Subcontractor, of one-tenth of one 
percent (0.1%) of the subcontract price, or $1,000, whichever sum is 
greater, in the nature of liquidated damages for each week that the 
Subcontractor fails or refuses to comply. 

  2. The suspension of any payment or part thereof due under the 
Contract, until such time as the Contractor is able to demonstrate its 
compliance with the terms of this Provision. 

  3. The termination or cancellation of the Contract, in whole or in 
part, unless the Contractor is able to demonstrate within a specified time 
its compliance with the terms of this Provision. 

  4. In connection with final acceptance and final payment, retention 
and forfeiture of no more than five percent (5%) of the Contract price (as 
adjusted by change orders or other amendments), where the Contractor 
has been unable to demonstrate compliance with the terms of this 
Provision. 

  5. Denial to the Contractor of the right to participate in any future 
contracts awarded by the Authority for a period of up to three (3) years. 

 7.2 If, at any time after the imposition of one or more of the above sanctions, a 
Contractor is able to demonstrate to BHA’s satisfaction that it is in compliance with 
this Provision, it may request the Authority to suspend the sanctions conditionally, 
pending a final determination as to whether the Contractor is in compliance.  Upon 
final determination of the Authority, the Authority shall either lift the sanctions or 
re-impose them.  

 
8. Other Provisions. 

 8.1 All Section 3 Covered Contracts shall include the clause set forth in Part 
10, entitled "Section 3 Clause". 
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 8.2 Certain Contractors subject to this S3P are also required to comply with 
Executive Order 11246, as amended by Executive Order 12036 and the 
Department of Labor regulations issued pursuant thereto (41 CFR chapter 60), 
which provide that no person shall be discriminated against on the basis of race, 
color, religion, sex, or national origin in all phases of employment during the 
performance of Federal or Federally assisted construction contracts. 

 8.3 The Authority shall have access to all records, reports, and other 
documents or items maintained to demonstrate compliance with this S3P. 

 
9. Section 3 Clause. 
 
The Contractor shall require that the following provision entitled “the Section 3 Clause” be 
included in all Section 3 Covered Contracts related to or associated with the work to be performed 
under the Contract: 
 

SECTION 3 CLAUSE OF THE HOUSING AND  
URBAN DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1968 

 
 A.  The work to be performed under this contract is subject to the requirements of section 3 
of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701u (section 3).  
The purpose of section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities 
generated by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted projects covered by section 3, shall, to the 
greatest extent feasible, be directed to low-and-very low-income persons, particularly persons 
who are recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 
 
 B.  The parties to this contract agree to comply with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135, 
which implement section 3.  As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties to this 
contract certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would prevent them 
from complying with the part 135 regulations. 
 
 C.  The contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of Workers 
with which the contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a 
notice advising the labor organization or Workers' representative of the contractor's commitments 
under this section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous places at the work 
site where both employees and applicants for training and employment positions can see the 
notice.  The notice shall describe the section 3 preference, shall set forth minimum number and 
job titles subject to hire, availability of apprenticeship and training positions, the qualifications for 
each: and the name and location of the person(s) taking applications for each of the positions: 
and the anticipated date the work shall begin. 
 
 D.  The contractor agrees to include this section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to 
compliance with regulations in 24 CFR part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as 
provided in an applicable provision of the subcontract or in this section 3 clause, upon a finding 
that the subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135.  The contractor will not 
subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or knowledge that the 
subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135. 
 
 E.  The contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training 
positions, that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected but before the contract is executed, 
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and (2) persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR part 135 require employment 
opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the contractor's obligations under 24 
CFR part 135. 
 
 F. Noncompliance with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, 
termination of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD assisted 
contracts. 
 
 G.  With Respect to work performed in connection with section 3 covered Indian housing 
assistance, section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 U.S.C. 
450e) also applies to the work to be performed under this contract.  Section 7(b) requires that to 
the greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and employment shall be 
given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and subcontracts shall be given to 
Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises.  Parties to this contract that are 
subject to the provisions of section 3 and section 7(b) agree to comply with section 3 to the 
maximum extent feasible, but not in derogation of compliance with section 7(b). 

 

 

END OF SECTION 3 CLAUSE  
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10. Section 3 Submission Forms and Deadlines 
 
 
 

FORM 1 
 
 

Certification of Intention to Comply with 
Section 3 
 

Submit with Proposal  
 

FORM 2 
 

Section 3 Hiring, Training, and 
Subcontracting Opportunities 

Submit with Proposal 

 
 
 
 

 
Section 3 Compliance Plan*               
(For contracts valued over $100,000) 
 

 
Due within 10 business days of BHA 
notification 
 

FORM 3 Quarterly Section 3 Report Submit upon request 
 

HUD Form 
60002 

Section 3 Summary Report Submit at end of calendar year (if 
applicable) and at completion of 
project 

   
Section 3 
Worker 
Affidavit 

Certification of Section 3 Worker and 
Targeted Section 3 Worker 

Submit upon request and whenever 
FORM 3 is submitted 

                                                 
* There is no BHA form for a Compliance Plan but sample plans are available on request.  The 
Compliance Plan details the Proposer’s specific efforts to implement the Section 3 requirements.  
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FORM 1 
Certification of Intent to Comply with Section 3 

This form is to be submitted by proposers with their proposal. Failure to submit this form may 
result in the rejection of your proposal. 
 
I hereby certify that: 
 

1. I am the ______________________ [Insert Title] of _________________ 

__________________ [Insert Name of Proposer] (the "Company"); 

2. I am duly authorized by the Company to submit a proposal on its behalf to the Boston 

Housing Authority for _____________________________________________________ 

[Insert Project Name and Number] and to execute any and all documents required to be 

filed as a condition of such proposal; 

3. I have read and understood the Section 3 Provision, which applies Section 3 of the 

Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, and the Section 3 regulations 

found at 24 CFR 135.   

4. The Company will comply with the requirements of 24 CFR 135 and the Section 3 

Provision. This includes ensuring that, to the greatest extent feasible, at least twenty-five 

(25) percent or more of the total number of labor hours worked by all Workers on a 

Section 3 project are Section 3 Workers; and Five (5) percent or more are Targeted 

Section 3 Workers.  

5. The Company is responsible for the compliance of its subcontractors and will ensure that 

its subcontractors comply with the requirements set out in 24 CFR 135 and the Section 3 

Provision. 

6. Any vacant positions filled after the contract award notification but before contract 

execution will not be filled to circumvent the Company’s Section 3 obligations.    

 Signed under the penalties of perjury. 
 
 
________________________   _____________________ 
[Company]      [Date] 
 
________________________  _____________________ 
[Address/Contact]    [Signature] 
________________________   Duly Authorized 
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FORM 2 
Section 3 Hiring, Training, and Contracting Opportunities 

This form is to be completed by the proposer on behalf of itself and all projected subcontractors, 
if any. Provide estimates of hiring and contracting needs on the project. 
 

HIRING OPPORTUNITIES 

Job Category Number of 
positions 
needed to 
complete 
project 

Number of 
positions filled 
by current 
employees* 

Number of 
positions to be 
filled by Section 
3 Workers 

Anticipated 
dates of work 

Example: Tenant 
Coordinator 

1 0 1 10/1/21-
12/31/21 

1) Technicians      

2) Office/Clerical     

3) Trade      

4) Trade     

5) Trade     

6) Tenant Coordinator     

7) Other:      

Totals     

 
SUBCONTRACTING OPPORTUNITIES 

Sub-trade and 
Company (if 

known) 

Filed Sub-
trade? (Y/N) 

Section 3 
Business 

Concern? (Y/N) 

Specification 
Reference 

Amount of 
Contract 

Example: HVAC 
Inc. 

 Y 06200 8,000 

1)     

2)     

3)     

 
The above tables represent an accurate estimate of workforce and subcontracting needs for this 
project and also represent the number of Section 3 Workers, Targeted Section 3 Workers, and 
business concerns that the company proposes to employ and/or contract with. 
 
Signed under the penalties of perjury. 
           
    [Company] 
 
Date:     By:       
    [Signature]  
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FORM 3 
Quarterly Section 3 Report 

This form or a certified substitute document containing the information requested below is to be 
completed by the consultant and all subcontractors, if any, and submitted upon request. Attach 
verifications (e.g., Section 3 Workers Affidavit and copy of photo identification) as necessary.  
 
BHA Job No.        Month Ending:      

 
SECTION 3 WORKER LABOR HOURS 

 

Employee 
Name  

Job Title Targeted/Se
ction 3  

Worker? 
(Y/N) 

Address Date 
Hired 

Labor 
Hours 

this 
month 

Labor 
Hours to 

date 

Example: 
Gladys Jones 

Project 
Assistant 

Y Franklin Field, 
100 Ames St. 
Dorchester, 
MA 02124 

10/15/2
1 

80 200 

1)        

2)        

3)        

4)        

5)        

 
SECTION 3 BUSINESS CONCERNS 

 

Section 3 
Business 
Concern 

Address Dates of 
Work 

Contract 
Price 

Paid to 
Date 

Amount 
Remaining to 

be paid 

Example: ABC 
Security Co. 

123 Main St., 
Boston MA 02111 

11/1/20-
5/30/21 

15,000 2,500 12,500 

1)      

2)      

3)      

4)      

 
          
    [Company] 
 
Date:     By:       
    [Signature]  
 



 

1 

 

 
BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY SECTION 3 WORKER AFFIDAVIT 

 
Eligibility for Preference: Any person seeking Section 3 preference in training and 
employment shall certify or submit evidence to the Boston Housing Authority (BHA) that 
the person qualifies for a Section 3 preference. 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

1. I reside in: 
 Essex or Middlesex County, MA  
 Norfolk or Suffolk County, MA 
 Plymouth County, MA or Rockingham County, NH 

2. I qualify as a Section 3 Worker because (check only one):  
 My income from the past 12 months is at or below the $78,300 individual income 

limit of the Boston-Cambridge-Quincy, MA and Rockingham County, NH area. 
 My income from the past 12 months is at or below the $49,100 individual income 

limit of the Boston-Cambridge-Quincy, MA and Rockingham County, NH area. 
 I am employed by a Section 3 business concern (S3BC) 

Name & Address of S3BC:  

 
 I am a YouthBuild Participant 

3. I qualify as a Targeted Section 3 Worker because (check only one): 

 I am or have been in the past five years a resident of BHA 
 I am or have been in the past five years a participant of BHA’s Section 8 voucher 

program 
 I am or have been in the past five years a resident or a participant of a Section 8 

voucher program managed by another public housing authority  
4. I do not qualify as a Section 3 Worker or Targeted Section 3 Worker because : 

 I do not live in one of the counties listed in section 1 
 None of the above statements in section 2 or 3 apply 

 
Eligibility Guideline for FY 2022 (updated in April 2022) 

(Verify current income levels at http://www.huduser.org/portal/datasets/il.html) 
Boston-Cambridge-Quincy, MA-NH Metro Area consists of Essex, Middlesex, Norfolk, Plymouth, Suffolk 

County, MA and Rockingham County, NH. 

I hereby agree to provide, upon request, documents verifying the information provided on this 
form and authorize my employer to release information required to verify my Section 3 status. I 
certify that the information on this form is complete and accurate. I understand that providing false 
statements or information is punishable under state and federal law. Signed under the penalties of 
perjury,  

 
Employee Name: ________________________________________  
 
 
Employee Signature: _____________________________________ 
 
 

Date:  ____________ 

http://www.huduser.org/portal/datasets/il.html
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EXHIBIT P 

 
FORM OF NOTICE OF LEASE 

 
Prepared by and After Recording Return to: 
 
James L. Black, Jr. 
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP 
One Federal Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

NOTICE OF CONSTRUCTION AND GROUND LEASE 

NOTICE is hereby given pursuant to Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 183, Section 4 of a 
lease containing, inter alia, the following terms and conditions: 

LANDLORD:   Boston Housing Authority 
    52 Chauncy Street  
    Boston, MA 02111 
 
TENANT:   Building M Owner LLC 
    c/o Leggat McCall Properties LLC 
    10 Post Office Square, 13th Floor 
    Boston, MA 02109 
 
DATE OF LEASE: June 30, 2023 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PREMISES: Real property owned by the Landlord located at 40 Corey Street, 

Charlestown, Suffolk County, Massachusetts containing 
approximately 0.825 acres and more particularly described in 
Exhibit A attached hereto 

TERM OF LEASE: The period commencing on June 30, 2023 and expiring on June 29, 
2122 [99-year term]. 

RIGHTS OF EXTENSION 
OR RENEWAL: None. 

RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER: From and after the expiration of the Compliance Period (as defined 
in the Lease), Landlord shall have a right of first offer to purchase 
Tenant’s interest in the Lease, the Premises and the improvements 
thereon, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of the Lease. 
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This Notice of Construction and Ground Lease (“Notice of Lease”) is executed for the purpose of 
recordation in order to give notice of the terms, provisions and conditions of the Construction and 
Ground Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) and is not intended, and shall not be construed, to alter, 
limit or modify the Lease.  In the event of an inconsistency between the terms of this Notice of 
Lease and the terms of the Lease, the terms of the Lease shall control. This Notice of Lease may 
be executed in one or more counterparts each of which when executed and delivered shall 
constitute a duplicate original, but all counterparts together shall constitute a single agreement. 

For Landlord’s title, see Eminent Domain Taking dated May 19, 1939, and recorded with the 
Suffolk County Registry of Deeds in Book 5793, Page 425; Eminent Domain Taking dated July 
31, 1939, and recorded with the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds in Book 5806, Page 119; 
Eminent Domain Taking dated November 8, 1939, and recorded with the Suffolk County Registry 
of Deeds in Book 5828, Page 166; Eminent Domain Taking dated June 9, 1941, and recorded with 
the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds in Book 5932, Page 441. 

 

[Signatures Appear on Following Page] 
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EXECUTED as a sealed instrument as of this ___ day of _________, 2023. 

 
 
LANDLORD: 
 
BOSTON HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 
 
TENANT: 
 
 
BUILDING M OWNER LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

_________ County, ss 

On this ____ day of ____________, 2023, before me, the undersigned notary public, 
personally appeared [______________], the Administrator of Boston Housing Authority, proved 
to me through satisfactory evidence of identification, which was  photographic identification 
with signature issued by a federal or state governmental agency,  oath or affirmation of a credible 
witness,  personal knowledge of the undersigned, to be the person whose name is signed on the 
preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that she signed voluntarily for its stated 
purpose as the Administrator of Boston Housing Authority. 

 

       
Notary Public 

      My Commission Expires:  

 

 

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

___________ County, ss 

On this ____ day of ____________, 2023, before me, the undersigned notary public, 
personally appeared _____________, the ________________ of Building M Owner LLC, proved 
to me through satisfactory evidence of identification, which was  photographic identification 
with signature issued by a federal or state governmental agency,  oath or affirmation of a credible 
witness,  personal knowledge of the undersigned, to be the person whose name is signed on the 
preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that he signed voluntarily for its stated 
purpose as the _______________ of Building M Owner LLC. 

 

       
Notary Public 

      My Commission Expires:  
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EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES 

The land located in that part of Boston called Charlestown, Suffolk County, Massachusetts, being 
Lot M on a plan entitled, "Subdivision Plan of Land Lot ‘M’ & Open Space, Boston Housing 
Authority - Charlestown Campus; prepared for Leggat McCall Properties, 10 Post Office Square, 
Boston MA 02109” recorded with the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds as Plan 249 of 2023, to 
which plan reference is made for a more particular description.  Lot M contains 35,934+ S.F. 
according to said plan.    
 
The above described land has the benefit of the following: 
 
Easement as set forth in the Drainage Easement Agreement between the Boston Housing Authority 
and Building M Owner LLC to be recorded herewith in the Suffolk County Registry of Deeds. 
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EXHIBIT Q 
 

FORM OF CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION GUARANTY 
 

 
CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION GUARANTY 

 
THIS COMPLETION GUARANTY (“Guaranty”) is made as of June 30, 2023 by Leggat McCall 
Properties LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company, with an address of 10 Post Office 
Square, 13th Floor, Boston, MA 02109 (“Guarantor”) in favor of The Boston Housing Authority, 
a public body politic and corporate, organized and existing under Chapter 121B of the General 
Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and Chapter 88 of the Acts of 1989, with a principal 
place of business at 52 Chauncy Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02111 (the “BHA”).  
 

RECITALS 
 

A. The BHA is the owner of certain land located at 40 Corey Street in Charlestown, Suffolk 
County, Massachusetts, as more fully set forth and described on Exhibit A attached to the 
Lease, as hereinafter defined, and incorporated herein by reference (the “Premises”). 

 
B. Pursuant to the provisions of the Construction and Ground Lease Agreement, dated of even 

date herewith, between Building M Owner LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the 
“Tenant”) and the BHA, as landlord (the “Lease”), the Tenant shall construct and operate 
upon the Premises certain initial Improvements, as such term is defined in the Lease (the 
“Improvements”). 

 
C. Guarantor is an affiliate of the managing member of Tenant, which managing member 

holds a 0.010% interest in the Tenant. 
 

D. The Lease provides that Tenant’s obligations with respect to the completion of the 
construction of the Improvements shall be guaranteed by a guarantor reasonably acceptable 
to Landlord. 

 
E. Guarantor has common beneficial ownership with the managing member of the managing 

member of Tenant and has received good and valuable consideration for the execution, 
delivery and (if required) performance of the terms of this Guaranty. 

 
F. All terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Lease. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in order to induce the BHA to enter into the Lease, and in consideration 
thereof, Guarantor unconditionally covenants and agrees as follows: 
 
1. GUARANTY. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Guaranty, and Section 7.2 of the 

Lease, Guarantor hereby irrevocably, absolutely and unconditionally guarantees the 
completion of construction of the Improvements in accordance with the terms and 
provisions of the Lease pertaining thereto. Subject to the terms and conditions of this 
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Guaranty and Section 7.2 of the Lease, Guarantor guarantees that: (a) Substantial 
Completion of the Improvements shall occur no later than the Outside Completion Date, 
plus, so long as Tenant or Guarantor is then diligently pursuing Substantial Completion of 
the Improvements, the Extended Completion Period, plus any additional notice and cure 
period under Section 12.1(iii) of the Lease; (b) the Improvements shall be constructed and 
completed in accordance with the Final Plans and Specifications, as modified by (i) 
Limited Change Orders or (ii) Major Change Orders approved (or deemed approved) by 
the BHA in accordance with Section 7.7 or 7.8 of the Lease; (c) the Improvements shall be 
constructed and completed free and clear of any mechanics’ liens, materialmen’s liens and 
equitable liens, subject to the Tenant’s right to contest such liens in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 4.11 of the Lease; and (d) all costs of constructing the Improvements 
shall be paid when due following proper completion thereof, subject to the Tenant’s right 
to contest, in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.11 of the Lease, liens arising 
from non-payment of such costs. This Guaranty is an unconditional and irrevocable 
guaranty of payment and performance, and not merely a guaranty of collection. 

 
2. INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 
 
3. OBLIGATIONS OF GUARANTOR UPON DEFAULT BY TENANT. If the 

Improvements are not Substantially Completed in the manner and within the time required 
by Section 7.2 of the Lease, plus any additional notice and cure period under Sections 
12.1(iii) of the Lease, Guarantor shall (or shall cause Tenant to), promptly upon demand 
of the BHA: (a) diligently proceed to Substantially Complete construction of the 
Improvements with the then unadvanced loan proceeds under that certain construction loan 
agreement dated on or about the date hereof between Tenant and Massachusetts Housing 
Finance Agency and, to the extent required, such additional funds from Guarantor as may 
be required to complete construction; (b) fully pay and discharge all claims for labor 
performed and material and services furnished in connection with the construction of the 
Improvements, subject to the right to contest such claims in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 4.11 of the Lease; (c) release and discharge all claims of mechanics’ liens, 
materialmen’s liens and equitable liens that may arise in connection with the construction 
of the Improvements, subject to the right to contest such claims in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 4.11 of the Lease; and (d) pay to the BHA all actual out-of-pocket 
third-party costs and expenses (including, without limitation, attorneys’ reasonable fees 
and expenses) incurred by the BHA in enforcing this Guaranty. The BHA shall permit 
Guarantor and its contractors and subcontractors access to the Premises (upon the same 
terms and conditions as the BHA permits Tenant and its contractors and subcontractors 
access to the Premises under the Lease) for the purposes of completing the Improvements 
and fulfilling Guarantor’s other obligations under this Guaranty. 

 
4. REMEDIES. If Tenant fails to satisfy its obligations under Section 7.2 of the Lease to 

Substantially Complete construction of the Improvements within the time period required 
therein plus any additional notice and cure period under Sections 12.1(iii) of the Lease, and 
to make payment therefor in accordance with the provisions of the Lease, and Guarantor 
thereafter fails to promptly perform its obligations under this Guaranty, the BHA shall have 
the following remedies: 
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(a) At the BHA’s option, and without any obligation to do so, to proceed to perform 

on behalf of Guarantor any or all of Guarantor’s obligations hereunder and 
Guarantor shall, within thirty (30) days after demand by the BHA accompanied by 
copies of supporting invoices, and whether or not construction is actually 
completed by the BHA, pay to the BHA all sums reasonably expended by the BHA 
in performing Guarantor’s obligations hereunder together with interest thereon at 
the “Default Rate” as defined in the Lease; and 
 

(b) From time to time and without first requiring performance by Tenant or otherwise 
proceeding against Tenant, to bring any action at law or in equity or both to compel 
Guarantor to perform its obligations hereunder, and to collect in any such action 
compensation for all actual out-of-pocket third party costs and expenses (including, 
without limitation, attorneys’ reasonable fees and expenses) incurred by the BHA 
in connection therewith, together with interest at the Default Rate. 

 
5. NO RELEASE OR IMPAIRMENT OF GUARANTY. This Guaranty shall not be 

terminated, released, modified, affected or impaired by reason of any of the following, as 
to all of which Guarantor hereby waives notice and the requirement for the BHA to obtain 
Guarantor’s consent, but without limiting any obligation of the BHA to provide notice to, 
or obtain the consent of, Tenant with respect thereto to the extent required by the Lease: 
(a) any renewal, extension, modification or amendment of the Lease; (b) approval by the 
BHA of modifications to the Final Plans and Specifications so long as such modifications 
do not materially increase the cost of constructing the Improvements nor materially 
increase the time necessary to complete the Improvements; (c) any action which the BHA 
may take or fail to take against Tenant or against any other guarantor, if there be more than 
one, or against any security held from time to time by the BHA pursuant to the terms of 
the Lease (provided that the BHA shall not be entitled to receive payment in the aggregate 
from Tenant, Guarantor, and all other guarantors (if any), in excess of amounts actually 
due and payable to the BHA in the aggregate under the Lease, this Guaranty, and any other 
applicable guaranty); (d) any waiver, indulgence or extension of time which the BHA may 
grant respecting the Lease or this Guaranty or any other guaranty, if there be more than 
one; (e) any failure to enforce any of the terms, covenants or conditions of the Lease or this 
Guaranty or any other guaranty, if there be more than one; (f) any assignment by Tenant, 
whether voluntary or involuntary, of all or any portion of its interest under the Lease, or 
any subletting, licensing or other occupancy arrangement concerning all or any part of the 
Premises leased thereunder, whether or not the BHA has consented to the same; (g) any 
termination of the Lease by the BHA by reason of the default of Tenant thereunder; (h) the 
acquisition by Guarantor of any rights under, or interest in, the Lease, or in all or any 
portion of the Premises demised thereunder, whether by assignment, subletting, licensing 
or otherwise; (i) the assignment of this Guaranty in whole or in part by the BHA to any 
party to whom the BHA has assigned its interests under, and to the extent permitted by, the 
Lease; (j) the release or discharge of Tenant in any receivership, bankruptcy or other 
proceedings; (k) the impairment, limitation or modification of the liability of Tenant or the 
estate of Tenant in bankruptcy, or of any remedy for the enforcement of Tenant’s liability 
under the Lease, resulting from the operation of any present or future provision of any state 
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or federal law concerning bankruptcy or insolvency; (l) the rejection or disaffirmance of 
the Lease in any such proceeding; (m) any disability of Tenant; or (n) the cessation for any 
cause whatsoever of the liability of Tenant other than full payment and performance of 
those obligations of Tenant which are guaranteed hereunder. 

 
6. WAIVERS BY GUARANTOR. Guarantor waives, to the extent permitted by law: (a) 

any defense based upon any legal disability of Tenant, any other guarantor or other person, 
or by reason of the cessation or limitation of the liability of Tenant from any cause other 
than full payment and performance of those obligations of Tenant which are guaranteed 
hereunder; (b) any defense based upon any lack of authority of the officers, directors, 
partners, managers, members, or agents acting or purporting to act on behalf of Tenant or 
any principal of Tenant or any defect in the formation of Tenant or any principal of Tenant; 
(c) any and all rights and defenses arising out of an election of remedies by the BHA; (d) 
any defense based upon the BHA’s failure to disclose to Guarantor any information 
concerning Tenant’s financial condition or any other circumstances bearing on Tenant’s 
ability to pay and perform its obligations under the Lease; (e) any defense based upon any 
statute or rule of law which provides that the obligation of a surety must be neither larger 
in amount nor in any other respects more burdensome than that of a principal; (f) subject 
to the provisions of Section 8 below, any right of subrogation, any right to enforce any 
remedy which the BHA may have against Tenant and any right to participate in, or benefit 
from, any security for the Lease now or hereafter held by the BHA; (g) presentment, 
demand, protest, and, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Guaranty, notice of 
any kind including, without limitation, notice of any default by Tenant under the Lease; (h) 
acceptance of this Guaranty by the BHA; (i) any right or claim of right to cause a 
marshaling of any of the Tenant’s assets or the assets of any other party now or hereafter 
held as security for Tenant’s obligations; and (j) any exemption of disposable earnings 
from attachment or garnishment under the Massachusetts General Laws. Without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing or any other provision hereof, but subject to the provisions 
of Section 8 below, Guarantor further expressly waives, to the extent permitted by law, any 
and all rights and defenses generally available to sureties, including without limitation any 
rights against Tenant of subrogation, reimbursement, indemnification and contribution. 
Guarantor further agrees that the performance of any act or any payment which tolls any 
statute of limitations applicable to the Lease shall similarly operate to toll the statute of 
limitations applicable to Guarantor’s liability hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary set forth in this Guaranty, acts or omissions of the BHA or its agents that would 
constitute a defense available to the Tenant against claims made by the BHA under the 
Lease with respect to any obligations of Tenant thereunder which are hereby guaranteed, 
shall also constitute a permitted defense to claims made by the BHA against Guarantor 
hereunder with respect thereto. 

 

7. GUARANTOR’S WARRANTIES. Guarantor acknowledges that the BHA would not 
enter into the Lease but for this Guaranty.  Guarantor warrants and acknowledges that: (a) 
Guarantor has reviewed all of the terms and provisions of the Lease, and the Final Plans 
and Specifications; (b) there are no conditions precedent to the effectiveness of this 
Guaranty; (c) Guarantor has established adequate means of obtaining from sources other 
than the BHA, on a continuing basis, financial and other information pertaining to Tenant’s 
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financial condition, the Premises, the progress of construction of the Improvements, and 
the status of Tenant’s performance of its obligations under the Lease, and the BHA has 
made no representation to Guarantor as to any such matters; and (d) Guarantor has not and 
will not, without the prior written consent of the BHA, sell, lease, assign, encumber, 
hypothecate, transfer or otherwise dispose of or permit or cause to be disposed of all or 
substantially all of Guarantor’s assets, other than (i) in the ordinary course of Guarantor’s 
business, (ii) in any transaction that does not result in Guarantor failing to satisfy the 
financial covenants set forth in Section 11 hereof or (iii) pursuant to any transaction 
whereby Guarantor arranges for a replacement guarantor reasonably satisfactory to the 
BHA that meets the minimum net worth and unencumbered Liquid Assets requirements 
under this Guaranty to enter into a replacement Guaranty. 

 
8. SUBORDINATION. This Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect until the earlier 

to occur of the following (such earlier occurrence, a “Release Condition Event”): (a) all 
of the obligations guaranteed by Guarantor hereunder have been paid and/or satisfied in 
full, and (b) Substantial Completion of the construction of the Improvements has occurred 
and the payment therefor is complete as described in Section 1 hereof.  Guarantor shall be 
subrogated to all rights of the BHA against Tenant in respect of any amounts paid by 
Guarantor pursuant to this Guaranty; provided, however, until such time as a Release 
Condition Event has occurred, Guarantor: (a) postpones its right to enforce its rights of 
subrogation against Tenant by reason of any payments or acts of performance by Guarantor 
pursuant to this Guaranty; (b) subordinates any right to enforce any remedy which 
Guarantor now has or hereafter may have against Tenant by reason of any one or more 
payments or acts of performance pursuant to this Guaranty to the obligations of Tenant to 
the BHA under the Lease; and (c) subordinates any liability or indebtedness of Tenant now 
or hereafter held by Guarantor to the obligations of Tenant to the BHA under the Lease. 

 
9. BANKRUPTCY OF TENANT. In any bankruptcy or other proceeding in which the filing 

of claims is required by law, Guarantor shall file all claims which Guarantor may have 
against Tenant relating to any indebtedness of Tenant to Guarantor. If all or any portion of 
the obligations guaranteed hereunder are paid or performed, the obligations of Guarantor 
hereunder shall continue and shall remain in full force and effect in the event that all or any 
part of such payment or performance is avoided or recovered directly or indirectly from 
the BHA as a preference, fraudulent transfer or otherwise under the Bankruptcy Code or 
other similar laws, irrespective of (a) any notice of revocation given by Guarantor prior to 
such avoidance or recovery, or (b) full payment and performance of all of the indebtedness 
and obligations under the Lease. 

 
10. ADDITIONAL, INDEPENDENT AND UNSECURED OBLIGATIONS. The 

obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall be in addition to and shall not limit or in any way 
affect the obligations of Guarantor under any other existing or future guaranties unless said 
other guaranties are expressly modified or revoked in writing. This Guaranty is 
independent of the obligations of Tenant under the Lease. The BHA may bring a separate 
action to enforce the provisions hereof against Guarantor without taking action against 
Tenant or any other party or joining Tenant or any other party as a party to such action. 
Except as otherwise provided in this Guaranty, this Guaranty is not secured and shall not 
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be deemed to be secured by any security instrument, unless such security instrument 
expressly recites that it secures this Guaranty. 

 
11. FINANCIAL COVENANTS. Annually prior to the occurrence of a Release Condition 

Event, Guarantor shall, within one-hundred twenty (120) days after the end of its fiscal 
year, and at any time prior to the occurrence of a Release Condition Event, upon request of 
the BHA if the BHA has a reasonable basis to believe that Guarantor is failing to satisfy 
the financial covenants set forth in this Section 11, (a) furnish to counsel for the BHA, 
current financial statements with respect to Guarantor, prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, substantially in the form and 
with the detail, provided to the BHA prior to the execution hereof, which statements shall 
be certified by the chief financial officer or a vice president of Guarantor as correct in all 
material respects as of the date thereof; and (b) execute, acknowledge and deliver to the 
BHA a statement certifying that this Guaranty is unmodified and in full force and effect 
(or if there have been any modifications, that the same is in full force and effect as modified 
and stating such modifications). To the extent permitted by law, all financial statements 
delivered to the BHA’s counsel pursuant to this Section shall be maintained by such 
counsel and the BHA as confidential materials and shall not be disclosed to any person 
except (i) as required by law or governmental or court order, or (ii) in the event of litigation 
relating to this Guaranty. Until such time as a Release Condition Event has occurred, 
Guarantor shall maintain a net worth of at least Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00) and 
unencumbered Liquid Assets (as defined below) of not less than Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000.00), measured annually; provided, however, in the event that Guarantor shall 
fail to maintain such minimum net worth and unencumbered Liquid Assets, Guarantor shall 
have the right to cure such failure by providing evidence of the cure within thirty (30) days 
following the date of the delivery of the financial statements which evidence such failure 
to satisfy such minimum net worth and unencumbered Liquid Assets requirements (the 
“Failure Date”). “Liquid Assets” shall mean the sum of the following unencumbered assets: 
(i) all cash (denominated in United States dollars) or cash equivalents; (ii) any demand 
deposits; (iii) marketable securities (a) consisting of short term (maturity of two years or 
less) obligations issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States of 
America or any agency or instrumentality thereof or (b) listed on a national exchange or 
traded over the counter, marked to market; (iv) short term certificates of deposit, with a 
maturity of two years or less, issued by, or savings accounts with, any bank or other 
financial institution organized under the laws of the United States of America having total 
assets in excess of $500,000,000.00 or otherwise reasonably acceptable to the BHA; (v) 
undrawn lines of credit available to meet Guarantor’s obligations hereunder; and (vi) the 
aggregate amount of uncalled capital commitments from Guarantor’s members pursuant to 
the terms of its operating agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Guarantor may cure 
any breach by Guarantor of the requirements and covenants hereof by electing, in writing, 
within thirty (30) days of the Failure Date, to propose a replacement guarantor, and 
presenting to the BHA evidence reasonably satisfactory to the BHA that the replacement 
guarantor maintains such minimum net worth and unencumbered Liquid Assets.  Upon 
receipt of such evidence, Guarantor shall cause the replacement guarantor to execute a new 
Guaranty (in substantially the same form as this Guaranty) or a joinder to this Guaranty in 
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favor of the BHA in form and substance satisfactory to Guarantor, pursuant to which such 
replacement guarantor assumes all obligations hereunder. 

 
12. ATTORNEYS’ FEES; ENFORCEMENT. If any attorney is engaged by the BHA to 

enforce or defend any provision of this Guaranty, with or without the filing of any legal 
action or proceeding, then provided that the BHA prevails in such enforcement or defense 
(whether or not any legal action or other proceeding is filed), Guarantor shall pay to the 
BHA, within thirty (30) days after demand all reasonable attorneys’ fees and third-party 
costs incurred by the BHA in connection therewith, together with interest thereon, if not so 
paid by such thirtieth (30th) day after demand, until paid at the Default Rate (as defined in 
the Lease). 

 
13. RULES OF CONSTRUCTION. The word “Tenant” as used herein shall include both the 

named Tenant and any other person at any time assuming or otherwise becoming primarily 
liable for all or any part of the obligations of the named Tenant under the Lease pursuant 
to an assignment by Tenant or the admission of a person as a new member of Tenant that 
holds more than eighty percent (80%) of the interests in Tenant. The term “person” as used 
herein shall include any individual, company, trust or other legal entity of any kind 
whatsoever. If this Guaranty is executed by more than one person, the term “Guarantor” 
shall include all such persons. When the context and construction so require, all words used 
in the singular herein shall be deemed to have been used in the plural and vice versa. All 
headings appearing in this Guaranty are for convenience only and shall be disregarded in 
construing this Guaranty. 

 
14. INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 
 
15. GOVERNING LAW. This Guaranty shall be governed by, and construed in accordance 

with, the laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without regard to conflicts of laws 
principles. Guarantor hereby agrees that any suit, action, or proceeding arising out of or 
relating to this Guaranty shall be brought only in, and Guarantor hereby consents and 
submits irrevocably to the jurisdiction of, the courts of The Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts or the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts, and all 
courts to which an appeal may be taken from the aforementioned courts. Guarantor 
expressly and irrevocably waives any objection it may now or hereafter have as to venue 
in any of such courts and any claim that any such suit, action, or proceeding has been 
brought in an inconvenient forum. Service of process in any such suit, action, or proceeding 
may be effected upon Guarantor at the first address for Guarantor set forth in Section 21 
below (or such other one address as Guarantor may specify to the BHA in a written notice 
given in the manner provided in this Guaranty) by overnight delivery by an internationally 
recognized overnight courier delivery service or by any method then permitted under the 
laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

 
16. MISCELLANEOUS. Time is of the essence hereunder with respect to every provision 

hereof. The provisions of this Guaranty will bind and benefit the successors and assigns of 
Guarantor and the BHA. The liability of all persons who are named as Guarantor 
hereunder, if more than one, shall be joint and several. If any provision of this Guaranty 
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shall be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable, that portion shall be deemed severed from this Guaranty and the remaining 
parts shall remain in full force as though the invalid, illegal or unenforceable portion had 
never been part of this Guaranty. This Guaranty sets forth the entire agreement between 
the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof and cannot be changed or terminated 
orally, but only by a written instrument signed by the BHA and Guarantor. Capitalized 
terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning given thereto in the 
Lease. The terms “the BHA” and “Tenant” shall each be deemed to include the named 
party and such party’s successors and assigns. No delay or omission on the part of the BHA 
or Guarantor in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver of such right or 
remedy, or any other right or remedy. A waiver on any one occasion shall not be construed 
as a bar to or a waiver of such right or remedy on any other occasion. All monetary 
obligations of Guarantor hereunder shall be satisfied in United States dollars. 

 
17. JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY. The liability of Guarantor hereunder shall be joint 

and several with the Tenant and all other guarantors of Tenant’s obligations under the 
Lease. The BHA may, at its option, proceed against Guarantor, or any one or more 
guarantors if there be more than one, without having commenced any action or having 
obtained any judgment against Tenant or against Guarantor or against any other guarantor, 
if there be more than one, and without having first proceeded against any other security 
then held by the BHA for the performance of Tenant’s obligations under the Lease. 

 
18. ENFORCEABILITY. Guarantor hereby acknowledges that: (a) the obligations 

undertaken by Guarantor in this Guaranty are complex in nature, and (b) numerous possible 
defenses to the enforceability of these obligations may presently exist and/or may arise 
hereafter, and (c) as part of the BHA’s consideration for entering into this transaction, the 
BHA has specifically bargained for the waiver and relinquishment by Guarantor of such 
defenses as are specifically waived and relinquished in this Guaranty, and (d) Guarantor 
has had the opportunity to seek and receive legal advice from skilled legal counsel in the 
area of financial transactions of the type contemplated herein. Given all of the above, 
Guarantor does hereby represent and confirm to the BHA that Guarantor is fully informed 
regarding, and that Guarantor does thoroughly understand: (i) the nature of all such 
possible defenses, and (ii) the circumstances under which such defenses may arise, and (iii) 
the benefits which such defenses might confer upon Guarantor, and (iv) the legal 
consequences to Guarantor of waiving such defenses as are waived in this Guaranty. 
Guarantor acknowledges that Guarantor makes this Guaranty with the intent that this 
Guaranty and all of the informed waivers herein shall each and all be fully enforceable by 
the BHA, to the extent permitted by law, and that the BHA is induced to enter into this 
transaction in material reliance upon the presumed full enforceability thereof. 

 
19. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF GUARANTOR. Guarantor hereby 

represents and warrants as of the execution and delivery of this Guaranty that:  
 

(a) the beneficial owners of Guarantor hold an indirect beneficial ownership interest in 
Tenant, and Guarantor deems the granting, execution and delivery of the Lease to 
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be in Guarantor’s best interest and Guarantor expects to derive substantial benefit 
therefrom; 

(b) Guarantor is a limited liability company, duly organized and in good standing under 
the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and shall at all times maintain 
such legal existence and good standing; 

(c) Guarantor has full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform the terms of 
this Guaranty, and the person executing this Guaranty on behalf of Guarantor has 
been authorized by all requisite limited liability company action to do so; 

(d) this Guaranty is the legal, valid and binding obligation of Guarantor and, subject to 
the operation of bankruptcy and insolvency laws in the event of a bankruptcy or 
insolvency of Guarantor and similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and 
under general principles of equity, is enforceable against Guarantor in accordance 
with its terms;  

(e) the financial statements of Guarantor, dated December 31, 2022, which have been 
delivered to the BHA, are true, correct, and complete in all material respects, have 
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
consistently applied, and fairly present the financial condition of Guarantor as of 
the date thereof in all material respects.  No material adverse change that has caused 
(or is likely to cause) Guarantor to fail to satisfy the financial covenants set forth in 
Section 11 hereof has occurred prior to the date hereof in the financial condition of 
Guarantor as set forth in such financial statements since the date thereof; 

(f) as of the date hereof, there are no outstanding judgments against, or any actions, 
suits or proceedings at law or in equity or before or by any governmental authority 
in which Guarantor has been served or (to the best of Guarantor’s knowledge) 
threatened in writing against or affecting Guarantor or any of its assets which 
proceeding would, if decided adversely to Guarantor, materially and adversely 
affect Guarantor’s ability to perform its obligations under this Guaranty. To the best 
of Guarantor’s knowledge after due inquiry, as of the date hereof, Guarantor is not 
in default with respect to any order, writ, injunction, decree or demand of any court 
or any governmental authority which is binding upon it or any of its assets; and 

(g) the execution, delivery and performance of the terms of this Guaranty have not and 
will not result in any breach of, or default under, any mortgage, deed of trust, lease, 
bank loan or credit agreement, charter, articles of incorporation, by-law, operating 
agreement, joint venture or partnership agreement, or other material instrument to 
which Guarantor is a party or by which any of its assets may be bound. 

20. EXECUTIVE ORDER COMPLIANCE.  Guarantor will at all times comply with 
Executive Order No. 13224 on Terrorist financing effective September 24, 2001, the 
Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tours Required to Intercept 
and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (Public Law 10756) and any other law, regulation or 
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Executive Order of the United States of America prohibiting the doing of business with or 
transfer of property to any person or entity. 

 

21. NOTICES. All notices, demands, requests, and other communications required or 
permitted to be given pursuant to the terms hereof, shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
to have been properly given if delivered by hand or sent by registered or certified United 
States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, and: 

 
If directed to the BHA addressed to: 
 
Boston Housing Authority 
52 Chauncy Street 
Boston, MA  02111 
ATTN:  Administrator 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Boston Housing Authority 
52 Chauncy Street 
Boston, MA  02111 
ATTN:  General Counsel 
 
If directed to Guarantor addressed to: 
 
Leggat McCall Properties LLC 
10 Post Office Square, #13 
Boston, MA  02109 
ATTN: Eric B. Sheffels and Adelaide Grady 
Email: Eric.Sheffels@lmp.com and adelaide.grady@lmp.com  
 
With a copy to: 
 
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP 
One Federal Street 
Boston, MA 02110-1726 
ATTN:  James L. Black, Jr. 
Email:  james.black@morganlewis.com 
 
Or, to such other addresses as may from time to time be specified in writing by any party hereto. 
Unless otherwise specified in writing, all sums payable to the BHA hereunder shall be paid to the 
first address listed above in this Section for the BHA. 
 
22. RELEASE OF GUARANTY. Upon the occurrence of a Release Condition Event, the 

BHA shall, upon written request of Guarantor, execute and deliver to Guarantor (at no cost 
to Guarantor or Tenant) a complete release of this Guaranty. 
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23. SUBORDINATION OF GUARANTY.  The BHA agrees that its rights under this 
Guaranty shall be subject and subordinate to the rights of any Permitted Leasehold 
Mortgagee under the completion guaranty provided by Guarantor to such Permitted 
Leasehold Mortgagee with respect to the Improvements. 

 

24. WAIVER OF RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. GUARANTOR AND, BY ITS 
ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, THE BHA, HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT 
TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION 
ARISING UNDER THIS GUARANTY OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR 
RELATED TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO WITH RESPECT TO 
THE  IMPROVEMENTS, WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, 
AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE; AND 
CONSENT TO THE FILING OF AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF 
THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT 
OF GUARANTOR AND THE BHA TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL 
BY JURY. 

 
 

[End of Page:  See Following Page for Signature] 
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[Signature page of Guaranty] 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Guarantor has signed this Guaranty under seal as of the date first 
above written. 
 
 
      LEGGAT McCALL PROPERTIES LLC 
 
      By: __________________________ 

Name: 
Title: 
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SCHEDULE 1-A 

 
TRANSACTION RENT CALCULATION ILLUSTRATION 

 



SCHEDULE 1-A
Transaction Rent Computations Illustration 1 Inputs Highlighted in Yellow Outlined Input Is Changed Between Illustrations

Transaction Rent Computed as: Greater of Method 1 and Method 2

Basic Data Invested Capital - Initial 100,000,000 Initial Development Cost or Purchase Price + 3rd Party Closing Costs 
Gross Sale Proceeds 125,000,000 Sale Price at End of Holding Period
Costs of Sale 2.0%
Annual Inflation 3.0%

Method 1 -  % of Gross Sale Approach % of Gross Sale Proceeds 1.0% Ground Lease Section 4.3(a)

Method 2 - Profit Sharing Approach Ground Lease Section 4.3(b)
Treasury Yield Used for Holding Period 2.14% Ave. 10YR treasury yield for trailing 5 years at Start of Holding Period as of 6/20/23
Hurdle Rates Tranche 1 Hurdle 8.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 6.0%

Tranche 2 Hurdle 11.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 9.0%
Tranche 3 Hurdle 14.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 12.0%

Profit Share % of Margin over Hurdle 10%
% of Margin over Hurdle 20%
% of Margin over Hurdle 30%

Investment Performance
Quarter 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16
Invested Capital At Start of Holding Period (Sale Basis) -100,000,000
Cash Flow from Investment Activities (CapEx) -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -25,750 -25,750 -25,750 -25,750 -26,523 -26,523 -26,523 -26,523 -27,318 -27,318 -27,318 -27,318
Cash Flow from Operating Activities Unlevered (adds back interest expense) 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500
Gross Proceeds from Sale at End of Holding Period (Sale Price) 125,000,000
Costs of Sale -2,500,000
Quarterly Unlevered Cash Flow Prior to Transaction Rent -100,000,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,182 1,260,182 1,260,182 123,760,182
IRR Prior to Transaction Rent 9.68%
Quarterly Unlevered Cash Flow Post Transaction Rent -100,000,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,182 1,260,182 1,260,182 122,510,182
IRR Post Transaction Rent = Tenant's Return 9.44%

Tranche 1 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -100,809,135 -101,634,728 -102,477,116 -103,336,638 -104,176,895 -105,034,243 -105,909,031 -106,801,613 -107,713,124 -108,643,177 -109,592,148 -110,560,422 -111,549,188 -112,558,067 -113,587,468 -114,637,808
Tranche 2 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -101,559,135 -103,161,678 -104,808,838 -106,501,857 -108,205,262 -109,956,092 -111,755,668 -113,605,347 -115,507,295 -117,462,196 -119,471,524 -121,536,795 -123,660,361 -125,843,050 -128,086,509 -130,392,428
Tranche 3 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -102,309,135 -104,699,877 -107,175,112 -109,737,825 -112,354,357 -115,063,362 -117,868,106 -120,771,973 -123,779,240 -126,892,788 -130,116,372 -133,453,883 -136,910,141 -140,488,548 -144,193,420 -148,029,228

Profit Sharing
Profit Share $786,219 Tranch 1 114,637,808

$0 Tranch 2 17,505,132
$0 Tranch 3 22,046,001

$786,219 Total Share

Transaction Rent Computation
Method 1 Approach $1,250,000 at 1% of Gross Proceeds
Method 2 Approach $786,219 Total Share of Profits
Greater of Method 1 and Method 2 Equals Transaction Rent Due $1,250,000 Amount Due

Proceeds to Owner to Clear Tranche 1
Incremental Proceeds to Owner/BHA to Clear Tranche 2 = difference in hurdle amount/(1-BHA share)
Incremental Proceeds to Owner/BHA to Clear Tranche 3 = difference in hurdle amount/(1-BHA share)



SCHEDULE 1-A
Transaction Rent Computations Illustration 2 Inputs Highlighted in Yellow Outlined Input Is Changed Between Illustrations

Transaction Rent Computed as: Greater of Method 1 and Method 2

Basic Data Invested Capital - Initial 100,000,000 Initial Development Cost or Purchase Price + 3rd Party Closing Costs
Gross Sale Proceeds 140,000,000 Sale Price at End of Holding Period
Costs of Sale 2.0%
Annual Inflation 3.0%

Method 1 -  % of Gross Sale Approach % of Gross Sale Proceeds 1.0% Ground Lease Section 4.3(a)

Method 2 - Profit Sharing Approach Ground Lease Section 4.3(b)
Treasury Yield Used for Holding Period 2.14% Ave. 10YR treasury yield for trailing 5 years at Start of Holding Period as of 6/20/23
Hurdle Rates Tranche 1 Hurdle 8.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 6.0%

Tranche 2 Hurdle 11.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 9.0%
Tranche 3 Hurdle 14.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 12.0%

Profit Share % of Margin over Hurdle 10%
% of Margin over Hurdle 20%
% of Margin over Hurdle 30%

Investment Performance
Quarter 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16
Invested Capital At Start of Holding Period (Sale Basis) -100,000,000
Cash Flow from Investment Activities (CapEx) -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -25,750 -25,750 -25,750 -25,750 -26,523 -26,523 -26,523 -26,523 -27,318 -27,318 -27,318 -27,318
Cash Flow from Operating Activities Unlevered (adds back interest expense) 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500
Gross Proceeds from Sale at End of Holding Period (Sale Price) 140,000,000
Costs of Sale -2,800,000
Quarterly Unlevered Cash Flow Prior to Transaction Rent -100,000,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,182 1,260,182 1,260,182 138,460,182
IRR Prior to Transaction Rent 12.33%
Quarterly Unlevered Cash Flow Post Transaction Rent -100,000,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,182 1,260,182 1,260,182 135,698,257
IRR Post Transaction Rent = Tenant's Return 11.86%

Tranche 1 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -100,809,135 -101,634,728 -102,477,116 -103,336,638 -104,176,895 -105,034,243 -105,909,031 -106,801,613 -107,713,124 -108,643,177 -109,592,148 -110,560,422 -111,549,188 -112,558,067 -113,587,468 -114,637,808
Tranche 2 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -101,559,135 -103,161,678 -104,808,838 -106,501,857 -108,205,262 -109,956,092 -111,755,668 -113,605,347 -115,507,295 -117,462,196 -119,471,524 -121,536,795 -123,660,361 -125,843,050 -128,086,509 -130,392,428
Tranche 3 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -102,309,135 -104,699,877 -107,175,112 -109,737,825 -112,354,357 -115,063,362 -117,868,106 -120,771,973 -123,779,240 -126,892,788 -130,116,372 -133,453,883 -136,910,141 -140,488,548 -144,193,420 -148,029,228

Profit Sharing
Profit Share $1,750,513 Tranch 1 114,637,808

$1,011,412 Tranch 2 17,505,132
$0 Tranch 3 22,046,001

$2,761,925 Total Share

Transaction Rent Computation
Method 1 Approach $1,400,000 at 1% of Gross Proceeds
Method 2 Approach $2,761,925 Total Share of Profits
Greater of Method 1 and Method 2 Equals Transaction Rent Due $2,761,925 Amount Due

Incremental Proceeds to Owner/BHA to Clear Tranche 3 = difference in hurdle amount/(1-BHA share)

Proceeds to Owner to Clear Tranche 1
Incremental Proceeds to Owner/BHA to Clear Tranche 2 = difference in hurdle amount/(1-BHA share)



SCHEDULE 1-A
Transaction Rent Computations Illustration 3 Inputs Highlighted in Yellow Outlined Input Is Changed Between Illustrations

Transaction Rent Computed as: Greater of Method 1 and Method 2

Basic Data Invested Capital - Initial 100,000,000 Initial Development Cost or Purchase Price + 3rd Party Closing Costs
Gross Sale Proceeds 160,000,000 Sale Price at End of Holding Period
Costs of Sale 2.0%
Annual Inflation 3.0%

Method 1 -  % of Gross Sale Approach % of Gross Sale Proceeds 1.0% Ground Lease Section 4.3(a)

Method 2 - Profit Sharing Approach Ground Lease Section 4.3(b)
Treasury Yield Used for Holding Period 2.14% Ave. 10YR treasury yield for trailing 5 years at Start of Holding Period as of 6/20/23
Hurdle Rates Tranche 1 Hurdle 8.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 6.0%

Tranche 2 Hurdle 11.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 9.0%
Tranche 3 Hurdle 14.14%  Yield on Treasuries + 12.0%

Profit Share % of Margin over Hurdle 10%
% of Margin over Hurdle 20%
% of Margin over Hurdle 30%

Investment Performance
Quarter 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16
Invested Capital At Start of Holding Period (Sale Basis) -100,000,000
Cash Flow from Investment Activities (CapEx) -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -25,000 -25,750 -25,750 -25,750 -25,750 -26,523 -26,523 -26,523 -26,523 -27,318 -27,318 -27,318 -27,318
Cash Flow from Operating Activities Unlevered (adds back interest expense) 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500 1,287,500
Gross Proceeds from Sale at End of Holding Period (Sale Price) 160,000,000
Costs of Sale -3,200,000
Quarterly Unlevered Cash Flow Prior to Transaction Rent -100,000,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,182 1,260,182 1,260,182 158,060,182
IRR Prior to Transaction Rent 15.51%
Quarterly Unlevered Cash Flow Post Transaction Rent -100,000,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,225,000 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,261,750 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,978 1,260,182 1,260,182 1,260,182 151,117,151
IRR Post Transaction Rent = Tenant's Return 14.43%

Tranche 1 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -100,809,135 -101,634,728 -102,477,116 -103,336,638 -104,176,895 -105,034,243 -105,909,031 -106,801,613 -107,713,124 -108,643,177 -109,592,148 -110,560,422 -111,549,188 -112,558,067 -113,587,468 -114,637,808
Tranche 2 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -101,559,135 -103,161,678 -104,808,838 -106,501,857 -108,205,262 -109,956,092 -111,755,668 -113,605,347 -115,507,295 -117,462,196 -119,471,524 -121,536,795 -123,660,361 -125,843,050 -128,086,509 -130,392,428
Tranche 3 Hurdle Amount Prior to Sale -100,000,000 -102,309,135 -104,699,877 -107,175,112 -109,737,825 -112,354,357 -115,063,362 -117,868,106 -120,771,973 -123,779,240 -126,892,788 -130,116,372 -133,453,883 -136,910,141 -140,488,548 -144,193,420 -148,029,228

Profit Sharing
Profit Share $1,750,513 Tranch 1 114,637,808

$4,409,200 Tranch 2 17,505,132
$783,317 Tranch 3 22,046,001

$6,943,031 Total Share

Transaction Rent Computation
Method 1 Approach $1,600,000 at 1% of Gross Proceeds
Method 2 Approach $6,943,031 Total Share of Profits
Greater of Method 1 and Method 2 Equals Transaction Rent Due $6,943,031 Amount Due

Proceeds to Owner to Clear Tranche 1
Incremental Proceeds to Owner/BHA to Clear Tranche 2 = difference in hurdle amount/(1-BHA share)
Incremental Proceeds to Owner/BHA to Clear Tranche 3 = difference in hurdle amount/(1-BHA share)
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TRANSACTION RENT CALCULATION FORMULAS 
 



Macrotrends Data Download

10 Year Treasury Rate - 54 Year Historical Chart

DISCLAIMER AND TERMS OF USE: HISTORICAL DATA IS PROVIDED "AS IS" AND SOLELY
FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES - NOT FOR TRADING PURPOSES OR ADVICE.
NEITHER MACROTRENDS LLC NOR ANY OF OUR INFORMATION PROVIDERS WILL BE LIABLE
FOR ANY DAMAGES RELATING TO YOUR USE OF THE DATA PROVIDED.

ATTRIBUTION: Proper attribution requires clear indication of the data source as "www.macrotrends.net".
A "dofollow" backlink to the originating page is also required if the data is displayed on a web page.

DOWNLOADED 6/20/2023 sum 2672.81
entries 1251

6/15/2018 2.93 ave 2.136539 5 YR T Rate
6/18/2018 2.92
6/19/2018 2.89
6/20/2018 2.93
6/21/2018 2.9
6/22/2018 2.9
6/25/2018 2.87
6/26/2018 2.88
6/27/2018 2.83
6/28/2018 2.84
6/29/2018 2.85

7/2/2018 2.87
7/3/2018 2.83
7/5/2018 2.84
7/6/2018 2.82
7/9/2018 2.86

7/10/2018 2.87
7/11/2018 2.85
7/12/2018 2.85
7/13/2018 2.83
7/16/2018 2.85
7/17/2018 2.86
7/18/2018 2.88
7/19/2018 2.84
7/20/2018 2.89
7/23/2018 2.96
7/24/2018 2.95
7/25/2018 2.94
7/26/2018 2.98
7/27/2018 2.96
7/30/2018 2.98
7/31/2018 2.96

8/1/2018 3



8/2/2018 2.98
8/3/2018 2.95
8/6/2018 2.94
8/7/2018 2.98
8/8/2018 2.96
8/9/2018 2.93

8/10/2018 2.87
8/13/2018 2.88
8/14/2018 2.89
8/15/2018 2.86
8/16/2018 2.87
8/17/2018 2.87
8/20/2018 2.82
8/21/2018 2.85
8/22/2018 2.82
8/23/2018 2.82
8/24/2018 2.82
8/27/2018 2.85
8/28/2018 2.88
8/29/2018 2.89
8/30/2018 2.86
8/31/2018 2.86

9/4/2018 2.9
9/5/2018 2.9
9/6/2018 2.88
9/7/2018 2.94

9/10/2018 2.94
9/11/2018 2.98
9/12/2018 2.97
9/13/2018 2.97
9/14/2018 2.99
9/17/2018 2.99
9/18/2018 3.05
9/19/2018 3.08
9/20/2018 3.07
9/21/2018 3.07
9/24/2018 3.08
9/25/2018 3.1
9/26/2018 3.06
9/27/2018 3.06
9/28/2018 3.05
10/1/2018 3.09
10/2/2018 3.05
10/3/2018 3.15
10/4/2018 3.19
10/5/2018 3.23
10/9/2018 3.21



10/10/2018 3.22
10/11/2018 3.14
10/12/2018 3.15
10/15/2018 3.16
10/16/2018 3.16
10/17/2018 3.19
10/18/2018 3.17
10/19/2018 3.2
10/22/2018 3.2
10/23/2018 3.17
10/24/2018 3.1
10/25/2018 3.14
10/26/2018 3.08
10/29/2018 3.08
10/30/2018 3.12
10/31/2018 3.15

11/1/2018 3.14
11/2/2018 3.22
11/5/2018 3.2
11/6/2018 3.22
11/7/2018 3.22
11/8/2018 3.24
11/9/2018 3.19

11/13/2018 3.14
11/14/2018 3.12
11/15/2018 3.11
11/16/2018 3.08
11/19/2018 3.06
11/20/2018 3.06
11/21/2018 3.06
11/23/2018 3.05
11/26/2018 3.07
11/27/2018 3.06
11/28/2018 3.06
11/29/2018 3.03
11/30/2018 3.01

12/3/2018 2.98
12/4/2018 2.91
12/6/2018 2.87
12/7/2018 2.85

12/10/2018 2.85
12/11/2018 2.89
12/12/2018 2.91
12/13/2018 2.91
12/14/2018 2.89
12/17/2018 2.86
12/18/2018 2.82



12/19/2018 2.77
12/20/2018 2.79
12/21/2018 2.79
12/24/2018 2.74
12/26/2018 2.81
12/27/2018 2.77
12/28/2018 2.72
12/31/2018 2.69

1/2/2019 2.66
1/3/2019 2.56
1/4/2019 2.67
1/7/2019 2.7
1/8/2019 2.73
1/9/2019 2.74

1/10/2019 2.74
1/11/2019 2.71
1/14/2019 2.71
1/15/2019 2.72
1/16/2019 2.73
1/17/2019 2.75
1/18/2019 2.79
1/22/2019 2.74
1/23/2019 2.76
1/24/2019 2.72
1/25/2019 2.76
1/28/2019 2.75
1/29/2019 2.72
1/30/2019 2.7
1/31/2019 2.63

2/1/2019 2.7
2/4/2019 2.73
2/5/2019 2.71
2/6/2019 2.7
2/7/2019 2.65
2/8/2019 2.63

2/11/2019 2.65
2/12/2019 2.68
2/13/2019 2.71
2/14/2019 2.66
2/15/2019 2.66
2/19/2019 2.65
2/20/2019 2.65
2/21/2019 2.69
2/22/2019 2.65
2/25/2019 2.67
2/26/2019 2.64
2/27/2019 2.69



2/28/2019 2.73
3/1/2019 2.76
3/4/2019 2.72
3/5/2019 2.72
3/6/2019 2.69
3/7/2019 2.64
3/8/2019 2.62

3/11/2019 2.64
3/12/2019 2.61
3/13/2019 2.61
3/14/2019 2.63
3/15/2019 2.59
3/18/2019 2.6
3/19/2019 2.61
3/20/2019 2.54
3/21/2019 2.54
3/22/2019 2.44
3/25/2019 2.43
3/26/2019 2.41
3/27/2019 2.39
3/28/2019 2.39
3/29/2019 2.41

4/1/2019 2.49
4/2/2019 2.48
4/3/2019 2.52
4/4/2019 2.51
4/5/2019 2.5
4/8/2019 2.52
4/9/2019 2.51

4/10/2019 2.48
4/11/2019 2.51
4/12/2019 2.56
4/15/2019 2.55
4/16/2019 2.6
4/17/2019 2.59
4/18/2019 2.57
4/22/2019 2.59
4/23/2019 2.57
4/24/2019 2.53
4/25/2019 2.54
4/26/2019 2.51
4/29/2019 2.54
4/30/2019 2.51

5/1/2019 2.52
5/2/2019 2.55
5/3/2019 2.54
5/6/2019 2.51



5/7/2019 2.45
5/8/2019 2.49
5/9/2019 2.45

5/10/2019 2.47
5/13/2019 2.4
5/14/2019 2.42
5/15/2019 2.37
5/16/2019 2.4
5/17/2019 2.39
5/20/2019 2.41
5/21/2019 2.43
5/22/2019 2.39
5/23/2019 2.31
5/24/2019 2.32
5/28/2019 2.26
5/29/2019 2.25
5/30/2019 2.22
5/31/2019 2.14

6/3/2019 2.07
6/4/2019 2.12
6/5/2019 2.12
6/6/2019 2.12
6/7/2019 2.09

6/10/2019 2.15
6/11/2019 2.15
6/12/2019 2.13
6/13/2019 2.1
6/14/2019 2.09
6/17/2019 2.09
6/18/2019 2.06
6/19/2019 2.03
6/20/2019 2.01
6/21/2019 2.07
6/24/2019 2.02
6/25/2019 2
6/26/2019 2.05
6/27/2019 2.01
6/28/2019 2

7/1/2019 2.03
7/2/2019 1.98
7/3/2019 1.96
7/5/2019 2.04
7/8/2019 2.05
7/9/2019 2.07

7/10/2019 2.07
7/11/2019 2.13
7/12/2019 2.12



7/15/2019 2.09
7/16/2019 2.13
7/17/2019 2.06
7/18/2019 2.04
7/19/2019 2.05
7/22/2019 2.05
7/23/2019 2.08
7/24/2019 2.05
7/25/2019 2.08
7/26/2019 2.08
7/29/2019 2.06
7/30/2019 2.06
7/31/2019 2.02

8/1/2019 1.9
8/2/2019 1.86
8/5/2019 1.75
8/6/2019 1.73
8/7/2019 1.71
8/8/2019 1.72
8/9/2019 1.74

8/12/2019 1.65
8/13/2019 1.68
8/14/2019 1.59
8/15/2019 1.52
8/16/2019 1.55
8/19/2019 1.6
8/20/2019 1.55
8/21/2019 1.59
8/22/2019 1.62
8/23/2019 1.52
8/26/2019 1.54
8/27/2019 1.49
8/28/2019 1.47
8/29/2019 1.5
8/30/2019 1.5

9/3/2019 1.47
9/4/2019 1.47
9/5/2019 1.57
9/6/2019 1.55
9/9/2019 1.63

9/10/2019 1.72
9/11/2019 1.75
9/12/2019 1.79
9/13/2019 1.9
9/16/2019 1.84
9/17/2019 1.81
9/18/2019 1.8



9/19/2019 1.79
9/20/2019 1.74
9/23/2019 1.72
9/24/2019 1.64
9/25/2019 1.73
9/26/2019 1.7
9/27/2019 1.69
9/30/2019 1.68
10/1/2019 1.65
10/2/2019 1.6
10/3/2019 1.54
10/4/2019 1.52
10/7/2019 1.56
10/8/2019 1.54
10/9/2019 1.59

10/10/2019 1.67
10/11/2019 1.76
10/15/2019 1.77
10/16/2019 1.75
10/17/2019 1.76
10/18/2019 1.76
10/21/2019 1.8
10/22/2019 1.78
10/23/2019 1.77
10/24/2019 1.77
10/25/2019 1.8
10/28/2019 1.85
10/29/2019 1.84
10/30/2019 1.78
10/31/2019 1.69

11/1/2019 1.73
11/4/2019 1.79
11/5/2019 1.86
11/6/2019 1.81
11/7/2019 1.92
11/8/2019 1.94

11/12/2019 1.92
11/13/2019 1.88
11/14/2019 1.82
11/15/2019 1.84
11/18/2019 1.81
11/19/2019 1.79
11/20/2019 1.73
11/21/2019 1.77
11/22/2019 1.77
11/25/2019 1.76
11/26/2019 1.74



11/27/2019 1.77
11/29/2019 1.78

12/2/2019 1.83
12/3/2019 1.72
12/4/2019 1.77
12/5/2019 1.8
12/6/2019 1.84
12/9/2019 1.83

12/10/2019 1.85
12/11/2019 1.79
12/12/2019 1.9
12/13/2019 1.82
12/16/2019 1.89
12/17/2019 1.89
12/18/2019 1.92
12/19/2019 1.92
12/20/2019 1.92
12/23/2019 1.93
12/24/2019 1.9
12/26/2019 1.9
12/27/2019 1.88
12/30/2019 1.9
12/31/2019 1.92

1/2/2020 1.88
1/3/2020 1.8
1/6/2020 1.81
1/7/2020 1.83
1/8/2020 1.87
1/9/2020 1.85

1/10/2020 1.83
1/13/2020 1.85
1/14/2020 1.82
1/15/2020 1.79
1/16/2020 1.81
1/17/2020 1.84
1/21/2020 1.78
1/22/2020 1.77
1/23/2020 1.74
1/24/2020 1.7
1/27/2020 1.61
1/28/2020 1.65
1/29/2020 1.6
1/30/2020 1.57
1/31/2020 1.51

2/3/2020 1.54
2/4/2020 1.61
2/5/2020 1.66



2/6/2020 1.65
2/7/2020 1.59

2/10/2020 1.56
2/11/2020 1.59
2/12/2020 1.62
2/13/2020 1.61
2/14/2020 1.59
2/18/2020 1.55
2/19/2020 1.56
2/20/2020 1.52
2/21/2020 1.46
2/24/2020 1.38
2/25/2020 1.33
2/26/2020 1.33
2/27/2020 1.3
2/28/2020 1.13

3/2/2020 1.1
3/3/2020 1.02
3/4/2020 1.02
3/5/2020 0.92
3/6/2020 0.74
3/9/2020 0.54

3/10/2020 0.76
3/11/2020 0.82
3/12/2020 0.88
3/13/2020 0.94
3/16/2020 0.73
3/17/2020 1.02
3/18/2020 1.18
3/19/2020 1.12
3/20/2020 0.92
3/23/2020 0.76
3/24/2020 0.84
3/25/2020 0.88
3/26/2020 0.83
3/27/2020 0.72
3/30/2020 0.7
3/31/2020 0.7

4/1/2020 0.62
4/2/2020 0.63
4/3/2020 0.62
4/6/2020 0.67
4/7/2020 0.75
4/8/2020 0.77
4/9/2020 0.73

4/13/2020 0.76
4/14/2020 0.76



4/15/2020 0.63
4/16/2020 0.61
4/17/2020 0.65
4/20/2020 0.63
4/21/2020 0.58
4/22/2020 0.63
4/23/2020 0.61
4/24/2020 0.6
4/27/2020 0.67
4/28/2020 0.62
4/29/2020 0.63
4/30/2020 0.64

5/1/2020 0.64
5/4/2020 0.64
5/5/2020 0.66
5/6/2020 0.72
5/7/2020 0.63
5/8/2020 0.69

5/11/2020 0.73
5/12/2020 0.69
5/13/2020 0.64
5/14/2020 0.63
5/15/2020 0.64
5/18/2020 0.73
5/19/2020 0.7
5/20/2020 0.68
5/21/2020 0.68
5/22/2020 0.66
5/26/2020 0.69
5/27/2020 0.68
5/28/2020 0.7
5/29/2020 0.65

6/1/2020 0.66
6/2/2020 0.68
6/3/2020 0.77
6/4/2020 0.82
6/5/2020 0.91
6/8/2020 0.88
6/9/2020 0.84

6/10/2020 0.75
6/11/2020 0.66
6/12/2020 0.71
6/15/2020 0.71
6/16/2020 0.75
6/17/2020 0.74
6/18/2020 0.71
6/19/2020 0.7



6/22/2020 0.71
6/23/2020 0.72
6/24/2020 0.69
6/25/2020 0.68
6/26/2020 0.64
6/29/2020 0.64
6/30/2020 0.66

7/1/2020 0.69
7/2/2020 0.68
7/6/2020 0.69
7/7/2020 0.65
7/8/2020 0.67
7/9/2020 0.62

7/10/2020 0.65
7/13/2020 0.64
7/14/2020 0.63
7/15/2020 0.64
7/16/2020 0.62
7/17/2020 0.64
7/20/2020 0.62
7/21/2020 0.61
7/22/2020 0.6
7/23/2020 0.59
7/24/2020 0.59
7/27/2020 0.62
7/28/2020 0.59
7/29/2020 0.58
7/30/2020 0.55
7/31/2020 0.55

8/3/2020 0.56
8/4/2020 0.52
8/5/2020 0.55
8/6/2020 0.55
8/7/2020 0.57

8/10/2020 0.59
8/11/2020 0.64
8/12/2020 0.69
8/13/2020 0.71
8/14/2020 0.71
8/17/2020 0.69
8/18/2020 0.67
8/19/2020 0.68
8/20/2020 0.65
8/21/2020 0.64
8/24/2020 0.65
8/25/2020 0.69
8/26/2020 0.69



8/27/2020 0.74
8/28/2020 0.74
8/31/2020 0.72

9/1/2020 0.68
9/2/2020 0.66
9/3/2020 0.63
9/4/2020 0.72
9/8/2020 0.69
9/9/2020 0.71

9/10/2020 0.68
9/11/2020 0.67
9/14/2020 0.68
9/15/2020 0.68
9/16/2020 0.69
9/17/2020 0.69
9/18/2020 0.7
9/21/2020 0.68
9/22/2020 0.68
9/23/2020 0.68
9/24/2020 0.67
9/25/2020 0.66
9/28/2020 0.67
9/29/2020 0.66
9/30/2020 0.69
10/1/2020 0.68
10/2/2020 0.7
10/5/2020 0.78
10/6/2020 0.76
10/7/2020 0.81
10/8/2020 0.78
10/9/2020 0.79

10/13/2020 0.74
10/14/2020 0.73
10/15/2020 0.74
10/16/2020 0.76
10/19/2020 0.78
10/20/2020 0.81
10/21/2020 0.83
10/22/2020 0.87
10/23/2020 0.85
10/26/2020 0.81
10/27/2020 0.79
10/28/2020 0.79
10/29/2020 0.85
10/30/2020 0.88

11/2/2020 0.87
11/3/2020 0.9



11/4/2020 0.78
11/5/2020 0.79
11/6/2020 0.83
11/9/2020 0.96

11/10/2020 0.98
11/12/2020 0.88
11/13/2020 0.89
11/16/2020 0.91
11/17/2020 0.87
11/18/2020 0.88
11/19/2020 0.86
11/20/2020 0.83
11/23/2020 0.86
11/24/2020 0.88
11/25/2020 0.88
11/27/2020 0.84
11/30/2020 0.84

12/1/2020 0.92
12/2/2020 0.95
12/3/2020 0.92
12/4/2020 0.97
12/7/2020 0.94
12/8/2020 0.92
12/9/2020 0.95

12/10/2020 0.92
12/11/2020 0.9
12/14/2020 0.9
12/15/2020 0.92
12/16/2020 0.92
12/17/2020 0.94
12/18/2020 0.95
12/21/2020 0.95
12/22/2020 0.93
12/23/2020 0.96
12/24/2020 0.94
12/28/2020 0.94
12/29/2020 0.94
12/30/2020 0.93
12/31/2020 0.93

1/4/2021 0.93
1/5/2021 0.96
1/6/2021 1.04
1/7/2021 1.08
1/8/2021 1.13

1/11/2021 1.15
1/12/2021 1.15
1/13/2021 1.1



1/14/2021 1.15
1/15/2021 1.11
1/19/2021 1.1
1/20/2021 1.1
1/21/2021 1.12
1/22/2021 1.1
1/25/2021 1.05
1/26/2021 1.05
1/27/2021 1.04
1/28/2021 1.07
1/29/2021 1.11

2/1/2021 1.09
2/2/2021 1.12
2/3/2021 1.15
2/4/2021 1.15
2/5/2021 1.19
2/8/2021 1.19
2/9/2021 1.18

2/10/2021 1.15
2/11/2021 1.16
2/12/2021 1.2
2/16/2021 1.3
2/17/2021 1.29
2/18/2021 1.29
2/19/2021 1.34
2/22/2021 1.37
2/23/2021 1.37
2/24/2021 1.38
2/25/2021 1.54
2/26/2021 1.44

3/1/2021 1.45
3/2/2021 1.42
3/3/2021 1.47
3/4/2021 1.54
3/5/2021 1.56
3/8/2021 1.59
3/9/2021 1.55

3/10/2021 1.53
3/11/2021 1.54
3/12/2021 1.64
3/15/2021 1.62
3/16/2021 1.62
3/17/2021 1.63
3/18/2021 1.71
3/19/2021 1.74
3/22/2021 1.69
3/23/2021 1.63



3/24/2021 1.62
3/25/2021 1.63
3/26/2021 1.67
3/29/2021 1.73
3/30/2021 1.73
3/31/2021 1.74

4/1/2021 1.69
4/2/2021 1.72
4/5/2021 1.73
4/6/2021 1.67
4/7/2021 1.68
4/8/2021 1.64
4/9/2021 1.67

4/12/2021 1.69
4/13/2021 1.64
4/14/2021 1.64
4/15/2021 1.56
4/16/2021 1.59
4/19/2021 1.61
4/20/2021 1.58
4/21/2021 1.57
4/22/2021 1.57
4/23/2021 1.58
4/26/2021 1.58
4/27/2021 1.63
4/28/2021 1.63
4/29/2021 1.65
4/30/2021 1.65

5/3/2021 1.63
5/4/2021 1.61
5/5/2021 1.59
5/6/2021 1.58
5/7/2021 1.6

5/10/2021 1.63
5/11/2021 1.64
5/12/2021 1.69
5/13/2021 1.66
5/14/2021 1.63
5/17/2021 1.64
5/18/2021 1.64
5/19/2021 1.68
5/20/2021 1.63
5/21/2021 1.63
5/24/2021 1.61
5/25/2021 1.56
5/26/2021 1.58
5/27/2021 1.61



5/28/2021 1.58
6/1/2021 1.62
6/2/2021 1.59
6/3/2021 1.63
6/4/2021 1.56
6/7/2021 1.57
6/8/2021 1.53
6/9/2021 1.5

6/10/2021 1.45
6/11/2021 1.47
6/14/2021 1.51
6/15/2021 1.51
6/16/2021 1.57
6/17/2021 1.52
6/18/2021 1.45
6/21/2021 1.5
6/22/2021 1.48
6/23/2021 1.5
6/24/2021 1.49
6/25/2021 1.54
6/28/2021 1.49
6/29/2021 1.49
6/30/2021 1.45

7/1/2021 1.48
7/2/2021 1.44
7/6/2021 1.37
7/7/2021 1.33
7/8/2021 1.3
7/9/2021 1.37

7/12/2021 1.38
7/13/2021 1.42
7/14/2021 1.37
7/15/2021 1.31
7/16/2021 1.31
7/19/2021 1.19
7/20/2021 1.23
7/21/2021 1.3
7/22/2021 1.27
7/23/2021 1.3
7/26/2021 1.29
7/27/2021 1.25
7/28/2021 1.26
7/29/2021 1.28
7/30/2021 1.24

8/2/2021 1.2
8/3/2021 1.19
8/4/2021 1.19



8/5/2021 1.23
8/6/2021 1.31
8/9/2021 1.33

8/10/2021 1.36
8/11/2021 1.35
8/12/2021 1.36
8/13/2021 1.29
8/16/2021 1.26
8/17/2021 1.26
8/18/2021 1.27
8/19/2021 1.24
8/20/2021 1.26
8/23/2021 1.25
8/24/2021 1.29
8/25/2021 1.35
8/26/2021 1.34
8/27/2021 1.31
8/30/2021 1.29
8/31/2021 1.3

9/1/2021 1.31
9/2/2021 1.29
9/3/2021 1.33
9/7/2021 1.38
9/8/2021 1.35
9/9/2021 1.3

9/10/2021 1.35
9/13/2021 1.33
9/14/2021 1.28
9/15/2021 1.31
9/16/2021 1.34
9/17/2021 1.37
9/20/2021 1.31
9/21/2021 1.33
9/22/2021 1.32
9/23/2021 1.41
9/24/2021 1.47
9/27/2021 1.48
9/28/2021 1.54
9/29/2021 1.55
9/30/2021 1.52
10/1/2021 1.48
10/4/2021 1.49
10/5/2021 1.54
10/6/2021 1.53
10/7/2021 1.58
10/8/2021 1.61

10/12/2021 1.59



10/13/2021 1.56
10/14/2021 1.52
10/15/2021 1.59
10/18/2021 1.59
10/19/2021 1.65
10/20/2021 1.65
10/21/2021 1.68
10/22/2021 1.66
10/25/2021 1.64
10/26/2021 1.63
10/27/2021 1.54
10/28/2021 1.57
10/29/2021 1.55

11/1/2021 1.58
11/2/2021 1.56
11/3/2021 1.6
11/4/2021 1.53
11/5/2021 1.45
11/8/2021 1.51
11/9/2021 1.46

11/10/2021 1.56
11/12/2021 1.58
11/15/2021 1.63
11/16/2021 1.63
11/17/2021 1.6
11/18/2021 1.59
11/19/2021 1.54
11/22/2021 1.63
11/23/2021 1.67
11/24/2021 1.64
11/26/2021 1.48
11/29/2021 1.52
11/30/2021 1.43

12/1/2021 1.43
12/2/2021 1.44
12/3/2021 1.35
12/6/2021 1.43
12/7/2021 1.48
12/8/2021 1.52
12/9/2021 1.49

12/10/2021 1.48
12/13/2021 1.42
12/14/2021 1.44
12/15/2021 1.47
12/16/2021 1.44
12/17/2021 1.41
12/20/2021 1.43



12/21/2021 1.48
12/22/2021 1.46
12/23/2021 1.5
12/27/2021 1.48
12/28/2021 1.49
12/29/2021 1.55
12/30/2021 1.52
12/31/2021 1.52

1/3/2022 1.63
1/4/2022 1.66
1/5/2022 1.71
1/6/2022 1.73
1/7/2022 1.76

1/10/2022 1.78
1/11/2022 1.75
1/12/2022 1.74
1/13/2022 1.7
1/14/2022 1.78
1/18/2022 1.87
1/19/2022 1.83
1/20/2022 1.83
1/21/2022 1.75
1/24/2022 1.75
1/25/2022 1.78
1/26/2022 1.85
1/27/2022 1.81
1/28/2022 1.78
1/31/2022 1.79

2/1/2022 1.81
2/2/2022 1.78
2/3/2022 1.82
2/4/2022 1.93
2/7/2022 1.92
2/8/2022 1.96
2/9/2022 1.94

2/10/2022 2.03
2/11/2022 1.92
2/14/2022 1.98
2/15/2022 2.05
2/16/2022 2.03
2/17/2022 1.97
2/18/2022 1.92
2/22/2022 1.94
2/23/2022 1.99
2/24/2022 1.96
2/25/2022 1.97
2/28/2022 1.83



3/1/2022 1.72
3/2/2022 1.86
3/3/2022 1.86
3/4/2022 1.74
3/7/2022 1.78
3/8/2022 1.86
3/9/2022 1.94

3/10/2022 1.98
3/11/2022 2
3/14/2022 2.14
3/15/2022 2.15
3/16/2022 2.19
3/17/2022 2.2
3/18/2022 2.14
3/21/2022 2.32
3/22/2022 2.38
3/23/2022 2.32
3/24/2022 2.34
3/25/2022 2.48
3/28/2022 2.46
3/29/2022 2.41
3/30/2022 2.35
3/31/2022 2.32

4/1/2022 2.39
4/4/2022 2.42
4/5/2022 2.54
4/6/2022 2.61
4/7/2022 2.66
4/8/2022 2.72

4/11/2022 2.79
4/12/2022 2.72
4/13/2022 2.7
4/14/2022 2.83
4/18/2022 2.85
4/19/2022 2.93
4/20/2022 2.85
4/21/2022 2.9
4/22/2022 2.9
4/25/2022 2.81
4/26/2022 2.77
4/27/2022 2.82
4/28/2022 2.85
4/29/2022 2.89

5/2/2022 2.99
5/3/2022 2.97
5/4/2022 2.93
5/5/2022 3.05



5/6/2022 3.12
5/9/2022 3.05

5/10/2022 2.99
5/11/2022 2.91
5/12/2022 2.84
5/13/2022 2.93
5/16/2022 2.88
5/17/2022 2.98
5/18/2022 2.89
5/19/2022 2.84
5/20/2022 2.78
5/23/2022 2.86
5/24/2022 2.76
5/25/2022 2.75
5/26/2022 2.75
5/27/2022 2.74
5/31/2022 2.85

6/1/2022 2.94
6/2/2022 2.92
6/3/2022 2.96
6/6/2022 3.04
6/7/2022 2.98
6/8/2022 3.03
6/9/2022 3.04

6/10/2022 3.15
6/13/2022 3.43
6/14/2022 3.49
6/15/2022 3.33
6/16/2022 3.28
6/17/2022 3.25
6/21/2022 3.31
6/22/2022 3.16
6/23/2022 3.09
6/24/2022 3.13
6/27/2022 3.2
6/28/2022 3.2
6/29/2022 3.1
6/30/2022 2.98

7/1/2022 2.88
7/5/2022 2.82
7/6/2022 2.93
7/7/2022 3.01
7/8/2022 3.09

7/11/2022 2.99
7/12/2022 2.96
7/13/2022 2.91
7/14/2022 2.96



7/15/2022 2.93
7/18/2022 2.96
7/19/2022 3.01
7/20/2022 3.04
7/21/2022 2.91
7/22/2022 2.77
7/25/2022 2.81
7/26/2022 2.81
7/27/2022 2.78
7/28/2022 2.68
7/29/2022 2.67

8/1/2022 2.6
8/2/2022 2.75
8/3/2022 2.73
8/4/2022 2.68
8/5/2022 2.83
8/8/2022 2.77
8/9/2022 2.8

8/10/2022 2.78
8/11/2022 2.87
8/12/2022 2.84
8/15/2022 2.79
8/16/2022 2.82
8/17/2022 2.89
8/18/2022 2.88
8/19/2022 2.98
8/22/2022 3.03
8/23/2022 3.05
8/24/2022 3.11
8/25/2022 3.03
8/26/2022 3.04
8/29/2022 3.12
8/30/2022 3.11
8/31/2022 3.15

9/1/2022 3.26
9/2/2022 3.2
9/6/2022 3.33
9/7/2022 3.27
9/8/2022 3.29
9/9/2022 3.33

9/12/2022 3.37
9/13/2022 3.42
9/14/2022 3.41
9/15/2022 3.45
9/16/2022 3.45
9/19/2022 3.49
9/20/2022 3.57



9/21/2022 3.51
9/22/2022 3.7
9/23/2022 3.69
9/26/2022 3.88
9/27/2022 3.97
9/28/2022 3.72
9/29/2022 3.76
9/30/2022 3.83
10/3/2022 3.67
10/4/2022 3.62
10/5/2022 3.76
10/6/2022 3.83
10/7/2022 3.89

10/11/2022 3.93
10/12/2022 3.91
10/13/2022 3.97
10/14/2022 4
10/17/2022 4.02
10/18/2022 4.01
10/19/2022 4.14
10/20/2022 4.24
10/21/2022 4.21
10/24/2022 4.25
10/25/2022 4.1
10/26/2022 4.04
10/27/2022 3.96
10/28/2022 4.02
10/31/2022 4.1

11/1/2022 4.07
11/2/2022 4.1
11/3/2022 4.14
11/4/2022 4.17
11/7/2022 4.22
11/8/2022 4.14
11/9/2022 4.12

11/10/2022 3.82
11/14/2022 3.88
11/15/2022 3.8
11/16/2022 3.67
11/17/2022 3.77
11/18/2022 3.82
11/21/2022 3.83
11/22/2022 3.76
11/23/2022 3.71
11/25/2022 3.68
11/28/2022 3.69
11/29/2022 3.75



11/30/2022 3.68
12/1/2022 3.53
12/2/2022 3.51
12/5/2022 3.6
12/6/2022 3.51
12/7/2022 3.42
12/8/2022 3.48
12/9/2022 3.57

12/12/2022 3.61
12/13/2022 3.51
12/14/2022 3.49
12/15/2022 3.44
12/16/2022 3.48
12/19/2022 3.57
12/20/2022 3.69
12/21/2022 3.68
12/22/2022 3.67
12/23/2022 3.75
12/27/2022 3.84
12/28/2022 3.88
12/29/2022 3.83
12/30/2022 3.88

1/3/2023 3.79
1/4/2023 3.69
1/5/2023 3.71
1/6/2023 3.55
1/9/2023 3.53

1/10/2023 3.61
1/11/2023 3.54
1/12/2023 3.43
1/13/2023 3.49
1/17/2023 3.53
1/18/2023 3.37
1/19/2023 3.39
1/20/2023 3.48
1/23/2023 3.52
1/24/2023 3.46
1/25/2023 3.46
1/26/2023 3.49
1/27/2023 3.52
1/30/2023 3.55
1/31/2023 3.52

2/1/2023 3.39
2/2/2023 3.4
2/3/2023 3.53
2/6/2023 3.63
2/7/2023 3.67



2/8/2023 3.63
2/9/2023 3.67

2/10/2023 3.74
2/13/2023 3.72
2/14/2023 3.77
2/15/2023 3.81
2/16/2023 3.86
2/17/2023 3.82
2/21/2023 3.95
2/22/2023 3.93
2/23/2023 3.88
2/24/2023 3.95
2/27/2023 3.92
2/28/2023 3.92

3/1/2023 4.01
3/2/2023 4.08
3/3/2023 3.97
3/6/2023 3.98
3/7/2023 3.97
3/8/2023 3.98
3/9/2023 3.93

3/10/2023 3.7
3/13/2023 3.55
3/14/2023 3.64
3/15/2023 3.51
3/16/2023 3.56
3/17/2023 3.39
3/20/2023 3.47
3/21/2023 3.59
3/22/2023 3.48
3/23/2023 3.38
3/24/2023 3.38
3/27/2023 3.53
3/28/2023 3.55
3/29/2023 3.57
3/30/2023 3.55
3/31/2023 3.48

4/3/2023 3.43
4/4/2023 3.35
4/5/2023 3.3
4/6/2023 3.3
4/7/2023 3.39

4/10/2023 3.41
4/11/2023 3.43
4/12/2023 3.41
4/13/2023 3.45
4/14/2023 3.52



4/17/2023 3.6
4/18/2023 3.58
4/19/2023 3.6
4/20/2023 3.54
4/21/2023 3.57
4/24/2023 3.52
4/25/2023 3.4
4/26/2023 3.43
4/27/2023 3.53
4/28/2023 3.44

5/1/2023 3.59
5/2/2023 3.44
5/3/2023 3.38
5/4/2023 3.37
5/5/2023 3.44
5/8/2023 3.52
5/9/2023 3.53

5/10/2023 3.43
5/11/2023 3.39
5/12/2023 3.46
5/15/2023 3.5
5/16/2023 3.54
5/17/2023 3.57
5/18/2023 3.65
5/19/2023 3.7
5/22/2023 3.72
5/23/2023 3.7
5/24/2023 3.73
5/25/2023 3.83
5/26/2023 3.8
5/30/2023 3.69
5/31/2023 3.64

6/1/2023 3.61
6/2/2023 3.69
6/5/2023 3.69
6/6/2023 3.7
6/7/2023 3.79
6/8/2023 3.73
6/9/2023 3.75

6/12/2023 3.73
6/13/2023 3.84
6/14/2023 3.83
6/15/2023 3.72
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